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Commissioners

The three initial Commissioners took office March 1, 1903. From 1903 to 1919 the Commissioners were appointed
by the Governor subject to confirmation by the General Assembly. Between 1919 and 1926 they were elected by popular
vote. Between 1926 and 1928 they were appointed by the Governor subject to confirmation by the General Assembly. Since
1928 they have been elected by the General Assembly.

The names and terms of office of the Commissioners:

Years
Beverley T. Crump March 1, 1903 to June 1, 1907 4
Henry C. Stuart March 1, 1903 to February 28, 1908 5
Henry Fairfax March 1, 1903 to October 1, 1905 3
Jos. E. Willard October 1, 1905 to February 18, 1910 4
Robert R. Prentis June 1, 1907 to November 17, 1916 9
Wm. F. Rhea February 28, 1908 to November 15, 1925 18
J. R. Wingfield February 18, 1910 to January 31, 1918 8
C. B. Garnett November 17, 1916 to October 28, 1918 2
Alexander Forward February 1, 1918 to December 5, 1923 5
Robert E. Williams November 12, 1918 to July 1, 1919 1
(Temporary Appointment during absence of Forward on military service)
S. L. Lupton October 28, 1918 to June 1, 1919 1
Berkley D. Adams June 12, 1919 to January 31, 1928 9
Oscar L. Shewmake December 16, 1923 to November 24, 1924 1
H. Lester Hooker November 25, 1924 to January 31, 1972 47
Louis S. Epes November 16, 1925 to November 16, 1929 4
Wm. Meade Fletcher February 1, 1928 to December 19, 1943 16
George C. Peery November 29, 1929 to April 17, 1933 3
Thos. W. Ozlin April 17, 1933 to July 14, 1944 11
Harvey B. Apperson January 31, 1944 to October 5, 1947 4
Robert O. Norris August 30, 1944 to November 20, 1944
L. McCarthy Downs December 16, 1944 to April 18, 1949 5
W. Marshall King October 7, 1947 to June 24, 1957 10
Ralph T. Catterall April 28, 1949 to January 31, 1973 24
Jesse W. Dillon July 16, 1957 to January 28, 1972 14
Preston C. Shannon March 10, 1972 to January 31, 1996 25
Junie L. Bradshaw March 10, 1972 to January 31, 1985 13
Thomas P. Harwood, Jr. February 20, 1973 to February 20, 1992 19
Elizabeth B. Lacy April 1, 1985 to December 31, 1988 4
Theodore V. Morrison, Jr. February 15, 1989 to December 31, 2007 19
Hullihen Williams Moore February 26, 1992 to January 31, 2004 13
Clinton Miller February 15, 1996 to January 31, 2006 11
Mark C. Christie February 1, 2004 to
Judith Williams Jagdmann February 1, 2006 to
From 1903 through 2007 the lines of succession were:
Years Years Years
Crump 4 Stuart 5 Fairfax 3
Prentis 9 Rhea 18 Willard 4
Garnett 2 Epes 4 Wingfield 8
Lupton 1 Peery 3 Forward 5
Adams 9 Ozlin 11 Williams 1
Fletcher 16 Norris 0 Shewmake 1
Apperson 4 Downs 5 Hooker 47
King 10 Catterall 24 Bradshaw 13
Dillon 14 Harwood 19 Lacy 4
Shannon 25 Moore 13 Morrison 19
Miller 11 Christie 4

Jagdmann 2
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Preface

The State Corporation Commission is vested with regulatory authority over many businesses and economic interests
in Virginia. These interests are as varied as the SCC's powers, which are derived from the Constitution of Virginia and state
statutes. The SCC's authority ranges from setting rates charged by public utilities to serving as the central filing office in
Virginia for corporate charters.

Established by the Virginia Constitution of 1902 to oversee the railroad and telephone and telegraph industries
operating in the Commonwealth, the SCC's jurisdiction now includes supervision of many businesses that have a direct
impact on Virginia consumers. The SCC is charged with administering the Virginia laws related to the regulation of public
utilities, insurance, state-chartered financial institutions, investment securities, retail franchising, and utility and railroad
safety. In addition, it is the state's central filing office for Uniform Commercial Code financing statements and for
documents that create corporations, limited liability companies, business trusts, and limited partnerships.

The SCC's structure is unique. No other state has placed in a single agency such a broad array of regulatory
responsibility. Created by the state constitution as a permanent department of government, the SCC possesses legislative,
judicial, and administrative powers. The decisions of the SCC can be appealed only to the Supreme Court of Virginia.
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CHAPTER 20

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE

PART 1.
GENERAL PROVISIONS.
5 VAC 5-20-10. Applicability.

The State Corporation Commission Rules of Practice and Procedure are promulgated pursuant to the authority of § 12.1-25 of the Code of
Virginia and are applicable to the regulatory and adjudicatory proceedings of the State Corporation Commission except where superseded by more specific
rules for particular types of cases or proceedings. When necessary to serve the ends of justice in a particular case, the commission may grant, upon motion
or its own initiative, a waiver or modification of any of the provisions of the rules, except 5 VAC 5-20-220, under terms and conditions and to the extent it
deems appropriate. These rules do not apply to the internal administration or organization of the commission in matters such as the procurement of goods
and services, personnel actions, and similar issues, nor to matters that are being handled administratively by a division or bureau of the commission.

5 VAC 5-20-20. Good faith pleading and practice.

Every pleading, written motion, or other document presented for filing by a party represented by an attorney shall be signed by at least one attorney of
record in the attorney's individual name, and the attorney's mailing address and telephone number, and where available, telefax number and email address,
shall be stated. An individual not represented by an attorney shall sign the individual's pleading, motion, or other document, and shall state the individual's
mailing address and telephone number. A partnership not represented by an attorney shall have a partner sign the partnership's pleading, motion, or other
document, and shall state the partnership's mailing address and telephone number. A nonlawyer may only represent the interests of another before the
commission in the presentation of facts, figures, or factual conclusions, as distinguished from legal arguments or conclusions. In the case of an individual or
entity not represented by counsel, each signature shall be that of a qualified officer or agent. The pleadings need not be under oath unless so required by
statute.

The commission allows electronic filing. Before filing electronically, the filer shall complete an electronic document filing authorization form,
establish a filer authentication password with the Clerk of the State Corporation Commission and otherwise comply with the electronic filing procedures
adopted by the commission. Upon establishment of a filer authentication password, a filer may make electronic filings in any case. All documents
submitted electronically must be capable of being printed as paper documents without loss of content or appearance.

The signature of an attorney or party constitutes a certification that (i) the attorney or party has read the pleading, motion, or other document; (ii) to the
best of the attorney's or party's knowledge, information, and belief formed after reasonable inquiry, it is well grounded in fact and is warranted by existing
law or a good faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law; and (iii) it is not interposed for any improper purpose, such as to
harass or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation. A pleading, written motion, or other document will not be accepted for
filing by the Clerk of the Commission if not signed.

An oral motion made by an attorney or party in a commission proceeding constitutes a representation that the motion (i) is well grounded in fact
and is warranted by existing law or a good faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law; and (ii) is not interposed for any
improper purpose, such as to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation.

5 VAC 5-20-30. Counsel.

Except as otherwise provided in 5 VAC 5-20-20, no person other than a properly licensed attorney at law shall file pleadings or papers or appear
at a hearing to represent the interests of another person or entity before the commission. An attorney admitted to practice in another jurisdiction, but not
licensed in Virginia, may be permitted to appear in a particular proceeding pending before the commission in association with a member of the Virginia
State Bar. The Virginia State Bar member will be counsel of record for every purpose related to the conduct and disposition of the proceeding.

In all appropriate proceedings before the Commission, the Division of Consumer Counsel, Office of the Attorney General, may appear and
represent and be heard on behalf of consumers' interests, and investigate matters relating to such appearance, and otherwise may participate to the extent
reasonably necessary to discharge its statutory duties.

5 VAC 5-20-40. Photographs and broadcasting of proceedings.

Electronic media and still photography coverage of commission hearings will be allowed at the discretion of the commission.

5 VAC 5-20-50. Consultation by parties with Commissioners and Hearing Examiners.

No commissioner or hearing examiner shall consult with any party or any person acting on behalf of any party with respect to a pending formal
proceeding without giving adequate notice and opportunity for all parties to participate.

5 VAC 5-20-60. Commission staff.
The commissioners and hearing examiners shall be free at all times to confer with any member of the commission staff. However, no facts nor

legal arguments likely to influence a pending formal proceeding and not of record in that proceeding shall be furnished ex parte to any commissioner or
hearing examiner by any member of the commission staff.
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5 VAC 5-20-70. Informal complaints.

All correspondence and informal complaints shall be referred to the appropriate division or bureau of the commission. The head of the division
or bureau receiving this correspondence or complaint shall attempt to resolve the matter presented. Matters not resolved to the satisfaction of all
participating parties by the informal process may be reviewed by the full commission upon the proper filing of a formal proceeding in accordance with the
rules by any party to the informal process.

PART II.
COMMENCEMENT OF FORMAL PROCEEDINGS.
5 VAC 5-20-80. Regulatory proceedings.

A. Application. Except where otherwise provided by statute, rule or commission order, a person or entity seeking to engage in an industry or
business subject to the commission's regulatory control, or to make changes in any previously authorized service, rate, facility, or other aspect of such
industry or business that, by statute or rule, must be approved by the Commission, shall file an application requesting authority to do so. The application
shall contain: (i) a specific statement of the action sought; (ii) a statement of the facts that the applicant is prepared to prove that would warrant the action
sought; (iii) a statement of the legal basis for such action; and (iv) any other information required by law or regulation. Any person or entity filing an
application shall be a party to that proceeding.

B. Participation as a respondent. A notice of participation as a respondent is the proper initial response to an application. A notice of
participation shall be filed within the time prescribed by the commission and shall contain: (i) a precise statement of the interest of the respondent; (ii) a
statement of the specific action sought to the extent then known; and (iii) the factual and legal basis for the action. Any person or entity filing a notice of
participation as a respondent shall be a party to that proceeding.

C. Public witnesses. Any person or entity not participating in a matter pursuant to 5 VAC 5-20-80 A or 5 VAC 5-20-80 B may make known
their position in any regulatory proceeding by filing written comments in advance of the hearing if provided for by commission order or by attending the
hearing, noting an appearance in the manner prescribed by the commission, and giving oral testimony. Public witnesses may not otherwise participate in the
proceeding, be included in the service list, or be considered a party to the proceeding.

D. Commission staff. The commission staff may appear and participate in any proceeding in order to see that pertinent issues on behalf of the
general public interest are clearly presented to the commission. The staff may, inter alia, conduct investigations and discovery, evaluate the issues raised,
testify and offer exhibits, file briefs and make argument, and be subject to cross-examination when testifying. Neither the commission staff collectively nor
any individual member of the commission staff shall be considered a party to the case for any purpose by virtue of participation in a proceeding.

5 VAC 5-20-90. Adjudicatory proceedings.

A. Initiation of proceedings. Investigative, disciplinary, penal, and other adjudicatory proceedings may be initiated by motion of the
commission staff or upon the commission's own motion. Further proceedings shall be controlled by the issuance of a rule to show cause, which shall give
notice to the defendant, state the allegations against the defendant, provide for a response from the defendant and, where appropriate, set the matter for
hearing. A rule to show cause shall be served in the manner provided by § 12.1-19.1 or § 12.1-29 of the Code of Virginia. The commission staff shall prove
the case by clear and convincing evidence.

B. Answer. An answer is the proper initial responsive pleading to a rule to show cause. An answer shall be filed within 21 days of service of
the rule to show cause, unless the commission shall order otherwise. The answer shall state, in narrative form, each defendant's responses to the allegations
in the rule to show cause and any affirmative defenses asserted by the defendant. Failure to file a timely answer may result in the entry of judgment by
default against the party failing to respond.

5 VAC 5-20-100. Other proceedings.

A. Promulgation of general orders, rules, or regulations. Before promulgating a general order, rule, or regulation, the commission shall, by
order upon an application or upon its own motion, require reasonable notice of the contents of the proposed general order, rule, or regulation, including
publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations, and afford interested persons an opportunity to comment, present evidence, and be heard. A copy of
each general order, rule, and regulation adopted in final form by the commission shall be filed with the Registrar of Regulations for publication in the
Virginia Register of Regulations.

B. Petitions in other matters. Persons having a cause before the commission, whether by statute, rule, regulation, or otherwise, against a
defendant, including the commission, a commission bureau, or a commission division, shall proceed by filing a written petition containing: (i) the identity of
the parties; (ii) a statement of the action sought and the legal basis for the commission's jurisdiction to take the action sought; (iii) a statement of the facts,
proof of which would warrant the action sought; (iv) a statement of the legal basis for the action; and (v) a certificate showing service upon the defendant.

Within 21 days of service of a petition under this rule, the defendant shall file an answer containing, in narrative form, (i) a response to each
allegation of the petition and (ii) a statement of each affirmative defense asserted by the defendant. Failure to file a timely answer may result in entry of
judgment by default against the defendant failing to respond. Upon order of the commission, the commission staff may participate in any proceeding under
this rule in which it is not a defendant to the same extent as permitted by 5 VAC 5-20-80-D.

C. Declaratory judgments. Persons having no other adequate remedy may petition the commission for a declaratory judgment. The petition
shall meet the requirements of 5 VAC 5-20-100 B and, in addition, contain a statement of the basis for concluding that an actual controversy exists. In the
proceeding, the commission shall by order provide for the necessary notice, responsive pleadings, and participation by interested parties.
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PART III.
PROCEDURES IN FORMAL PROCEEDINGS.

5 VAC 5-20-110. Motions. Motions may be filed for the same purposes recognized by the courts of record in the Commonwealth. Unless
otherwise ordered by the commission, any response to a motion must be filed within 14 days of the filing of the motion, and any reply by the moving party
must be filed within ten days of the filing of the response.

5 VAC 5-20-120. Procedure before Hearing Examiners.

A. Assignment. The commission may, by order, assign a matter pending before it to a hearing examiner. Unless otherwise ordered, the hearing
examiner shall conduct all further proceedings in the matter on behalf of the commission in accordance with the rules. In the discharge of his or her duties,
the hearing examiner shall exercise all the adjudicatory powers possessed by the commission including, inter alia, the power to administer oaths; require the
attendance of witnesses and parties; require the production of documents; schedule and conduct pre-hearing conferences; admit or exclude evidence; grant or
deny continuances; and rule on motions, matters of law, and procedural questions. The hearing examiner shall, upon conclusion of all assigned duties, issue
a written final report and recommendation to the commission.

B. Objections and certification of issues. An objection to a ruling by the hearing examiner shall be stated with the reasons therefore at the time
of the ruling, and the objection may be argued to the commission as part of a response to the hearing examiner's report. A ruling by the hearing examiner
that denies further participation by a party in interest or the commission staff in a proceeding that has not been concluded may be immediately appealed to
the commission by filing a written motion with the commission for review. Upon the motion of any party or the staff, or upon the hearing examiner's own
initiative, the hearing examiner may certify any other material issue to the commission for its consideration and resolution. Pending resolution by the
commission of a ruling appealed or certified, the hearing examiner shall retain procedural control of the proceeding.

C. Responses to hearing examiner reports. Unless otherwise ordered by the hearing examiner, responses supporting or objecting to the hearing
examiner's final report must be filed within 21 days of the issuance of the report. A reply to a response to the hearing examiner's report may only be filed
with leave of the commission. The commission may accept, modify, or reject the hearing examiner's recommendations in any manner consistent with law
and the evidence, notwithstanding an absence of objections to the hearing examiner's report.

5 VAC 5-20-130. Amendment of pleadings.

No amendment shall be made to any formal pleading after it is filed except by leave of the commission, which leave shall be liberally granted in
the furtherance of justice. The commission shall make such provision for notice and for opportunity to respond to the amended pleadings as it may deem
necessary and proper.

5 VAC 5-20-140. Filing and service.

A formal pleading or other related document shall be considered filed with the commission upon receipt of the original and required copies by the
Clerk of the Commission no later than the time established for the closing of business of the clerk's office on the day the item is due. The original and copies
shall be stamped by the Clerk to show the time and date of receipt.

Electronic filings may be submitted at any time and will be deemed filed on the date and at the time the electronic document is received by the
commission's database; provided, that if a document is received when the clerk's office is not open for public business, the document shall be deemed filed
on the next regular business day. A filer will receive an electronic notification identifying the date and time the document is received by the commission's
database. An electronic document may be rejected if it is not submitted in compliance with these rules.

When a filing would otherwise be due on a day when the clerk's office is not open for public business, the filing will be timely if made on the
next regular business day when the office is open to the public. When a period of 15 days or fewer is permitted to make a filing or take other action pursuant
to commission rule or order, intervening weekends or holidays shall not be counted in determining the due date.

Service of a formal pleading, brief, or other document filed with the commission required to be served on the parties to a proceeding or upon the
commission staff, shall be effected by delivery of a true copy to the party or staff, or by deposit of a true copy into the United States mail properly addressed
and stamped, on or before the date of filing. Service on a party may be made by service on the party's counsel. Alternatively, electronic service shall be
permitted on parties or staff in cases where all parties and staff have agreed to such service, or where the commission has provided for such service by order.
At the foot of a formal pleading, brief, or other document required to be served, the party making service shall append a certificate of counsel of record that
copies were mailed or delivered as required. Notices, findings of fact, opinions, decisions, orders, or other documents to be served by the commission may
be served by United States mail. However, all writs, processes, and orders of the commission, when acting in conformity with § 12.1-27 of the Code of
Virginia, shall be attested and served in compliance with § 12.1-19.1 or 12.1-29 of the Code of Virginia.

5 VAC 5-20-150. Copies and format.

Applications, petitions, responsive pleadings, briefs, and other documents must be filed in an original and 15 copies. Except as otherwise stated
in these rules, submissions filed electronically are exempt from the copy requirement.

One copy of each responsive pleading or brief must be served on each party and the commission staff counsel assigned to the matter, or, if no
counsel has been assigned, on the general counsel.

Each document must be filed on standard size white opaque paper, 8-1/2 by 11 inches in dimension, and must be capable of being reproduced in
copies of archival quality. Submissions filed electronically shall be made in portable document format (PDF).
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Pleadings shall be bound or attached on the left side and contain adequate margins. Each page following the first page shall be numbered. If
necessary, a document may be filed in consecutively numbered volumes, each of which may not exceed three inches in thickness. Submissions filed
electronically may not exceed 100 pages of printed text of 8-1/2 by 11 inches.

Pleadings containing more than one exhibit should have dividers separating each exhibit and should contain an index. Exhibits such as maps,
plats, and photographs not easily reduced to standard size may be filed in a different size, as necessary. Submissions filed electronically that otherwise
would incorporate large exhibits impractical for conversion to electronic format shall be identified in the filing and include a statement that the exhibit was
filed in hardcopy and is available for viewing at the commission or that a copy may be obtained from the filing party. Such exhibit shall be filed in an
original and 15 copies.

All filed documents shall be fully collated and assembled into complete and proper sets ready for distribution and use, without the need for
further assembly, sorting, or rearrangement.

The Clerk of the Commission may reject the filing of any document not conforming to the requirements of this rule.
5 VAC 5-20-160. Memorandum of completeness.

With respect to the filing of a rate application or an application seeking actions that by statute or rule must be completed within a certain number
of days, a memorandum shall be filed by an appropriate member of the commission staff within ten days of the filing of the application stating whether all
necessary requirements imposed by statute or rule for filing the application have been met and all required information has been filed. If the requirements
have not been met, the memorandum shall state with specificity the remaining items to be filed. The Clerk of the Commission immediately shall serve a
copy of the memorandum on the filing party. The first day of the period within which action on the application must be concluded shall be set forth in the
memorandum and shall be the initial date of filing of applications that are found to be complete upon filing. Applications found to require supplementation
shall be complete upon the date of filing of the last item identified in the Staff memorandum. Applications shall be deemed complete upon filing if the
memorandum of completeness is not timely filed.

5 VAC 5-20-170. Confidential information.

A person who proposes in a formal proceeding that information to be filed with or submitted to the commission be withheld from public
disclosure on the ground that it contains trade secrets, privileged, or confidential commercial or financial information shall file this information under seal
with the Clerk of the Commission, or otherwise submit the information under seal to the commission staff as may be required. One copy of all such
information also shall be submitted under seal to the commission staff counsel assigned to the matter, or, where no counsel has been assigned, to the general
counsel who, until ordered otherwise by the commission, shall disclose the information only to the members of the commission staff directly assigned to the
matter as necessary in the discharge of their duties. Staff counsel and all members of the commission staff, until otherwise ordered by the commission, shall
maintain the information in strict confidence and shall not disclose its contents to members of the public, or to other staff members not assigned to the
matter. The commission staff or any party may object to the proposed withholding of the information.

Upon challenge, the filing party shall demonstrate to the satisfaction of the commission that the information should be withheld from public
disclosure. If the commission determines that the information should be withheld from public disclosure, it may nevertheless require the information to be
disclosed to parties to a proceeding under appropriate protective order.

Whenever a document is filed with the clerk under seal, an expurgated or redacted version of the document deemed by the filing party or
determined by the commission to be confidential shall be filed with the clerk for use and review by the public. A document containing confidential
information shall not be submitted electronically. An expurgated or redacted version of the document may be filed electronically. Documents containing
confidential information must be filed in hardcopy and in accordance with all requirements of these rules.

When the information at issue is not required to be filed or made a part of the record, a party who wishes to withhold confidential information
from filing or production may move the commission for a protective order without filing the materials. In considering such a motion, the commission may
require production of the confidential materials for inspection in camera, if necessary.

5 VAC 5-20-180. Official transcript of hearing.

The official transcript of a hearing before the commission or a hearing examiner shall be that prepared by the court reporters retained by the
commission and certified by the court reporter as a true and correct transcript of the proceeding. Transcripts of proceedings shall not be prepared except in
cases assigned to a hearing examiner, when directed by the commission, or when requested by a party desiring to purchase a copy. Parties desiring to
purchase copies of the transcript shall make arrangement for purchase with the court reporter. When a transcript is prepared, a copy thereof shall be made
available for public inspection in the Clerk of the Commission's office. By agreement of the parties, or as the commission may by order provide, corrections
may be made to the transcript.

5 VAC 5-20-190. Rules of evidence.

In proceedings under 5 VAC 5-20-90, and all other proceedings in which the commission shall be called upon to decide or render judgment only
in its capacity as a court of record, the common law and statutory rules of evidence shall be as observed and administered by the courts of record of the
Commonwealth. In other proceedings, evidentiary rules shall not be unreasonably used to prevent the receipt of evidence having substantial probative effect.

5 VAC 5-20-200. Briefs.

Written briefs may be authorized at the discretion of the commission, except in proceedings under 5 VAC 5-20-100 A, where briefs may be filed

by right. The time for filing briefs and reply briefs, if authorized, shall be set at the time they are authorized. The commission may limit the length of a
brief. The commission may by order provide for the electronic filing or service of briefs.
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5 VAC 5-20-210. Oral argument.

The commission may authorize oral argument, limited as the commission may direct, on any pertinent matter at any time during the course of the
proceeding.

5 VAC 5-20-220. Petition for rehearing or reconsideration.

Final judgments, orders, and decrees of the commission, except judgments prescribed by 8§ 12.1-36 of the Code of Virginia, and except as
provided in §8 13.1-614 and 13.1-813 of the Code of Virginia, shall remain under the control of the commission and subject to modification or vacation for
21 days after the date of entry. Except for good cause shown, a petition for rehearing or reconsideration must be filed not later than 20 days after the date of
entry of the judgment, order, or decree. The filing of a petition will not suspend the execution of the judgment, order, or decree, nor extend the time for
taking an appeal, unless the commission, within the 21 day period following entry of the final judgment, order or decree, shall provide for a suspension in an
order or decree granting the petition. A petition for rehearing or reconsideration must be served on all parties and delivered to commission staff counsel on
or before the day on which it is filed. The commission will not entertain responses to, or requests for oral argument on, a petition. An order granting a
rehearing or reconsideration will be served on all parties and commission staff counsel by the Clerk of the Commission.

5 VAC 5-20-230. Extension of time.

The commission may, at its discretion, grant a continuance, postponement, or extension of time for the filing of a document or the taking of an
action required or permitted by these rules, except for petitions for rehearing or reconsideration filed pursuant to 5 VAC 5-20-220. Except for good cause
shown, motions for extensions shall be made in writing, served on all parties and commission staff counsel, and filed with the commission at least three days
prior to the date the action sought to be extended is due.

PART IV.
DISCOVERY AND HEARING PREPARATION PROCEDURES.
5 VAC 5-20-240. Prepared testimony and exhibits.

Following the filing of an application dependent upon complicated or technical proof, the commission may direct the applicant to prepare and file
the testimony and exhibits by which the applicant expects to establish its case. In all proceedings in which an applicant is required to file testimony,
respondents shall be permitted and may be directed by the commission or hearing examiner to file, on or before a date certain, testimony and exhibits by
which they expect to establish their case. Any respondent that chooses not to file testimony and exhibits by that date may not thereafter present testimony or
exhibits except by leave of the commission, but may fully participate in the proceeding and engage in cross-examination of the testimony and exhibits of
commission staff and other parties. The commission staff also shall file testimony and exhibits when directed to do so by the commission. Failure to
comply with the directions of the commission, without good cause shown, may result in rejection of the testimony and exhibits by the commission. With
leave of the commission and unless a timely objection is made, the commission staff or a party may correct or supplement any prepared testimony and
exhibits before or during the hearing. In all proceedings, all evidence must be verified by the witness before introduction into the record, and the
admissibility of the evidence shall be subject to the same standards as if the testimony were offered orally at hearing, unless, with the consent of the
commission, the staff and all parties stipulate the introduction of testimony without need for verification. An original and 15 copies of prepared testimony
and exhibits shall be filed unless otherwise specified in the commission's scheduling order and public notice, or unless the testimony and exhibits are filed
electronically and otherwise comply with these rules. Documents of unusual bulk or weight and physical exhibits other than documents need not be filed in
advance, but shall be described and made available for pretrial examination.

5 VAC 5-20-250. Process, witnesses, and production of documents and things.

A. Subpoenas. Commission staff and a party to a proceeding shall be entitled to process, to convene parties, to compel the attendance of
witnesses, and to compel the production of books, papers, documents, or things provided in this rule.

B. Commission issuance and enforcement of other regulatory agency subpoenas. Upon motion by commission staff counsel, the commission
may issue and enforce subpoenas at the request of a regulatory agency of another jurisdiction if the activity for which the information is sought by the other
agency, if occurring in the Commonwealth, would be a violation of the laws of the Commonwealth that are administered by the commission.

A motion requesting the issuance of a commission subpoena shall include:

1. A copy of the original subpoena issued by the regulatory agency to the named defendant;

2. An affidavit of the requesting agency administrator stating the basis for the issuance of the subpoena under that state's laws; and

3. A memorandum from the commission's corresponding division director providing the basis for the issuance of the commission subpoena.

C. Documents. In a pending case, at the request of commission staff or any party, the Clerk of the Commission shall issue a subpoena. When a
matter is under investigation by commission staff, before a formal proceeding has been established, whenever it appears to the commission by affidavit filed
with the Clerk of the Commission by the commission staff or an individual, that a book, writing, document, or thing sufficiently described in the affidavit, is
in the possession, or under the control, of an identified person and is material and proper to be produced, the commission may order the Clerk of the
Commission to issue a subpoena and to have the subpoena duly served, together with an attested copy of the commission's order compelling production at a
reasonable place and time as described in the commission's order.

D. Witnesses. Ina pending case, at the request of commission staff or any party, the Clerk of the Commission shall issue a subpoena.
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5 VAC 5-20-260. Interrogatories to parties or requests for production of documents and things.

The commission staff and a party in a formal proceeding before the commission, other than a proceeding under 5 VAC 5-20-100 A and C, may
serve written interrogatories or requests for production of documents upon a party, to be answered by the party served, or if the party served is an entity, by
an officer or agent of the entity, who shall furnish to the requesting party information as is known. Interrogatories or requests for production of documents
that cannot be timely answered before the scheduled hearing date may be served only with leave of the commission for good cause shown and upon such
conditions as the commission may prescribe. No interrogatories or requests for production of documents may be served upon a member of the commission
staff, except to discover factual information that supports the workpapers submitted by the staff to the Clerk of the Commission pursuant to 5 VAC
5-20-270. All interrogatories and requests for production of documents shall be filed with the Clerk of the Commission.

The response to each interrogatory or document request shall identify by name the person making the response. Objections, if any, to specified
questions shall be stated with specificity, citing appropriate legal authority, and served with the list of responses. Responses and objections to interrogatories
or requests for production of documents shall be served within 14 days of receipt, unless otherwise ordered by the commission. Upon motion promptly
made and accompanied by a copy of the interrogatory or document request and the response or objection that is subject to the motion, the commission will
rule upon the validity of the objection; the objection otherwise will be considered sustained.

Interrogatories or requests for production of documents may relate to any matter not privileged, which is relevant to the subject matter involved,
including the existence, description, nature, custody, condition, and location of any books, documents, or other tangible things, and the identity and location
of persons having knowledge of evidentiary value. It is not grounds for objection that the information sought will be inadmissible at the hearing if the
information appears reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

Where the response to an interrogatory or document request may only be derived or ascertained from the business records of the party questioned,
from an examination, audit, or inspection of business records, or from a compilation, abstract, or summary of business records, and the burden of deriving or
ascertaining the response is substantially the same for one entity as for the other, a response is sufficient if it: (i) identifies by name and location all records
from which the response may be derived or ascertained; and (ii) tenders to the inquiring party reasonable opportunity to examine, audit, or inspect the
records subject to objection as to their proprietary or confidential nature. The inquiring party bears the expense of making copies, compilations, abstracts, or
summaries.

5 VAC 5-20-270. Hearing preparation.

In a formal proceeding, a party or the commission staff may serve on a party a request to examine the workpapers supporting the testimony or
exhibits of a witness whose prepared testimony has been filed in accordance with 5 VAC 5-20-240. The movant may request abstracts or summaries of the
workpapers, and may request copies of the workpapers upon payment of the reasonable cost of duplication or reproduction. Copies requested by the
commission staff shall be furnished without payment of copying costs. In actions pursuant to 5 VAC 5-20-80 A, the commission staff, upon the filing of its
testimony, exhibits, or report, will compile and file with the Clerk of the Commission three copies of any workpapers that support the recommendations
made in its testimony or report. The Clerk of the Commission shall make the workpapers available for public inspection and copying during regular
business hours.

5 VAC 5-20-280. Discovery in 5 VAC 5-20-90 proceedings.

The following applies only to proceedings in which a defendant is subject to monetary or injunctive penalties, or revocation, cancellation, or
curtailment of a license, certificate of authority, registration, or similar authority previously issued by the commission to the defendant.

A. Discovery of material in possession of the Commission staff. Upon written motion of the defendant, the commission shall permit the
defendant to inspect and, at the defendant's expense, copy or photograph any relevant written or recorded statements, the existence of which is known, after
reasonable inquiry, by the commission staff counsel assigned to the matter to be within the custody, possession, or control of commission staff, made by the
defendant, or representatives, or agents of the defendant if the defendant is other than an individual, to a commission staff member or law enforcement
officer.

A motion by the defendant under this rule shall be filed and served at least 10 days before the hearing date. The motion shall include all relief
sought. A subsequent motion may be made only upon a showing of cause as to why the motion would be in the interests of justice. An order granting relief
under 5 VAC 5-20-280 shall specify the time, place, and manner of making discovery and inspection permitted, and may prescribe such terms and conditions
as the commission may determine.

Nothing in this rule shall require the disclosure of any information, the disclosure of which is prohibited by statute. The disclosure of the results
of a commission staff investigation or work product of commission staff counsel shall not be required.

B. Depositions. After commencement of an action to which this rules applies, the commission staff or a party may take the testimony of a party
or another person or entity, other than a member of the commission staff, by deposition on oral examination or by written questions. Depositions may be
used for any purpose for which they may be used in the courts of record of the Commonwealth. Except where the commission or hearing examiner finds
that an emergency exists, no deposition may be taken later than 10 days in advance of the formal hearing. The attendance of witnesses at depositions may be
compelled by subpoena. Examination and cross-examination of the witness shall be as at hearing. Depositions may be taken in the City of Richmond or in
the town, city, or county in which the deposed party resides, is employed, or does business. The parties and the commission staff, by agreement, may
designate another place for the taking of the deposition. Reasonable notice of the intent to take a deposition must be given in writing to the commission staff
counsel and to each party to the action, stating the time and place where the deposition is to be taken. A deposition may be taken before any person (the
"officer") authorized to administer oaths by the laws of the jurisdiction in which the deposition is to be taken. The officer shall certify his or her
authorization in writing, administer the oath to the deponent, record or cause to be recorded the testimony given, and note any objections raised. In lieu of
participating in the oral examination, a party or the commission staff may deliver sealed written questions to the officer, who shall propound the questions to
the witness. The officer may terminate the deposition if convinced that the examination is being conducted in bad faith or in an unreasonable manner. Costs
of the deposition shall be borne by the party noticing the deposition, unless otherwise ordered by the commission.



14
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

C. Requests for admissions. The commission staff or a party to the proceeding may serve upon a party written requests for admission. Each
matter on which an admission is requested shall be stated separately. A matter shall be deemed admitted unless within 21 days of the service of the request,
or some other period the commission may designate, the party to whom the request is directed serves upon the requesting party a written answer addressing
or objecting to the request. The response shall set forth in specific terms a denial of the matter set forth or an explanation as to the reasons the responding
party cannot truthfully admit or deny the matter set forth. Requests for admission shall be filed with the Clerk of the Commission and simultaneously served
on commission staff counsel and on all parties to the matter.

Adopted: September 1, 1974

Revised: May 1, 1985 by Case No. CLK850262

Revised: August 1, 1986 by Case No. CLK860572 and Repealed June 1, 2001 by Case No. CLK000311
Adopted: June 1, 2001 by Case No. CLK000311

Revised: January 15, 2008 by Case No. CLK-2007-00005
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LEADING MATTERS DISPOSED OF BY FORMAL ORDERS

BUREAU OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

CASE NO. BAN20062271
MAY 29, 2007

APPLICATION OF
PRIME CARE CREDIT UNION, INCORPORATED

To merge with L.O.M.H. Employees Federal Credit Union

ORDER APPROVING A MERGER

Prime Care Credit Union, Incorporated, a Virginia state-chartered credit union, has applied to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission"), pursuant to § 6.1-225.27 of the Code of Virginia, to merge with L.O.M.H. Employees Federal Credit Union, a federally chartered credit
union. The application was investigated by the Bureau of Financial Institutions (“Bureau™).

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that: (1) the field of membership of the credit union which
is proposed to result from the merger satisfies the requirements of § 6.1-225.23 B of the Code of Virginia; (2) the plan of merger will promote the best
interests of the members of the credit unions; and (3) the members of L.O.M.H. Employees Federal Credit Union and the board of directors of Prime Care
Credit Union, Incorporated have approved the plan of merger in accordance with applicable law.

THEREFORE, provided the merging credit unions comply with the applicable provisions of the Virginia Nonstock Corporation Act, the merger
of L.O.M.H. Employees Federal Credit Union into Prime Care Credit Union, Incorporated is APPROVED, effective upon the issuance by the Clerk of the
Commission of a certificate of merger. Following the merger, Prime Care Credit Union, Incorporated shall be authorized to operate as a service facility, in
addition to its current service facility, what is now the office of L.O.M.H. Employees Federal Credit Union at 2800 Godwin Boulevard, Suffolk, Virginia
23434. The authority granted herein shall expire one (1) year from this date unless extended by Commission order prior to the expiration date.

CASE NO. BAN20062426
APRIL 6, 2007

APPLICATION OF
CASH SOLUTION, LLC

For a license to engage in business as a payday lender

ORDER GRANTING A LICENSE

Cash Solution, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company, has applied to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") for a license to
engage in the business of payday lending at 12809 Jefferson Avenue, Newport News, Virginia 23608. The application was investigated by the
Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the application meets the criteria in Chapter 18 of
Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the application is GRANTED provided that the applicant begins business within one (1) year from this date and the applicant
gives written notice to the Bureau stating the date business was begun within ten (10) days thereafter.
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CASE NO. BAN20062744
JANUARY 22, 2007
APPLICATION OF
ADVANCE AMERICA, CASH ADVANCE CENTERS OF VIRGINIA, INC. D/B/A
ADVANCE AMERICA, CASH ADVANCE CENTERS

For authority to conduct business as an agent of a money transmitter in its payday lending offices

ORDER GRANTING OTHER BUSINESS AUTHORITY

Advance America, Cash Advance Centers of Virginia, Inc. d/b/a Advance America, Cash Advance Centers (*Company"), a licensed payday
lender, has applied to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™), pursuant to 10 VAC 5-200-100 and § 6.1-463 of the Code of Virginia, for
authority to conduct business as an agent of a money transmitter in the Company's payday lending offices. The application was investigated by the
Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the Bureau's report, the Commission finds that the proposed other business is financial in nature and the
application should be approved.

THEREFORE, the authority requested in the application is GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

1. The Company shall not make a payday loan to a borrower to enable the borrower to purchase or pay a fee related to money transmission
services available at the Company's payday lending offices.

2. The Company shall comply with all federal and state laws and regulations applicable to its money transmission business.

3. The Company shall be and remain a party to a written agreement to act as an agent for a person exempt from licensing as a money
transmitter pursuant to § 6.1-371 of the Code of Virginia ("exempt money transmitter"). The Company shall not engage in money
transmission services on its own behalf or on behalf of any person other than an exempt money transmitter with whom it has a written
agency agreement.

4. The Company shall maintain books and records for its money transmission business separate and apart from its payday lending business and
in a different location within its payday lending offices. The Bureau shall be given access to all such books and records and be furnished
with such information and records as it may require in order to assure compliance with these conditions as well as all applicable laws and
regulations.

5. The Company should maintain a copy of this Order at each location where it conducts business as an agent of an exempt money transmitter.

6. Violation of any condition contained in this Order may result in revocation of the authority hereby conferred.

CASE NO. BAN20062928
APRIL 26, 2007

APPLICATION OF
TERRELL L. GRAVELY, SR. D/B/A AAA CASH ADVANCE

For a license to engage in business as a payday lender

ORDER GRANTING A LICENSE

Terrell L. Gravely, Sr. d/b/a AAA Cash Advance has applied to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") for a license to engage in the
business of payday lending at 3335B Campbell Avenue, Lynchburg, Virginia 24501. The application was investigated by the Commission's Bureau of
Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the application meets the criteria in Chapter 18 of
Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the application is APPROVED provided that the applicant begins business within one (1) year from this date and the applicant
gives written notice to the Bureau stating the date business was begun within ten (10) days thereafter.
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CASE NO. BAN20062962
NOVEMBER 19, 2007

APPLICATION OF
CREDIT ADVISORS FOUNDATION

For a license to engage in business as a credit counseling agency

ORDER GRANTING A LICENSE

Credit Advisors Foundation, a Nebraska corporation, has applied to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) for a license to engage in
business as a credit counseling agency at (1) 1818 South 72nd Street, Omaha, Nebraska 68124; and (2) 1944 South Pacific Avenue, Suite 203, Tacoma,
Washington 98402. The application was investigated by the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the application meets the criteria in Chapter 10.2 of
Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the license requested in the application is GRANTED provided that the applicant begins business within one (1) year from this
date and the applicant gives written notice to the Bureau stating the date business was begun within twenty (20) days thereafter.

CASE NO. BAN20063030
JANUARY 31, 2007

APPLICATION OF
D. LONG INVESTMENTS, INC. D/B/A BROSVILLE PAYDAY ADVANCE

For a license to engage in business as a payday lender

ORDER GRANTING A LICENSE

D. Long Investments, Inc. d/b/a Brosville Payday Advance, a Virginia corporation, has applied to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) for a license to engage in the business of payday lending at 11980 Martinsville Highway, Suite A-1, Danville, Virginia 24541. The
application was investigated by the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the application meets the criteria in Chapter 18 of
Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the license requested in the application is GRANTED provided that the applicant begins business within one (1) year from this
date and the applicant gives written notice to the Bureau stating the date business was begun within ten (10) days thereafter.

CASE NO. BAN20063048
JANUARY 5, 2007

APPLICATION OF
BEACON CREDIT UNION, INCORPORATED

To merge with Lynchburg Transit Employees Federal Credit Union

ORDER APPROVING A MERGER

Beacon Credit Union, Incorporated (“Beacon"), a Virginia state-chartered credit union, has applied to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission"), pursuant to § 6.1-225.27 of the Code of Virginia, to merge with Lynchburg Transit Employees Federal Credit Union, a federally-chartered
credit union. Beacon will be the survivor of the proposed merger. The application was investigated by the Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that: (1) the field of membership of the credit union which
is proposed to result from the merger satisfies the requirements of § 6.1-225.23 B of the Code of Virginia; (2) the plan of merger will promote the best
interests of the members of the credit unions; and (3) the members of Lynchburg Transit Employees Federal Credit Union and the board of directors of
Beacon have approved the plan of merger in accordance with applicable law.

THEREFORE, provided the merging credit unions comply with the applicable provisions of the Virginia Nonstock Corporation Act, the merger
of Lynchburg Transit Employees Federal Credit Union into Beacon is APPROVED, effective upon the issuance by the Clerk of the Commission of a
certificate of merger. The authority granted herein shall expire one (1) year from this date unless extended by Commission order prior to the expiration date.



18

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

CASE NO. BAN20063073
MARCH 15, 2007

APPLICATION OF
CASH-2-GO OF VIRGINIA, INC

For a license to engage in business as a payday lender

ORDER GRANTING A LICENSE

Cash-2-Go of Virginia, Inc, a Virginia corporation, has applied to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) for a license to engage in
the business of payday lending at the following locations: (1) 6644 Indian River Road, Virginia Beach, Virginia 23464; and (2) 424 Portsmouth Boulevard,
Portsmouth, Virginia 23701. The application was investigated by the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the application meets the criteria in Chapter 18 of
Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the application is APPROVED provided that the applicant begins business within one (1) year from this date and the applicant
gives written notice to the Bureau stating the date business was begun within ten (10) days thereafter.

CASE NOS. BAN20063248 and BAN20063250
JANUARY 18, 2007

APPLICATIONS OF
AMERICAN CASH CENTER, INC. (USED IN VIRGINIA BY: B & L MANAGEMENT, INC.) D/B/A CARDINAL CASH ADVANCE

For authority to conduct tax preparation and electronic tax filing business in its payday lending offices

ORDER GRANTING OTHER BUSINESS AUTHORITY

American Cash Center, Inc. (Used in Virginia by: B & L Management, Inc.) d/b/a Cardinal Cash Advance ("Company"), a licensed payday
lender, has applied to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™), pursuant to 10 VAC 5-200-100 and § 6.1-463 of the Code of Virginia, for
authority to conduct tax preparation and electronic tax filing business in the Company's payday lending offices. The applications were investigated by the
Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions (“Bureau™).

Having considered the applications and the Bureau's report, the Commission finds that the proposed other businesses are financial in nature and
the applications should be approved.

THEREFORE, the authority requested in the applications is GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

1.

The Company shall not make a payday loan to a borrower to enable the borrower to pay a fee related to tax preparation or electronic tax
filing services provided by the Company at its payday lending offices.

The Company shall not make, arrange, or broker a payday loan that is secured in part by an interest in a borrower's tax refund, or in whole or
in part by (i) any other assignment of income payable to a borrower, or (ii) any assignment of an interest in a borrower's account at a
depository institution. This condition shall not be construed to prohibit the Company from making a payday loan that is secured solely by a
check payable to the Company drawn on a borrower's account at a depository institution.

The Company shall not engage in the business of accepting funds for transmission to the Internal Revenue Service or other governmental
instrumentalities in a form negotiable by the Company unless licensed as a money transmitter or exempt from licensing under Chapter 12 of
Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Company shall not use or cause to be published any advertisement or other information that contains any false, misleading or deceptive
statement or representation concerning its tax preparation and electronic tax filing businesses. The Company shall not make or cause to be
made any misrepresentation as to its being licensed by the Commission or Bureau to conduct tax preparation and electronic tax filing, or as
to the extent to which it is subject to supervision or regulation.

The Company shall not make a payday loan or vary the terms of a payday loan on the condition or requirement that a person also obtain tax
preparation or electronic tax filing services. The Company shall not provide tax preparation or electronic tax filing services or vary the
terms of its tax preparation or electronic tax filing services on the condition or requirement that a person also obtain a payday loan.

The Company shall comply with all federal and state laws and regulations applicable to the conduct of its tax preparation and electronic tax
filing businesses.

The Company shall maintain books and records for its tax preparation and electronic tax filing businesses separate and apart from its payday
lending business and in a different location within its payday lending offices. The Bureau shall be given access to all such books and records
and be furnished with such information and records as it may require in order to assure compliance with these conditions as well as all
applicable laws and regulations.
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8. The Company should maintain a copy of this Order at each location where it conducts tax preparation and electronic tax filing business.

9. Violation of any condition contained in this Order may result in revocation of the authority hereby conferred.

CASE NO. BAN20063251
JANUARY 23, 2007

APPLICATION OF

TERRY L. COLLINS, NORMAN P. HORN, RICHARD C. LITMAN,

ALVIN E. NASHMAN, RUSSELL E. SHERMAN, DAVID C. KARLGAARD
and

THE ATEGRA COMMUNITY FINANCIAL INSTITUTION FUND, LP

To acquire 39 percent of the voting stock of The Freedom Bank of Virginia

ORDER OF APPROVAL

Terry L. Collins, Norman P. Horn, Richard C. Litman, Alvin E. Nashman, Russell E. Sherman, David C. Karlgaard and the Ategra Community
Financial Institution Fund, LP, acting as a group have filed with the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) the application required by § 6.1-383.1
of the Code of Virginia to acquire 39 percent of the voting shares of The Freedom Bank of Virginia, a Virginia state-chartered bank. The Bureau of
Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the proposed acquisition.

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the application meets the criteria in § 6.1-383.2 of the
Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the proposed acquisition of 39 percent of the voting shares of The Freedom Bank of Virginia by Terry L. Collins, Norman P.
Horn, Richard C. Litman, Alvin E. Nashman, Russell E. Sherman, David C. Karlgaard and the Ategra Community Financial Institution Fund, LP is

APPROVED, provided the acquisition takes place within one (1) year from this date and the applicant notifies the Bureau of the effective date of the
transaction within ten (10) days thereof.

CASE NO. BAN20063256
MAY 25, 2007

APPLICATION OF
CASH-2-GO OF VIRGINIA, INC

For authority to conduct an open-end credit business at its payday lending offices

ORDER GRANTING OTHER BUSINESS AUTHORITY

Cash-2-Go of Virginia, Inc ("Company"), a licensed payday lender, has applied to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission"), pursuant
to 10 VAC 5-200-100 and § 6.1-463 of the Code of Virginia, for authority to conduct open-end credit business from its payday lending offices. The
application was investigated by the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the Bureau's report, the Commission finds that the proposed other business is financial in nature and the
application should be approved.

THEREFORE, the authority requested in the application is GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

1. The Company shall not make a payday loan to enable a borrower to pay any fee, finance charge, or other amount the borrower owes to the
Company in connection with an open-end credit transaction.

2. The Company shall not permit a person to take a cash advance under an open-end credit account to enable such person to pay any amount
owed to the Company as a result of a payday loan transaction.

3. The Company shall not enter into an open-end credit transaction and make a payday loan contemporaneously or in response to a single
request for a loan.

4. The Company shall not enter into an open-end credit transaction that is secured by an interest in one-to-four-family residential
owner-occupied property located in the Commonwealth unless the Company is licensed or exempt from licensing under Chapter 16 of
Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

5. The Company shall not use or cause to be published any advertisement or other information that contains any false, misleading or deceptive
statement or representation concerning its open-end credit business, including the rates, terms or conditions of its loans. The Company shall
not make or cause to be made any misrepresentation as to its being licensed to conduct open-end credit business, or as to the extent to which
it is subject to supervision or regulation.

6. The Company shall not sell insurance or enroll borrowers under group insurance policies.
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7. The Company shall comply with all federal and state laws and regulations applicable to the conduct of its open-end credit business.

8. The Company shall maintain books and records for its open-end credit business separate and apart from its payday lending business and in a
different location within the payday lending offices. The Bureau shall be given access to all such books and records and be furnished with
such information and records as it may require in order to assure compliance with these conditions as well as all applicable laws and
regulations.

9. The Company should maintain a copy of this Order at each location where it conducts open-end credit business.

10. Violation of any condition contained in this Order may result in revocation of the authority hereby conferred.

CASE NOS. BAN20063313 and BAN20063314
JANUARY 30, 2007

APPLICATION OF
THE PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC.

To acquire the Virginia bank subsidiaries of Mercantile Bankshares Corporation

ORDER OF APPROVAL

The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc., a bank holding company with headquarters in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, has filed with the State
Corporation Commission (“"Commission™) the applications required by Chapter 15 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia to acquire the Virginia bank
subsidiaries of Mercantile Bankshares Corporation, a bank holding company with headquarters in Baltimore, Maryland (see Exhibit A for a listing of
Mercantile Bankshares Corporation's banking subsidiaries). The Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the proposed acquisition.

Having considered the applications and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the applications meet the criteria in § 6.1-383.2 of the
Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the proposed acquisition of the Virginia bank subsidiaries of Mercantile Bankshares Corporation by The PNC Financial Services
Group, Inc. is APPROVED, provided the acquisition takes place within one (1) year from this date and the applicant notifies the Bureau of the effective
date within ten (10) days thereof.

NOTE: A copy of Exhibit A is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Bureau of Financial Institutions, Tyler
Building, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. BAN20063321
JANUARY 18, 2007

APPLICATION OF
SECOND BANK & TRUST

For a certificate of authority to do a banking and trust business following a merger with Virginia Heartland Bank and for authority to operate the
authorized offices of the merging banks

ORDER GRANTING AUTHORITY

Second Bank & Trust, a Virginia state-chartered bank, has applied to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™), pursuant to § 6.1-44 of
the Code of Virginia, for a certificate of authority to do a banking and trust business following a merger with Virginia Heartland Bank, a Virginia
state-chartered bank. Both banks are subsidiaries of Virginia Financial Group, Inc., a bank holding company based in Culpeper, Virginia. Second Bank &
Trust proposes to be the surviving bank in the merger and seeks authority to operate all of the currently authorized offices of the merging banks. The
application was investigated by the Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that: (1) the provisions of law have been complied with;
(2) the capital stock of the resulting bank will be $6,076,385, and its surplus will be not less than $61,642,948; (3) the public interest will be served by the
banking facilities of the resulting bank in the communities where its offices will be located; (4) the oaths of all directors have been taken and filed in
accordance with the provisions of § 6.1-48 of the Code of Virginia; (5) the resulting bank will conduct a legitimate banking business; (6) the moral fitness,
financial responsibility, and business qualifications of those named as officers and directors of the resulting bank are such as to command the confidence of
the community; and (7) the deposits of the resulting bank will be insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

THEREFORE, a certificate of authority to do a banking and trust business is GRANTED to Second Bank & Trust, effective upon the issuance
by the Clerk of the Commission of a certificate of merger in the proposed transaction. The resulting bank, which will have its main office at 102 South Main
Street, Culpeper, Culpeper County, Virginia, is authorized to maintain and operate, in addition to its current offices and facilities, the offices that have been
operated by Virginia Heartland Bank. The offices operated by the merging banks are listed in Attachment A. The authority granted herein shall expire one
(1) year from this date unless extended by Commission order prior to the expiration date.
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NOTE: A copy of Attachment A is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Bureau of Financial Institutions, Tyler
Building, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. BAN20063365
FEBRUARY 2, 2007

APPLICATION OF
SANDY SPRING BANCORP, INC.

To acquire Potomac Bank of Virginia

ORDER OF APPROVAL

Sandy Spring Bancorp, Inc., an out-of-state bank holding company with headquarters in Olney, Maryland, has filed with the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") the application required by Chapter 15 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia to acquire Potomac Bank of Virginia, a Virginia
bank. The Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the proposed acquisition.

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the application meets the criteria in § 6.1-383.2 of the
Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the proposed acquisition of Potomac Bank of Virginia by Sandy Spring Bancorp, Inc. is APPROVED, provided the acquisition
takes place within one (1) year from this date and the applicant notifies the Bureau of the effective date of the transaction within ten (10) days thereof.

CASE NO. BAN20063448
MAY 25, 2007

APPLICATION OF
PROSPERITY ENTERPRISES, INC.

For a license to engage in business as a payday lender

ORDER GRANTING A LICENSE

Prosperity Enterprises, Inc., a Virginia corporation, has applied to the State Corporation Commission (“*Commission™) for a license to engage in
the business of payday lending at 15 Jackson Avenue, Winchester, Virginia 22601. The application was investigated by the Commission's Bureau of
Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the application meets the criteria in Chapter 18 of
Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the application is APPROVED provided that the applicant begins business within one (1) year from this date and the applicant
gives written notice to the Bureau stating the date business was begun within ten (10) days thereafter.

CASE NO. BAN20070679
MAY 18, 2007

APPLICATION OF
AMERICAN CASH CENTER, INC. (USED IN VIRGINIA BY: B & L MANAGEMENT, INC.) D/B/A CARDINAL CASH ADVANCE

For authority to allow a third party to conduct open-end credit business from the licensee's payday lending offices

ORDER GRANTING OTHER BUSINESS AUTHORITY

American Cash Center, Inc. (Used in Virginia by: B & L Management, Inc.) d/b/a Cardinal Cash Advance ("Company"), a licensed payday
lender, has applied to the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission"), pursuant to 10 VAC 5-200-100 and § 6.1-463 of the Code of Virginia, for
authority to allow a third party to conduct open-end credit business from the Company's payday lending offices. The application was investigated by the
Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions (“Bureau™).

Having considered the application and the Bureau's report, the Commission finds that the proposed other business is financial in nature and the
application should be approved.

THEREFORE, the authority requested in the application is GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

1. The Company shall not make a payday loan to enable a borrower to pay any fee, finance charge, or other amount the borrower owes to the
third party in connection with an open-end credit transaction.
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2. The third party shall not permit a person to take a cash advance under an open-end credit account to enable such person to pay any amount
owed to the Company as a result of a payday loan transaction.

3. The Company and third party shall not enter into an open-end credit transaction and make a payday loan contemporaneously or in response
to a single request for a loan.

4. The third party shall not enter into an open-end credit transaction that is secured by an interest in one-to-four-family residential owner-
occupied property located in the Commonwealth unless such third party is licensed or exempt from licensing under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1
of the Code of Virginia.

5. The third party shall not use or cause to be published any advertisement or other information that contains any false, misleading or deceptive
statement or representation concerning its open-end credit business, including the rates, terms or conditions of its loans. The third party shall
not make or cause to be made any misrepresentation as to its being a licensed lender, or as to the extent to which it is subject to supervision
or regulation.

6. The third party shall not sell insurance or enroll borrowers under group insurance policies.

7. The third party shall comply with all federal and state laws and regulations applicable to the conduct of its open-end credit business.

8.  The third party shall maintain books and records for its open-end credit business separate and apart from the Company's payday lending
business and in a different location within the payday lending offices. The Bureau shall be given access to all such books and records and be
furnished with such information and records as it may require in order to assure compliance with these conditions as well as all applicable
laws and regulations.

9. The Company should maintain a copy of this Order at each location where a third party conducts open-end credit business.

10. Violation of any condition contained in this Order may result in revocation of the authority hereby conferred.

CASE NO. BAN20070699
SEPTEMBER 11, 2007

APPLICATION OF
PAYDAY TODAY, LLC

For a license to engage in business as a payday lender

ORDER GRANTING A LICENSE

Payday Today, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company, has applied to the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") for a license to
engage in the business of payday lending at 564 First Colonial Road, Unit B, Virginia Beach, Virginia 23451. The application was investigated by the
Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions (“Bureau").

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the application meets the criteria in Chapter 18 of
Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the application is APPROVED provided that the applicant begins business within one (1) year from this date and the applicant
gives written notice to the Bureau stating the date business was begun within ten (10) days thereafter.

CASE NO. BAN20070901
MAY 18, 2007

APPLICATION OF
F &L MARKETING ENTERPRISES LLC D/B/A CASH-2-U PAYDAY LOANS

For authority to allow a third party to conduct open-end credit business from the licensee's payday lending offices

ORDER GRANTING OTHER BUSINESS AUTHORITY

F & L Marketing Enterprises LLC d/b/a Cash-2-U Payday Loans (“Company"), a licensed payday lender, has applied to the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission"), pursuant to 10 VAC 5-200-100 and § 6.1-463 of the Code of Virginia, for authority to allow a third party to conduct open-end
credit business from the Company's payday lending offices. The application was investigated by the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions
("Bureau™).

Having considered the application and the Bureau's report, the Commission finds that the proposed other business is financial in nature and the
application should be approved.

THEREFORE, the authority requested in the application is GRANTED subject to the following conditions:
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1. The Company shall not make a payday loan to enable a borrower to pay any fee, finance charge, or other amount the borrower owes to the
third party in connection with an open-end credit transaction.

2. The third party shall not permit a person to take a cash advance under an open-end credit account to enable such person to pay any amount
owed to the Company as a result of a payday loan transaction.

3. The Company and third party shall not enter into an open-end credit transaction and make a payday loan contemporaneously or in response
to a single request for a loan.

4. The third party shall not enter into an open-end credit transaction that is secured by an interest in one-to-four-family residential owner-
occupied property located in the Commonwealth unless such third party is licensed or exempt from licensing under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1
of the Code of Virginia.

5. The third party shall not use or cause to be published any advertisement or other information that contains any false, misleading or deceptive
statement or representation concerning its open-end credit business, including the rates, terms or conditions of its loans. The third party shall
not make or cause to be made any misrepresentation as to its being a licensed lender, or as to the extent to which it is subject to supervision
or regulation.

6. The third party shall not sell insurance or enroll borrowers under group insurance policies.

7. The third party shall comply with all federal and state laws and regulations applicable to the conduct of its open-end credit business.

8. The third party shall maintain books and records for its open-end credit business separate and apart from the Company's payday lending
business and in a different location within the payday lending offices. The Bureau shall be given access to all such books and records and be
furnished with such information and records as it may require in order to assure compliance with these conditions as well as all applicable
laws and regulations.

9. The Company should maintain a copy of this Order at each location where a third party conducts open-end credit business.

10. Violation of any condition contained in this Order may result in revocation of the authority hereby conferred.

CASE NO. BAN20071010
JUNE 28, 2007

APPLICATION OF
J. TODD RAWLE

To acquire 28.74 percent of the ownership of Anykind Check Cashing, LC d/b/a Check City

ORDER OF APPROVAL

J. Todd Rawle, of Provo, Utah, has applied to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to acquire 28.74 percent of the ownership of
Anykind Check Cashing, LC d/b/a Check City, a licensed payday lender under Chapter 18 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia. The application was
investigated by the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the application meets the criteria in § 6.1-452 of the
Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the acquisition of Anykind Check Cashing, LC d/b/a Check City by J. Todd Rawle is APPROVED, effective this date.

CASE NUMBER: BAN20071011
JUNE 28, 2007

APPLICATION OF
R. TRACY RAWLE

To acquire 28.74 percent of the ownership of Anykind Check Cashing, LC d/b/a Check City

ORDER OF APPROVAL

R. Tracy Rawle, of Provo, Utah, has applied to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") to acquire 28.74 percent of the ownership of
Anykind Check Cashing, LC d/b/a Check City, a licensed payday lender under Chapter 18 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia. The application was
investigated by the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").
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Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the application meets the criteria in § 6.1-452 of the
Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the acquisition of Anykind Check Cashing, LC d/b/a Check City by R. Tracy Rawle is APPROVED, effective this date.

CASE NO. BAN20071147
MAY 10, 2007

APPLICATION OF
KWIK CASH INC

For authority to relocate an office

ORDER APPROVING RELOCATION OF AN OFFICE
WITH AN ADMONITION

ON FORMER DAY, the Staff reported to the State Corporation Commission that Kwik Cash Inc ("Company") is licensed to engage in business
as a payday lender under Chapter 18 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the Company applied for authority to relocate an office from 203 Main Street,
Brookneal, Virginia 24528 to 1313-D Lynchburg Avenue, Brookneal, Virginia 24528; that upon investigation of the application it was found that the office
had been relocated without the approval required by § 6.1-451(B) of the Code of Virginia but that otherwise the conditions in the statute for approval of the
application were met; and the Commissioner of Financial Institutions recommended that the application be approved with an admonition. Upon
consideration thereof,

IT IS ORDERED THAT:
1. The application for authority to relocate the office is approved; and

2. The Company is admonished that further violations of § 6.1-451(B) of the Code of Virginia may result in the imposition of fines under
8§ 6.1-467 of the Code of Virginia or other appropriate sanctions.

CASE NO. BAN20071360
AUGUST 24, 2007

APPLICATION OF
FIRST VIRGINIA COMMUNITY BANK

For a certificate of authority to begin business as a bank at 11325 Random Hills Road, Fairfax County, Virginia

ORDER GRANTING AUTHORITY

First Virginia Community Bank, a Virginia corporation, has applied to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™), pursuant to Chapter 2
of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia, for a certificate of authority to begin business as a bank at 11325 Random Hills Road, Fairfax County, Virginia. The
application was investigated by the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the investigation report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the public interest will be served by
additional banking facilities in the City of Fairfax, where the applicant proposes to conduct business. The Commission also finds that (1) all applicable
provisions of law have been complied with; (2) financially responsible individuals have subscribed for capital stock and surplus in an amount deemed by the
Commission to be sufficient to warrant successful operation; (3) the oaths of all directors have been taken and filed in accordance with § 6.1-48 of the Code
of Virginia; (4) the applicant was formed in order to conduct a legitimate banking business; (5) the moral fitness, financial responsibility, and business
qualifications of those named as officers and directors of the proposed bank are such as to command the confidence of the community; and (6) the deposits
of the bank are to be insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that a certificate of authority for First Virginia Community Bank to engage in banking business at the
specified location is GRANTED, provided the following conditions are met before the bank opens for business:

(1) Capital funds totaling $23,000,000 are paid in to the bank and allocated as follows: $11,500,000 to capital stock and $11,500,000 to surplus;
(2) The bank actually obtains insurance of its accounts by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation; and
(3) The bank receives the approval of the Commissioner of Financial Institutions of its appointment of a chief executive officer and gives the

Bureau written notice of the date the bank will open for business. If the bank does not open for business within one (1) year from the date of this Order, the
authority granted herein shall expire unless it is extended by the Commission.
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CASE NO. BAN20071446
JULY 9, 2007

APPLICATION OF
UNITED BANK

For a certificate of authority to do a banking and trust business following a merger with The Marathon Bank and Rockingham Heritage Bank and
for authority to operate the authorized offices of the merging banks

ORDER GRANTING AUTHORITY

United Bank, a Virginia state-chartered bank with its main office at 11185 Fairfax Boulevard, City of Fairfax, Virginia, has applied to the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission™), pursuant to § 6.1-44 of the Code of Virginia, for a certificate of authority to do a banking and trust business
following a merger with The Marathon Bank and Rockingham Heritage Bank, both Virginia state-chartered banks. United Bank proposes to be the
surviving bank in the merger and seeks authority to operate all of the currently authorized offices of the merging banks. The applications were investigated
by the Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the applications and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that: (1) the provisions of law have been complied with;
(2) the capital stock of the resulting bank will be $2,000,00, and its surplus will be not less than $564,474,000; (3) the public interest will be served by the
banking facilities of the resulting bank in the communities where its office will be located; (4) the oaths of all directors have been taken and filed in
accordance with the provisions of § 6.1-48 of the Code of Virginia; (5) the resulting bank will conduct a legitimate banking business; (6) the moral fitness,
financial responsibility, and business qualifications of those named as officers and directors of the resulting bank are such as to command the confidence of
the community; and (7) the deposits of the resulting bank will be insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

THEREFORE, a certificate of authority to do a banking and trust business is GRANTED to United Bank, effective upon the issuance by the
Clerk of the Commission of a certificate of merger in the proposed transaction. The resulting bank is authorized to operate a main office at 11185 Fairfax
Boulevard, City of Fairfax, Virginia, and is authorized to maintain and operate, in addition to its current offices and facilities the offices listed in
Attachment A that have been operated by The Marathon Bank and Rockingham Heritage Bank. Unless the merger is consummated within one (1) year of
the date of this order, the authority granted herein shall expire unless extended by Commission order prior to that date.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled "Attachment A" is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Bureau of
Financial Institutions, Tyler Building, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE _NO. BAN20071643
OCTOBER 19, 2007

APPLICATION OF
CW FINANCIAL OF VA LLC D/B/A PAYDAY USA

For a license to engage in business as a payday lender

ORDER GRANTING A LICENSE

CW Financial of VA LLC d/b/a Payday USA, a Delaware limited liability company, has applied to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") for a license to engage in the business of payday lending at twenty-three (23) locations (see attachment). The application was investigated
by the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions (“Bureau").

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the application meets the criteria in Chapter 18 of
Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the application is APPROVED provided that the applicant begins business within one (1) year from this date and the applicant
gives written notice to the Bureau stating the date business was begun within ten (10) days thereafter.

NOTE: A copy of the Attachment is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Bureau of Financial Institutions, Tyler
Building, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.



26
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

CASE NO. BAN20071754
SEPTEMBER 27, 2007

APPLICATION OF
AMERICAN CASH CENTER, INC. (USED IN VIRGINIA BY: B & L MANAGEMENT, INC.) D/B/A CARDINAL CASH ADVANCE

For authority to conduct business as an agent of a money order seller/money transmitter in its payday lending offices

ORDER GRANTING OTHER BUSINESS AUTHORITY

American Cash Center, Inc. (Used in Virginia by: B & L Management, Inc.) d/b/a Cardinal Cash Advance (*Company"), a licensed payday
lender, has applied to the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission"), pursuant to 10 VAC 5-200-100 and § 6.1-463 of the Code of Virginia, for
authority to conduct business as an agent of a money order seller/money transmitter in the Company's payday lending offices. The application was
investigated by the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the Bureau's report, the Commission finds that the proposed other business is financial in nature and the
application should be approved.

THEREFORE, the authority requested in the application is GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

1. The Company shall not make a payday loan to a borrower to enable the borrower to purchase or pay a fee related to money orders or money
transmission services available at the Company's payday lending offices.

2. The Company shall comply with all federal and state laws and regulations applicable to its money order sales and money transmission
businesses.

3. The Company shall be and remain a party to a written agreement to act as an agent for a person licensed to sell money orders and engage in
the money transmission business under Chapter 12 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia (*money order seller/money transmitter licensee").
The Company shall not engage in money order sales or money transmission services on its own behalf or on behalf of any person other than
a money order seller/money transmitter licensee with whom it has a written agency agreement.

4. The Company shall maintain books and records for its money order sales and money transmission businesses separate and apart from its
payday lending business and in a different location within its payday lending offices. The Bureau shall be given access to all such books and
records and be furnished with such information and records as it may require in order to assure compliance with these conditions as well as
all applicable laws and regulations.

5. The Company should maintain a copy of this Order at each location where it conducts business as an agent of a money order seller/money
transmitter licensee.

6. Violation of any condition contained in this Order may result in revocation of the authority hereby conferred.

CASE NO. BAN20071816
AUGUST 27, 2007

APPLICATION OF
CASH & GO, INC. OF VIRGINIA (USED IN VA BY: CASH & GO, INC.) D/B/A CASH-N-GO

For authority to conduct open-end credit business from its payday lending offices

ORDER GRANTING OTHER BUSINESS AUTHORITY

Cash & Go, Inc. of Virginia (Used in VA by: Cash & Go, Inc.) d/b/a CASH-N-GO ("Company") a licensed payday lender, has applied to the
State Corporation Commission ("Commission"), pursuant to 10 VAC 5-200-100 and § 6.1-463 of the Code of Virginia, for authority to conduct open-end
credit business from its payday lending offices. The application was investigated by the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the Bureau's report, the Commission finds that the proposed other business is financial in nature and the
application should be approved.

THEREFORE, the authority requested in the application is GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

1. The Company shall not make a payday loan to enable a borrower to pay any fee, finance charge, or other amount the borrower owes to the
Company in connection with an open-end credit transaction.

2. The Company shall not permit a person to take a cash advance under an open-end credit account to enable such person to pay any amount
owed to the Company as a result of a payday loan transaction.

3. The Company shall not enter into an open-end credit transaction and make a payday loan contemporaneously or in response to a single
request for a loan.
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4. The Company shall not enter into an open-end credit transaction that is secured by an interest in one-to-four family residential
owner-occupied property located in the Commonwealth unless the Company is licensed or exempt from licensing under Chapter 16 of
Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

5. The Company shall not use or cause to be published any advertisement or other information that contains any false, misleading or deceptive
statement or representation concerning its open-end credit business, including the rates, terms or conditions of its loans. The Company shall
not make or cause to be made any misrepresentation as to its being licensed to conduct open-end credit business, or as to the extent to which
it is subject to supervision or regulation.

6. The Company shall not sell insurance or enroll borrowers under group insurance policies.

7. The Company shall comply with all federal and state laws and regulations applicable to the conduct of its open-end credit business.

8. The Company shall maintain books and records for its open-end credit business separate and apart from its payday lending business and in a
different location within its payday lending offices. The Bureau shall be given access to all such books and records and be furnished with
such information and records as it may require in order to assure compliance with these conditions as well as all applicable laws and
regulations.

9. The Company should maintain a copy of this Order at each location where it conducts open-end credit business.

10. Violation of any condition contained in this Order may result in revocation of the authority hereby conferred.

CASE NO. BAN20071819
DECEMBER 3, 2007

APPLICATION OF
INSTANT CASH ADVANCE, L.L.C.

For a license to engage in business as a payday lender

ORDER GRANTING A LICENSE

Instant Cash Advance, L.L.C., a Virginia limited liability company, has applied to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) for a
license to engage in the business of payday lending at 545 West Main Street, Wise, Virginia 24293. The application was investigated by the Commission's
Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the application meets the criteria in Chapter 18 of
Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the application is APPROVED provided that the applicant begins business within one (1) year from this date and the applicant
gives written notice to the Bureau stating the date business was begun within ten (10) days thereafter.

CASE NO. BAN20071873
DECEMBER 3, 2007

APPLICATION OF
FRONTIER COMMUNITY BANK

For a certificate of authority to begin business as a bank on the northeast side of Lew Dewitt Boulevard, approximately 0.7 miles south of its
intersection with U.S. Route 250, City of Waynesboro, Virginia

ORDER GRANTING AUTHORITY

Frontier Community Bank, a Virginia corporation, has applied to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™), pursuant to Chapter 2 of
Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia, for a certificate of authority to begin business as a bank on the northeast side of Lew Dewitt Boulevard, approximately
0.7 miles south of its intersection with U.S. Route 250, City of Wayneshoro, Virginia. The application was investigated by the Commission's Bureau of
Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the investigation report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the public interest will be served by
additional banking facilities in the City of Waynesboro, where the applicant proposes to conduct business. The Commission also finds that: (1) all
applicable provisions of law have been complied with; (2) financially responsible individuals have subscribed for capital stock and surplus in an amount
deemed by the Commission to be sufficient to warrant successful operation; (3) the oaths of all directors have been taken and filed in accordance with
§6.1-48 of the Code of Virginia; (4) the applicant was formed in order to conduct a legitimate banking business; (5) the moral fitness, financial
responsibility, and business qualifications of those named as officers and directors of the proposed bank are such as to command the confidence of the
community; and (6) the deposits of the bank are to be insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that a certificate of authority for Frontier Community Bank to engage in the banking business at the specified
location is GRANTED, provided the following conditions are met before the bank opens for business:
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(1) Capital funds totaling $10,448,450 are paid in to the bank and allocated as follows: $5,224,225 to capital stock and $5,224,225 to surplus;
(2) The bank actually obtains insurance of its accounts by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation; and
(3) The bank receives the approval of the Commission of Financial Institutions of its appointment of a chief executive officer and gives the

Bureau written notice of the date the bank will open for business. If the bank does not open with one (1) year from the date of this Order, the authority
granted herein shall expire unless it is extended by the Commission.

CASE NO. BAN20071889
AUGUST 21, 2007

APPLICATION OF
CONSUMER CREDIT COUNSELING SERVICE OF MARYLAND AND DELAWARE, INC.

For authority to relocate an office

ORDER APPROVING RELOCATION OF AN OFFICE
WITH AN ADMONITION

ON A FORMER DAY, the Staff reported to the State Corporation Commission that Consumer Credit Counseling Service of Maryland and
Delaware, Inc., ("Company") is licensed to engage in business as a credit counseling agency under Chapter 10.2 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Company applied for authority to relocate an office from 507 Eastern Boulevard, Suite A, Essex, Maryland 21221 to 408 Eastern Boulevard, Essex,
Maryland 21221; that upon investigation of the application it was found that the office had been relocated without the approval required by § 6.1-363.8(B) of
the Code of Virginia but that otherwise the conditions in that statute for approval of the application were met; and the Commissioner of Financial Institutions
recommended that the application be approved with an admonition. Upon consideration thereof,

IT IS ORDERED THAT:
1. The application for authority to relocate the office is approved; and

2. The company is admonished that further violations of § 6.1-363.8(B) of the Code of Virginia may result in the imposition of fines under
8§ 6.1-363.23 of the Code of Virginia or other appropriate sanctions.

CASE NO. BAN20071963
AUGUST 29, 2007

APPLICATION OF
EXPRESS CHECK ADVANCE OF VIRGINIA, LLC, D/B/A EXPRESS CHECK ADVANCE

For authority to conduct business as an agent of a money order seller/money transmitter in its payday lending offices

ORDER GRANTING OTHER BUSINESS AUTHORITY

Express Check Advance of Virginia, LLC d/b/a Express Check Advance ("Company") a licensed payday lender, has applied to the State
Corporation Commission (“Commission"), pursuant to 10 VAC 5-200-100 and § 6.1-463 of the Code of Virginia, for authority to conduct business as an
agent of a money order seller/money transmitter in the Company's payday lending offices. The application was investigated by the Commission's Bureau of
Financial Institutions (“Bureau").

Having considered the application and the Bureau's report, the Commission finds that the proposed other business is financial in nature and the
application should be approved.

THEREFORE, the authority requested in the application is GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

1. The Company shall not make a payday loan to a borrower to enable the borrower to purchase or pay a fee related to money orders or money
transmission services available at the Company's payday lending offices.

2. The Company shall comply with all federal and state laws and regulations applicable to its money order sales and money transmission
business.

3. The Company shall be and remain a party to a written agreement to act as an agent for a person licensed to sell money orders and engage in
the money transmission business under Chapter 12 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia (*money order seller/money transmitter licensee").
The Company shall not engage in money order sales or money transmission services on its own behalf or on behalf of any person other than
a money order seller/money transmitter licensee with whom it has a written agency agreement.

4. The Company shall maintain books and records for its money order sales and money transmission business separate and apart from its
payday lending business and in a different location within its payday lending offices. The Bureau shall be given access to all such books and
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records and be furnished with such information and records as it may require in order to assure compliance with these conditions as well as
all applicable laws and regulations.

The Company should maintain a coy of this Order at each location where it conducts business as an agent of a money order seller/money
transmitter licensee.

Violation of any condition contained in this Order may result in revocation of the authority hereby conferred.

CASE NO. BAN20072085
SEPTEMBER 25, 2007

APPLICATION OF
D. LONG INVESTMENTS, INC. D/B/A BROSVILLE PAYDAY ADVANCE

For authority to conduct open-end credit business from its payday lending office(s)

ORDER GRANTING OTHER BUSINESS AUTHORITY

D. Long Investments, Inc. d/b/a Brosville Payday Advance (“"Company"), a licensed payday lender, has applied to the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™), pursuant to 10 VAC 5-200-100 and § 6.1-463 of the Code of Virginia, for authority to conduct open-end credit business from
its payday lending office(s). The application was investigated by the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the Bureau's report, the Commission finds that the proposed other business is financial in nature and the
application should be approved.

THEREFORE, the authority requested in the application is GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

1

10.

The Company shall not make a payday loan to enable a borrower to pay any fee, finance charge, or other amount the borrower owes to the
Company in connection with an open-end credit transaction.

The Company shall not permit a person to take a cash advance under an open-end credit account to enable such person to pay any amount
owed to the Company as a result of a payday loan transaction.

The Company shall not enter into an open-end credit transaction and make a payday loan contemporaneously or in response to a single
request for a loan.

The Company shall not enter into an open-end credit transaction that is secured by an interest in one-to-four-family residential owner-
occupied property located in the Commonwealth unless the Company is licensed or exempt from licensing under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of
the Code of Virginia.

The Company shall not use or cause to be published any advertisement or other information that contains any false, misleading or deceptive
statement or representation concerning its open-end credit business, including the rates, terms or conditions of its loans. The Company shall
not make or cause to be made any misrepresentation as to its being licensed to conduct open-end credit business, or as to the extent to which
it is subject to supervision or regulation.

The Company shall not sell insurance or enroll borrowers under group insurance policies.

The Company shall comply with all federal and state laws and regulations applicable to the conduct of its open-end credit business.

The Company shall maintain books and records for its open-end credit business separate and apart from its payday lending business and in a
different location within its payday lending office(s). The Bureau shall be given access to all such books and records and be furnished with
such information and records as it may require in order to assure compliance with these conditions as well as all applicable laws and
regulations.

The Company should maintain a copy of this Order at each location where it conducts open-end credit business.

Violation of any condition contained in this Order may result in revocation of the authority hereby conferred.
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CASE NO. BAN20072091
DECEMBER 20, 2007

APPLICATION OF
INFINITY FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS INC.

For a license to engage in business as a payday lender

ORDER GRANTING A LICENSE

Infinity Financial Solutions Inc., a Delaware corporation, has applied to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) for a license to
engage in the business of payday lending at 14218 Smoketown Road, Woodbridge, Virginia 22192. The application was investigated by the Commission's
Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the application meets the criteria in Chapter 18 of
Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the license is GRANTED provided that the applicant begins business within one (1) year from this date and the applicant gives
written notice to the Bureau stating the date business was begun within ten (10) days thereafter.

CASE NO. BAN20072136
OCTOBER 26, 2007

APPLICATION OF
HOME TOWN COMMUNITY CREDIT UNION

To merge with Smithfield Packing Employee's Credit Union

ORDER APPROVING A MERGER

Home Town Community Credit Union ("Home Town"), a Virginia state-chartered credit union, has applied to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission"), pursuant to § 6.1-225.27 of the Code of Virginia, to merge with Smithfield Packing Employee's Credit Union (“Smithfield Packing
Employee's"), a Virginia state-chartered credit union. Home Town will be the survivor of the proposed merger. The application was investigated by the
Bureau of Financial Institutions (“Bureau").

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that: (1) the field of membership of the credit union that is
proposed to result from the merger satisfies the requirements of § 6.1-225.23 B of the Code of Virginia; (2) the plan of merger will promote the best interests
of the members of the credit unions; and (3) the members of Smithfield Packing Employee's and the board of directors of Home Town have approved the
plan of merger in accordance with applicable law.

THEREFORE, provided the merging credit unions comply with the applicable provisions of the Virginia Nonstock Corporation Act, the merger

of Smithfield Packing Employee's into Home Town is APPROVED, effective upon the issuance by the Clerk of the Commission of a certificate of merger.
The authority granted herein shall expire one (1) year from this date unless extended by Commission order prior to the expiration date.

CASE NO. BAN20072195
NOVEMBER 1, 2007

APPLICATION OF
VIRGINIA FINANCIAL GROUP, INC.

To acquire FNB Corporation

ORDER OF APPROVAL

Virginia Financial Group, Inc., a Virginia bank holding company, has filed with the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) the
application required by § 6.1-383.1 of the Code of Virginia to acquire all of the voting shares of FNB Corporation, a Virginia bank holding company. The
Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the proposed acquisition.

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the application meets the criteria in § 6.1-383.2 of the
Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the proposed acquisition of all of the voting shares of FNB Corporation by Virginia Financial Group, Inc. is APPROVED,
provided the acquisition takes place within one (1) year from this date and the applicant notifies the Bureau of the effective date of the transaction within ten
(10) days thereof.
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CASE NO. BAN20072253
DECEMBER 27, 2007

APPLICATION OF
CASH ADVANCE HOLDINGS, INC.

To acquire 100 percent of the ownership of Approved Cash Advance Centers (Virginia), LLC d/b/a Approved Cash Advance

ORDER OF APPROVAL

Cash Advance Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation, has applied to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to acquire 100 percent
of the ownership of Approved Cash Advance Centers (Virginia), LLC d/b/a Approved Cash Advance, a licensed payday lender under Chapter 18 of Title 6.1
of the Code of Virginia. The application was investigated by the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau").

Having considered the application and the report of the Bureau, the Commission finds that the application meets the criteria in § 6.1-452 of the
Code of Virginia.

THEREFORE, the acquisition of Approved Cash Advance Centers (Virginia), LLC by Cash Advance Holdings, Inc. is APPROVED, provided

the acquisition takes place within one (1) year from this date and the applicant gives written notice to the Bureau stating the date the acquisition occurred
within ten (10) days thereafter.

CASE NO. BFI-2006-00021
MAY 17, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
ABC MORTGAGE CORPORATION,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that ABC Mortgage Corporation (“Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker under Chapter
16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the Defendant failed to pay its annual fee due May 25, 2006, in violation of § 6.1-420 of the Code of Virginia;
that the Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, and failed to timely file its annual report due March 1, 2006, in violation of § 6.1-418 of
the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on March 21, 2007,
(1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the Defendant paid its annual fee, filed its 2006 annual report, and paid a fine for failing to
timely file its 2005 annual report, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before April 11, 2007;
and that no payments, annual report, or written request for hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to pay its annual fee and file its annual reports as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2006-00123
FEBRUARY 16, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

\
J & H MORTGAGE CONSULTANTS, INC. D/B/A CREATIVE LENDING SOLUTIONS,
Defendant

VACATING ORDER

On November 20, 2006, the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) entered an Order revoking the mortgage broker license issued to
J & H Mortgage Consultants, Inc. d/b/a Creative Lending Solutions (“Defendant") under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia for failure to
maintain its surety bond in force as required by law. Thereafter, the Staff reported to the Commission that the Defendant subsequently obtained a
satisfactory replacement bond, and the Commissioner of Financial Institutions recommended that the Commission reinstate the Defendant's mortgage broker
license.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The November 20, 2006 Order Revoking a License is vacated effective on that date.
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(2) This case is dismissed.

(3) The papers filed herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. BFI-2006-00131
FEBRUARY 2, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: Inre: annual fees for mortgage lenders and mortgage brokers

ORDER ADOPTING A REGULATION

By Order entered in this case on December 4, 2006, the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") directed that notice be given of its
proposal, acting pursuant to § 6.1-421 of the Mortgage Lender and Broker Act (the "Act"), to make certain technical changes to 10 VAC 5-160-40, which
sets forth the schedule of annual fees to be paid by licensed mortgage lenders and mortgage brokers. The proposed changes would round each annual fee
down to the nearest whole dollar, update the annual report due date in order to conform to § 6.1-418 of the Act, and adjust the cutoff date for assessing
mortgage lenders and mortgage brokers that are granted a license or additional authority after January 1. Notice of the proposed regulation was published in
the Virginia Register on December 25, 2006, posted on the Commission's website, and sent by the Commissioner of Financial Institutions to all licensed
mortgage lenders and mortgage brokers. Interested parties were afforded the opportunity to file written comments on or before January 19, 2007. No
comments were filed.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record, the proposed regulation, and Staff recommendations, concludes that the proposed
regulation should be adopted as proposed.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The proposed regulation, 10 VAC 5-160-40, attached hereto is adopted effective February 10, 2007.

(2) The regulation shall be posted on the Commission's website at http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.

(3) AN ATTESTED COPY hereof, together with a copy of the regulation, shall be sent to the Registrar of Regulations for publication in the
Virginia Register.

(4) This case is dismissed from the Commission's docket of active cases.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled "Rules Governing Mortgage Lenders and Brokers" is on file and may be examined at the State
Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. BFI-2006-00137
JANUARY 30, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
CAPITAL MARKETS LLC,

Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that Capital Markets LLC ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of
Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on December 3, 2006; that the Commissioner,
pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on December 18, 2006, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation
of its license unless a new bond was filed by January 18, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk
on or before January 8, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.
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CASE NO. BFI-2006-00140
JANUARY 30, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
FIRST COMMUNITY LENDING, INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that First Community Lending, Inc. ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of
the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on December 12, 2006; that the
Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on December 18, 2006, (1) of his intention to
recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by January 18, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in
the Office of the Clerk on or before January 8, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00002
MARCH 8, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
GREATER ACCEPTANCE MORTGAGE CORP.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that Greater Acceptance Mortgage Corp. ("Defendant™) is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and broker under Chapter 16
of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on December 27, 2006;
that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on January 16, 2007, (1) of his intention to
recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by February 16, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in
the Office of the Clerk on or before February 6, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00007
MARCH 8, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
NORTHERN VIRGINIA FAMILY SERVICE,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that Northern Virginia Family Service ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a credit counseling agency under Chapter 10.2 of
Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-363.5 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on January 20, 2007;
that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on January 26, 2007, (1) of his intention to
recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by February 26, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in
the Office of the Clerk on or before February 16, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a credit counseling agency is hereby revoked.
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CASE NO. BFI-2007-00015
FEBRUARY 27, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: Inre: services for nonmembers within the field of membership

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

WHEREAS, 88 6.1-225.3:1 and 6.1-225.22 of the Code of Virginia authorize the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to promulgate
regulations permitting state-chartered credit unions to exercise powers comparable to federal credit unions;

WHEREAS, federal credit unions are authorized by 12 U.S.C. §1757(12) and 12 C.F.R. § 701.30 to provide certain financial services to
nonmembers within their fields of membership; and

WHEREAS, the Commission is informed that certain state-chartered credit unions wish to exercise this authority;

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The proposed regulation is appended hereto and made a part of the record herein.

(2) Comments or requests for hearing on the proposed regulation must be submitted in writing to Joel H. Peck, Clerk, State Corporation
Commission, c/o Document Control Center, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218, on or before April 6, 2007. Requests for hearing shall state why a
hearing is necessary and why the issues cannot be adequately addressed in written comments. All correspondence shall contain a reference to Case No.

BFI1-2007-00015.

(3) Interested persons desiring to submit comments electronically may do so by following the instructions available at the Commission's website:
http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.

(4) The proposed regulation shall be posted on the Commission's website at http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled "Chapter 40. Credit Unions" is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission,
Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00015
APRIL 24, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: Inre: services for nonmembers within the field of membership

ORDER ADOPTING A REGULATION

By Order entered in this case on February 27, 2007, the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") directed that notice be given of its
proposal, acting pursuant to 88§ 6.1-225.3:1 and 6.1-225.22 of the Code of Virginia, to promulgate a regulation permitting state-chartered credit unions to
provide certain financial services to nonmembers within their fields of membership to the extent permitted for federal credit unions. Notice of the proposed
regulation was published in the Virginia Register on March 19, 2007, posted on the Commission's website, and sent by the Commissioner of Financial
Institutions to all state-chartered credit unions and others. Interested parties were afforded an opportunity to request a hearing or file written comments on or
before April 6, 2007. The Commission received several comments in favor of the proposed regulation but no comments against the proposal or requests for
a hearing.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record, the proposed regulation, the comments filed, and Staff recommendations, concludes
that the proposed regulation is a proper exercise of our authority under 88 6.1-225.3:1 and 6.1-225.22 of the Code of Virginia, will promote parity with
federal credit unions, and should be adopted as proposed.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The proposed regulation, 10 VAC 5-40-50, attached hereto is adopted effective May 1, 2007.

(2) The regulation shall be posted on the Commission's website at http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.

(3) AN ATTESTED COPY hereof, together with a copy of the regulation, shall be sent to the Registrar of Regulations for publication in the
Virginia Register.

(4) This case is dismissed from the Commission's docket of active cases.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled "Chapter 40. Credit Unions" is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission,
Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.
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CASE NO. BFI-2007-00020
MARCH 21, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
OPTEUM INC,,

Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

ON A FORMER DAY, the Staff reported to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") that Opteum Financial Services, LLC
("Company") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that Opteum Inc. (“Defendant")
acquired 100% of the ownership of the Company without obtaining prior Commission approval, in violation of § 6.1-416.1 of the Code of Virginia; that
upon being informed that the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") intended to recommend the imposition of a fine, the Defendant,
without admitting or denying the violation, offered to settle this case by payment of the sum of five thousand dollars ($5,000), tendered said sum to the
Commonwealth of Virginia, and waived its right to a hearing in the case; and the Commissioner recommended that the Commission accept Defendant's offer
of settlement pursuant to authority granted under § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) Defendant's offer in settlement of this case is accepted.
(2) This case is dismissed.

(3) The papers filed herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00022
APRIL 25, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
LOANS AND MORTGAGES, LLC,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

ON A FORMER DAY, the Staff reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") that Loans and Mortgages, LLC
("Defendant™), is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that on March 2, 2006, the
Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions examined the Defendant and found that it had violated various laws applicable to the conduct of its licensed
business; that the Defendant offered to settle this case by payment of a fine in the sum of thirty thousand dollars ($30,000), tendered said sum to the
Commonwealth of Virginia, and waived its right to a hearing in the case; and the Commissioner of Financial Institutions recommended that the Commission
accept Defendant's offer of settlement pursuant to authority granted under § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Defendant's offer in settlement of this case is accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

(3) The papers filed herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NOS. BFI-2007-00031 and BFI-2007-00142
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
UNITED HOME SAVINGS, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that United Home Savings, LLC ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the
Code of Virginia; that the Defendant failed to pay its annual fee due May 25, 2006, as required by § 6.1-420 of the Code of Virginia, and failed to file its
annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written
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notice to the Defendant in accordance with § 6.1-427 of the Code of Virginia, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless its annual
report and annual fee were received by June 8, 2007, and June 15, 2007, respectively, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in
the Office of the Clerk on or before May 31, 2007, in the case of the annual report, and on or before June 15, 2007, in the case of the annual fee; and that no
annual report, annual fee, or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file its annual report and pay its annual fee as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NOS. BFI-2007-00034 and BFI-2007-00103
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
GREYSTONE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that Greystone Financial Services, Inc. (“"Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1
of the Code of Virginia; that the Defendant failed to pay its annual fee due May 25, 2006, as required by § 6.1-420 of the Code of Virginia, and failed to file
its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written
notice to the Defendant in accordance with § 6.1-427 of the Code of Virginia, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless its annual
report and annual fee were received by June 8, 2007, and June 15, 2007, respectively, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in
the Office of the Clerk on or before May 31, 2007, in the case of the annual report, and on or before June 15, 2007, in the case of the annual fee; and that no
annual report, annual fee, or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file its annual report and pay its annual fee as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NOS. BFI-2007-00037 and BFI-2007-00072
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
AMERICAN LOANS II, INC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that American Loans II, Inc (“"Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code
of Virginia; that the Defendant failed to pay its annual fee due May 25, 2006, as required by § 6.1-420 of the Code of Virginia, and failed to file its annual
report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to
the Defendant in accordance with § 6.1-427 of the Code of Virginia, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless its annual report and
annual fee were received by June 8, 2007, and June 15, 2007, respectively, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in the Office
of the Clerk on or before May 31, 2007, in the case of the annual report, and on or before June 15, 2007, in the case of the annual fee; and that no annual
report, annual fee, or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file its annual report and pay its annual fee as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.
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CASE NOS. BFI-2007-00043 and BFI-2007-00065
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
4 CAPITAL M, LLC,

Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that 4 Capital M, LLC ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of
Virginia; that the Defendant failed to pay its annual fee due May 25, 2006, as required by § 6.1-420 of the Code of Virginia, and failed to file its annual
report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to
the Defendant in accordance with § 6.1-427 of the Code of Virginia, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless its annual report and
annual fee were received by June 8, 2007, and June 15, 2007, respectively, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in the Office
of the Clerk on or before May 31, 2007, in the case of the annual report, and on or before June 15, 2007, in the case of the annual fee; and that no annual
report, annual fee, or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file its annual report and pay its annual fee as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NOS. BFI-2007-00044 and BFI-2007-00146
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
WALL STREET MORTGAGE CORPORATION,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that Wall Street Mortgage Corporation ("Defendant™) is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker under
Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the Defendant failed to pay its annual fee due May 25, 2006, as required by § 6.1-420 of the Code of
Virginia, and failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to
delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant in accordance with § 6.1-427 of the Code of Virginia, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation
of its license unless its annual report and annual fee were received by June 8, 2007, and June 15, 2007, respectively, and (2) that a written request for a
hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before May 31, 2007, in the case of the annual report, and on or before June 15, 2007, in the
case of the annual fee; and that no annual report, annual fee, or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file its annual report and pay its annual fee as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00049
JUNE 14, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
FIRST AMERICAN SAVINGS CORPORATION,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that First American Savings Corporation ("Defendant™) is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1
of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on April 1, 2007; that the
Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on April 16, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend
revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by May 16, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in the Office of
the Clerk on or before May 7, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.
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Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00050
JUNE 14, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

MORTGAGE GROUP OF AMERICA, LLC (USED IN VIRGINIA BY: MORTGAGE OF AMERICA, LLC),
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“"Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that Mortgage Group of America, LLC (Used in Virginia by: Mortgage of America, LLC) ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business
as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of
Virginia was cancelled on April 8, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on
April 16, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by May 16, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a
hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before May 7, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or
filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00068
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA , ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
ACT LENDING CORPORATION D/B/A ACT MORTGAGE CAPITAL,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on or
before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI1-2007-00076
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
CAMBRIDGE MORTGAGE CORPORATION,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
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annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed with the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on
or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.
Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00080
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
COMMONWEALTH HOME LOANS, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia;
that the Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to
delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license
unless the annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed with the Office of the Clerk of the
Commission on or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00081
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
COMMONWEALTH INVESTMENT ALLIANCE LLC D/B/A PEOPLE MORTGAGE,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed with the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on
or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00082
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
COMMONWEALTH MORTGAGE ASSOCIATES, INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
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annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed with the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on
or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.
Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00083
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
COMMUNITY TRUST MORTGAGE CORP.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed with the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on
or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00086
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
CROSS ATLANTIC MORTGAGE BANK, INC.,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed with the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on
or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00089
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
EQUALITY FINANCE & REALTY, INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
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annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed with the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on
or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.
Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NOS. BFI-2007-00090 and BFI-2007-00157
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
EQUIFUND, INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that Equifund, Inc. ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of
Virginia; that the Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the
Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on April 17, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave
written notice to the Defendant in accordance with § 6.1-427 of the Code of Virginia, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless its
annual report and a new bond were received by June 8, 2007, and June 10, 2007, respectively, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be
filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report, new bond, or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file its annual report and maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00091
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
EUCLID MORTGAGE SERVICES, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed with the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on
or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00091
AUGUST 23, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
EUCLID MORTGAGE SERVICES, LLC,
Defendant

VACATING AND SETTLEMENT ORDER

On July 13, 2007, the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) entered an Order in this case revoking the license previously granted to
Euclid Mortgage Services, LLC ("Defendant™) to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia for failure to
file its annual report in accordance with § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia. Thereafter, the Staff reported to the Commission that the Defendant is seeking
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reinstatement of its license and has offered to settle this case by filing its annual report and paying a fine in the sum of two thousand dollars ($2,000),
tendered said sum to the Commonwealth of Virginia, and waived its right to a hearing in the case; and the Commissioner of Financial Institutions
recommended that the Commission vacate its July 13, 2007 Order and accept Defendant's offer of settlement pursuant to authority granted under § 12.1-15
of the Code of Virginia.

Upon consideration thereof, 1T IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The July 13, 2007 Order Revoking a License is vacated effective on that date.

(2) Defendant's offer in settlement of this case is accepted.

(3) This case is dismissed.

(4) The papers filed herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00099
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
GENERAL FUNDING SOLUTIONS, INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed with the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on
or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00100
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
FIRST CAPITAL FINANCIAL SERVICES CORP. D/B/A FULL COMPASS LENDING CORP.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed with the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on
or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender is hereby revoked.
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CASE NO. BFI-2007-00107
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
INTRUST MORTGAGE SERVICES, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on or
before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00107
AUGUST 10, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
INTRUST MORTGAGE SERVICES, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REINSTATING A LICENSE

ON THIS DAY the Commissioner of Financial Institutions recommended to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") that the
license revoked in this case be reinstated.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED that the Defendant's license to engage in business as a mortgage broker is reinstated nunc pro tunc to July 13,
2007, and that the Order entered on that date revoking the Defendant's license shall be deemed a nullity for all purposes.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00108
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
IWAYLOAN, L.P.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia;
that the Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to
delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license
unless the annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the
Commission on or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and broker is hereby revoked.
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CASE NO. BFI-2007-00111
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
LIBERTY FUNDING SERVICES, INC.
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia;
that the Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to
delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license
unless the annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the
Commission on or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00115
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
METRO FINANCIAL GROUP, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on or
before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00124
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
PAYNE FINANCIAL SERVICES, LTD.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on or
before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.
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CASE NO. BFI-2007-00125
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

PLATINUM CAPITAL GROUP D/B/A PLATINUM CAPITAL GROUP, INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia;
that the Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to
delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license
unless the annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the
Commission on or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00126
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
PREMIER HOME EQUITY SERVICES, INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on or
before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00127
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
PRESTIGE FUNDING, LLC,

Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“"Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on or
before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.
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CASE NO. BFI-2007-00129
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
PRIME OPTION FINANCIAL SERVICES, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on or
before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00131
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA , ex rel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

QUALITY FLORIDA GROUP, CORP. D/B/A QUALITY VIRGINIA MORTGAGE, CORP.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia;
that the Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to
delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license
unless the annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the
Commission on or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00132
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

RONALD E. UMBERGER AND SHERI L. WEDMORE D/B/A NEW HOPE MORTGAGE
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendants are licensed to engage in business as mortgage brokers under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file their annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by 8§ 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to
delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendants by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of their license
unless the annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the
Commission on or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendants have failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendants to engage in business as mortgage brokers are hereby revoked.
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CASE NO. BFI-2007-00133
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
SAFEGUARD MORTGAGE, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on or
before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00135
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

SOUTHERN FINANCIAL MORTGAGE CORPORATION,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on or
before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00137
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
STRATEGIC MORTGAGE, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“"Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on or
before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.
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CASE NO. BFI-2007-00140
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
TOWNE AND COUNTRY HOME LOANS, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on or
before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NOS. BFI-2007-00141 and BFI-2007-00156
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
UNION EQUITY CORPORATION,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that Union Equity Corporation ("Defendant™) is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker under Chapter 16
of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia;
that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on April 19, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to
delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant in accordance with § 6.1-427 of the Code of Virginia, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation
of its license unless its annual report and a new bond were received by June 8, 2007, and June 10, 2007, respectively, and (2) that a written request for a
hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report, new bond, or written request for a hearing
was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file its annual report and maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00148
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
WINTHROP OPPENHEIMER, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due March 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-418 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 8, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on or
before May 31, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.
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CASE NO. BFI-2007-00151
JULY 30, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
BYNUM FINANCE CORPORATION,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 6 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its annual report due April 1, 2007, as required by § 6.1-301 of the Code of Virginia; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 9, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless the
annual report was filed by June 11, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on
or before May 24, 2007; and that no annual report or written request for hearing was received.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file the annual report required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a consumer finance company is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00151
AUGUST 10, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
BYNUM FINANCE CORPORATION,
Defendant

ORDER REINSTATING A LICENSE

ON THIS DAY the Commissioner of Financial Institutions recommended to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") that the
license revoked in this case be reinstated.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED that the Defendant's license to engage in business as a consumer finance company is reinstated nunc pro tunc to
July 30, 2007, and that the Order entered on that date revoking the Defendant's license shall be deemed a nullity for all purposes.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00154
JUNE 20, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
LEGENDS INVESTMENTS GROUP, INC. D/B/A LMI MORTGAGE,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that Legends Investments Group, Inc. d/b/a LMI Mortgage ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under
Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on
March 15, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on May 10, 2007, (1) of his
intention to recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by June 10, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be
filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before May 31, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.
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CASE NO. BFI-2007-00161
OCTOBER 5, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: Inre: credit union service organizations

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

WHEREAS, §§ 6.1-225.3, 6.1-225.3:1, and 6.1-225.22 of the Code of Virginia authorize the State Corporation Commission (“Commission”) to
promulgate regulations to implement the provisions of the Virginia Credit Union Act and permit state-chartered credit unions to exercise powers comparable
to federal credit unions;

WHEREAS, subsection 10 of § 6.1-225.57 of the Code of Virginia authorizes state-chartered credit unions to invest their funds in or make loans
to entities known as credit union service organizations (*CUSOs");

WHEREAS, 12 U.S.C. § 1757(7)(1) and 12 C.F.R. § 712.1 et seq. prescribe the terms and conditions under which federal credit unions may
invest in or make loans to CUSOs; and

WHEREAS, based on the terms and conditions under which federal credit unions are authorized to invest in or make loans to CUSOs, the
Bureau of Financial Institutions has proposed regulations that would impose similar terms and conditions on state-chartered credit unions that wish to invest
their funds in or make loans to CUSOs;

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The proposed regulations are appended hereto and made a part of the record herein.

(2) Comments or requests for hearing on the proposed regulations must be submitted in writing to Joel H. Peck, Clerk, State Corporation
Commission, c¢/o Document Control Center, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218, on or before December 14, 2007. Requests for hearing shall state
why a hearing is necessary and why the issues cannot be adequately addressed in written comments. All correspondence shall contain a reference to Case
No. BFI-2007-00161. Interested persons desiring to submit comments electronically may do so by following the instructions available at the Commission's
website: http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.

(3) The proposed regulations shall be posted on the Commission's website at http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.

AN ATTESTED COPY hereof, together with a copy of the proposed regulations, shall be sent to the Registrar of Regulations for publication in
the Virginia Register.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled “Credit Unions (Proposed)” is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission,
Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00163
JUNE 11, 2007

IN RE:
CITIFINANCIAL OF VIRGINIA, INC.

ORDER CANCELING A CERTIFICATE

On February 23, 1940, Commercial Credit Plan Industrial Loan Company (the "Company") was issued a certificate of authority to engage in
business as an industrial loan company. Thereafter, the name of the Company was changed to CitiFinancial of Virginia, Inc. Now the Staff of the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission") has reported that the assistant secretary of the Company, by letter dated May 11, 2007, surrendered its certificate
of authority to engage in business as an industrial loan company effective May 31, 2007; and the Commissioner of Financial Institutions recommended to the
Commission that the surrender be accepted. Upon consideration thereof,

IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The surrender of the certificate authorizing Commercial Credit Plan Industrial Loan Company, now known as CitiFinancial of Virginia, Inc.,
to engage in the industrial loan business is accepted.

(2) Such certificate is canceled and shall be of no further force or effect.
(3) The contents of this Order shall be reflected on the records of the Bureau of Financial Institutions.
(4) This case is dismissed.

(5) The papers filed herein shall be placed among the ended causes.
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CASE NO. BFI-2007-00164
JULY 25, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
21ST CENTURY CAPITAL CORP.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that 21% Century Capital Corp. ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the
Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on May 17, 2007; that the Commissioner,
pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on June 11, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its
license unless a new bond was filed by July 11, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk on or
before July 2, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00165
JULY 25, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
AMERICAN EQUITY FINANCE, INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that American Equity Finance, Inc. ("Defendant™) is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of
the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on May 10, 2007; that the
Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on June 11, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend
revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by July 11, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the
Clerk on or before July 2, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00174
AUGUST 1, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
AMERICA'S CHOICE MORTGAGE, INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that America's Choice Mortgage, Inc. ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker under
Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the Defendant repeatedly failed to respond to the Bureau of Financial Institutions' examination report
dated September 7, 2005, in violation of 10 VAC 5-160-50; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by
certified mail on June 26, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be
filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before July 26, 2007; and that no written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has repeatedly violated 10 VAC 5-160-50, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker is hereby revoked.
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CASE NO. BFI-2007-00176
OCTOBER 16, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
LIFETIME MORTGAGE, INC.,

Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

ON A FORMER DAY, the Bureau of Financial Institutions (“Bureau") reported to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") that
Lifetime Mortgage, Inc. ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant's storefront and roadway signs violated various provisions of 10 VAC 5-160-60; that the Defendant subsequently offered to settle this case by
paying the sum of five thousand dollars ($5,000) and abiding by the provisions of this Order, tendered said sum to the Commonwealth of Virginia, and
waived its right to a hearing in the case. The Commissioner of Financial Institutions recommended that the Commission accept Defendant's offer of
settlement pursuant to authority granted under § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Defendant's offer in settlement of this case is accepted.

(2) The Defendant shall cease and desist from using any signs or other advertisements that violate 10 VAC 5-160-60.
(3) This case is dismissed.

(4) The papers filed herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00183
SEPTEMBER 12, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
FAMILY HOME LENDING CORPORATION,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that Family Home Lending Corporation ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker under
Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on July 7,
2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on July 16, 2007, (1) of his intention to
recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by August 17, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in
the Office of the Clerk on or before August 7, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00235
SEPTEMBER 11, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
ALLSTATE LENDING SERVICES, INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that Allstate Lending Services, Inc. ("Defendant™), is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of
the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on April 20, 2007; that the
Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on August 2, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend
revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by September 2, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in the Office
of the Clerk on or before August 23, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.
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Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00237
SEPTEMBER 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
H & O MORTGAGE, LLC,

Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that H & O Mortgage, LLC ("Defendant"), is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code
of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on July 25, 2007; that the Commissioner,
pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on August 6, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its
license unless a new bond was filed by September 6, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk on
or before August 27, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00238
SEPTEMBER 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
T&B MORTGAGE CORPORATION,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that T&B Mortgage Corporation ("Defendant”) is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker under
Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on July 25,
2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on August 6, 2007, (1) of his intention
to recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by September 6, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be
filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before August 27, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00240
SEPTEMBER 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
EQUIS FINANCIAL, INC.,

Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that Equis Financial, Inc. ("Defendant"), is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of
Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on July 21, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant
to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on August 6, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license
unless a new bond was filed by September 6, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before
August 27, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.
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Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00241
SEPTEMBER 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
BROOKS FINANCIAL GROUP, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that Brooks Financial Group, LLC ("Defendant™), is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of
the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on July 21, 2007; that the
Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on August 6, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend
revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by September 6, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in the Office
of the Clerk on or before August 27, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00246
OCTOBER 16, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
VANGUARD MORTGAGE & TITLE, INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that Vanguard Mortgage & Title, Inc. ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker under
Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on
August 8, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on August 16, 2007, (1) of his
intention to recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by September 16, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was
required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before September 6, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00252
OCTOBER 29, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

PACIFIC SHORE FUNDING CORPORATION (USED IN VIRGINIA BY: PACIFIC SHORE FUNDING),
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that Pacific Shore Funding Corporation (Used in Virginia by: Pacific Shore Funding) ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a
mortgage lender under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia
was cancelled on August 18, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on
September 12, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by October 12, 2007, and (2) that a written
request for a hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before October 3, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing
was received or filed.
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Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00255
OCTOBER 29, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
MUTUAL FUNDING MY, INC (USED IN VIRGINIA BY: MUTUAL FUNDING, INC.),
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that Mutual Funding MY, Inc (Used in Virginia by: Mutual Funding, Inc.) ("Defendant™) is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage
broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was
cancelled on August 22, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on
September 12, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by October 12, 2007, and (2) that a written
request for a hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before October 3, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing
was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00258
OCTOBER 29, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
VANGUARD CAPITAL FUNDING, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that VVanguard Capital Funding, LLC ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of
the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on August 31, 2007; that the
Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on September 12, 2007, (1) of his intention to
recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by October 12, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was required to be filed in
the Office of the Clerk on or before October 3, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00260
OCTOBER 29, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
FIDELITY MORTGAGE NETWORK, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that Fidelity Mortgage Network, LLC ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker under
Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on
September 3, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on September 12, 2007,
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(1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by October 12, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was
required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before October 3, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.
Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00261
OCTOBER 29, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
NORTH STATE FINANCE COMPANY OF GOLDSBORO, N.C., INC. D/B/A IMPERIAL CASH ADVANCE,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that North State Finance Company of Goldshoro, N.C., Inc. d/b/a Imperial Cash Advance ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as
a payday lender under Chapter 18 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-448 of the Code of Virginia was
cancelled on August 25, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on
September 12, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by October 12, 2007, and (2) that a written
request for a hearing was required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before October 3, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing
was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a payday lender is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00264
DECEMBER 17, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

ECI LOAN.COM, INC. (USED IN VIRGINIA BY: EQUITY CONCEPTS, INC.),
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that ECI Loan.com, Inc. (Used in Virginia by: Equity Concepts, Inc.) ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker
under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on
September 11, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on September 20, 2007,
(1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by October 20, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was
required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before October 11, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00265
NOVEMBER 20, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL MORTGAGE INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that Independent Financial Mortgage Inc. ("Defendant™) is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker under
Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on
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September 11, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on September 20, 2007,
(1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by October 20, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was
required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before October 11, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00267
OCTOBER 29, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
PRECASH, INC.,

Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

ON A FORMER DAY, the Staff reported to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) that PreCash, Inc. (the "Company"), recently
applied for a license to engage in business as a money transmitter pursuant to Chapter 12 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that during investigation of the
application it was found that the Company conducted a money transmission business in Virginia without the required license in violation of § 6.1-371 of the
Code of Virginia; that upon being informed that the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") intended to recommend the imposition of a
fine, the Defendant offered to settle this case by payment of a fine of fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000), tendered said sum to the Commonwealth of
Virginia, and waived its right to a hearing in the case; and the Commissioner recommended that the Commission accept Defendant's offer of settlement
pursuant to authority granted under § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) Defendant's offer in settlement of this case is accepted.
(2) This case is dismissed.

(3) The papers filed herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00268
NOVEMBER 20, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
PREFERRED MORTGAGE CONSULTANTS, INC. D/B/A ALERO HOME LOANS,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

ON A FORMER DAY, the Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") that
Preferred Mortgage Consultants, Inc. d/b/a Alero Home Loans (“"Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of
Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the Defendant's "Deed of Trust" solicitations violated various provisions of the Mortgage Lender and Broker Act and
10 VAC 5-160-60; that the Defendant subsequently offered to settle this case by paying a fine in the sum of five thousand dollars ($5,000) and abiding by
the provisions of this Order, tendered said sum to the Commonwealth of Virginia, and waived its right to a hearing in the case. The Commissioner of
Financial Institutions recommended that the Commission accept Defendant's offer of settlement pursuant to authority granted under § 12.1-15 of the Code of
Virginia.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) Defendant's offer in settlement of this case is accepted.

(2) The Defendant shall cease and desist from sending its "Deed of Trust" solicitations or any other deceptive or misleading advertisements to
Virginia consumers.

(3) The Defendant shall comply with all provisions of 10 VAC 5-160-60 and § 6.1-424 of the Code of Virginia.
(4) This case is dismissed.

(5) The papers filed herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.



58
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00270
NOVEMBER 8, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
VINA TRANSFER EXPRESS CORPORATION,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a money transmitter under Chapter 12 of title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its June 30, 2007 semi-annual transaction report as required by Commission Regulation 10 VAC 5-120-40; that the Commissioner,
pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on September 26, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation
of its license unless the required report was filed by October 9, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the office of the
Clerk of the Commission on or before October 9, 2007; and that no report or written request for hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to file its semi-annual transaction report as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a money transmitter is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00271
OCTOBER 19, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
COMPARE, LLC,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

ON A FORMER DAY, the Staff reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") that Compare, LLC ("Defendant™) acquired
more than twenty-five percent of the ownership of NexTag, Inc. d/b/a Calibex, a licensed mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of
Virginia, without prior Commission approval in violation of § 6.1-416.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the Defendant offered to settle this case by payment of
a fine in the sum of five thousand dollars ($5,000), tendered said sum to the Commonwealth of Virginia, and waived its right to a hearing in the case; and the
Commissioner of Financial Institutions recommended that the Commission accept Defendant's offer of settlement pursuant to authority granted under
§ 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Defendant's offer in settlement of this case is accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

(3) The papers filed herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00274
DECEMBER 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
HOME CAPITAL, INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia;
that a bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on September 25, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to
delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on October 22, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license
unless a new bond was filed by November 22, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the office of the Clerk on or before
November 13, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and broker is hereby revoked.
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CASE NO. BFI-2007-00276
DECEMBER 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
REGENT MORTGAGE FUNDING LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that a bond
filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on October 10, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on October 22, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless a
new bond was filed by November 22, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the office of the Clerk on or before
November 13, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00277
DECEMBER 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
APEX FINANCE LLC,

Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") that the Defendant is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that a bond
filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on October 11, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on October 22, 2007, (1) of his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless a
new bond was filed by November 22, 2007, and (2) that a written request for hearing was required to be filed in the office of the Clerk on or before
November 13, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00280
DECEMBER 17, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
CUSTOM MORTGAGE SOLUTIONS, INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that Custom Mortgage Solutions, Inc. ("Defendant™), is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker under
Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on
October 15, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on October 22, 2007, (1) of
his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by November 22, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was
required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before November 13, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker is hereby revoked.



60
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

CASE NO. BFI-2007-00281
DECEMBER 17, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

JMH FINANCIAL MORTGAGE CORP. D/B/A LENOX FINANCIAL MORTGAGE,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

ON A FORMER DAY, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") reported to the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) that JMH Financial Mortgage Corp. d/b/a Lenox Financial Mortgage ("Defendant™) is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker
under Chapter 16 of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia; that the bond filed by the Defendant pursuant to § 6.1-413 of the Code of Virginia was cancelled on
October 16, 2007; that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on October 22, 2007, (1) of
his intention to recommend revocation of its license unless a new bond was filed by November 22, 2007, and (2) that a written request for a hearing was
required to be filed in the Office of the Clerk on or before November 13, 2007; and that no new bond or written request for a hearing was received or filed.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Defendant has failed to maintain its bond in force as required by law, and

IT IS ORDERED that the license granted to the Defendant to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.



61
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

CLERK'S OFFICE

CASE NO. CLK-2001-00068
APRIL 10, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: Inre: Uniform Commercial Code Filing Rules

DISMISSAL ORDER

On June 26, 2001, the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") entered an Order Adopting a Regulation in this case. At the time, the
Commission was advised that a new filing system for Uniform Commercial Code records would be put in place in the Clerk's Office later in the year. Since
it was anticipated that the new filing system would necessitate modifying the regulations, this case was continued generally on the Commission's docket.
However, a new filing system was not implemented as anticipated, and Staff now reports that the Clerk's Office will be seeking unrelated proposed changes
to the Uniform Commercial Code Filing Rules.

Accordingly, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that this case is dismissed.

CASE NO. CLK-2002-00003
APRIL 19, 2007

IN RE:
GUARD HILL MEATS, INCORPORATED

DISMISSAL ORDER

On March 4, 2002, the State Corporation Commission entered an order dissolving Guard Hill Meats, Incorporated, a Virginia corporation.
Thereafter, the existence of the corporation was automatically terminated on January 3, 2006, pursuant to § 13.1-752 of the Code of Virginia on account of
its failure to file an annual report and pay its annual fee.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) This case is dismissed.

(2) The papers herein shall be filed among the ended cases.

CASE NO. CLK-2003-00009
OCTOBER 25, 2007

IN RE:
THE FIREMEN'S RELIEF ASSOCIATION OF LYNCHBURG, VIRGINIA

ORDER TERMINATING CORPORATE EXISTENCE

On December 16, 2003, the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) entered an order in this case dissolving The Firemen's Relief
Association of Lynchburg, Virginia, a Virginia non-stock corporation, the Circuit Court of the City of Lynchburg having previously entered a decree
dissolving said corporation in Case Number CH03022783. Thereafter, said Court notified the Commission that all of the assets of the dissolved corporation
had been distributed.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

1. The corporate existence of The Firemen's Relief Association of Lynchburg, Virginia is terminated pursuant to § 13.1-911B of the Code of
Virginia.

2. This matter is dismissed from the Commission's docket of active cases.

3. The papers filed herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. CLK-2006-00007
FEBRUARY 6, 2007

MARK A. RYAN
VALEERIE CHAMBERS
SUSAN GIDDINGS
DEBBIE STEVENS
JULIE C. DUDLEY
B. A. BLEDSOE
JACKSON L. KISER
and
CONNIE L. DAVIS CRUM,
Petitioners,
V.
ANDREW P. WINDSOR,
Defendant

EINAL ORDER

On August 21, 2006, the Petitioners, Mark A. Ryan, et al., by counsel, the United States Attorney for the Western District of Virginia, filed a
Petition with the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) requesting, among other things, that the Commission find that a Uniform Commercial
Code ("UCC") financing statement filed by Andrew P. Windsor ("Defendant") with the Clerk of the Commission is false, fraudulent, and unauthorized and
should be declared void ab initio. The Petition alleges that the Defendant is a federal prisoner presently in custody at the U.S. Penitentiary Lee County, P.O.
Box 305, Jonesville, Virginia, and that none of the petitioners has ever been indebted to the Defendant as claimed in the filed financing statement.

On August 29, 2006, the Commission entered a Preliminary Order docketing the Petition and providing the Defendant an opportunity to file an
Answer within twenty-one (21) days after service of the petition on him. The Commission also directed the Office of the Clerk of the Commission ("Clerk™)
to respond to the Petition and address, in particular, the specific requests for relief therein.

The Defendant failed to timely file an Answer to the Petition. On October 3, 2006, the Clerk filed a response to the Petition acknowledging that
the financing statement was filed in his office on a proper form accompanied by the required fee. The Clerk’s response also contended that petitioners had an
adequate remedy in their ability to file a termination statement under §§ 8.9A-509 (d) (2) and 8.9A-513 of the Code of Virginia and noted that the financing
statement could not be expunged from copies of records in the possession of third parties.

On December 29, 2006, the petitioners, by counsel, filed a Motion for Summary Judgment alleging that the allegations in the Petition that the
financing statement was fraudulent should be deemed admitted in light of the Defendant's failure to timely file an answer in the case. Petitioners contend
that failure to grant the relief sought in the Petition would not only corrupt the Commission's records resulting in lack of public confidence in their accuracy,

but would also result in a serious, unjust, and fraudulent blight on the credit ratings of the innocent petitioners. The Defendant has not filed any response to
this motion.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the Petition and Motion, the Clerk's response to the Petition, and all applicable law, finds that
the petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment should be granted, and the relief requested in the Petition should also be granted. The Defendant has failed to
present any evidence or colorable argument supporting the validity of the filed financing statement.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment is granted.

(2) The UCC financing statement numbered 060524 7245-7 filed or caused to be filed by the Defendant is declared void ab initio.

(3) The Clerk shall immediately expunge from his records UCC financing statement numbered 060524 7245-7 filed or caused to be filed by the
Defendant.

(4) This case is dismissed from the Commission's docket of active cases.



63
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

CASE NO. CLK-2006-00008
MARCH 5, 2007

NOAH'S ARK FOUNDATION, INC.,
GLENN A. LANE

and
SARAH M. WEBSTER,

Petitioners,

V.
NOAH'S ARK FOUNDATION, INC.
and
JENNIFER SEIFERT,
Respondents

EINAL ORDER

On September 18, 2006, a Petition was filed in this case on behalf of Noah's Ark Foundation, Inc., a Virginia nonstock corporation (“the
Corporation"), alleging that certain amended articles of incorporation filed with the Clerk of the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) on or about
June 29, 2006 (“the amended articles") were fraudulent and were filed without the knowledge or approval of the Corporation's board of directors. The
Petition named Jennifer Seifert as a party defendant. The Petition alleged that at all relevant times, the Corporation's board of directors consisted of
Glenn A. Lane and Sarah M. Webster, who never reviewed or approved the amended articles. The Petition further alleged that the statement in the amended
articles to the effect that the amendments were approved by a majority of the board of directors was false, and requested that the Commission nullify and
declare void the amended articles and reinstate the Corporation's original articles of incorporation. Various exhibits were attached to the Petition including
affidavits of Glenn A. Lane and Sarah M. Webster and a copy of the Commission's July 19, 2006 Certificate of Amendment effectuating the amended
articles.

On October 3, 2006, the Commission entered a Preliminary Order docketing the case and requiring the named defendant, Jennifer Seifert, to file
an Answer to the Petition within twenty-one (21) days after receipt of the Petition, which was duly served upon her. On October 31, 2006, an Answer and
Counter-Petition was filed by the Corporation and Jennifer Seifert. The Answer asserted various defenses to the Petition, including want of Commission
jurisdiction under § 13.1-813 of the Code of Virginia, lack of corporate authority for filing the Petition, estoppel, laches, and unclean hands. The Counter-
Petition sought various forms of relief against Glenn A. Lane and Sarah M. Webster alleging their lawful removal from the Corporation's board of directors,
the legality of the election of others to the board of directors, the legality of the amended articles, and misappropriations of corporate funds, property and
records. The Answer and Counter-Petition were accompanied by affidavits of Liza Beckner, Terra L. Gilley, Dina Young, and Jennifer Seifert and copies of
various e-mails and other documents.

On November 29, 2006, counsel for Petitioners filed a Motion for Summary Judgment contending that the allegations in the Petition were amply
supported by the Lane and Webster affidavits, that the allegations were unrebutted by the affidavits and documents produced by the Respondents, that the
Petition was not time-barred by § 13.1-813 of the Code of Virginia, and that the relief sought in the Petition should be granted. Counsel for Petitioners also
then filed an Answer and Counterclaim to the Counter-Petition filed by Respondents. The Answer specifically denied that Webster ever held or claimed to
hold a proxy for Lane to vote in favor of expansion of the Corporation's board and further denied that Webster or Lane ever saw or approved any final
version of the amended articles. Petitioner's Answer again asserted the illegality of the filing of the amended articles, sought the relief requested in the
Petition, sought an order enjoining the added directors from holding themselves out as directors of the corporation, and sought an order declaring any and all
actions taken by the added directors to be ultra vires and without legal effect.

On December 19, 2006, counsel for Respondents filed an Opposition to Summary Judgment in response to Petitioner's Motion for Summary
Judgment, and a Motion for Summary Judgment in the Respondents' favor. The Opposition to Summary Judgment asserted various additional facts,
attached additional documents and asserted that Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment ignored relevant facts demonstrated by Respondents' exhibits.
Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment relied, in part, on the time bar in § 13.1-813 of the Code of Virginia and distinguished prior cases decided by
the Commission in which petitioners were granted relief of the sort requested in the Petition when cases were filed more than ten days after Commission
issuance of a certificate. Respondents further contended that their exhibits demonstrated that Petitioners Webster and Lane were guilty of laches and had
unclean hands as a matter of law.

On December 20, 2006, counsel for Respondents filed an Answer to Petitioners' Counterclaim denying various allegations contained therein and
reiterating defenses previously pleaded, including that all relief was time-barred by § 13.1-813 of the Code of Virginia. On December 27, 2006, counsel for
Respondents filed another Motion for Summary Judgment on behalf of the Corporation and the added directors, contending that the Commission lacked
jurisdiction to grant the Petitioners any relief because of the time bar in § 13.1-813 of the Code of Virginia. Finally, on December 29, 2006, counsel for the
Petitioners filed pleadings responding to all Respondents' filings not previously responded to. In these pleadings, counsel contended that (1) Respondents
had produced no evidence to contradict the affidavits of Lane and Webster to the effect that these individuals never saw, approved, or voted in favor of
expansion of the Corporation's board, (2) fraud on the part of the respondent, Jennifer Seifert, has been conclusively demonstrated, and (3) application of
§ 13.1-813 of the Code of Virginia to bar adjudication of the merits of the Petition would be contrary to public policy.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the pleadings and applicable law, finds that the Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment
should be granted. The parties agree, as they must, that the Petition which commenced this case was filed with the Clerk of the Commission more than ten
days after the July 19, 2006 effective date of the Commission's Certificate of Amendment effectuating the disputed articles. The ten-day time bar imposed
by § 13.1-813 of the Code of Virginia has not been asserted by any respondent in any contested case previously decided by the Commission, including those
cited by the Petitioners. That statute effectively deprives the Commission of authority to determine the merits of the Petition filed in this case, as it contains
no exceptions for actions worked upon the Commission by fraud or mistake. Inasmuch as Petitioners' Counterclaim is based essentially on the same
contentions as are made in the Petition, the Commission must likewise decline to adjudicate the merits of that Counterclaim.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment is granted.
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(2) The Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment is denied, and all other relief requested by the Petitioners and Respondents is denied.
(3) This case is dismissed from the Commission's docket.

(4) The papers filed herein shall be placed among the ended cases.

CASE NO. CLK-2006-00008
MARCH 26, 2007

NOAH'S ARK FOUNDATION, INC.,
GLENN A. LANE,
and
SARAH M. WEBSTER,
Petitioners,
V.
NOAH'S ARK FOUNDATION, INC.
and
JENNIFER SEIFERT,
Respondents

ORDER DENYING RECONSIDERATION

On March 5, 2007, the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission™) entered a Final Order in this case, in which the Commission granted the
Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment and denied the Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment and other relief requested herein.

On March 22, 2007, the Petitioners filed a Petition for Rehearing and Reconsideration (“Petition"). Therein, the Petitioners contend that: (i) the
Commission's Final Order in this case is inconsistent with its decision in Olin Corporation, Petitioner, v. Jimmie (Jimmy) W. Joiner a/k/a Edward P.
Nemeth, Defendant, Case No. CLK-2004-00009, 2004 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 52 (Final Order, September 13, 2004) ("Olin"); and, (ii) the Commission's decision
opens the floodgates to ". . . those who would perpetrate false and fraudulent flings [sic] upon the Commission in the hope that a mere ten days will lapse
before anyone with lawful corporate authority learns of such filings."*

The Petitioners request that the Commission vacate the Final Order and permit further proceedings to adjudicate their claims on the merits, or that
the Commission permit further briefing on the issue of the proper interpretation of § 13.1-813 of the Code of Virginia?® as applied to the facts of this case.®

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the Petition, as well as the entire record in this case, denies the Petition. We do not read our
decision as inconsistent with Olin. In Olin, no party raised the issue of § 13.1-813 and its applicability to the facts of that case. Section 13.1-813 limits the
Commission's . . . power to grant a rehearing with respect to any certificate. . ." to a ten-day period after the effective date of the certificate. No exceptions
are provided therein. We find further support for our result in Kappa Sigma Fraternity, Inc. v. Kappa Sigma Fraternity, 266 Va. 455 (2003).

In Kappa Sigma, the Supreme Court of Virginia was faced with a challenge by a fraternity to a foundation's amendments to its articles of
incorporation. Among other relief requested, the fraternity asked the chancellor for a declaration that certain amendments or restatements of articles of
incorporation were null and void because those amendments were not ratified properly by the foundation's members. Kappa Sigma, 266 Va. at 462. The
foundation raised certain affirmative defenses, including the statute of limitations. The Supreme Court agreed with the foundation's arguments and, citing to
an earlier decision,* stated that "[i]n the absence of a statute of limitations defense, we further held that the corporate act was subject to challenge and that
the deed was null and void because the corporation had not complied with all statutory requirements.” Id. at 465-466. The Supreme Court distinguished
betweegl a voidable and a void corporate act and held that a challenge to a voidable corporate act is subject to a defense of the statute of limitations. Id.
at 466.

We think the reasoning of that case is directly applicable here. The Respondents have raised the issue of the ten-day bar incorporated into
§ 13.1-813, and we must execute the will of the General Assembly as embodied in the law as it has been enacted.

As to the Petitioners' second contention, that our decision opens the floodgates to all kinds of false and fraudulent filings, again, we must follow
the law as it has been enacted.

! Petition at 3.

2 All statutory references are to the Code of Virginia.
® Petition at 4.
* Princess Anne Hills Civic League, Inc. v. Susan Constant Real Estate Trust, 243 Va. 53 (1992).

® The Supreme Court further stated that "[a] contrary conclusion is untenable because it would require us to assume, in the absence of any authority, that the
General Assembly intended to render innumerable corporate transactions, imperfectly executed but within a corporation’'s power to act, subject to attack in
perpetuity. In addition, such a conclusion would blur the bright line presently existing between an ultra vires act, in which a corporation lacks power to act,
and a voidable act, which is within the lawful scope of a corporation's power." Kappa Sigma, 266 Va. at 466-467.
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Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Petition for Rehearing and Reconsideration is DENIED; and

(2) The papers filed herein shall be placed among the ended cases.

CASE NO. CLK-2007-00003
APRIL 25, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: Inre: Uniform Commercial Code Filing Rules

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

WHEREAS, § 8.9A-526 of the Code of Virginia authorizes the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to promulgate rules governing
the practices of the Clerk's Office when acting as the filing office for financing statements and associated records permitted to be filed under Title 8.9A of
the Code of Virginia;

WHEREAS, effective July 1, 2001, the Commission adopted rules to implement Title 8.9A of the Code of Virginia, which are set forth at
5 VAC 5-30-10 et seq. ("UCC Filing Rules");

WHEREAS, effective July 1, 2007, Chapter 239 of the 2007 Acts of Assembly amends § 12.1-21.1 of the Code of Virginia, which prescribes the
fees charged by the Clerk of the Commission for providing and certifying a copy of a Uniform Commercial Code record; and

WHEREAS, the Clerk of the Commission has proposed corresponding changes to 5 VAC 5-30-40 as well as various other amendments to the
UCC Filing Rules;

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The proposed regulations are appended hereto and made a part of the record herein.

(2) Comments or requests for hearing on the proposed regulations must be submitted in writing to Joel H. Peck, Clerk, State Corporation
Commission, c/o Document Control Center, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218, on or before June 1, 2007. Requests for hearing shall state why a
hearing is necessary and why the issues cannot be adequately addressed in written comments. All correspondence shall contain a reference to Case No.
CLK-2007-00003. Interested persons desiring to submit comments electronically may do so by following the instructions available at the Commission's
website: http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.

(3) The proposed regulations shall be posted on the Commission's website at http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled “Chapter 30. Uniform Commercial Code Filing Rules" is on file and may be examined at the State
Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. CLK-2007-00003
JUNE 21, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: Inre: Uniform Commercial Code Filing Rules

ORDER ADOPTING REGULATIONS

By Order entered in this case on April 25, 2007, the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) directed that notice be given of its proposal,
acting pursuant to § 8.9A-526 of the Code of Virginia, to amend its rules governing the practices of the Clerk's Office when acting as the filing office for
financing statements and associated records permitted to be filed under Title 8.9A of the Code of Virginia. Notice of the proposed regulations was published
in the Virginia Register on May 14, 2007, posted on the Commission's website, and mailed to numerous individuals designated by the Manager of the
Uniform Commercial Code section of the Clerk's Office. Interested persons were afforded an opportunity to request a hearing or file written comments on or
before June 1, 2007. The Commission received one comment letter from R. Gaines Tavenner. Amongst Mr. Tavenner's comments was a suggestion to
clarify the meaning of the term "amendment" in 5 VAC 5-30-20.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record, the proposed regulations, the comment letter filed, and Staff recommendations,
concludes that the proposed regulations should be adopted with a clarifying modification to the definition of the term "amendment.”

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The modified proposed regulations (the "regulations"), 5 VAC 5-30-10 et seq., attached hereto are adopted effective July 1, 2007.
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(2) The regulations shall be posted on the Commission's website at http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.

(3) AN ATTESTED COPY hereof, together with a copy of the regulations, shall be sent to the Registrar of Regulations for publication in the
Virginia Register.

(4) This case is dismissed from the Commission's docket of active cases.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled "Uniform Commercial Filing Rules" is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation
Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. CLK-2007-00004
JULY 3, 2007

IN RE MERGER OF
MANAGEMENT RECRUITERS OF RICHMOND, INCORPORATED INTO THE RICHMOND GROUP USA, INC.

ORDER VACATING A CERTIFICATE

On December 20, 2006, the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) issued a certificate of merger effectuating the merger of Management
Recruiters of Richmond, Incorporated, a Virginia corporation, with and into The Richmond Group USA, Inc., a Virginia corporation, as of December 31,
2006. Thereafter, the merging corporations, by counsel, filed a Petition with the Clerk of the Commission stating that the stockholders of Management
Recruiters of Richmond, Incorporated, had been incorrectly identified in connection with preparation of the articles and plan of merger filed with the Clerk,
and seeking vacation of the aforesaid certificate of merger. Upon consideration of the Petition and papers filed herein, and it appearing that neither affected
corporation objects to granting the relief requested in the Petition,

IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The December 20, 20086, certificate of merger is vacated effective on that date.
(2) The corporate existence of Management Recruiters of Richmond, Incorporated, is reinstated effective December 31, 2006.

(3) The Clerk of the Commission shall make such entries in the records in his office as may be necessary to reflect the relief afforded in this
Order.

(4) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be filed among the ended causes.

CASE NO. CLK-2007-00005
AUGUST 10, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter concerning revised State Corporation Commission Rules of Practice and Procedure
ORDER FOR NOTICE OF PROCEEDING TO CONSIDER

REVISIONS TO COMMISSION'S RULES OF PRACTICE AND
PROCEDURE TO PERMIT ELECTRONIC FILING OF DOCUMENTS

The Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure, now codified at 5 VAC 5-10-10 et seg. ("Rules"), were last revised in 2001 in Case No.
CLK-2000-00311." Since then, changes have occurred in the industries and businesses subject to the regulatory authority of the Commission, including
advancement in technology and increased reliance on electronic methods of communication in standard business practices.

The Commission has concluded that, in light of the passage of time and the changes occurring, it is appropriate to revisit our Rules and
incorporate a procedure for electronic filing. Accordingly, the Commission Staff has prepared a proposed revision of the Rules of Practice and Procedure
("Proposed Rules"). A copy of the Proposed Rules is attached hereto. Interested parties are invited to comment upon and suggest modifications or
supplements to, or request hearing on, the Proposed Rules. Comments or requests for hearing should address only the matters addressed in the Proposed
Rules regarding electronic filing of documents. The Commission's Division of Information Resources is directed to cause the Proposed Rules to be
published in the Virginia Register of Regulations and to make the Proposed Rules available for inspection on the Commission's Internet website.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) This matter shall be docketed and assigned Case No. CLK-2007-00005.

! Commonwealth of Virginia, At the relation of the State Corporation Commission, Ex Parte: In the Matter concerning revised State Corporation
Commission Rules of Practice and Procedure, Case No. CLK-2000-00311, 2001 S.C.C. Ann. Rpt. 55.
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(2) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall forward the Proposed Rules to the Registrar of Regulations for publication in the
Virginia Register of Regulations.

(3) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall make a downloadable version of the Proposed Rules available for access by the
public at the Commission's website, http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm. The Clerk of the Commission shall make a copy of the Proposed Rules
available for public inspection in his office and provide a copy of the Proposed Rules, free of charge, in response to any written request for one.

(4) Interested persons wishing to comment, propose modifications or supplements to, or request a hearing on the Proposed Rules shall file an
original and fifteen (15) copies of such comments, proposals, or request with the Clerk of the Commission, State Corporation Commission, P.O. Box 2118,
Richmond, Virginia 23218, on or before September 25, 2007, making reference to Case No. CLK-2007-00005. Any interested person wishing to present
evidence and be heard regarding the Proposed Rules should file an original and fifteen (15) copies of a notice of participation as a respondent, as provided in
5 VAC 5-20-80 B, on or before September 25, 2007.

(5) This matter is continued for further orders of the Commission.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled "Amended Rules of Practice and Procedure" is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation
Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. CLK-2007-00006
JULY 16, 2007

IN RE
BLUES STRATEGIES, LLC

ORDER VACATING A CERTIFICATE AND
DIRECTING A REFUND

On May 8, 2007, the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™), as the result of a clerical error, issued a certificate of organization for a
Virginia limited liability company named Blues Strategies, LLC (the "Company"). Thereafter, the Company's organizer formed another limited liability
company, discovered the error in the Company's formation, and requested that the Company be cancelled and the fee paid for filing the Company's articles
of organization be refunded. Upon consideration whereof,

IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The certificate of organization of Blues Strategies, LLC is vacated effective May 8, 2007.

(2) The Clerk of the Commission shall refund the sum of one-hundred dollars ($100.00) to the organizer of Blues Strategies, LLC.

(3) The Clerk of the Commission shall make such entries in the records in his office as may be necessary to reflect the relief afforded in this

Order.
(4) This case is dismissed and the papers herein shall be filed among the ended causes.
CASE NO. CLK-2007-00007
AUGUST 9, 2007
IN RE:
PETROLEUM TRANSPORT, INC., a West Virginia corporation,

and
PETROLEUM TRANSPORT, INC., a Virginia corporation

VACATING AND AUTHORIZING ORDER

ON A FORMER DAY, the Staff reported to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) that on March 22, 1999, as a result of
miscommunication between a West Virginia corporation named Petroleum Transport, Inc. and the Office of the Clerk, a terminated Virginia corporation
having the same name was reinstated rather than the West Virginia corporation being issued a certificate of authority to transact business in Virginia; that the
West Virginia corporation subsequently filed annual reports and paid annual fees as required by law as if it were the Virginia corporation; that the West
Virginia corporation recently discovered the error and requested that it be corrected retroactively; that nonpayment of fees is not an impediment to granting
the requested relief; and that efforts to communicate with representatives of the Virginia corporation have been unsuccessful.

Upon consideration whereof,
IT IS ORDERED THAT:

1. The March 22, 1999 order reinstating the corporate existence of Petroleum Transport, Inc., a Virginia corporation, is hereby vacated
retroactive to that date.
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2. Upon compliance with applicable legal requirements Petroleum Transport, Inc., a West Virginia corporation, will be granted a certificate of
authority to transact business in Virginia as a foreign corporation retroactive to March 22, 1999, provided such compliance is effected within 30 days of the
date of this Order.

3. The annual reports filed with the Office of the Clerk, and the annual registration fees paid to the Commission, by the West Virginia
corporation on behalf of the Virginia corporation since March 22, 1999, shall be deemed to have been filed and paid on behalf of the West Virginia
corporation upon its receipt of a certificate of authority under paragraph 2 of this Order.

4. The Clerk of the Commission shall make such entries in the records in his office as may be necessary to reflect the relief afforded in this
Order.

5. Entry of this Order shall not affect the rights of any person or entity relying on the existence of the Virginia corporation between March 22,
1999, and the date of this Order.

6. This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be filed among the ended causes.
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BUREAU OF INSURANCE

CASE NO. INS-1989-00474
JANUARY 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

THE CENTRAL NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY OF OMAHA (IN REHABILITATION),
Defendant

EINAL ORDER

The Central National Insurance Company of Omaha, in Rehabilitation, a foreign corporation domiciled in the State of Nebraska ("Defendant™),
initially was licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia on
May 29, 1948.

By order entered herein November 14, 1989, the Defendant's license to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia was
suspended due to the entry of an Order of Supervision against the Defendant by the Nebraska Department of Insurance based on a finding that the Defendant
was in a hazardous financial condition.

By Order for Rehabilitation entered on March 9, 1990, the Defendant ceased doing business as an active property and casualty insurer. By letter
of Michael C. Davlin, President of the Defendant, dated June 7, 2006, the Commission's Bureau of Insurance was notified that as part of the rehabilitation
proceedings it has been determined that the Defendant will not again become an active insurer in the Commonwealth of Virginia. In addition, Mr. Davlin
requested that the Bureau cancel the Defendant's Certificate of Authority. By letter of Cynthia M. Kubat, Attorney in the Nebraska Department of Insurance,
Rehabilitator for the Defendant, and the Assistant Secretary of the Defendant, dated November 28, 2006, and received by the Commission's Bureau of
Insurance, Mr. Davlin's request was confirmed.

The withdrawal of the Defendant's license has been processed by the Bureau of Insurance, effective January 3, 2007.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that, in light of the foregoing, the Order Suspending License entered by the Commission be vacated
and this case be closed.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein and the recommendation of the Bureau of Insurance, is of the opinion that the Order
Suspending License entered by the Commission should be vacated.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Order Suspending License entered by the Commission is hereby VACATED;
(2) This case is hereby DISMISSED; and

(3) The papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-1991-00068
NOVEMBER 26, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION,
Plaintiff
V.

FIDELITY BANKERS LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

ORDER APPROVING FOURTH AMENDMENT OF AGREEMENT AND DECLARATION OF TRUST

ON A FORMER DAY CAME the Deputy Receiver of First Dominion Mutual Life Insurance Company (formerly Fidelity Bankers Life
Insurance Company), in Receivership for Conservation and Rehabilitation (the "Company"), and filed with the Clerk of the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) an Application for Order Approving Fourth Amendment of Agreement and Declaration of Trust ("Agreement") by which the Company
formed a grantor Trust, and extends the term of the Trust until December 31, 2008.

AND THE COMMISSION, having considered the Application, finds that the Deputy Receiver's Application is, in all things, well taken and that
it should be, and it is hereby, granted. Accordingly, the Commission now finds that the "Amendment Number Four to Agreement and Declaration of Trust"
attached to the Deputy Receiver's Application as Exhibit "A", should be, and it is hereby, approved as being in conformance with the Agreement and the
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plan for rehabilitation of the Company approved by the Commission on September 29, 1992 (“Rehabilitation Plan"). The Commission finds that the
extension of the term of the Trust until December 31, 2008, is in the best interest of policyholders, other creditors, and the public.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED that the Application for Order Approving Fourth Amendment Agreement and Declaration of Trust be, and it
is hereby, granted in conformance with the Agreement and the Rehabilitation Plan, and the Trust be, and it is hereby, extended until December 31, 2008.

CASE NO. INS-1991-00298
JUNE 21, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
ACCEPTANCE CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY (Formerly EMPLOYERS CASUALTY COMPANY),
Defendant

EINAL ORDER

Acceptance Casualty Insurance Company ("Defendant"), a foreign corporation domiciled in the State of Nebraska, formerly was known as
Employers Casualty Company ("Employers"), domiciled in the State of Texas and initially licensed by the Commission to transact the business of insurance
in the Commonwealth of Virginia on May 29, 1964.

Section 38.2-1028 of the Code of Virginia currently requires that insurers licensed to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of
Virginia are required to maintain minimum capital of $1,000,000 and minimum surplus of $3,000,000. In 1991, the requirements were minimum capital of
$1,000,000 and minimum surplus of $1,000,000.

By order entered herein November 13, 1991, Employers' license to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia was
suspended based on Employers' voluntary consent to such suspension due to Employers' failure to comply with such minimum surplus requirement.

In 1994, Employers and many of its affiliates and subsidiaries were placed into receivership in Texas. In 1995, Employers' charter was acquired
by Acceptance Insurance Companies, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and subsequently, its name was changed to Acceptance Casualty Insurance Company,
and it was redomiciled to the State of Nebraska.

In 2001, the Defendant became part of the IAT Reinsurance Company Ltd. (“IAT") holding company system when the Defendant and
Acceptance Indemnity Insurance Company, its sister company, were acquired by McM Corporation, a North Carolina corporation and downstream holding
company subsidiary of IAT, a Bermuda corporation. Acceptance Indemnity Insurance Company, the immediate parent of the Defendant, is an approved
surplus lines company in this Commonwealth.

Since its acquisition by McM Corporation, the Defendant has improved its performance and its capital position. The Quarterly Statement of the
Defendant dated March 31, 2007, and filed with the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau™) reports capital of $3,000,000 and surplus of $29,008,876, rendering the
Defendant in compliance with Virginia's minimum capital and surplus requirements.

The Bureau has recommended that the suspension of the Defendant's license be lifted and the Defendant's license be restored, and this case be
closed.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein and the recommendation of the Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's license
should be restored.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's license to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia is hereby RESTORED;
(2) This case is hereby DISMISSED; and

(3) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-1997-00257
FEBRUARY 15, 2007

PETITION OF
LADDS AND KATHLEEN BANKS

For review of HOW Insurance Company, Home Warranty Corporation and Home Owners Warranty Corporation Deputy Receiver's
Determination of Appeal

ORDER

On October 14, 1994, the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia, entered an Order appointing the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) the Receiver of HOW Insurance Company ("HOWIC"), Home Warranty Corporation ("HWC"), and Home Owners Warranty Corporation
("HOW") (collectively, "HOW Companies" or "HOW"). The receivership order granted the Commission the authority to proceed with the rehabilitation or
liquidation of the HOW Companies and established a receivership appeal procedure ("RAP") to govern appeals and challenges to decisions rendered by the
Receiver or the Receiver's duly authorized representatives.

On August 8, 1997, Ladds and Kathleen Banks (“Petitioners"”) filed a Petition for Review (“Petition") with the Clerk of the Commission
contesting the Deputy Receiver's Determination of Appeal in Claim No. 2947125A.

By Order dated August 29, 1997, the Commission docketed the Petition, assigned the matter to a Hearing Examiner, and directed the Deputy
Receiver to file an Answer or other responsive pleading to the Petition on or before September 26, 1997.

On September 23, 1997, the Deputy Receiver filed his Answer to the Petition in which he argued that the Petitioners' allegations were insufficient
to support a claim for major structural defect coverage.

By ruling dated September 30, 1997, the matter was scheduled for telephonic hearing and a procedural schedule was established.

The hearing was continued several times at the request of the parties. On July 7, 1998, the Deputy Receiver, by counsel, filed a motion for
continuance stating that the parties were attempting to reach an amicable disposition of the claim described in the Petition for Review. By ruling dated
July 7, 1998, the matter was continued generally until further ruling by the Hearing Examiner.

No pleadings or other activity occurred with respect to this matter subsequent to the ruling of July 7, 1998. Thus, a Hearing Examiner's Ruling
dated July 25, 2006, informed the parties that this matter would be dismissed unless the parties showed good cause on or before August 10, 2006, why the
matter should not be dismissed from the Commission's docket of active cases. On August 1, 2006, the Deputy Receiver advised that he did not oppose
dismissal. On August 7, 2006, the Petitioners stated that though representatives from HOW had verbally conceded the merits of the Petitioners' claim, the
Petitioners had been unsuccessful in their attempts to contact HOW representatives. Consequently, the Petitioners requested that the proceeding not be
dismissed.

By ruling dated August 15, 2006, the matter was continued and the parties were directed to advise the Hearing Examiner of the status of
settlement negotiations.

On February 5, 2007, the parties filed a Stipulation of Agreement and Agreed Motion for Dismissal of Petition. The Petitioners agreed to
withdraw their Petition and execute a release in exchange for a payment of $18,593.04. Neither party admitted liability or mistake.

On February 6, 2007, the Hearing Examiner issued his Report in which he recommended that the Joint Motion for Dismissal of the Petition
should be granted.

Upon consideration of the record herein and the Report of the Hearing Examiner, the Commission is of the opinion, and so finds, that the findings
and recommendations of the Hearing Examiner should be adopted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Joint Motion for Dismissal of the Petition is hereby GRANTED;

(2) The Petition of Ladds and Kathleen Banks for review of the Deputy Receiver's Determination of Appeal is hereby DISMISSED with
prejudice; and

(3) The case is dismissed, and the papers herein are passed to the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2002-01302
NOVEMBER 16, 2007

PETITION OF
CENTENNIAL HOMES, INC. d/b/a TRENDMAKER HOMES

For review of HOW Insurance Company, Home Warranty Corporation and Home Owners Warranty Corporation Deputy Receiver's
Determination of Appeal

ORDER

On October 14, 1994, the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia, entered an Order appointing the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) the Receiver of HOW Insurance Company ("HOWIC"), Home Warranty Corporation ("HWC"), and Home Owners Warranty Corporation
("HOW") (collectively, "HOW Companies" or "HOW"). The receivership order granted the Commission the authority to proceed with the rehabilitation or
liquidation of the HOW Companies and established a receivership appeal procedure ("RAP") to govern appeals and challenges to decisions rendered by the
Receiver or the Receiver's duly authorized representatives.

On November 25, 2002, Centennial Homes, Inc., d/b/a Trendmaker Homes (“Centennial Homes" or “Petitioner") filed a Petition for Review
("Petition™) with the Clerk of the Commission contesting the Deputy Receiver's Determination of Appeal in Claim No. 3882753-A.

On January 8, 2003, counsel for the Deputy Receiver and Centennial Homes filed a Joint Motion for Continuance ("Joint Motion™). In support of
the Joint Motion, the parties stated that the Petition addressed issues substantively similar in the three petitions previously filed by the Petitioner and pending
before the Commission (Case Nos. INS-2001-00081, INS-2001-00082, and INS-2002-00040, which were consolidated) at the time of filing. The Deputy
Receiver and Centennial Homes were awaiting the Commission's decision with regard to the pending cases, and jointly moved for a general continuance of
the captioned proceeding pending final disposition of the other petitions set forth above. By Hearing Examiner's Ruling dated January 23, 2003, the Joint
Motion was granted.

On October 28, 2003, the Commission entered an Order in the above-mentioned consolidated cases, ruling that the Petitions be denied, the
Determinations of Appeal issued respectively to each Petition be affirmed, and the cases be dismissed. On November 20, 2003, Centennial Homes filed an
appeal with the Virginia Supreme Court (“Court"). On March 30, 2004, the Court affirmed the Commission's Order of October 28, 2003.

On June 29, 2007, the Deputy Receiver filed a motion in which he argued that the case should be dismissed pursuant to § 8.01-335 of the Code of
Virginia on the grounds that no action had been taken by the Petitioner since it was continued in 2003. Furthermore, the Deputy Receiver argued that it is in
the best interest of all policyholders to conclude this pending matter. In support thereof, he noted that on June 13, 2005, the Commission entered its Order
Approving Plans of Liquidation for the companies, and these Plans of Liquidation require him to wind down the businesses of the Companies. The Deputy
Receiver also noted that the Commission had dismissed a similar case involving the Petitioner in Case No. INS-2002-01300.

On September 26, 2007, the Chief Hearing Examiner issued her Report and made the following findings and recommendations:

1. The Petition of Centennial Homes, Inc. d/b/a Trendmaker Homes should be dismissed with prejudice.

2. The matter should be stricken from the Commission's docket of active cases.

Upon consideration of the record herein and the Report of the Chief Hearing Examiner, the Commission is of the opinion, and so finds, that the
findings and recommendations of the Chief Hearing Examiner should be adopted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

1. The Petition of Centennial Homes, Inc. d/b/a Trendmaker Homes for review of the Deputy Receiver's Determination of Appeal is hereby
DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE;

2. The Determination of Appeal in Claim No. 3882753-A issued by the Deputy Receiver on August 5, 2002 is hereby AFFIRMED; and

3. The case is dismissed, and the papers herein are passed to the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2003-00267
MARCH 15, 2007

APPLICATION OF
VIRGINIA PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION

For Disbursement of Assets
FINAL ORDER

On December 15, 2003, pursuant to § 38.2-1509 of the Code of Virginia,* the Virginia Property and Casualty Insurance Guaranty Association
("VPCIGA™)? filed the Application of Virginia Property and Casualty Insurance Guaranty Association for Disbursement of Assets ("Application)® of

* All statutory references are to the Code of Virginia.
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Reciprocal of America and The Reciprocal Group (collectively "ROA") with the State Corporation Commission ("Commission"). Therein, VPCIGA
requested, among other things, upon the filing of its Application, that the Commission disburse to it the available assets of ROA.

On January 9, 2004, the Commission entered an Order Establishing Proceeding, which docketed this case, assigned the matter to a Hearing
Examiner, and provided for participation by interested parties herein.

Notices of participation were timely filed by the Deputy Receiver of ROA, the Special Deputy Receivers of Doctors Insurance Reciprocal, Risk
Retention Group ("RRG"), American National Lawyers Insurance Reciprocal, RRG, and The Reciprocal Alliance, RRG (collectively the "Tennessee
RRGs"); Coastal Region Board of Directors and Alabama Subscribers ("Coastal"); the Kentucky Hospitals;* PhyAmerica Physician Group, Inc.; the
Children's Hospital of Alabama; the Tennessee Insurance Guaranty Association; and the other Guaranty Associations.®

The various procedural maneuverings, rulings and iterations of the parties' divergent proposed early access plans and early access agreements are
accurately summarized in the Report of Michael D. Thomas, Hearing Examiner ("Report") that was filed in this matter on November 30, 2006. The
Commission notes that the Hearing Examiner conducted a pre-hearing conference in February of 2004, and that he provided the interested parties with two
hearings, one in April of 2004 and one in July of 2006. The parties have also had numerous opportunities to submit written responses and objections to the
various early access proposals and agreements that have been received.

The Report contains a thorough summary of the record in this proceeding, as well as the Hearing Examiner's discussion of the legal issues
involved in this case, along with his findings and recommendations. The Hearing Examiner made the following findings and recommendations:

(1) Section 38.2-1509 B 1 requires the Deputy Receiver to reserve sufficient assets to pay all of the administrative costs and
expenses of the ROA estate, and these assets are not available for any early access distribution;

(2) Section 38.2-1509 B 1 (ii) limits the amount of any early access distribution to the guaranty associations to their proportionate
share of the assets of ROA;

(3) A reasonable method to apportion without preference the assets of ROA among the two groups of policyholder-level claimants is
to use each group's estimated claims liabilities;

(4) Early access distributions should be allocated among the guaranty associations on the basis of claims paid;
(5) Section 38.2-1509 B 3 permits a receiver to clawback a liquidating distribution made to a guaranty association to pay claims of
an equal or higher priority, but the receiver must ensure that all policyholder-level claimants receive the same final percentage of

the insolvent insurer's assets;

(6) The term "available assets" used in § 38.2-1509 C means the guaranty associations' proportionate share of the assets of the estate
available to the policyholder class;

(7) The costs incurred in defending an insured under the terms of his ROA insurance policy are part of the total costs incurred in
paying the claim, and not an administrative expense entitled to priority under § 38.2-1609 B;

(8) The guaranty associations are entitled to an early access distribution of their proportionate share of ROA's total assets as
calculated using the methodology in Attachment 3, until the Commission resolves the status of the RRG claims;

(9) The early access distribution amount should be computed using the most current financial information available, ROA's 2005
Annual Statement, and the assumptions and methodology in Attachment 3;

(10) The Deputy Receiver should file the updated early access distribution computation for the Commission's consideration with his
comments to this Report;

(11) The Deputy Receiver is an active receiver and is vested with broad discretionary authority to establish the reserves to pay ROA's
insurance claim liabilities;

2\/PCIGA is an unincorporated association organized and existing by virtue of Chapter 16 of Title 38.2 of the Code of Virginia for the purpose of providing
prompt payment of covered claims to reduce financial loss to claimants or policyholders resulting from insolvency of an insurer.

® The Application contained a Proposed Plan for Disbursement of Available Assets and a proposed Early Access Agreement.

* The "Kentucky Hospitals" include Appalachian Regional Healthcare, Gateway Regional Medical Center, Hardin Memorial Hospital, Highlands Regional
Medical Center, Murray-Calloway County Hospital, Owenshoro Mercy Health System, Regional Medical Center/Trover Clinic Foundation, and T.J. Samson
Community Hospital.

® In addition to the Tennessee Insurance Guaranty Association, the "Guaranty Associations," as used herein, include the Alabama Insurance Guaranty
Association, the District of Columbia Insurance Guaranty Association, the Georgia Insurers Insolvency Pool, the Indiana Insurance Guaranty Association,
the Kansas Insurance Guaranty Association, the Louisiana Insurance Guaranty Association, the Maryland Property & Casualty Insurance Guaranty
Corporation, the Mississippi Insurance Guaranty Association, the Missouri Property & Casualty Insurance Guaranty Association, and the North Carolina
Insurance Guaranty Association.
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(12) Early access distributions should be made initially on the basis of UDS,® but adequate documentation should be required later
from the guaranty associations;

(13) The parties should submit revised language for EAP” Paragraph |11 for the Commission's consideration in their comments to this
Report;

(14) The Deputy Receiver should be able to offset any future early access distribution or final liquidating distribution to a guaranty
association by any unsatisfied clawback request made to that association;

(15) Section 38.2-1509 C should not be summarized in the early access plan or agreement;

(16) The early access agreement should address the submission of closed claim files to the Deputy Receiver, and the associations
should be required to submit those files to the Deputy Receiver approximately every six months;

(17) The guaranty associations' claims handling expenses should not be part of the early access agreement;
(18) The Deputy Receiver cannot condition early access payments on a guaranty association's ability to repay the funds;

(19) The early access plan and agreement should address early access payments and liquidating distributions made to the guaranty
associations, but should not address claims handling expenses;

(20) The early access agreement does not limit a guaranty association's right of appeal;
(21) The early access agreement should address the claims submission process, timing, and documentation;

(22) The last three lines of Paragraph 3.h should be changed to read: "to the extent required in order to pay claims entitled to a
priority equal to or greater than the Association as established in VVa. Code Ann. § 38.2-1509(B)(1);"

(23) A third-party administrator is not a "similar organization" as provided in § 38.2-1609 B; therefore, Coastal's third-party
administrator expenses should not be afforded the same priority as the liquidator's expenses; and

(24) The non-party guaranty associations are proper parties, not necessary parties, and their joinder in this proceeding is not required.

The Hearing Examiner recommends that the Commission adopt the findings and recommendations of his Report, approve an early access plan
and agreement that are consistent with such findings and recommendations, authorize the Deputy Receiver to make an early access distribution to the
guaranty associations consistent with the methodology in Attachment 3, but updated to reflect numbers from ROA's 2005 Annual Statement, direct the
Deput% Receiver to void the Tolling Agreement with the Tennessee RRGs,® and return Case No. INS-2003-00092° to the Commission's docket of active
cases.

On January 5, 2007, the Deputy Receiver filed his Comments and Submission of Deputy Receiver. ("Deputy Receiver Comments").** Therein,
the Deputy Receiver did not disagree with or challenge any finding or recommendation contained in the Report, but he sought to clarify certain matters
therein.? He also submitted a proposed early access plan, early access agreement, and updated early access distribution computation, pursuant to the
Hearing Examiner's direction in his Report. The Deputy Receiver further noted that he and the Guaranty Associations arrived at proposed language for
paragraph 111 of the early access plan as directed by finding 13 in the Report.

The Deputy Receiver also noted that he agrees with the Hearing Examiner's recommendation regarding the Joint Petition Proceeding and that he
has issued notice terminating the tolling agreement between the Deputy Receiver and the Receiver of the Tennessee RRGs. The Deputy Receiver also
indicated that he was preparing a proposal for increasing the currently approved 17% payment to policyholder-level claimants.*®

®"UDS," as defined in the Report, means the National Association of Insurance Commissioners Uniform Data Standards Reporting Format. Report at 18.
T"EAP," as defined in the Report, means the proposed Early Access Plan.

® The Hearing Examiner discusses the basis of this recommendation and the procedural history of the case involving the Tennessee RRGs and the Deputy
Receiver on page 2, note 4, and pages 29-30 of the Report.

® In re: Joint Petition of Special Deputy Receivers of Doctors Insurance Reciprocal, Risk Retention Group, In Receivership, American National Lawyers
Insurance Reciprocal, Risk Retention Group, In Receivership, and The Reciprocal Alliance, Risk Retention Group, In Receivership (the "Joint Petition
Proceeding” or "Case No. INS-2003-00092").

0 Report at 49.

™ The attachments to the Comments will be referred to separately. See infra at 12.

2 Deputy Receiver Comments at 1.

8 On January 11, 2007, the Deputy Receiver filed an Application to Increase the Payment Percentage from 17% to 25%, Application of Reciprocal of
America and The Reciprocal Group, For Approval to Increase Payment Percentage from 17% to 25%. (the "Increased Payout Proceeding”). A Hearing
Examiner conducted a pre-hearing conference on March 6, 2007, to discuss procedural schedules for both the Joint Petition Proceeding and the Increased

Payout Proceeding. By Hearing Examiner's Ruling dated March 8, 2007, any party opposing the relief requested by the Deputy Receiver in the Increased
Payout Proceeding was directed to file an objection thereto by March 20, 2007.
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On January 3, 2007, Coastal filed the Comments of the Coastal Region Board of Directors and the Alabama Subscribers to Hearing Examiner
Thomas' Report of November 30, 2006 ("Coastal Comments"). Therein, Coastal contends that the Hearing Examiner, in finding 23, erred in concluding that
the administrative expenses incurred by ROA policyholders, such as Coastal's members, are not entitled to the same priority as the guaranty associations in
seeking reimbursement for such expenses from the Deputy Receiver. Coastal further asserts that the guaranty associations should be required to account for
interest on funds in excess of claims paid between the time the funds are received under an early access agreement and the time they are used to pay
claims.™* Other than the two foregoing exceptions, Coastal supports the recommendations of the Hearing Examiner.®® Coastal also specifically supports the
recommendation that the Joint Petition Proceeding be restored to the Commission's docket of active cases.

Coastal states that more than 40% of the policyholders in this case have no guaranty association coverage, which means that nearly half of the
policyholder-level claims in this receivership have been handled by the policyholders themselves, either by using their own staff personnel or by employing
third party administrators. Coastal further relies on the "or a similar organization" language from § 38.2-1609 B to support its contention that its claims-
handling expenses should be treated as administrative expenses. Coastal does agree with the distinction drawn by the Hearing Examiner between allocated
loss adjustment expenses ("ALAE") and unallocated loss adjustment expenses ("ULAE"), whereby the guaranty associations' ALAE will be given
policyholder-level treatment, and their ULAE will be treated as administrative costs. Coastal argues, however, that this treatment should apply equally to
Coastal's unallocated costs and expenses.'® Coastal thus vigorously argues that Hearing Examiner finding 23 should be rejected.

On January 5, 2007, the Kentucky Hospitals filed the Kentucky Hospitals' Comments to Hearing Examiner Thomas' November 30, 2006 Report
("Kentucky Hospitals' Comments"). The Kentucky Hospitals support all Hearing Examiner findings and recommendations, with the exception of finding 23,
which pertains to the treatment of the Kentucky Hospitals' expenses in handling claims. The Kentucky Hospitals join in the Coastal Comments.” The
Kentucky Hospitals highlight the fact that there are significant groups of policyholder-level creditors who are not covered by any guaranty association, and
they also recount the history of the Assumed Claims Litigation.?® The Kentucky Hospitals contend that the actions of the guaranty associations in failing to
cover certain claims have caused catastrophic hardship for the Kentucky Hospitals.*®

The Kentucky Hospitals claim that finding 23 was made without sufficient evidentiary background to: "(1) consider the unique context of
Coastal's (and other ROA policyholder claimants) position in the ROA receivership; and (2) appreciate the critical effect the aforementioned ruling would
have on other ROA proceedings (including a number of claim appeals)."® The Kentucky Hospitals request that the Commission find that "claim
administrative and adjudication expenses is the obligation of the insurer and whether incurred by the Deputy Receiver, the guaranty associations or the
policyholders should be accorded the same priority or return the issue to the Hearing Examiner for further proceedings."* The Kentucky Hospitals also
concur with Coastal that the guaranty associations should be required to account for all investment/earned income on the early access funds they receive.
The Kentucky Hospitals further agree with Coastal that the Joint Petition Proceeding should be placed back on the Commission's docket of active cases.?
The Kentucky Hospitals also seek minor clarifications to certain findings of the Hearing Examiner.?

On January 5, 2007, VPCIGA and the Guaranty Associations filed their Response of Guaranty Associations to Report of Michael D. Thomas,
Hearing Examiner, dated November 30, 2006 ("Guaranty Associations' Comments"). The Guaranty Associations do not object to most of the findings and
recommendations in the Report. Their primary objections concern:

(1) The Hearing Examiner's recommendation that $61.1 million be held back from early access disbursements
pending resolution of whether the claims of the Tennessee RRGs are general creditor claims or policyholder
claims; (2) The Hearing Examiner's recommendation that claims of guaranty associations on account of

 Coastal Comments at 7-8.
'8 Coastal Comments at 1-2.
'8 Coastal Comments at 3-5.
7 Kentucky Hospitals' Comments at 2.

8 On August 24, 2005, after more than two years of litigation, the Commission entered a Final Order in Case No. INS-2003-00239, Application of
Reciprocal of America and The Reciprocal Group, For a Determination Whether Certain Workers' Compensation Insurance Policy Payments May be Made
to Claimants Formerly Covered by SITs and GSIAs (the "Assumed Claims Litigation"). The Commission found that certain claims assumed by ROA from
certain self-insured trusts and group self-insurance associations through various merger transactions constituted “claims of other policyholders arising out of
insurance contracts" pursuant to § 38.2-1509 B 1(ii), but the Commission also found that such claims could only be paid at the payment percentage, later
determined as 17%, found to be appropriate for other policyholder-level claimants.

¥ Kentucky Hospitals' Comments at 4.

2 Kentucky Hospitals' Comments at 6.

2d. at 7.

2 0On January 5, 2007, the Kentucky Hospitals and Coastal filed the Comments and Motion of the Kentucky Hospitals and Coastal Region Board of
Directors in Case No. INS-2004-00244, Application of Reciprocal of America and The Reciprocal Group, For Approval of Agreement to Stay Proceedings
and Tolling Agreement. (“Case No. INS-2004-00244"). Therein, the Kentucky Hospitals and Coastal requested that the Commission direct the Deputy
Receiver to void the tolling agreement and return Case No. INS-2003-00092 to the Commission's docket of active cases. Such joint request is moot in light
of the fact that the Deputy Receiver has terminated the tolling agreement and the Hearing Examiner has conducted further proceedings in the Joint Petition
Proceeding.

2 Kentucky Hospitals' Comments at 10.
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expenses incurred in defending ROA insureds are reimbursable at the policyholder priority level (as opposed to
the administrative expense level), and (3) The Hearing Examiner's assertion that the clawback mechanism can
be applied to liquidating distributions to guaranty associations.?*

The Guaranty Associations do not object to the recommendation that the amount of the early access distribution be limited to their proportionate
share of the assets of ROA, but they believe that Attachment 4 to the Report should be used to calculate properly the amount of available assets, rather than
Attachment 3 as recommended by the Hearing Examiner. The Guaranty Associations request that the Commission explicitly state that any early access
funds that are later determined to be liquidating distributions are not subject to clawback.?

The Guaranty Associations object to finding 7. The Guaranty Associations contend that there is no authority for the Hearing Examiner's
ALAE/ULAE distinction, and they argue that all of their defense costs should be treated as administrative expenses, since they perform a duty that would be
otherwise performed by the liquidator as recognized in § 38.2-1609 B.%

The Guaranty Associations object to finding 8, and they instead contend that Attachment 4 should be used to calculate the amount of available
assets.”” According to the Guaranty Associations, using the appropriate methodology will result in an early access distribution to guaranty associations in
the amount of $147,232,004. The Guaranty Associations contend that the proper method, as established by the General Assembly, to deal with the
uncertainties inherent in any receivership is the clawback mechanism, not the reserve mechanism as recommended by the Hearing Examiner.?

27

The Guaranty Associations also contend that the Hearing Examiner misconstrued the amount of authority that the Deputy Receiver has at his
discretion to determine "available assets." They request that all references to "discretion™ in the early access plan and agreement be deleted. The Guaranty
Associations also requested the opportunity to respond to any revised plan and agreement proposed by the Deputy Receiver.? In contrast to Coastal and the
Kentucky Hospitals, the Guaranty Associations agree with finding 23, which pertains to Coastal's third-party administrator expenses.

On January 5, 2007, the Tennessee RRGs filed the Special Deputy Receivers' Response and Objections to Report of Hearing Examiner Dated
November 30, 2006 (“Tennessee RRGs' Comments"). The Tennessee RRGs support finding 7 that provides that costs incurred in defending an insured are
not administrative expenses but are considered policyholder-level claims.*

The Tennessee RRGs object to using either Attachment 3 or 4, because both attachments assume that approximately $57 million withdrawn by
ROA from a trust account should be included within available assets. The Tennessee RRGs contend that this money belongs to the Tennessee RRGs or their
beneficiaries, and that "monies subject to equitable interests of another are not property of an estate available to creditors generally."** The Tennessee RRGs
note that their claim to the trust monies has yet to be resolved in the Joint Petition Proceeding.*? The Tennessee RRGs also request leave to file additional
comments after the Deputy Receiver files his updated early access distribution computation. The Tennessee RRGs support finding 11, which provides that
the Deputy Receiver is an active receiver. Finally, the Tennessee RRGs note that, since the Deputy Receiver has already initiated the termination of the
tolling agreement, the Hearing Examiner's recommendation to terminate such agreement is moot.

On February 16, 2007, the Commission entered an Order Providing for Additional Comment, wherein parties were provided an opportunity to
file a response to the Deputy Receiver's Comments, which contained an updated early access distribution computation.

On March 1, 2007, the Guaranty Associations and VPCIGA filed the Response of Guaranty Associations to the Comments and Submission of
Deputy Receiver ("Guaranty Associations' Supplementary Response™). Among other objections, the Guaranty Associations request that the early access plan
explicitly indicate that the Guaranty Associations' policy defense costs are entitled to an administrative priority.** The Guaranty Associations also restate
their position that the amount of available assets should be based upon Attachment 4 to the Report, rather than Attachment 3.** The Guaranty Associations
also cont:gnd that the Deputy Receiver is bound by their settlements of “covered claims" and the early access plan and agreement should be amended to so
indicate.

2 Guaranty Associations' Comments at 1.

#1d. at 4.

% 1d. at 5-8.

% The key difference between Attachment 3, as recommended by the Hearing Examiner, is that the Tennessee RRGs are assumed to be policyholders, thus
causing the total policyholder liabilities to increase by over $346 million, and accordingly affecting the corresponding assumptions and calculations that
follow therefrom. Attachment 4, preferred by the Guaranty Associations, assumes that the Tennessee RRGs are not policyholders.

2 Guaranty Associations' Comments at 9.

#1d. at 10-11.

¥ Tennessee RRGs' Comments at 2.

$1d. at 2-3.

%1d. at 5-6.

* Guaranty Associations' Supplementary Response at 3.

*d.

*|d. at 4-5.
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On March 2, 2007, the Tennessee RRGs filed the Special Deputy Receivers' Response to Commission's Order Providing Leave to File Additional
Comments. The Tennessee RRGs continue to object to the assumption made by the Hearing Examiner that, for purposes of the early access distribution,
certain trust funds held by ROA are deemed available assets of ROA.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the evidence and arguments of the parties, the pleadings, including the various and competing
early access plans and agreements that have been submitted, the Report and the comments thereto, as well as the supplementary comments filed herein, finds
that the Hearing Examiner's findings and recommendations, as well as the Deputy Receiver's early access plan, early access agreement, and updated early
access distribution computation that was filed on January 5, 2007 (collectively, the "January 5, 2007 Early Access Submission") should be adopted, except
as modified herein.

We note several things at the outset. The Application was filed in this case over three years ago. During that time, the various guaranty
associations have been handling claims on behalf of ROA. However, we also note that the guaranty associations have not been handling a large number of
claims, and that such claims have been handled by the policyholders themselves, such as Coastal and the Kentucky Hospitals. As noted by the Hearing
Examiner, ". . . there is a significant group of policyholder-level creditors. . . who are not covered by any guaranty association and who have a statutory right
to the assets of ROA, equal to that of the guaranty associations."®

Additionally, there is ongoing litigation between the Tennessee RRGs and the Deputy Receiver at the Commission regarding the Tennessee
RRGs and their claimants' status as policyholders or general creditors, and the Tennessee RRGs further assert their right to certain trust funds seized by the
Deputy Receiver near the beginning of this receivership as he was marshalling assets.

In determining the appropriate contours of an early access plan, early access agreement, and the amount of assets that should be distributed, we
are mindful of the foregoing, but we are required to decide this case in accordance with the carefully crafted scheme for handling the disbursement of the
assets of an insolvent insurer's estate set out in § 38.2-1509, as well as the applicable guaranty association statutes set forth in Chapter 16 of Title 38.2.

Discussion

Unless otherwise noted, we approve the January 5, 2007 Early Access Submission. We also approve the Hearing Examiner's findings and
recommendations, except as otherwise noted herein.

Liquidating distributions and clawbacks

We adopt findings 1-4 and 6. Finding 5 provides that "Section 38.2-1509 B 3 permits a receiver to clawback a liquidating distribution made to a
guaranty association to pay claims of an equal or higher priority, but the receiver must ensure that all policyholder-level claimants receive the same final
percentage of the insolvent insurer's assets." As noted in our Final Order in Case No. INS-2004-00244, any approved liquidating distribution . . . is not
subject to any 'claw-back' arrangement pursuant to § 38.2-1509 B 3."* Accordingly, only funds distributed pursuant to early access are subject to clawback.
We fully expect that the Deputy Receiver is cognizant of our prior rulings in filing any application for a liquidating distribution, such as the Increased Payout
Proceeding. Subject to the foregoing clarification, we adopt finding 5.

Treatment of guaranty associations' defense costs

Finding 7 provides that "[t]he costs incurred in defending an insured under the terms of his ROA insurance policy are part of the total costs
incurred in paying the claim, and not an administrative expense entitled to priority under § 38.2-1609 B."

The Hearing Examiner drew a distinction between ALAE, which he characterized as "an expense assigned to, and recorded with, a specific claim,
including defense and investigation costs," and ULAE, which he characterized as "an expense that cannot be assigned to, and recorded with, a specific claim,
and generally includes claim department overhead and operating expenses."* The Hearing Examiner concluded that only the guaranty associations' ULAE
should be classified as administrative expenses and entitled to a higher priority.*

VPCIGA and the Guaranty Associations object to this finding and claim that both ALAE and ULAE are entitled to administrative priority.*
VPCIGA and the Guaranty Associations claim that the phrase "expenses. . . incurred in handling claims" includes "all expenses of an association in
receiving, recording, reviewing, evaluating, approving, settling, denying, paying or otherwise disposing of claims against the insolvent insurer."** VPCIGA
and the Guaranty Associations also cite § 38.2-1606 A 3 in support of their position.

% See, e.g., Report at 38 ("The GA Policyholders account for $265 million in policyholder claim liabilities and the Other Policyholders account for
$223 million in policyholder claim liabilities. . .") (using Attachment 4).

*" Report at 28-29.

% Application of Reciprocal of America and The Reciprocal Group, For Approval of Agreement to Stay Proceedings and Tolling Agreement, Case No.
INS-2004-00244, 2005 SCC Ann. Rept. 81, 84 (Final Order, December 13, 2005).

* Report at 24, n. 21, and 36.
“01d. at 36.
“ Guaranty Associations' Comments at 5-8.

“2|d. at5.
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In contrast, the Deputy Receiver, the Tennessee RRGs, the Kentucky Hospitals, and Coastal agree with the Hearing Examiner that a distinction is
properly drawn between ALAE and ULAE and that VPCIGA and the Guaranty Associations' ALAE should not be characterized as administrative expenses.

We first review the appropriate statutes. Section 38.2-1509 B provides that

The Commission shall disburse the assets of an insolvent insurer as they become available in the following
manner:

1. Pay, after reserving for the payment of the costs and expenses of administration, according to the following
priorities: . . . (ii) claims of the associations for "covered claims" . . . and claims of other policyholders arising
out of insurance contracts apportioned without preference.

Section 38.2-1609 provides, in part, that

The expenses of the Association or a similar organization incurred in handling claims shall be accorded the
same priority as the liquidator's expenses.

The terms “expenses incurred in handling claims” are not defined more specifically anywhere else in Chapter 15 or 16 of Title 38.2. We do not
think VPCIGA and the Guaranty Associations' reference to the different treatment in § 38.2-1606 A 3 ii and iii accorded to "expenses of handling covered
claims” and "other expenses authorized by this chapter” is helpful in this regard. We note that this section pertains to the powers and duties of VPCIGA
generally and how it is to allocate claims paid and expenses incurred specifically.

The priority for the "expenses of the Association or a similar organization incurred in handling claims" in § 38.2-1609 B must be read in
conjunction with § 38.2-1509 B, which accords different treatment for administrative expenses and policyholder claims. We find that, while the General
Assembly has accorded a priority for certain guaranty association expenses “incurred in handling claims,” the scope of such priority is not as broad as
VPCIGA and the Guaranty Associations contend. First, we note that there is a fundamental distinction between ALAE and ULAE as the Hearing Examiner
has found. Policy defense costs are typically part of the policyholder benefit, although the circumstances certainly vary as to whether such costs count
toward a policy limit.

Thus, reading the phrase "expenses incurred in handling claims" as expansively as VPCIGA and the Guaranty Associations do leads to the result
that policyholder-level distinctions are drawn in § 38.2-1509 B by virtue of a provision in another chapter of the Code. In other words, policyholders (such
as Coastal and the Kentucky Hospitals) would have their policyholder defense costs paid at the currently authorized 17% level, while other policyholder-
level claimants (including VPCIGA and the Guaranty Associations) would have their defense costs paid at the administrative priority level. Hence, we think
the statutory "preference” for the claims-handling expenses of the guaranty associations should be construed narrowly. Thus, we find that “expenses
incurred in handling claims" as referred to in § 38.2-1609 B only provides an administrative priority for ULAE expenses of VPCIGA and the Guaranty
Associations, and not for their ALAE, which should be classified at the policyholder level.

We find further support for this decision in the case cited by VPCIGA and the Guaranty Associations, Texas Property & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass'n v.
Webb, 2000 Tex. App. LEXIS 905 (Tex. Ct. App. 2000). While we recognize that the court's decision there was unpublished and that Texas law differs from
Virginia's, we find that court's reasoning persuasive. We have been unable to find any other court that has ruled on this precise question before us.

As noted by the Texas Court of Appeals, “[t]he receiver does not dispute that all claims-handling expenses are included within [the administrative
priority class]. But that does not resolve the question before us, namely, what costs are included in the phrase claims-handling expenses." Webb, 2000 Tex.
App. Lexis 905 at 11. Similarly, it is undisputed here that VPCIGA's and the Guaranty Associations' "expenses incurred in handling claims™ are entitled to
administrative expense level priority. The issue is what constitutes such “expenses."

The guaranty associations are, for purposes of the priority statute, § 38.2-1509 B, equivalent to policyholders. Thus, the “claims of the
association for covered claims" are paid at the same level as "claims of other policyholders." The super priority in 8 38.2-1609 B for "expenses incurred in
handling claims" must be read in this context. As the Texas court noted

[w]hen the legislature sought to give preference to the guaranty associations because of their unique role in
insurance company insolvency, it did so in express language. We are not persuaded that the language of the
statute supports appellant's argument that the legislature sought to advantage the associations with respect to
defense costs. Rather, we determine that the legislature did not intend TPCIGA defense cost claims to be
superior to those of policyholders. Thus, this analysis accomplishes the goal of equal priority enunciated in
section 11(c).

Webb, 2000 Tex. App. Lexis 905 at 21-22. We conclude that a narrow construction of "expenses incurred in handling claims," an undefined
phrase, is more consistent with the General Assembly's express priority preferences in § 38.2-1509 B. Accordingly, we adopt finding 7.

Availability of Trust Fund Assets for Early Access and the Distribution Amount

Findings 8-10 essentially recommend that the Deputy Receiver update the early access plan, agreement, and computation based on ROA's
2005 Annual Statement. The Hearing Examiner also recommends that the methodology used in Attachment 3 be employed. VPCIGA and the Guaranty
Associations object to using Attachment 3, while the Tennessee RRGs object to using either Attachment 3 or 4. The January 5, 2007 Early Access
Submission contains two key assumptions: (i) the former FVR Trust Assets* are included as assets available for distribution; and (ii) the Tennessee RRGs
have policyholder status.

43 "FVR" means First Virginia Reinsurance, Ltd. FVR was a Bermuda company set up to provide reinsurance to ROA. A trust agreement between FVR and
ROA established a trust account. The funds in the trust, as well as the purpose thereof, have been the subject of much dispute and litigation in Bermuda, the
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, and the Commission.
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VPCIGA and the Guaranty Associations contend that Attachment 4 should be used.* They argue that "[n]othing in Section 38.2-1509 requires
that the amount of early access distributions be reduced to hold back amounts for policyholder level claims, let alone for claims which the Deputy Receiver
contends are general creditor claims."* They further assert that the clawback mechanism may be used if it is later determined that the Tennessee RRGs and
their claimants are policyholders.

The Tennessee RRGs, on the other hand, claim that, in Case No. INS-2003-00092, they "have made claim to the [trust] fund under theories of
express, constructive and equitable trust principles. . . The trust account was comprised of premiums received from the RRG policyholders and their claims
exceed the amount of the fund."*® As such, the Tennessee RRGs contend that the trust funds are not unrestricted assets of the estate that should be subject to
disbursement other than to the Tennessee RRGs. The Tennessee RRGs cite to bankruptcy law cases in support of this proposition. The Tennessee RRGs
furtherﬁrgue that concluding that the trust funds are "available assets" unfairly prejudges the issues in the Joint Petition Proceeding and violates due process
of law.

We agree with the Tennessee RRGs regarding the trust funds. In carefully reviewing § 38.2-1509 B of the Code, we note that subsection B 3
provides that the Commission shall "secure an agreement from each of the entitled associations requiring the return to the Commission of any assets
previously dishbursed to the association required to pay claims entitled to priority in subdivision 1 of this subsection." If the Tennessee RRGs prevail on their
contention that the trust funds belong exclusively to them, then this money may not go into the general pool of "available assets."*® As such, the trust funds
would not be “entitled to priority in subdivision 1 of this subsection.” While VPCIGA and the Guaranty Associations might be willing to sign a clawback
agreement that would require the return of the trust funds if the Commission ultimately rules in favor of the Tennessee RRGs in Case No. INS-2003-00092,
under § 38.2-1509 B 3, the authority of the Commission to secure such an agreement only extends to assets that are "required to pay claims entitled to
priority in subdivision 1 of this subsection."”

Stated another way, if the trust funds never become "available," because the Tennessee RRGs end up prevailing on their contention that the trust
funds belong exclusively to them, the trust funds will never become available for disbursement under the priority scheme in § 38.2 1509 B 1. We do not
decide that question today, but we agree with the Tennessee RRGs that such funds should be excluded from the calculation of "available assets."

On the other hand, we agree with VPCIGA and the Guaranty Associations that, subject to the foregoing analysis regarding the trust funds,
Attachment 4 is the appropriate vehicle for calculating early access.* In contrast to the result if the Tennessee RRGs prevail on their trust funds argument,
their arguments that they and their claimants are entitled to be treated as ROA policyholders, assuming that they prevail, will result in the Commission
finding them to be policyholders at some future time.®® Section 38.2-1509 B 3, which requires the Commission to secure an agreement "requiring the return
to the Commission of any assets previously disbursed to the association required to pay claims entitled to priority in subdivision 1 of this subsection™ will
then permit the Commission to claw back assets from the guaranty associations in order to make a preference-free distribution to policyholder-level
claimants.

Hence, we find that Attachment 4 should be utilized, but the "Former FVR Trust Assets" should not be included as assets available for
distribution. Accordingly, we direct the Deputy Receiver to file an updated Attachment 4 that excludes the "Former FVR Trust Assets” from the available
assets. The Deputy Receiver shall make such updated filing within fourteen (14) days hereof. We thus modify findings 8 through 10 in accordance with the
foregoing.

Discretion of the Deputy Receiver
The Hearing Examiner, in finding 11, states that "[t]he Deputy Receiver is an active receiver and is vested with broad discretionary authority to
establish the reserves to pay ROA's insurance claim liabilities." We agree with this statement, subject to the qualification that the Commission has the

ultimate authority over these "discretionary" decisions, and the Commission's authority is constrained by the applicable provisions of the Code of Virginia.

We agree with findings 12 through 22 and 24 and do not think they require any further discussion herein.

“* See note 27 supra.

> Guaranty Associations' Comments at 9.
“* Tennessee RRGs' Comments at 3.
“1d. at 6.

8 Another possible result of the Joint Petition Proceeding is that the Commission finds that the trust funds belong to the estate of ROA and would then
become available for early access purposes. As we noted in our Final Order in Case No. INS-2003-00206, “[t]he specific trust funds are claimed by several
different parties, including the Deputy Receiver, the Joint Liquidators of FVR, and the SDRs." We further stated that . . . we also make no such findings of
fact or conclusions of law with regard to the claims in Case No. INS-2003-00092." Petition of First Virginia Reinsurance, Ltd., For review of Reciprocal of
America and The Reciprocal Group Deputy Receiver's Determination of Appeal, Case No. INS-2003-00206 (Final Order, October 11, 2006), at 6 and
note 17. We make no such finding here either. It is possible that the trust funds may ultimately become "available assets" for early access or a liquidating
distribution, but that question has not yet been answered.

4 Attachment 4 assumes that the RRG policyholders do not have policyholder status.
% While we understand that the Hearing Examiner will proceed expeditiously in the Joint Petition Proceeding, discovery has yet to be conducted, the

litigation has been stagnant for over three years, and any resulting decision from the Commission could be appealed to the Supreme Court of Virginia, which
would result in further delay in obtaining a final determination as to the Tennessee RRGs' status.
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Third-Party Administrator Expenses

In finding 23, the Hearing Examiner stated "[a] third-party administrator is not a 'similar organization' as provided in § 38.2-1609 B; therefore,
Coastal's third-party administrator expenses should not be afforded the same priority as the liquidator's expenses."

Both the Kentucky Hospitals and Coastal object to this finding. Coastal asserts that more than 40% of the policyholders in this case have no
guaranty association coverage. As such, the policyholders have been forced to handle claims themselves "either by using their own staff personnel or by
employing third party administrators."®* Coastal contends that its unallocated costs and expenses are “substantially identical” to those incurred by the
guaranty associations and should be entitled to the same administrative priority. Coastal claims that ruling that certain guaranty association costs (ULAE)
constitute administrative expenses while denying the same treatment for policyholders is inconsistent with the obvious intent of the General Assembly and
constitutes an unlawful preference.®

The Kentucky Hospitals agree with Coastal that finding 23 is erroneous and also assert that the Hearing Examiner made his finding without
sufficient evidentiary background and without an appreciation of the critical effect such a ruling would have on other ROA proceedings.

We have noted with concern the impact that this receivership has had on policyholders, especially those who have been without the benefit of
guaranty association coverage.>* We also have reviewed the case attached to the Kentucky Hospitals' Comments, wherein a Kentucky court found that
certain workers' compensation claims were “covered claims" under Kentucky law, thus obligating the Kentucky Insurance Guaranty Association to pay and
administer such claims. Notwithstanding the foregoing, we are bound to apply Virginia law, and we do not believe that § 38.2-1609 B permits the
interpretation urged by Coastal and the Kentucky Hospitals. We also believe that this issue is properly before us and should be decided now.

The applicable sentence of § 38.2-1609 B reads: "The expenses of the Association or a similar organization incurred in handling claims shall be
accorded the same priority as the liquidator's expenses." The word "Association" is defined in § 38.2-1603 as "the Virginia Property and Casualty Insurance
Guaranty Association created under § 38.2-1604." The use of the capitalized "Association" must be viewed as significant, since it is a defined term. The
definition in § 38.2-1603 limits the capitalized version of "Association" to mean VPCIGA. Thus, the words "or a similar organization" must refer to
guaranty associations in other states.

Our support for this conclusion is bolstered by the sentence in § 38.2-1609 B that provides that "[t]he receiver, liquidator, or statutory successor
of an insolvent insurer shall be bound by settlements of covered claims by the Association or a similar organization in another state." "Covered claims" is a
defined term in the various state guaranty association laws. Taking Coastal's and the Kentucky Hospitals' argument to its logical conclusion, the
Commission would also be bound by settlements of covered claims by Coastal or the Kentucky Hospitals or other ROA policyholders. This makes no sense,
however, since determining what is a "covered claim" is the province, at least initially, of the guaranty associations. Finally, we do not believe that it has
been demonstrated that the General Assembly intended to elevate what would otherwise be policyholder-level claims to administrative expenses through the
use of the words "or a similar organization." We conclude that the Hearing Examiner's construction of the phrase "a similar organization" in § 38.2-1609 B
is more consistent with the General Assembly's express priority preferences in § 38.2-1509 B. Accordingly, we adopt finding 23.

Accounting for Interest on Early Access Funds

Section 38.2-1509 B 4 requires a guaranty association to make a full report to the Commission "accounting for all assets disbursed to the
association, all disbursements made from these assets, any interest earned on these assets and any other matter as the Commission may require." The
Kentucky Hospitals, Coastal, VPCIGA and the Guaranty Associations have advanced various interpretations of this provision of the Code.®® We do not
think, on this record, that we need to resolve the conflicting claims to any interest that might be available on an early access distribution, which has not yet
been made. We do find that § 38.2-1509 B 4 requires a guaranty association to account for any interest earned on assets disbursed to it. We think such
requirement is appropriately included in § 7 a. of the early access agreement included in the January 5, 2007 Early Access Submission.*

5! Coastal Comments at 4.

%21d. at 6-7.

%% Kentucky Hospitals' Comments at 6.

% See Application of Reciprocal of America and The Reciprocal Group, For a Determination Whether Certain Workers' Compensation Insurance Policy
Payments May be Made to Claimants Formerly Covered by SITs and GSIAs, Case No. INS-2003-00239, 2005 SCC Ann. Rpt. 69, 74 n. 30 (Final Order,
August 24, 2005).

% We do not decide any related issues that may be pending in other ROA proceedings.

% Coastal Comments at 8, Kentucky Hospitals' Comments at 8, Guaranty Associations' Supplementary Response at 6-8.

5 "The Association shall account to the Deputy Receiver for all ROA distributions to the Association, all payment made by the Association from such
distributions, and interest earned on such distributions.” We also agree that the inclusion of the last sentence in that section is appropriate, which states

"[t]he Association shall also account for interest earned on any distribution from ROA between the time of such distribution and the time it is used by the
Association to pay Covered Claims or expenses incurred in handling Covered Claims."
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"Covered Claims" Issue

VPCIGA and the Guaranty Associations have advanced arguments regarding the "covered claims" issue.®® We have carefully reviewed the
provisions of the early access plan and agreement and believe they are consistent with the Commission's decision in Case No. INS-2005-00160.%° As we
noted there, ". . . in the rare case where it is disputed, this Commission has the authority to determine whether a claim settled by a guaranty association is in
fact ‘covered.™® We based our decision on the use of the defined term “covered claims" employed in § 38.2-1609 B. Just as we have held that the use of
the capitalized "Association" is significant in the context of § 38.2-1609 B, we also found the use of the defined term "covered claim" to be significant in
§ 38.2-1609 B. We decline to revisit or revise our reasoning or conclusion reached in Case No. INS-2005-00160.

Conclusion

We adopt the Hearing Examiner's findings and recommendations except as modified herein. The Deputy Receiver is directed to file an updated
Attachment 4 that excludes the "Former FVR Trust Assets" from the available assets. The Deputy Receiver shall make such updated filing within fourteen
(14) days hereof.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Application of VPCIGA is APPROVED, except as modified herein.

(2) The January 5, 2007 Early Access Submission, including the early access plan, early access agreement and early access distribution
computation is APPROVED, except as modified herein.

(3) The Deputy Receiver shall file an updated early access distribution computation in accordance with Attachment 4 to the Report that excludes
the "Former FVR Trust Assets" from the available assets included therein within fourteen (14) days from the date of this Order.

(4) The Deputy Receiver is authorized to make an early access distribution in accordance with the terms hereof, subject to the appropriate
guaranty association executing an early access agreement as approved herein.

(5) This case is dismissed and the papers herein passed to the file for ended causes.

Commissioner Jagdmann did not participate in this matter.

%8 Guaranty Associations' Supplementary Response at 4-5, 8.

% Petition of Mississippi Insurance Guaranty Association, For review of Reciprocal of America and The Reciprocal Group Deputy Receiver's Determination
of Appeal, Case No. INS-2005-00160 (Final Order, August 21, 2006).

8 d. at 8.

CASE NO. INS-2004-00244
AUGUST 9, 2007

APPLICATION OF
RECIPROCAL OF AMERICA and THE RECIPROCAL GROUP

For Approval of Agreement to Stay Proceedings and Tolling Agreement

ORDER GRANTING APPLICATION

On December 13, 2005, the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission™) entered a Final Order in this matter, in which, inter alia, the
Commission required the Deputy Receiver of Reciprocal of America and The Reciprocal Group (collectively, "ROA") to file with the Commission semi-
annual reports in this case and in Case No. INS-2003-00092.> The reports were to provide: (i) the status of the MDL proceeding in the United States
District Court for the Western District of Tennessee;? (ii) any projection by the Deputy Receiver of ROA as to when the MDL Proceeding shall conclude;
and (iii) the status of the bankruptcy proceeding pending before the Eastern District of Virginia.> The Commission stated that "[o]ur required reporting from
the Deputy Receiver of ROA will enable us to consider twice yearly whether it continues to be in the best interests of policyholders, creditors, and the public
for the litigation to be stayed in the Joint Petition Proceeding."*

Y In re: Joint Petition of Special Deputy Receivers of Doctors Insurance Reciprocal, Risk Retention Group, In Receivership, American National Lawyers
Insurance Reciprocal, Risk Retention Group, In Receivership, and The Reciprocal Alliance, Risk Retention Group, In Receivership, Case No.
INS-2003-00092 (the "Joint Petition Proceeding").

ZInre: Reciprocal of America (ROA) Sales Practices Litigation, Master File No. 04-MD-1551 (W.D. Tenn.) ("MDL Proceeding").

% In re: Petition of Malcolm L. Butterfield and Michael W. Morrison as Joint Provisional Liquidators of First Virginia Reinsurance, Ltd., Case No.
03-40202 (DOT) (E.D. Va. Bankr.).

* Final Order at 8-9, 12.
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On June 26, 2007, the Deputy Receiver filed his Application for Relief from Filing Semi-Annual Reports ("Application™). The Deputy Receiver
submits that the semi-annual reporting is no longer needed for the reasons stated therein and requests that the Commission approve his Application and
dispense with the reporting requirement from the Final Order.

On June 29, 2007, the Commission entered an Order Requesting Responses to Application, in which interested persons were permitted the
opportunity to file a response to the Application on or before July 20, 2007. No responses were filed.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the foregoing, finds that it is appropriate to grant the Application and relax the reporting
requirements imposed in the Final Order in this case.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Deputy Receiver of ROA's Application is GRANTED.

(2) The Deputy Receiver is relieved of the semi-annual reporting requirements imposed in the Final Order.
(3) This matter is dismissed and the papers herein be passed to the file for ended causes.

Commissioner Jagdmann did not participate in this matter

CASE NO. INS-2005-00074
JUNE 29, 2007

PETITION OF
ARDC CORPORATION

For review of HOW Insurance Company, Home Warranty Corporation and Home Owners Warranty Corporation Deputy Receiver's
Determination of Appeal

ORDER

On October 14, 1994, the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia, entered an Order appointing the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") the Receiver of HOW Insurance Company ("HOWIC"), Home Warranty Corporation ("HWC"), and Home Owners Warranty Corporation
("HOW") (collectively, "HOW Companies" or "HOW"). The receivership order granted the Commission the authority to proceed with the rehabilitation or
liquidation of the HOW Companies and established a Receivership Appeal Procedure to govern appeals and challenges to decisions rendered by the
Receiver or the Receiver's duly authorized representatives.

On March 29, 2005, ARDC Corporation, formerly known as Arvida Corporation (“Petitioner" or "ARDC") filed a Petition for Review
("Petition") with the Clerk of the Commission for review of the Deputy Receiver's Determination and Appeal related to the Petitioner's claim for
$11,531,970.62 in liquidated damages relating to "Pre-Hurricane MSD Claims" and "Hurricane-Related MSD Claims" and $37,782.14 in administrative
expenses plus costs and attorneys' fees, with interest thereon from May 7, 1997.

By Order dated April 5, 2005, the Commission docketed the Petition, assigned the matter to a Hearing Examiner, and directed the Deputy
Receiver to file an Answer or other responsive pleading to the Petition on or before May 23, 2005.

On May 23, 2005, the Deputy Receiver filed a Demurrer and Answer to Petition for Review, and a Memorandum in Support of Demurrer and
Answer to Petition for Review. In his Answer, the Deputy Receiver denied any liability or responsibility to the Petitioner, and denied the allegations related
to the administrative claim. In his Memorandum in Support of Demurrer and Answer to Petition for Review, the Deputy Receiver argued that the Hurricane
Claims made by the Petitioner failed to assert a claim on which relief may be granted under the HOW Program.

On June 13, 2005, the Petitioner filed a Memorandum in Response to the Deputy Receiver's Demurrer to Petition for Review. The Petitioner
sought enforcement of the contractual obligations under the Builder Agreements. In addition, the Petitioner argued the Deputy Receiver's demurrer was
improper because it did not address a pleading deficiency, and because it asked the Commission to decide the merits of the case on something extraneous to
its petition.

On June 28, 2005, the Deputy Receiver filed his Reply in Support of Demurrer to Petition for Review. The Deputy Receiver asserted his
demurrer was proper as it demonstrated that the Petitioner failed to assert a claim on which relief may be granted. Additionally, because the HOW
Insurance/Warranty Documents excluded hurricane damage, the Deputy Receiver respectfully requested that the Commission find the Petitioner's claims
were without merit and be dismissed.

By Hearing Examiner's Ruling entered on March 2, 2006, the Deputy Receiver's Demurrer was denied. The Hearing Examiner found that the
Petition for Review of Deputy Receiver's Determination of Appeal stated a cause of action for which relief may be granted. The parties were directed to file
a proposed procedural schedule with the Clerk of the Commission on or before March 17, 2006.

After one extension, the parties filed a Joint Agreed Motion to Adopt Proposed Procedural Schedule on April 7, 2006. By Hearing Examiner's
Ruling entered on April 10, 2006, the procedural schedule proposed by the parties was adopted.

On June 1, 2007, the parties filed a Joint Motion to Dismiss. In that motion, the Petitioner and the Deputy Receiver represented that they had
entered into a Confidential Settlement Agreement resolving all disputes existing between them. As part of the Confidential Settlement Agreement, the
Petitioner agreed to dismiss with prejudice all claims and causes of action asserted in its Petition for Review.
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On June 5, 2007, the Hearing Examiner issued his Report in which he recommended that the Joint Motion to Dismiss should be granted and the
Petition of ARDC Corporation should be dismissed.

Upon consideration of the record herein and the Report of the Hearing Examiner, the Commission is of the opinion, and so finds, that the findings
and recommendations of the Hearing Examiner should be adopted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Joint Motion for Dismissal of the Petition is hereby GRANTED;
(2) The Petition of ARDC Corporation for review of the Deputy Receiver's Determination of Appeal is hereby DISMISSED with prejudice; and

(3) The case is dismissed, and the papers herein are passed to the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2006-00075
DECEMBER 10, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

VESTA FIRE INSURANCE CORPORATION,
Defendant

ORDER SUSPENDING LICENSE

In an order entered herein March 17, 2006, Vesta Fire Insurance Corporation, a Texas corporation (“Defendant™) licensed by the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, was ordered to take notice that the
Commission would enter an order subsequent to March 29, 2006, suspending the license of the Defendant unless on or before March 29, 2006, the
Defendant filed with the Clerk of the Commission a request for a hearing before the Commission to contest the proposed suspension of the Defendant's
license.

The order to take notice was entered due to the Defendant's failure to file its 2004 annual Audited Financial Report, which, pursuant to
§ 38.2-1301 of the Code of Virginia and 14 VAC 5-270-50 of the Virginia Administrative Code, was required to be filed on or before June 30, 2005.

On March 29, 2006, the Defendant filed with the Clerk of the Commission a request for a hearing on the proposed suspension of its license.

On June 28, 2006, the Defendant, as well as Shelby Casualty Insurance Company and The Shelby Insurance Company, and several other
companies that were part of the Vesta Insurance Group and not licensed in Virginia (hereinafter sometimes referred to collectively as the “"companies"), were
placed into rehabilitation by order of the District Court of Travis County, Texas, which also appointed the Commissioner of the Texas Department of
Insurance as Rehabilitator for the companies. The Court also appointed Tom Collins as Master for the delinquency proceeding as to certain receivership
matters. The Commissioner designated Prime Tempus, Inc. as its Special Deputy Receiver in a Notice filed with the Court on July 11, 2006. On July 18,
2006, the Rehabilitator filed an Application for Order of Liquidation, noting that the companies lacked sufficient liquid assets and that further attempts to
rehabilitate the companies would be futile. On July 24, 2006, a hearing was held before the Master, and on August 1, 2006, the Court entered an Order
Appointing Liquidator and Permanent Injunction, which placed the companies into liquidation and appointed the Commissioner as Liquidator of the
companies.

The Special Deputy Receiver, by letter dated October 19, 2007, and filed in the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on December 4, 2007,
withdrew the request for a hearing regarding the proposed suspension of the Defendant's license and voluntarily consented to the suspension of the
Defendant's license to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia.

The Bureau of Insurance, given the foregoing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order suspending the Defendant's license to
transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) Pursuant to § 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia, the license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of
Virginia is hereby SUSPENDED;

(2) The Defendant shall issue no new contracts or policies of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia until further order of the Commission;
(3) The appointments of the Defendant's agents to act on behalf of the Defendant in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby SUSPENDED;

(4) The Defendant's agents shall transact no new insurance business on behalf of the Defendant in the Commonwealth of Virginia until further
order of the Commission;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause an attested copy of this Order to be sent to each of the Defendant's agents appointed to act on behalf of
the Defendant in the Commonwealth of Virginia as notice of the suspension of such agent's appointment; and
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(6) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause notice of the suspension of the Defendant's license to be published in the manner set forth in § 38.2-1043
of the Code of Virginia.

CASE NO. INS-2006-00076
DECEMBER 10, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

SHELBY CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

ORDER SUSPENDING LICENSE

In an order entered herein March 17, 2006, Shelby Casualty Insurance Company, a Texas corporation (“Defendant") licensed by the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, was ordered to take notice that the
Commission would enter an order subsequent to March 29, 2006, suspending the license of the Defendant unless on or before March 29, 2006, the
Defendant filed with the Clerk of the Commission a request for a hearing before the Commission to contest the proposed suspension of the Defendant's
license.

The order to take notice was entered due to the Defendant's failure to file its 2004 annual Audited Financial Report, which, pursuant to
§ 38.2-1301 of the Code of Virginia and 14 VAC 5-270-50 of the Virginia Administrative Code, was required to be filed on or before June 30, 2005.

On March 29, 2006, the Defendant filed with the Clerk of the Commission a request for a hearing on the proposed suspension of its license.

On June 28, 2006, the Defendant, as well as Vesta Fire Insurance Corporation and The Shelby Insurance Company, and several other companies
that were part of the Vesta Insurance Group and not licensed in Virginia (hereinafter sometimes referred to collectively as the “companies™), were placed
into rehabilitation by order of the District Court of Travis County, Texas, which also appointed the Commissioner of the Texas Department of Insurance as
Rehabilitator for the companies. The Court also appointed Tom Collins as Master for the delinquency proceeding as to certain receivership matters. The
Commissioner designated Prime Tempus, Inc. as its Special Deputy Receiver in a Notice filed with the Court on July 11, 2006. On July 18, 2006, the
Rehabilitator filed an Application for Order of Liquidation, noting that the companies lacked sufficient liquid assets and that further attempts to rehabilitate
the companies would be futile. On July 24, 2006, a hearing was held before the Master, and on August 1, 2006, the Court entered an Order Appointing
Liquidator and Permanent Injunction, which placed the companies into liquidation and appointed the Commissioner as Liquidator of the companies.

The Special Deputy Receiver, by letter dated October 19, 2007, and filed in the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on December 4, 2007,
withdrew the request for a hearing regarding the proposed suspension of the Defendant's license and voluntarily consented to the suspension of the
Defendant's license to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia.

The Bureau of Insurance, given the foregoing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order suspending the Defendant's license to
transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) Pursuant to § 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia, the license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of
Virginia is hereby SUSPENDED;

(2) The Defendant shall issue no new contracts or policies of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia until further order of the Commission;
(3) The appointments of the Defendant's agents to act on behalf of Defendant in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby SUSPENDED;

(4) The Defendant's agents shall transact no new insurance business on behalf of the Defendant in the Commonwealth of Virginia until further
order of the Commission;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause an attested copy of this Order to be sent to each of the Defendant's agents appointed to act on behalf of
the Defendant in the Commonwealth of Virginia as notice of the suspension of such agent's appointment; and

(6) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause notice of the suspension of the Defendant's license to be published in the manner set forth in § 38.2-1043
of the Code of Virginia.
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CASE NO. INS-2006-00077
DECEMBER 10, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
THE SHELBY INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

ORDER SUSPENDING LICENSE

In an order entered herein March 17, 2006, The Shelby Insurance Company, a Texas corporation ("Defendant") licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, was ordered to take notice that the Commission would
enter an order subsequent to March 29, 2006, suspending the license of the Defendant unless on or before March 29, 2006, the Defendant filed with the
Clerk of the Commission a request for a hearing before the Commission to contest the proposed suspension of the Defendant's license.

The order to take notice was entered due to the Defendant's failure to file its 2004 annual Audited Financial Report, which, pursuant to
§ 38.2-1301 of the Code of Virginia and 14 VAC 5-270-50 of the Virginia Administrative Code, was required to be filed on or before June 30, 2005.

On March 29, 2006, the Defendant filed with the Clerk of the Commission a request for a hearing on the proposed suspension of its license.

On June 28, 2006, the Defendant, as well as Vesta Fire Insurance Corporation and Shelby Casualty Insurance Company, and several other
companies that were part of the Vesta Insurance Group and not licensed in Virginia (hereinafter sometimes referred to collectively as the "companies"), were
placed into rehabilitation by order of the District Court of Travis County, Texas, which also appointed the Commissioner of the Texas Department of
Insurance as Rehabilitator for the companies. The Court also appointed Tom Collins as Master for the delinquency proceeding as to certain receivership
matters. The Commissioner designated Prime Tempus, Inc. as its Special Deputy Receiver in a Notice filed with the Court on July 11, 2006. On July 18,
2006, the Rehabilitator filed an Application for Order of Liquidation, noting that the companies lacked sufficient liquid assets and that further attempts to
rehabilitate the companies would be futile. On July 24, 2006, a hearing was held before the Master, and on August 1, 2006, the Court entered an Order
Appointing Liquidator and Permanent Injunction, which placed the companies into liquidation and appointed the Commissioner as Liquidator of the
companies.

The Special Deputy Receiver, by letter dated October 19, 2007, and filed in the Office of the Clerk of the Commission on December 4, 2007,
withdrew the request for a hearing regarding the proposed suspension of the Defendant's license and voluntarily consented to the suspension of the
Defendant's license to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia.

The Bureau of Insurance, given the foregoing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order suspending the Defendant's license to
transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) Pursuant to § 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia, the license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of
Virginia is hereby SUSPENDED;

(2) Defendant shall issue no new contracts or policies of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia until further order of the Commission;
(3) The appointments of Defendant's agents to act on behalf of Defendant in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby SUSPENDED;

(4) The Defendant's agents shall transact no new insurance business on behalf of the Defendant in the Commonwealth of Virginia until further
order of the Commission;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause an attested copy of this Order to be sent to each of the Defendant's agents appointed to act on behalf of
the Defendant in the Commonwealth of Virginia as notice of the suspension of such agent's appointment; and

(6) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause notice of the suspension of the Defendant's license to be published in the manner set forth in § 38.2-1043
of the Code of Virginia.
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CASE NO. INS-2006-00078
JANUARY 16, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
FLORIDA SELECT INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

EINAL ORDER

Florida Select Insurance Company, a foreign corporation domiciled in the State of Florida ("Defendant™), initially was licensed by the State
Corporation Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia on October 2, 2001.

In an order entered herein March 17, 2006, the Defendant was ordered to take notice that the Commission would enter an order subsequent to
March 29, 2006, suspending the license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia due to the Defendant's
failure to file its 2004 annual Audited Financial Report, which was due on or before June 30, 2005, unless on or before March 29, 2006, the Defendant filed
with the Clerk of the Commission a request for a hearing before the Commission with respect to the proposed suspension of the Defendant's license.

By letter of Peter E. Broadbent, Jr., attorney for the Defendant, and the Request for Hearing attached thereto, dated March 29, 2006, and filed
with the Clerk of the Commission on March 29, 2006, the Defendant requested a hearing in connection with the proposed suspension of its license.

On June 30, 2006, the Defendant was ordered into receivership for rehabilitation by the Second Judicial Circuit Court of Leon County, Florida,
and the Florida Department of Financial Services was appointed as Receiver for the Defendant.

By letter of Maria Diaz, Asset Recovery Manager for the Receiver, dated October 9, 2006, and filed with the Commission's Bureau of Insurance
on October 13, 2006, the Commission was advised that the Receiver wished to withdraw the Defendant's license to transact the business of insurance in the
Commonwealth of Virginia and requested that the Defendant's statutory deposit be released. In addition, by Affidavits of Wayne Johnson dated October 5,
2006, and Michael Svaldi dated September 27, 2006, both Special Deputy Receivers of the Defendant, attached to Ms. Diaz's letter (and therefore also filed
with the Commission's Bureau of Insurance), the Commission was advised that the Defendant has never transacted the business of insurance in the
Commonwealth of Virginia.

By letter of Mark S. Hamilton, Senior Attorney for the Receiver and attached Notice of Withdrawal of Request for Hearing Regarding Florida
Select Insurance Company, both dated December 20, 2006, and filed with the Clerk of the Commission on December 29, 2006, the Receiver withdrew the
hearing request filed with the Clerk of the Commission on March 29, 2006, and restated its request that the Defendant's statutory deposit be released to the
Receiver.

The withdrawal of the Defendant's license has been processed by the Bureau of Insurance, effective December 21, 2006.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that, given the foregoing, the Order to Take Notice entered by the Commission be vacated and this
case be closed.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein and the recommendation of the Bureau of Insurance, is of the opinion that the Order
to Take Notice entered by the Commission should be vacated and the case dismissed.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Order to Take Notice entered by the Commission should be, and it is hereby, VACATED;
(2) This case is hereby DISMISSED; and

(3) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2006-00127
OCTOBER 3, 2007

PETITION OF
VALLEY STAFFING, INC.

For review of a decision by the National Council on Compensation Insurance Pursuant to § 38.2-2018 of the Code of Virginia
ORDER
On May 12, 2006, Valley Staffing, Inc. ("Valley Staffing" or "Petitioner"), by counsel, filed with the Clerk of the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) a Petition for review of a decision by the National Council on Compensation Insurance (“NCCI") pursuant to § 38.2-2018 of the Code of

Virginia. Section 38.2-2018 allows any person adversely affected by the application of a rate service organization's or insurer's rating system to appeal such
action to the Commission. Valley Staffing is appealing the decision by NCCI to transfer to it the experience modification factor (or “experience
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modification rating") of a defunct entity called Southern Employment.* Given Southern Employment's poor loss experience, NCCI's decision to transfer its
experience modification factor to Valley Staffing would significantly increase the amount of premiums Valley Staffing would pay for its workers'
compensation insurance.

The issue in this case centers on NCCI's Experience Rating Plan Manual for Workers Compensation and Employers Liability Insurance
("Manual") and specifically, how it handles treatment of an entity's experience when an ownership change occurs. Rule 3 E of the Manual states that “the
experience of an entity undergoing a change in ownership will be retained or transferred to the experience ratings of the acquiring, surviving or new entity
unless specifically excluded by the Plan." According to Rule 3 C 1, "a change in ownership includes . . . [flormation of a new entity that acts as, or in effect
is, a successor to another entity . ..." Rule 3 E 2 provides an exception for transferring the experience rating to the acquiring, surviving or new entity in
cases where there has been a "material change" in ownership accompanied by both a change in operations sufficient to result in reclassification of the
governing classification and a change in the process and hazard operations.’

By Order dated May 31, 2006, the Commission docketed the Petition, assigned the matter to a Hearing Examiner for further proceedings, and
established a procedural schedule which called for the filing of a responsive pleading by NCCI on or before June 20, 2006, and the convening of an
evidentiary hearing on July 24, 2006.

On May 31, 2006, NCCI filed a timely answer. Therein, NCCI argued that its decision to transfer Southern Employment's experience
modification rating to Valley Staffing was proper because the facts clearly demonstrated that Valley Staffing was a successor entity to Southern
Employment. NCCI also argued that because both Southern Employment and Valley Staffing were staffing companies, the exception in Rule 3 E 2 was not
met because there had not been a change in the process and hazard of the operations of Valley Staffing when the change in ownership occurred.

By Ruling dated August 24, 2006, a hearing was scheduled for September 19, 2006. On the morning of the hearing, counsel to Valley Staffing
notified the Hearing Examiner that it had discovered a conflict of interest, which resulted in a general continuance in the case. Valley Staffing eventually
obtained new counsel and the hearing was rescheduled for March 28, 2007.

On March 28, 2007, the hearing commenced as scheduled. Ruth E. Nathanson, Esquire, appeared on behalf of the Petitioner. Charles H. Tenser
appeared on behalf of NCCI, and Scott A. White, Esquire, appeared on behalf of the Bureau of Insurance. At the beginning of the hearing, the Petitioner and
NCCI presented a document entitled "Proposed Stipulated Facts," which was marked as Exhibit 1 and entered into the record. The following stipulated facts
were relevant in determining whether a change in ownership occurred:

(1) Southern Employment, owned and operated by Eva T. Miller, was a staffing agency providing temporary and permanent placement for its
employees in various businesses in the Dublin, Virginia, area. It ceased doing business on Friday, September 30, 2005.

(2) Valley Staffing is a staffing agency providing temporary and permanent placement for its employees in various businesses in the Dublin,
Virginia area. Itis a Virginia corporation formed on September 19, 2005. Valley Staffing opened its doors for business on Monday, October 3, 2005, in the
office location vacated by Southern Employment. Valley Staffing uses the same telephone number previously used by Southern Employment.

(3) Vernon Delph owns 100% of Valley Staffing and has owned 100% of the corporation since its inception.

(4) Valley Staffing has no common ownership interest with Southern Employment.

(5) Valley Staffing purchased nothing from Southern Employment.

(6) Valley Staffing assumed no contractual obligations of Southern Employment.

(7) Valley Staffing did not assume the lease for the office space.

(8) \Valley Staffing did not assume any agreements for the telephone service provided to Southern Employment. Southern Employment
received no consideration.

(9) Some (roughly 22.5%) of the Valley Staffing's current employees were previously employed by Southern Employment. All of these
employees were hired by Valley Staffing directly.

(10) Pamela Regina Delph was employed by Southern Employment for about four years. She began work there as a sales person. She served
about eight to nine months as President of Southern Employment, and was removed July 2005, but continued to work for Southern Employment until it
closed for business on September 30, 2005. She was President of Valley Staffing when it opened for business on October 3, 2005. She knew that Southern
Employment would be closing its business on September 30, 2005.°

At the hearing, Valley Staffing offered the testimony of Kimberly Dawn Lane (“"Lane"), who was President of the staffing company. She testified
that the reason Southern Employment closed was because the owner, Eva Miller, and her husband were in declining health. She also testified that Valley

! Experience modification refers to an adjustment of premiums resulting from the use of experience rating, which is a statistical procedure used to calculate a
premium rate based on the loss experience of an insured group. Barron's Dictionary of Insurance Terms 166 (4™ ed. 2000).

2 A material change in ownership occurs if the following conditions are met: (i) the entire ownership interest after the change had no ownership interest
before the change; or (ii) the collective ownership of all those having interest in an entity results in either less than one-third ownership before the change or
one-half ownership after the change. See, Rule 3 E 2.

® The remaining stipulations addressed statements made by NCCI representatives to Valley Staffing's broker that they considered the company to be a
successor entity to Southern Employment, and facts the Petitioner relied upon to support its arguments that even if Valley Staffing was a successor in
interest, it met the Rule 3 E exception due to the differences between the two companies in their operations and hazards.
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Staffing kept the same office space as Southern Employment because there is very little office space in the Dublin area available for rent. She also provided
an explanation for why the company's insurance broker erroneously stated on its application that there had been a transfer or sale between Southern
Employment and Valley Staffing.

Testifying on behalf of NCCI was Maureen Longacre (“Longacre™), who is employed by NCCI as a regulatory services manager. She testified
that NCCI viewed Valley Staffing as a successor entity to Southern Employment and pointed out that Southern Employment closed its doors on Friday,
September 30, 2005, and Valley Staffing opened its business on Monday, October 3, 2005, at the same location with the same telephone number, conducted
the same type of business, supplied the same type of employees to a very limited clientele, and Pamela Regina Delph was the President of both Southern
Employment and Valley Staffing.

Post hearing briefs were filed by both parties on May 2, 2007.

On August 23, 2007, Howard P. Anderson, Jr., Hearing Examiner, issued his Report. He noted that the threshold issue is whether Valley Staffing
is a successor entity to Southern Employment. In his opinion, Valley Staffing is not a successor entity to Southern Employment based on the following
facts: (i) there was no sale of ownership or assets of Southern Employment to Valley Staffing, nor was there a consolidation or merger of the two
companies; (ii) there was no common ownership between the two entities; (iii) Valley Staffing did not assume any contract or buy any client lists;
(iv) Valley Staffing formed entirely different business policies and sought a different client base; and (v) Valley Staffing advertised as a new entity and did
not claim any ties to Southern Employment. The Examiner was not persuaded that Valley Staffing's location at the same office and with the same telephone
number as Southern Employment meant that Valley Staffing was a successor entity to Southern Employment. He noted that Dublin is a small community of
1.4 square miles in Southwest Virginia, and there is little business property available for lease in the area. The Examiner found that because the evidence in
the record was sufficient to support a finding that Valley Staffing was a separate entity and not a successor in interest to Southern Employment, it should not
have Southern Employment's experience modification rating applied to it. He therefore recommended that the Commission enter an Order reversing the
ruling of NCCI.

On September 11, 2007, Valley Staffing filed Comments to the Hearing Examiner's Report, in which it stated that it has no objections to the
Hearing Examiner's recommendations and requests that the Commission adopt them. On September 12, 2007, NCClI filed a letter with the Clerk's Office
stating that it accepts the Report and would not be filing Comments.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the record herein and the applicable law, is of the opinion that the findings and
recommendations of the Examiner should be adopted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

1. The Petition of Valley Staffing, Inc., for review of a decision by the National Council on Compensation Insurance pursuant to § 38.2-2018
of the Code of Virginia be, and the same is hereby, GRANTED;

2. The ruling of the National Council on Compensation Insurance against Valley Staffing, Inc., be, and the same is hereby, REVERSED.

3. The case is dismissed from the Commission's docket of active cases, and the papers herein are passed to the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2006-00181
AUGUST 29, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
METROPOLITAN LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, has violated § 38.2-3115 B of the
Code of Virginia by failing to pay interest on life insurance proceeds.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has paid interest as required by § 38.2-3115 B of the Code of Virginia on any and
all claims under Virginia-issued group policies during the period of January 1, 2001 to February 28, 2006, and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2006-00195
FEBRUARY 27, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
RELIASTAR LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a target market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission (“*Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, has violated
subsection 1 of § 38.2-502 and § 38.2-503 of the Code of Virginia, as well as 14 VAC 5-40-40 A 3, 14 VAC 5-40-40 A 4, 14 VVAC 5-40-40 A 6,
14 VAC 5-40-40 A 7, 14 VAC 5-40-40 C 2, 14 VAC 5-40-40 D 7, 14 VAC 5-40-40 E 2, 14 VAC 5-40-60 A, and 14 VAC 5-80-60.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of eight thousand dollars
($8,000) and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2006-00229
FEBRUARY 22, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

MAMSI LIFE AND HEALTH INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance (“"Bureau"), it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the
State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, has violated
subsection 1 of § 38.2-502, §§ 38.2-503, 38.2-510 A 1, 38.2-510 A 2, 38.2-510 A 4, 38.2-510 A 5, 38.2-510 A 6, 38.2-1318 C, and 38.2-3407.12 G of the
Code of Virginia, as well as 14 VAC 5-90-50 A, 14 VAC 5-90-60 A 1, 14 VAC 5-90-60 B 1, 14 VAC 5-90-90 A, 14 VAC 5-90-100 A,
14 VAC 5-90-100 B, 14 VAC 5-90-130 A, 14 VAC 5-90-170 A, 14 VAC 5-400-40 A, 14 VAC 5-400-50 A, 14 VAC 5-400-60 A, and 14 VAC 5-400-60 B.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of one hundred thirty-
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three thousand dollars ($133,000), waived its right to a hearing, and has entered into a Settlement Agreement with the Bureau which outlines a process that
involves restitution and refunds, and which is attached hereto and made a part of this Order.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein, including the Settlement Agreement, be, and it is hereby, accepted;

(2) The Defendant shall comply with the terms of the Settlement Agreement on or before September 1, 2007, as set forth in the Settlement
Agreement; and

(3) This case is continued pending further order from the Commission.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled "Settlement Agreement" is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's
Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. INS-2006-00248
JANUARY 8, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

AMERICAN BANKERS LIFE ASSURANCE COMPANY OF FLORIDA,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, has violated
§§ 38.2-316 A, 38.2-316 B, 38.2-316 C, 38.2-512 A, subsection 5 of § 38.2-606, subsection 8 of § 38.2-606, 38.2-1318 C, 38.2-1812 A, 38.2-1822 A,
38.2-1833 A 1, 38.2-3115 B, subsection 1 of §38.2-3717, subsection 2 of § 38.2-3717, 38.2-3721 C 2, 38.2-3724 C 1, 38.2-3725 A, 38.2-3728,
38.2-3729 A, 38.2-3729 H 1, 38.2-3729 H 2, 38.2-3729 |, subsection 1 of § 38.2-3732, subsection 2 of § 38.2-3732, 38.2-3734, 38.2-3735 A, 38.2-3735 A 2,
38.2-3735 C 2, 38.2-3737 A, and 38.2-3737 B 3 of the Code of Virginia, as well as 14 VAC 5-40-60 B, 14 VAC 5-90-170 A, 14 VAC 5-400-50 A,
14 VAC 5-400-60 A, and 14 VAC 5-400-70 D.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of ninety-seven thousand
dollars ($97,000), waived its right to a hearing, and agreed to the entry by the Commission of a cease and desist order.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted;

(2) The Defendant cease and desist from any future conduct stemming from the findings of the market conduct report which constitutes a
violation of §§ 38.2-316 A, 38.2-316 B, 38.2-316 C, 38.2-512 A, subsection 5 of § 38.2-606, subsection 8 of § 38.2-606, 38.2-1318 C, 38.2-1812 A,
38.2-1822 A, 38.2-1833 A 1, 38.2-3115 B, subsection 1 of § 38.2-3717, subsection 2 of § 38.2-3717, 38.2-3721 C 2, 38.2-3724 C 1, 38.2-3725 A,
38.2-3728, 38.2-3729 A, 38.2-3729 H 1, 38.2-3729 H 2, 38.2-3729 I, subsection 1 of § 38.2-3732, subsection 2 of § 38.2-3732, 38.2-3734, 38.2-3735 A,
38.2-3735 A 2, 38.2-3735 C 2, 38.2-3737 A, or 38.2-3737 B 3 of the Code of Virginia, or 14 VAC 5-40-60 B, 14 VAC 5-90-170 A, 14 VAC 5-400-50 A,
14 VAC 5-400-60 A or 14 VAC 5-400-70 D; and

(3) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2006-00270
JUNE 22, 2007

APPLICATION OF
RAPPAHANNOCK HOME MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY

For approval to distribute the assets of the company pursuant to § 38.2-216 of the Code of Virginia

ORDER APPROVING APPLICATION

Rappahannock Home Mutual Fire Insurance Company (“Rappahannock™) is a Virginia-domiciled mutual assessment property and casualty
insurer licensed by the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") pursuant to Chapter 25 (8§ 38.2-2500 et seq.) of Title 38.2 of the Code of Virginia.

By order entered herein March 15, 2006, in Case No. INS-2006-00080, Rappahannock's license to transact the business of insurance in the
Commonwealth of Virginia was suspended based on the voluntary consent of Rappahannock's President due to Rappahannock's failure to maintain a
membership of at least 100 persons at all times as required pursuant to § 38.2-2515 of the Code of Virginia.

On May 8, 2006, Rappahannock filed its Articles of Dissolution with the Clerk of the Commission, reflecting that a Plan of Dissolution was
approved by the membership of Rappahannock on April 29, 2006.

The Plan of Dissolution provided that after all liabilities and obligations of Rappahannock were paid, satisfied, and discharged, or adequate
provisions made therefor, the remaining assets of Rappahannock would be distributed pursuant to an established and agreed upon formula to those members
of Rappahannock who owned Rappahannock policies during the years 2004, 2005, and 2006. The Plan of Distribution also provided that all insurance
coverage would end on July 1, 2006, and any claims under such coverage must be submitted to Rappahannock on or before August 15, 2006.

Rappahannock filed with the Commission's Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau) on August 29, 2006, and with the Clerk of the Commission on
October 4, 2006, an application requesting the Commission's approval to distribute immediately $492,327, which represented approximately fifty percent
(50%) of the then current assets of Rappahannock, to its members on a pro-rata basis based on each member's premium payments during the above-stated
years and to wind down operations as a mutual assessment property and casualty insurer. Rappahannock represented in its application that no claims had
been submitted pursuant to the Plan of Dissolution.

The original application provided that approximately six months following the initial distribution Rappahannock would seek the Commission's
approval: (1) to distribute the remaining fifty percent (50%) of Rappahannock's assets, requesting that at such time Rappahannock be allowed to retain a
reasonable reserve of assets with which to defend any claims that may be brought against its directors for a two-year period; and (2) at the end of such
two-year period, to make a final distribution to its members of all remaining funds.

By order entered herein October 4, 2006, the Commission approved Rappahannock's application to distribute immediately $492,327 to its
members according to the plan set forth in the application and required Rappahannock to file an affidavit of compliance with the Bureau upon the
completion thereof. The order prohibited Rappahannock from taking any action with regard to its remaining assets until further order of the Commission.

Rappahannock filed with the Bureau on May 23, 2007, and with the Clerk of the Commission on June 20, 2007, its application to make the
second distribution of Rappahannock's assets (which represents approximately the remaining fifty percent (50%) of Rappahannock's assets) in accordance
with the plan previously approved by the Commission. Rappahannock also requested that it be allowed to retain a reasonable reserve of assets, not to exceed
$100,000, with which to defend any claims that may be brought against its directors during the next two years, and at the end of such two-year period, to
make a final distribution to its members of all remaining funds. As part of its application and pursuant to the October 2006 order, Rappahannock also filed
the affidavit of compliance executed by its President.

The Bureau has reviewed Rappahannock's application and has recommended to the Commission that an order be entered approving the
application.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the application, the recommendation of the Bureau, and the law applicable hereto, is of the opinion that
the application should be approved.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The application of Rappahannock is hereby APPROVED;

(2) Rappahannock immediately shall set aside a reserve of assets, the amount of which shall not exceed $100,000, to be used, if necessary, to
defend any claims that may be brought against its directors for a period of two years from the date hereof;

(3) Rappahannock promptly thereafter shall distribute its remaining assets to its members and shall file an affidavit of compliance with the
Bureau upon the completion thereof;

(4) Rappahannock shall take no further action with regard to its assets other than the actions set forth in ordering paragraphs (2) and (3) until
further order of the Commission;

(5) At the end of the two-year period, Rappahannock shall file with the Commission an application for approval of its plan to distribute any
remaining assets in existence at such time; and

(6) Upon completion of the distribution of all of its assets pursuant to such subsequent order or orders of the Commission, Rappahannock shall
surrender its license to transact the business of insurance as a mutual assessment property and casualty insurer to the Bureau.
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CASE NO. INS-2006-00281
FEBRUARY 7, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
NATIONWIDE LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, has violated 8§ 38.2-316,
38.2-5801 B, 38.2-5802 B, 38.2-5803 A, and 38.2-5804 A of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of forty thousand dollars
($40,000) and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2006-00303
APRIL 5, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
Ex Parte: In the matter of Adopting Revisions to the Rules Governing Long-Term Care Insurance

ORDER ADOPTING REVISIONS TO RULES

By order entered herein December 1, 2006, all interested persons were ordered to take notice that subsequent to February 1, 2007, the
Commission would consider the entry of an order adopting revisions proposed by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™) to the Commission's Rules Governing
Long-Term Care Insurance (“Rules"), set forth in Chapter 200 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code, unless on or before February 1, 2007, any
person objecting to the adoption of the proposed revisions filed a request for hearing with the Clerk of the Commission ("Clerk").

The Order to Take Notice also required all interested persons to file their comments in support of or in opposition to the proposed revisions on or
before February 1, 2007. No comments were filed with the Clerk.

In accordance with the Order to Take Notice, the Bureau held a meeting on January 10, 2007 for all interested parties to address questions about
the Rules to the Bureau. Several interested parties participated in that meeting, and many of the comments received have been incorporated in the
modifications to the proposed Rules.

The proposed revisions and modifications to the Rules are necessary as a result of the passage of the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005 (Pub.L.
109-171), which allows states to implement "Long-term Care Partnerships" in order to make the purchase of long-term care insurance more attractive to
consumers, and the requirements of Code of Virginia § 32.1-325, as amended in 2006, providing for the establishment of a public-private long-term care
partnership program between the Commonwealth of Virginia and private insurance companies. In accordance with these federal and State requirements,
these Rules must also be in conformity to the National Association of Insurance Commissioners model act and model regulation on the same subject. These
Rules are amended to achieve those goals.

The Bureau recommends that the proposed rules be modified at 14 VAC 5-200-30, to change the effective date of the Rules from May 1, 2007 to
September 1, 2007 to allow insurers and agents more time to comply with partnership training requirements. In addition, 14 VAC 5-200-205 is
recommended to be modified to change the reference to the Department of Medical Assistance Services (DMAS) State Plan Amendment to the
corresponding DMAS regulation; clarify language regarding inflation protection requirements; change the requirement to include the term "partnership
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policy" on the face of the policy to a requirement that a prospective applicant for a partnership policy be provided a Partnership Program Notice, and a
purchaser of a partnership policy be provided a Partnership Disclosure Notice to be made a part of the policy; add a requirement for insurers to complete a
Partnership Certification for each policy form requested for qualification as a partnership policy; clarify the requirements for agent training; and eliminate
the requirement that an agent must sign a statement on each partnership application that the agent has received the necessary training. Further, new forms to
coincide with these modifications have been developed. There are a few minor editorial revisions recommended by the Registrar as well.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the proposed amendments and the medications presented and recommended by the Bureau, is of the
opinion that the attached revisions, amendments and modifications to the Rules should be adopted as final.

THEREFORE IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The proposed revisions to the “"Rules Governing Long-Term Care Insurance,” which amend the Rules at 14 VAC 5-200-30 through
14 VAC 5-200-60, 14 VAC 5-200-70 through 14 VAC 5-200-90, 14 VAC 5-200-110, 14 VAC 5-200-120, 14 VAC 5-200-153, 14 VAC 5-200-170,
14 VAC 5-200-175, 14 VAC 5-200-185, 14 VAC 5-200-187, and 14 VAC 5-200-200; repeal 14 VAC 5-200-20; add new proposed Rules at
14 VAC 5-200-181, 14 VAC 5-200-183, 14 VAC 5-200-201 and 14 VAC 5-200-205; amend Forms C and F; add new proposed forms E and G; and add new
forms 200-A, 200-B and 200-C, which are attached hereto and made a part hereof, should be, and they are hereby, ADOPTED to be effective September 1,
2007.

(2) AN ATTESTED COPY hereof shall be sent by the Clerk of the Commission to Jacqueline K. Cunningham, Deputy Commissioner, Bureau
of Insurance, State Corporation Commission who forthwith shall give further notice of the adoption of the revisions to the rules by mailing a copy of this
Order, including a clean copy of the attached final revised rules, to all insurers licensed by the Commission to write accident and sickness insurance in the
Commonwealth of Virginia, including all fraternal benefit societies, health maintenance organizations, and health services plans licensed in Virginia, as well
as all interested parties.

(3) The Commission's Division of Information Resources forthwith shall cause a copy of this Order, including a copy of the attached revised
rules, to be forwarded to the Virginia Registrar of Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations and shall make this Order
and the attached revisions to the Rules available on the Commission's website, http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.

(4) The Bureau of Insurance shall file with the Clerk of the Commission an affidavit of compliance with the notice requirements in paragraph (2)
of this Order.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled "Chapter 200. Rules Governing Long-Term Care Insurance" is on file and may be examined at the
State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond,
Virginia.

CASE NO. INS-2006-00308
JANUARY 8, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

CENTRAL STATES HEALTH & LIFE COMPANY OF OMAHA,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a target market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, has violated
subsection 1 of § 38.2-502, §§ 38.2-503, 38.2-1812 A, 38.2-1822 A, 38.2-1833 A 1, 38.2-1834 D, 38.2-3115 B, 38.2-3728 B, 38.2-3729 C, 38.2-3729 H 1,
38.2-3729 H 2, 38.2-3731 A, 38.2-3732, 38.2-3734, 38.2-3735 A, 38.2-3735 A 2, 38.2-3735 C 2, and 38.2-3737 B 1 of the Code of Virginia, as well as
14 VAC 5-40-40 A 5, 14 VAC 5-40-40 D 2, 14 VAC 5-40-40 E 2, 14 VAC 5-40-40 F 1, 14 VAC 5-40-60 B, 14 VAC 5-90-130 A, 14 VAC 5-90-160,
14 VAC 5-90-170 A, 14 VAC 5-400-30, 14 VAC 5-400-60 A, and 14 VAC 5-400-60 B.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of twenty thousand
dollars ($20,000) and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2006-00310
FEBRUARY 15, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
JEFFREY SCOTT PHILLIPS,
Defendant

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

On February 8, 2007, the Bureau of Insurance, by counsel, filed a Motion for Permanent Injunction with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") asking that the Defendant be permanently enjoined from transacting the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia based on
the Defendant's alleged violations of §§ 38.2-1812, 38.2-1813, and 38.2-1822 of the Code of Virginia.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the Defendant TAKE NOTICE that the Commission shall enter a Judgment Order permanently
enjoining the Defendant from transacting the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia unless on or before March 1, 2007, the Defendant files
with the Clerk of the Commission, Document Control Center, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218, a responsive pleading and a request for hearing.

CASE NO. INS-2006-00310
MARCH 8, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
JEFFREY SCOTT PHILLIPS,
Defendant

JUDGMENT ORDER

By Order entered herein on February 15, 2007, the Defendant was ordered to take notice that the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™)
would enter a Judgment Order permanently enjoining the Defendant from transacting the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia unless on
or before March 1, 2007, the Defendant filed with the Clerk of the Commission a responsive pleading and a request for a hearing.

The Order to Take Notice was entered in response to a Motion for Permanent Injunction filed by the Bureau of Insurance on February 8, 2007,
wherein the Bureau of Insurance alleged that the Defendant violated 88§ 38.2-1812, 38.2-1813, and 38.2-1822 of the Code of Virginia.

As of the date of this Order, the Defendant has neither filed a responsive pleading to object to the entry of a Judgment Order nor requested a
hearing.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Defendant Jeffrey Scott Phillips be, and he is hereby, permanently enjoined from transacting the business of insurance in the
Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2006-00323
JANUARY 8, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY OF HARTFORD, CONNECTICUT,
CHARTER OAK FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,
PHOENIX INSURANCE COMPANY,
STANDARD FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,
TRAVELER INDEMNITY COMPANY,
TRAVELERS INDEMNITY COMPANY OF AMERICA,
TRAVELERS PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,
TRAVELERS PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA,
and
TRAVCO INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendants, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-2220 of the Code of Virginia by using
forms which did not contain the precise language of the standard forms filed and adopted by the Commission.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendants' licenses upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendants have committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendants have been advised of their right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendants, without admitting any violation of
Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendants have tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of five
thousand dollars ($5,000) per company for an amount totaling forty-five thousand dollars ($45,000), waived their right to a hearing, and agreed to comply
with the Corrective Action Plan set forth in their letter to the Bureau dated October 3, 2006.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendants pursuant to the authority
granted the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendants, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendants' offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendants in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2006-00340
JANUARY 22, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
FARMERS INSURANCE GROUP,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission (*Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated 88§ 38.2-2114 and 38.2-2212 of the Code of
Virginia by failing to send proper notice of cancellation to the named insured.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has waived its right to a hearing and agreed to comply with the Corrective Action
Plan set forth in its letter to the Bureau dated June 12, 2006.
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The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2006-00344
JANUARY 22, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.

LIBERTY INSURANCE CORPORATION,

LIBERTY MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,
and

THE FIRST LIBERTY INSURANCE CORPORATION,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendants, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-2220 of the Code of Virginia by using
forms which did not contain the precise language of the standard forms filed and adopted by the Commission.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendants' licenses upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendants have committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendants have been advised of their right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendants, without admitting any violation of
Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendants have tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of five
thousand dollars ($5,000) per company for an amount totaling fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000), waived their right to a hearing, and agreed to comply with
the Corrective Action Plan set forth in their letter to the Bureau dated September 15, 2006.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendants, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendants' offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendants in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00060
FEBRUARY 6, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
OPTIMA HEALTH GROUP, INC.,
Defendant

CONSENT ORDER

By letter filed with the Bureau of Insurance of the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™), Optima Health Group, Inc. ("Defendant”), a
health maintenance organization domiciled in the Commonwealth of Virginia and licensed by the Commission to transact the business of a health
maintenance organization in the Commonwealth of Virginia, consented to the issuance of an order in which the Defendant agrees, effective as of the date
hereof, and continuing until further order of the Commission, not to issue any new business in the Commonwealth of Virginia;
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THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant shall not issue any new business in the Commonwealth of Virginia until further order of the Commission; and

(2) The Defendant shall continue to maintain all the financial requirements of a licensed health maintenance organization and to make all
required reporting filings with the Commission's Bureau of Insurance until further order of the Commission.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00061
FEBRUARY 27, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
CONSECO SENIOR HEALTH INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, has violated
8§ 38.2-510 A 2, 38.2-510 A 5, 38.2-510 A 14, 38.2-3407.1 B, 38.2-3407.4 A, and 38.2-5202.1 A of the Code of Virginia, as well as 14 VAC 5-200-65 A 3,
14 VAC 5-400-30, 14 VAC 5-400-40 A, 14 VAC 5-400-50 A, 14 VAC 5-400-60 A, 14 VAC 5-400-60 B, and 14 VAC 5-400-70 B.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of fourteen thousand
dollars ($14,000) and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00064
JANUARY 23, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

MATTHEW CLARK CASSELMAN,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the State of California.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated December 19, 2006, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.
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The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the State of California.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00065
MARCH 28, 2007

APPLICATION OF

RECIPROCAL OF AMERICA
and

THE RECIPROCAL GROUP

For Approval to Increase Payment Percentage from 17% to 25%
EINAL ORDER

On January 11, 2007, the Deputy Receiver of Reciprocal of America and The Reciprocal Group (collectively, "ROA"), filed with the State
Corporation Commission (“Commission™) the Deputy Receiver's Application to Increase the Payment Percentage from 17% to 25% (“Application").
Therein, the Deputy Receiver provides a summary of the procedural history of certain aspects of the receivership and seeks a Commission Order that:
(i) authorizes payment by the Deputy Receiver of certain approved claims at the increased payment percentage of 25%; (ii) authorizes the payment of an
additional 8% to all claimants who have received a 17% distribution on their claims; (iii) authorizes the continued payment of administrative expenses and
secured creditor claims of ROA at 100%; and (iv) approves modification or cancellation of the Eighth Directive® so as to allow the Deputy Receiver to
proceed with an increased partial payment of approved claims.

In support of the Application, the Deputy Receiver asserts, inter alia, that his advisors have determined that based upon the information in the
2005 ROA Annual Statement, the Deputy Receiver may pay 25% of the approved claims without an unreasonable risk of preference among similarly
situated creditors.> The Deputy Receiver provided a summary of developments in the ROA receivership that permits the increase proposed by the Deputy
Receiver. The Deputy Receiver asserts that ROA has a total of $214,283,000 in assets available to pay losses and a total of $757,805,000 in losses to pay
with the available assets.®

On January 23, 2007, the Commission entered an Order Establishing a Proceeding, in which the Commission docketed this case, referred it to a
Hearing Examiner, and directed the Deputy Receiver to serve a copy of the Application on a number of other potentially interested persons.

! The Deputy Receiver issued his Eighth Directive Regarding Claim Payments ("Eighth Directive) on December 14, 2005. Therein, he directed ROA to
make certain payments to policyholder-level claimants in amounts that do not exceed 17% of the amount approved upon the underlying claims and which do
not, in the aggregate exceed $77,511,000. The Eighth Directive further provided that "[t]he percentage and aggregate amount of [the approved] payment
may be increased when, and to the extent that, additional payments are authorized in further orders of the Commission." The Eighth Directive was issued
following the Commission's Final Order in Case No. INS-2004-00244, Application of Reciprocal of America and The Reciprocal Group, For Approval of
Agreement to Stay Proceedings and Tolling Agreement, entered on December 13, 2005, which, among other things, permitted a 17% policyholder-level
distribution, capped at $77,511,000, by the Deputy Receiver.

2 Application at 7 and Exhibit 1.

% 1d. at 8 and Exhibit 2.
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Coastal Region Board of Directors, the Virginia Property and Casualty Insurance Guaranty Association, the Other Guaranty Associations,* the
Special Deputy Receivers for Doctors Insurance Reciprocal, Risk Retention Group (*RRG"), American National Lawyers Insurance Reciprocal, RRG, and
The Reciprocal Alliance, RRG, and the Kentucky Hospitals® filed notices of participation.

A pre-hearing conference was held on this matter on March 6, 2007, at which the foregoing parties participated. On March 8, 2007, the Hearing
Examiner entered a ruling in which he directed that any party that wished to oppose the Application file an objection no later than March 20, 2007. No party
filed an objection.

On March 21, 2007, the Hearing Examiner filed his report ("Report"). In his Report, the Hearing Examiner recommended that the Commission:
(i) adopt the findings in the Report; (ii) approve the payment by the Deputy Receiver of approved claims at the increased payment percentage of 25%;
(iii) approve the payment to all claimants who have received a 17% distribution on their claim(s), of an additional 8% distribution or credit to account for the
difference in payment percentage distributions; (iv) approve the continued payment of all administrative expenses and secured creditor claims of ROA at
100%,; and (v) apﬁprove modification or cancellation of the Eighth Directive to allow the Deputy Receiver to proceed with the increased partial payment of
approved claims.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the Application, the Report, and the entire record in this matter, finds that the Application
should be approved and the increased payment percentage of 25% should be authorized.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Application of the Deputy Receiver is APPROVED.
(2) The payment by the Deputy Receiver of approved claims at the increased payment percentage of 25% is APPROVED.

(3) The payment to all claimants who have received a 17% distribution on their claims of an additional 8% distribution or credit to account for
the difference in payment percentage distributions is APPROVED.

(4) The Deputy Receiver is permitted to continue payment of all administrative expenses and secured creditor claims of ROA at 100%.

(5) The Deputy Receiver is authorized to modify or cancel the Eighth Directive to allow the Deputy Receiver to proceed with the increased
partial payment of approved claims.

(6) This matter is closed and the papers herein be passed to the file for ended causes.

Commissioner Jagdmann did not participate in this matter.

* The "Other Guaranty Associations” include the Alabama Insurance Guaranty Association, the District of Columbia Insurance Guaranty Association, the
Georgia Insurers Insolvency Pool, the Indiana Insurance Guaranty Association, the Kansas Insurance Guaranty Association, the Louisiana Insurance
Guaranty Association, the Maryland Property & Casualty Insurance Guaranty Corporation, the Mississippi Insurance Guaranty Association, the Missouri
Property & Casualty Insurance Guaranty Association, and the North Carolina Insurance Guaranty Association.

® The "Kentucky Hospitals" include Appalachian Regional Healthcare, Hardin Memorial Hospital, Highlands Regional Medical Center, Murray-Calloway
County Hospital, Owenshoro Mercy Health System, Regional Medical Center/Trover Clinic Foundation, Rockcastle Hospital and Respiratory Care Center,
St. Claire Regional Medical Center, and T.J. Samson Community Hospital.

® Report at 2-3.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00071
MARCH 8, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
UNION SECURITY LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, has violated
§§ 38.2-316 A, 38.2-316 B, 38.2-316 C, 38.2-510 A 2, 38.2-510 A 5, 38.2-510 A 10, 38.2-510 A 14, 38.2-511, subsection 8 of § 38.2-606, 38.2-1318 C,
38.2-3115 B, subsection 1 of § 38.2-3717, subsection 2 of § 38.2-3717, 38.2-3724 C 1, 38.2-3725 A, 38.2-3728, 38.2-3729 H 2, 38.2-3729 |, 38.2-3731 A,
subsection 1 of §38.2-3732, subsection 2 of § 38.2-3732, 38.2-3737 A, and 38.2-3737 B 1 of the Code of Virginia, as well as 14 VAC 5-400-30,
14 VAC 5-400-40 A, 14 VAC 5-400-50 A, 14 VAC 5-400-60 A, 14 VAC 5-400-60 B, 14 VAC 5-400-70 A, 14 VAC 5-400-70 B, and 14 VAC 5-400-70 D.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.
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The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of twenty-seven thousand
dollars ($27,000) and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00076
FEBRUARY 1, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

GRAPHIC ARTS BENEFIT CORPORATION,
Defendant

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

Section 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") provides that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) may suspend or revoke the
license of any insurance company to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia whenever the Commission finds that the company
is insolvent or is in a condition that any further transaction of business in this Commonwealth is hazardous to its policyholders, creditors, and the public in
this Commonwealth.

Pursuant to § 38.2-4214 of the Code, health services plans are subject to the provisions of § 38.2-1040 of the Code.

Graphic Arts Benefits Corporation, a foreign corporation domiciled in the State of Maryland ("Defendant"), initially was licensed by the
Commission to transact the business of a health services plan in the Commonwealth of Virginia on October 4, 1994.

Section 38.2-4208 D of the Code provides, inter alia, that the minimum level for the contingency reserves of a health services plan shall not
exceed forty-five (45) days of the anticipated operating expenses and incurred claims expense.

The Quarterly Statement of the Defendant dated September 30, 2006, and filed with the Commission's Bureau of Insurance, indicates that the
Defendant's capital and surplus are $2,087,600, which amount is $114,243 less than the Defendant's required contingency reserve of $2,201,843.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that, based on the foregoing, the license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in the
Commonwealth of Virginia be suspended.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED that the Defendant TAKE NOTICE that the Commission shall enter an order subsequent to February 9,
2007, suspending the license of the Defendant to transact the business of a health services plan in the Commonwealth of Virginia unless on or before
February 9, 2007, the Defendant files with the Clerk of the Commission, Document Control Center, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218, a request for
a hearing before the Commission with respect to the proposed suspension of the Defendant's license.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00076
FEBRUARY 15, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

GRAPHIC ARTS BENEFIT CORPORATION,
Defendant

ORDER SUSPENDING LICENSE

In an order entered herein February 1, 2007, the Defendant was ordered to take notice that the State Corporation Commission (“*Commission™)
would enter an order subsequent to February 9, 2007, suspending the license of the Defendant to transact the business of a health services plan in the
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Commonwealth of Virginia unless on or before February 9, 2007, the Defendant filed with the Clerk of the Commission a request for a hearing before the
Commission to contest the proposed suspension of the Defendant's license.

As of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not filed a request to be heard before the Commission with respect to the proposed suspension of
the Defendant's license.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Pursuant to 88 38.2-1040 and 38.2-4214 of the Code of Virginia, the license of the Defendant to transact the business of a health services
plan in the Commonwealth of Virginia is hereby SUSPENDED;

(2) The Defendant shall issue no new contracts or policies of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia until further order of the Commission;
(3) The appointments of the Defendant's agents to act on behalf of the Defendant in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby SUSPENDED;

(4) The Defendant's agents shall transact no new insurance business on behalf of the Defendant in the Commonwealth of Virginia until further
order of the Commission;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause an attested copy of this Order to be sent to each of the Defendant's agents appointed to act on behalf of
the Defendant in the Commonwealth of Virginia as notice of the suspension of such agent's appointment; and

(6) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause notice of the suspension of the Defendant's license to be published in the manner set forth in § 38.2-1043
of the Code of Virginia.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00077
FEBRUARY 6, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
CINDY CORNWALL,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of Florida.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated January 9, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of Florida.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;



102
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00078
APRIL 4, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

CONNECTICUT GENERAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, has violated
§§ 38.2-316 A, 38.2-316 C, 38.2-510 A 2, 38.2-510 A 5, 38.2-510 A 6, 38.2-510 A 10, 38.2-510 A 15, 38.2-3407.1 B, 38.2-3407.3 A, 38.2-3407 3 B,
38.2-3407.4 A, 38.2-3407.15 B 1, 38.2-3407.15 B 2, 38.2-3407.15 B 3, 38.2-3407.15 B 4, 38.2-3407.15 B 5, 38.2-3407.15 B 6, 38.2-3407.15B 7,
38.2-3407.15 B 8, 38.2-3407.15 B 9, 38.2-3407.15 B 10, 38.2-3412.1 C 3, 38.2-3412.1:01 C, 38.2-5802 C, and 38.2-5804 A of the Code of Virginia, as well
as 14 VAC 5-400-30, 14 VAC 5-400-50 A, 14 VAC 5-400-60 A, 14 VAC 5-400-60 B, 14 VAC 5-400-70 A, 14 VAC 5-400-70 B, and 14 VAC 5-400-70 D.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of fifty-eight thousand
dollars ($58,000), waived its right to a hearing, and agreed to the entry by the Commission of a cease and desist order.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted;

(2) The Defendant cease and desist from any conduct which constitutes a violation of §§ 38.2-316 A, 38.2-316 C, 38.2-510 A 2, 38.2-510 A 5,
38.2-510 A 6, 38.2-510 A 10, 38.2-510 A 15, 38.2-3407.1 B, 38.2-3407.3 A, 38.2-3407.3 B, 38.2-3407.4 A, 38.2-3407.15 B 1, 38.2-3407.15B 2,
38.2-3407.15 B 3, 38.2-3407.15 B 4, 38.2-3407.15 B 5, 38.2-3407.15 B 6, 38.2-3407.15 B 7, 38.2-3407.15 B 8, 38.2-3407.15 B 9, 38.2-3407.15 B 10,
38.2-3412.1 C 3, 38.2-3412.1:01 C, 38.2-5802 C, or 38.2-5804 A of the Code of Virginia, or 14 VAC 5-400-30, 14 VAC 5-400-50 A, 14 VAC 5-400-60 A,
14 VAC 5-400-60 B, 14 VAC 5-400-70 A, 14 VAC 5-400-70 B or 14 VAC 5-400-70 D; and

(3) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00080
APRIL 3, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
CLARENDON NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in a certain instance, has violated § 38.2-5801 of the
Code of Virginia by operating an MCHIP in the Commonwealth of Virginia without the proper authorization from the Commission to do so.
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The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of ten thousand dollars
($10,000) and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00081
MARCH 8, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
SHENANDOAH LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, has violated § 38.2-610 of the
Code of Virginia by failing to give to applicants for insurance written notice of an adverse underwriting decision in the form approved by the Commission.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of five thousand dollars
($5,000) and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00086
FEBRUARY 15, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
NICOLE MARIE PETKOVIC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of New York.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated January 22, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of New York.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00107
MARCH 5, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

FELIX C. WALKER, llII,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 A of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which he is appointed a change in his residence address.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.
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The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated January 19, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to report
within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which he is appointed a change in his residence address.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00111
MARCH 9, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

JAMARR A. SMITH,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the State of Hawaii.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated February 7, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the State of Hawaii.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;

(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;
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(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00123
APRIL 25, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
MEDICAL SAVINGS INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

CONSENT CEASE AND DESIST ORDER

By letter dated April 20, 2007, filed with the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), Medical Savings Insurance Company ("Defendant"), a life and
health insurance company domiciled in the State of Indiana and licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of
insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in accordance with the terms of such letter, Defendant agrees to immediately cease and desist from enrolling or
issuing new certificates issued in the Commonwealth of Virginia from a group policy or policies issued to FreedomWorks, Inc. Defendant also agrees to
return any applications received to the agent/producer who submitted the application with notice that coverage cannot be issued, pending resolution of the
FreedomWorks, Inc. Multiple Employer Welfare Arrangement filing. Defendant also agrees to send notice to the applicant, or provide instructions to the
agent/producer to send to the applicant. Defendant acknowledges that this action is necessary and appropriate to resolve the matter of Defendant having
issued certificates from the FreedomWorks, Inc. group policy or policies, subsequent to the issuance of a Judgment Order against FreedomWorks, Inc.,
permanently enjoining it from enrolling any new members in its health care plan, or renewing any such business.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant
has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, and has waived such right.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the cease and desist consent letter from the Defendant pursuant to the
authority granted to the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the consent letter from the Defendant, and the recommendation from the Bureau of
Insurance, if of the opinion that the Defendant's consent letter should be accepted.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The consent letter dated April 20, 2007 from the Defendant, which is attached and made a part of this Order, is hereby accepted;

(2) Defendant shall immediately cease and desist from enrolling or issuing new certificates in the Commonwealth of Virginia issued from a
group policy or policies issued to FreedomWorks, Inc.;

(3) Defendant agrees to return any applications received to the agent/producer who submitted the application with notice that coverage cannot be
issued pending resolution of the FreedomWorks, Inc. Multiple Employer Welfare Arrangement filing, with a copy also sent to the applicant or instructions to
the agent/producer to send to the applicant; and

(4) This case shall remain open for further action, or other orders as the Commission may deem necessary.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00123
JUNE 8, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
MEDICAL SAVINGS INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

TERMINATION OF CEASE AND DESIST ORDER

By Order issued by the State Corporation Commission (the "Commission™) on April 25, 2007, Medical Savings Insurance Company (the
"Defendant"), a life and health insurance company domiciled in the State of Indiana and licensed by the Commission to transact the business of insurance in
the Commonwealth of Virginia, consented and was directed to immediately cease and desist from enrolling or issuing new certificates issued in the
Commonwealth of Virginia from a group policy or policies issued to FreedomWorks, Inc. The Defendant also was ordered to return any applications
received to the agent/producer who submitted the application with notice that coverage could not be issued, pending resolution of the FreedomWorks, Inc.
Multiple Employer Welfare Arrangement ("“MEWA") registration. The Defendant also agreed to send notice to the applicant, or provide instructions to the
agent/producer to send to the applicant.

Beginning May 18, 2007, FreedomWorks, Inc. was registered by the Commission as a fully-insured MEWA. The Bureau of Insurance (the
"Bureau") therefore is not aware of a reason why the Cease and Desist Order, issued on April 25, 2007, should not be terminated to allow the Defendant to
enroll or issue new certificates in the Commonwealth of Virginia from a group policy or policies issued to FreedomWorks, Inc.

The Bureau recommends to the Commission that the Cease and Desist Order be terminated.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein and the recommendation from the Bureau of Insurance, is of the opinion that the
Consent Cease and Desist Order issued on April 25, 2007, against the Defendant should be terminated.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Consent Cease and Desist Order issued on April 25, 2007, against the Defendant should be TERMINATED; and

(2) Beginning May 18, 2007, the Defendant may enroll or issue new certificates in the Commonwealth of Virginia from a group policy or
policies issued to FreedomWorks, Inc., subject to all the statutory and regulatory provisions applying to such transactions; and

(3) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00123
OCTOBER 5, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
MEDICAL SAVINGS INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct examination conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, has violated
subsection 1 of §38.2-502 and §§ 38.2-503, 38.2-510 A 1, 38.2-510 A 6, 38.2-510 A 8, and 38.2-3407.1 B of the Code of Virginia, as well as
14 VAC 5-90-50 B, 14 VAC 5-90-60 A 1, 14 VAC 5-90-60 A 2, 14 VAC 5-90-60 B 1, 14 VAC 5-90-60 C 3, 14 VAC 5-90-90 A, 14 VAC 5-90-90 B,
14 VAC 5-90-100 A, 14 VAC 5-90-130 A, 14 VAC 5-90-170 A, 14 VAC 5-400-40 A, 14 VAC 5-400-40 E, 14 VAC 5-400-50 A, 14 VAC 5-400-60 A, and
14 VAC 5-400-70 D.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission in an effort to resolve this matter without adjudication by the Commission of the alleged violations in the
market conduct examination report. The Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of eleven thousand dollars ($11,000) and waived
its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.
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THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00124
APRIL 10, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY
and

STATE FARM FIRE AND CASUALTY COMPANY,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendants, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated 88 38.2-1904 D and 38.2-1905 A of the Code
of Virginia by using information pertaining to motor vehicle accidents to produce increased rates above the companies' filed manual rates for individual risks
for a period longer than thirty-six (36) months, and by increasing premiums as the result of motor vehicle accidents that were not caused either wholly or
partially by a named insured, a resident of the same household, or other customary operator.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendants' licenses upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendants have committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendants have been advised of their right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendants, without admitting any violation of
Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendants have tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of three
thousand dollars ($3,000) per company for an amount totaling six thousand dollars ($6,000) and waived their right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendants pursuant to the authority
granted the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendants, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendants' offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendants in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00129
APRIL 12, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

DOWNTOWN TITLE AND ESCROW COMPANY, INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (8§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.
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The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated November 2, 2006, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00134
APRIL 27, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
KIEU MY WONG,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the State of South Dakota.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated March 19, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the State of South Dakota.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;
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(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00135
MAY 16, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

CHERYL DENISE WILLIAMS,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of Georgia.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letters dated March 19, 2007 and
April 20, 2007, and mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of Georgia.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED,;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00138
APRIL 20, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of adopting revisions to the Rules Governing Independent External Review of Final Adverse Utilization Review
Decisions

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

Section 12.1-13 of the Code of Virginia provides that the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) shall have the power to promulgate
rules and regulations in the enforcement and administration of all laws within its jurisdiction, § 38.2-223 of the Code of Virginia provides that the
Commission may issue any rules and regulations necessary or appropriate for the administration and enforcement of Title 38.2 of the Code of Virginia, and
§ 38.2-5905 of the Code of Virginia provides for the Commission to promulgate regulations to include provisions for expedited consideration of appeals.

The rules and regulations issued by the Commission pursuant to § 38.2-223 of the Code of Virginia are set forth in Title 14 of the Virginia
Administrative Code.

The Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau") has submitted to the Commission proposed revisions to Chapter 215 of Title 14 of the Virginia
Administrative Code entitled “Rules Governing Independent External Review of Final Adverse Utilization Review Decisions," which amend the Rules at
14 VAC 5-215-20, 14 VAC 5-215-30, 14 VAC 5-215-50, 14 VAC 5-215-60, and 14 VAC 5-215-80.

The proposed revisions to the Rules are necessary as a result of the passage of an amendment to Code of Virginia 88 38.2-5902 and 38.2-5905
relating to expedited appeals of final adverse decisions regarding health care coverage. The revisions include provisions for expedited consideration of
appeals involving a terminal condition. The provisions include a requirement that the Commissioner or his designee shall issue his written ruling affirming,
modifying, or reversing the final adverse decision no later than one business day following the receipt of such recommendation.

The Commission is of the opinion that the proposed revisions to Ch. 215 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code should be considered for
adoption.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The proposed revisions to the "Rules Governing Independent External Review of Final Adverse Utilization Review Decisions," which
amend the Rules at 14 VAC 5-215-20, 14 VAC 5-215-30, 14 VAC 5-215-50, 14 VAC 5-215-60, and 14 VAC 5-215-80 be attached hereto and made a part
hereof.

(2) All interested persons who desire to comment in support of or in opposition to, or request a hearing to oppose the adoption of the proposed
revisions shall file such comments or hearing request on or before May 25, 2007, in writing with the Clerk of the Commission, Document Control Center,
P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218 and shall refer to Case No. INS-2007-00138.

(3) If no written request for a hearing on the proposed revisions is filed on or before May 25, 2007, the Commission, upon consideration of any
comments submitted in support of or in opposition to the proposed revisions, may adopt the revisions proposed by the Bureau of Insurance.

(4) AN ATTESTED COPY hereof, together with a copy of the proposed revisions, shall be sent by the Clerk of the Commission to the Bureau
of Insurance in care of Deputy Commissioner Jacqueline K. Cunningham, who forthwith shall give further notice of the proposed adoption of the revisions
by mailing a copy of this Order, together with the proposed revisions, to all health carriers with managed care health insurance plan (MCHIP) authority and
licensed by the Commission to write accident and sickness insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, including health maintenance organizations and
health services plans, as well as all interested parties.

(5) The Commission's Division of Information Resources forthwith shall cause a copy of this Order, together with the proposed revisions, to be
forwarded to the Virginia Registrar of Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations.

(6) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall make available this Order and the attached proposed rules on the Commission's
website, http://www.state.va.us/scc/caseinfo.htm.

(7) The Bureau of Insurance shall file with the Clerk of the Commission an affidavit of compliance with the notice requirements of paragraph (4)
above.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled "Rules Governing Independent External Review of Final Adverse Utilization Review Decisions" is on
file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East
Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00138
JUNE 11, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of Adopting Revisions to the Rules Governing Independent External Review of Final Adverse Utilization Review
Decisions

ORDER ADOPTING REVISIONS TO RULES

By Order entered herein by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) on April 20, 2007, all interested persons were ordered to take
notice that subsequent to May 25, 2007, the Commission would consider the entry of an Order adopting revisions proposed by the Bureau of Insurance (the
"Bureau") to the Commission's Rules Governing Independent External Review of Final Adverse Utilization Review Decisions, which are set forth in
Chapter 215 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code, unless on or before May 25, 2007, any person objecting to the adoption of the proposed
revisions filed a request for hearing with the Clerk of the Commission (the "Clerk™).

The Order to Take Notice also required all interested persons to file their comments in support of or in opposition to the proposed revisions on or
before May 25, 2007.

There were no comments and no requests for hearing filed with the Clerk on or before May 25, 2007.

The revisions to the Rules are necessary as a result of the passage of an amendment to Code of Virginia §§ 38.2-5902 and 38.2-5905 relating to
expedited appeals of final adverse decisions regarding health care coverage. The revisions include provisions for expedited consideration of appeals
involving a terminal condition. The provisions include a requirement that the Commissioner of Insurance or his designee shall issue his written ruling
affirming, modifying, or reversing the final adverse decision no later than one business day following the receipt of such recommendation.

The Bureau recommends that no changes be made to the recommended proposed revisions, and further recommends that the Commission adopt
the proposed revisions.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the proposed revisions and the Bureau's recommendation, is of the opinion that the attached revisions
to the Rules should be adopted.

THEREFORE IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The revisions to the "Rules Governing Independent External Review of Final Adverse Utilization Review Decisions," which amend the Rules
at 14 VAC 5-215-20, 14 VAC 5-215-30, 14 VAC 5-215-50, 14 VAC 5-215-60, and 14 VAC 5-215-80 and which are attached hereto and made a part hereof,
should be, and they are hereby, ADOPTED to be effective July 1, 2007.

(2) AN ATTESTED COPY hereof, together with a copy of the revisions, shall be sent by the Clerk of the Commission to the Bureau of
Insurance in care of Deputy Commissioner Jacqueline K. Cunningham, who forthwith shall give further notice of the adoption of the revisions by mailing a
copy of this Order, together with clean copy of the Rules, to all health carriers with managed care health insurance plan (MCHIP) authority and who are
licensed by the Commission to write accident and sickness insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, including health maintenance organizations and
health services plans, as well as all interested parties.

(3) The Commission's Division of Information Resources forthwith shall cause a copy of this Order, together with the revisions to the Rules, to
be forwarded to the Virginia Registrar of Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations.

(4) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall make available this Order and the attached Rules on the Commission's website,
http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall file with the Clerk of the Commission an affidavit of compliance with the notice requirements in Ordering
Paragraph (2) of this Order.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled "Rules Governing Independent External Review of Final Adverse Utilization Review Decisions" is on
file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East
Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00139
MAY 16, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
CARMEN CHYRISSE WHITTENBERG-FARRAR,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission (*Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated subsection 1 of § 38.2-1831 of the Code of
Virginia by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in her license application filed with the Commission.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated April 19, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated subsection 1 of § 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia by
providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in her license application filed with the Commission.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00140
APRIL 27, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

GUARANTY LAND TITLE, INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1813 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to pay funds in the ordinary course of business to the insured or his assignee, insurer, insurance premium finance company or agent entitled to the payment,
and by failing to hold all premiums, return premiums, or other funds received by the Defendant in a fiduciary capacity.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.
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The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated April 3, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1813 of the Code of Virginia by failing to pay funds in
the ordinary course of business to the insured or his assignee, insurer, insurance premium finance company or agent entitled to the payment, and by failing to
hold all premiums, return premiums, or other funds received by the Defendant in a fiduciary capacity.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00141
AUGUST 9, 2007

PETITION OF

ANTHEM HEALTH PLANS OF VIRGINIA, INC.
HEALTHKEEPERS, INC.

PRIORITY HEALTH CARE, INC.

PENINSULA HEALTH CARE, INC.
WELLPOINT, INC.

ANTHEM SOUTHEAST, INC,,

For Amendment of Final Order in Case No. INS-2002-00131
FINAL ORDER

On April 20, 2007, Anthem Health Plans of Virginia, Inc., HealthKeepers, Inc., Priority Health Care, Inc., Peninsula Health Care, Inc., WellPoint,
Inc., and Anthem Southeast, Inc. (collectively the "Petitioners" or "Anthem"), filed a Petition under Rule 5 VAC 5-20-80 of the State Corporation
Commission's ("Commission™) Rules of Practice and Procedure. The Petitioners request that the Commission relax certain conditions imposed when the
Commission approved the acquisition and control of the insurers and health maintenance organization subsidiaries of Trigon Healthcare, Inc. by Anthem,
Inc. in Case No. INS-2002-00131 ("Final Order").* In the Final Order, the Commission required that Anthem cause the following services to be provided
from offices located in Virginia unless the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau") gives its prior written approval that these services may be provided outside the
Commonwealth: claims processing and case management, customer service, actuarial, underwriting, marketing, quality management, community relations,
distribution management, sales, provider services, medical management, and network development.?

The Petitioners assert that the health care industry has changed dramatically since the Final Order was entered nearly five years ago. They also
contend that the highly localized model of four years ago cannot be expected to remain stagnant in the changing industry. The Petitioners also note that five
new Blue Cross and Blue Shield licensed companies have joined the WellPoint, Inc. holding company system,® and there is a strong desire to achieve further
cost reductions and efficiencies. The Petitioners argue that maintaining duplication simply to satisfy the desire for local function is a cost the health care
system cannot afford.* Finally, the Petitioners contend that no other insurance company or health maintenance organization is similarly restricted as to how

! See Application of Anthem, Inc. and Trigon Healthcare, Inc., Case No. INS-2002-00131, 2002 SCC Ann. Rept. 118 (Final Order, July 19, 2002).

21d. at 119.

% On April 2, 2004, the Commission approved Anthem, Inc.'s and WellPoint Health Networks, Inc.'s Application for Approval of Acquisition of Control of
or Merger with a Domestic Insurer or Health Maintenance Organization on Form A. See, Application of Anthem, Inc. and WellPoint Health Networks Inc.,
For Approval of acquisition of control of or merger with a domestic insurer or health maintenance organization, Case No. INS-2003-00263, 2004 SCC Ann.
Rept. 72 (Final Order, April 2, 2004).

4 Petition at 4.
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to conduct their operations, and they believe that it is not in the customers' or the public's interest to continue the restrictions created by the condition in the
Final Order. Accordingly, the Petitioners request an Order directing that the Final Order be amended as set forth in the Petition.

On April 26, 2007, the Commission entered a Scheduling Order, wherein it docketed this matter, directed the Petitioners to publish notice of the
Petition in newspapers around the Commonwealth, provided for public comments in response to the Petition, and directed the Bureau to file a response to the
Petition on or before June 15, 2007.

Hundreds of comments were filed in response to the Petition, the vast majority of which opposed the relief requested by Anthem. These
comments were submitted both before and after the June 8, 2007 deadline set forth in the aforementioned Scheduling Order.

On May 22, 2007, the Medical Society of Virginia ("MSV"), which represents approximately 8700 physicians across the Commonwealth, filed its
Objection to Petition and a Notice of Participation ("MSV Objections"). Therein, the MSV objects to the Petition, and it claims that Anthem has prospered
since the Final Order was entered in 2002. The MSV asserts that Anthem has sought and received approval for "exception transactions" from the Bureau on
four separate occasions since 2002 and has received approval of each of its requests. The MSV also contends that there is no compelling argument in the
Petition to warrant amendment of the Final Order. The MSV notes that Anthem is the provider of the majority of health insurance coverage in Virginia, and
removal of the conditions would allow Anthem to have monopoly-like powers.> The MSV also argues that granting the Petition will lead to “confusion,
frustration, poor customer service and a decrease in the effectiveness of the delivery of health care in Virginia."® The MSV concludes by requesting that the
Commission deny the Petition.

On June 6, 2007, the Virginia Dental Association (“*VDA") filed the objections of the VDA, which were contained in a letter from Terry
Dickinson, D.D.S, the Executive Director of the VDA. The VDA, on behalf of its 3200 members, objects to the Petition and indicates that the VDA wishes
to preserve the protections included in the Final Order, so as "not to jeopardize the delivery of quality dental services to our patients and the citizens of this
state." The VDA joins in the concerns expressed by the MSV and requests that the Commission deny the Petition. The VDA and the MSV also requested a
public hearing on the Petition.

On June 8, 2007, the Division of Consumer Counsel, Office of the Attorney General ("Consumer Counsel"), filed comments (“Consumer Counsel
Comments"). Consumer Counsel asserts that ample authority existed for the Commission to impose the conditions in the Final Order, and that evidence
from that proceeding should be reviewed in determining whether to relax the conditions now. Consumer Counsel contends that Anthem previously
expressed its commitment to and support for "running the business very much on a local basis."” Consumer Counsel also argues that "[a] change in
company philosophy alone does not justify the removal of the condition that was put in place to protect the interests of Virginia consumers."® Consumer
Counsel also contends that Anthem must prove that consolidating services outside of Virginia is in the best interests of the policyholders, enrollees, and the
public, including health care providers located in Virginia. Consumer Counsel asserts that Anthem has failed to provide sufficient evidence to support its
Petition. Consumer Counsel concludes by stating that, absent compelling evidence, the Commission should deny the Petition, or, in the alternative, maintain
the condition as it relates to customer service and provider services.®

On June 14, 2007, the Bureau filed its response to the Petition (“Bureau Response™). Therein, the Bureau does not oppose the relief sought by
Anthem. The Bureau contends that the four exception transactions that it has approved did not raise any issues with respect to Title 38.2 of the Code of
Virginia and it appeared that the impact on policyholders, enrollees and the public would be minimal or temporary. The Bureau requests that if the
Commission denies the Petition in whole or in part, the Commission should amend the Final Order to remove the provisions authorizing the Bureau to grant
exceptions to its terms. The Bureau asserts that it has no effective system for ascertaining the full impact of more significant transactions on policyholders,
enrollees and the public, and that removal of the condition will require the Petitioners to seek modification directly from the Commission.*°

On June 21, 2007, the Commission entered an Order Scheduling Hearing, in which it scheduled a hearing on July 10, 2007. On that date, the
Commission convened a hearing to take public witness and other testimony on the Petition. Anthem, the MSV and the VDA, Consumer Counsel, and the
Bureau all appeared at the hearing represented by counsel. Seventeen public witnesses testified at the hearing: The Honorable John O'Bannon, I1l, M.D.;
The Honorable David A. Nutter; Anne Adams, D.D.S.; Craig Hensle, M.D.; Bill Lueck, M.D.; Charles Thomas; Tom Miller; Yevonne Childress; Bert
Wilson; John E. Brush, M.D.; Patricia Reams, M.D.; Jeremiah O'Shea; Kimberly Anderson, M.D.; James Krag, M.D.; Robert S. Call, M.D.; The Honorable
Shannon R. Valentine; and Mark Bergman, presenting remarks on behalf of the Honorable Ward L. Armstrong. All of the public witnesses opposed
Anthem's Petition.

The following witnesses testified for Anthem: Angela Braly, President and CEO of WellPoint; Thomas Byrd, President and General Manager of
Virginia local group business; and Colin Scott Drozdowski, Vice President Health Services.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record, including the comments, exhibits and documents filed herein, the testimony of the
witnesses, and the argument of counsel, finds that Anthem's Petition should be granted in part and denied in part. We find that, pursuant to § 38.2-1327 of
the Code of Virginia, Anthem's continued provision of certain services from offices located in the Commonwealth of Virginia is "necessary to protect the
interests of the policyholders of the insurer and the public." We conclude that Anthem may provide the following services from offices located outside of
the Commonwealth of Virginia: actuarial, underwriting, marketing, community relations, distribution management, and sales. We conclude that Anthem
should be required to continue to provide the following services from offices located in the Commonwealth of Virginia: claims processing and case

® MSV Obijections at 4.

®1d. at 5.

" Consumer Counsel Comments at 3.
®1d. at 4.

°1d. at 6.

0 Bureau Response at 2.
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management, customer service, quality management, provider services, medical management, and network development.** Accordingly, the Petition is
denied as to such services.

The foregoing denial is without prejudice. The Commission recognizes the changing nature of the health-care industry, particularly in regards to
the use of technology to allow for consolidation of services, and the cost savings that can result from consolidation. Anthem is free in the future to file
another petition with the Commission to remove these conditions if Anthem believes circumstances support such a petition. At that time, however, Anthem
should submit with its petition a specific and detailed proposal for providing these services out of state, including specific and detailed information on how
and where Anthem will provide these services, as well as safeguards for ensuring adequate levels of service.

The services that we are not allowing to be provided from outside the Commonwealth are those that involve daily and direct communication
between Anthem and its enrolled customers or health-care providers in Virginia. Anthem has not met its burden of proof of persuading us that its plans -
whatever they may be'? - for providing such critically important services from outside the Commonwealth will not degrade the quality of communications
and service to Virginians.

We are not ruling in this Order that these important services can never be provided from an out-of-state location under any circumstances.
Indeed, we recognize that consolidation of services in the health-care industry can make health care delivery more efficient and cost-effective and that
Anthem potentially could provide services from locations out-of-state that would be geographically closer to many Virginia providers and patients than its
current service centers in Virginia. This issue is not about geography alone; it is about credible safeguards to ensure that the quality of communication and
service to Virginians is not degraded. We cannot evaluate such safeguards without knowing exactly what Anthem's specific plans are to move such
important services outside the Commonwealth.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) Anthem's Petition is GRANTED IN PART, AND DENIED IN PART.

(2) Anthem shall provide the following services from offices located in the Commonwealth of Virginia: claims processing and case
management, customer service, quality management, provider services, medical management, and network development.

(3) Anthem may provide the following services from offices located outside of the Commonwealth of Virginia: actuarial, underwriting,
marketing, community relations, distribution management, and sales.

(4) The other provisions of the Final Order in Case No. INS-2002-00131 are not affected hereby and remain in full force and effect, except that if
Anthem seeks to provide any of the services in Ordering Paragraph (2) from offices located outside of the Commonwealth of Virginia, it shall seek
permission from the Commission by filing a petition with the Commission setting forth a specific and detailed proposal for providing such services out of
state, including specific and detailed information on how and where Anthem will provide such services, as well as safeguards for ensuring adequate levels of
service.

(5) This matter is dismissed and the papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

™ The evidence at the hearing demonstrated that certain services involve daily and direct communication and interaction with providers and customers. We
are requiring that the six services ranked as having the most provider and customer interactions continue to be provided from offices located in the
Commonwealth of Virginia. See, Transcript (“Tr.") at 332-341.

2 We note that, in this case, Anthem stated it had no plans at this time to move any of the twelve listed services in their entirety outside of the
Commonwealth of Virginia. Tr. at 160-161, 181-183, 212-213, 231-232 (testimony of Angela Braly). However, we also note that Anthem witness Thomas
Byrd indicated that Anthem did contemplate moving certain services outside of the Commonwealth of Virginia if the Petition was granted. See, Tr.
at 258-263, 287-292 and Exhibit 5. By denying in part the Petition, we are requiring that Anthem provide advance notice to, and obtain permission from, the
Commission, when it actually does plan to relocate any of the six services that are not permitted to be moved outside of the Commonwealth of Virginia at
this time.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00143

MAY 18, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
FREEDOMWORKS, INC., f/k/a CITIZENS FOR A SOUND ECONOMY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

By Judgment Order entered by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission”) on April 14, 2006, in Case No. INS-2005-00216,
FreedomWorks, Inc., (formerly Citizens for a Sound Economy), a multiple employer welfare arrangement ("MEWA"), which had not made the filings
required of a fully insured MEWA to operate in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Defendant™), was permanently enjoined from enrolling any new Virginia
members in its health plan, from writing any renewal business, and from otherwise operating as a MEWA in the Commonwealth of Virginia, and was
ordered to immediately wind down its operations in Virginia and to cease and desist from violations of 14 VAC 5-410.
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The Judgment Order was entered as a result of the Defendant's failure to file with the Commission its 2005 annual proof of coverage and notice
of changes in information pursuant to 14 VAC 5-410-40 D, its failure to respond to attempts by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau") to contact the Defendant,
and its failure to respond to the Order to Take Notice entered by the Commission on March 17, 2006.

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau, it is alleged that the Defendant, in certain instances, failed to obey the terms of the Judgment
Order hy continuing to enroll new Virginia members in its health plan, write renewal business, and otherwise operate as a MEWA in the Commonwealth of
Virginia. In the course of the Bureau's investigation, however, it was determined that the Defendant's failure to obey the terms of the Judgment Order was
unintentional. In addition, the Defendant notified the Bureau that it wished to comply with the filing requirements for a fully insured MEWA to operate in
the Commonwealth of Virginia, as set forth in 14 VAC 5-410-40 B. The Defendant has made such filing, and the Bureau is in the process of reviewing the
filed information.

The Commission is authorized by § 12.1-33 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties for the failure or refusal of an
individual or a business entity to obey an order of the Commission.

The Commission is authorized by § 38.2-219 of the Code of Virginia to issue cease and desist orders upon a finding by the Commission, after
notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of ten thousand dollars
($10,000), waived its right to a hearing, and agreed to the entry by the Commission of a cease and desist order.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia, and, in addition, the Bureau has recommended that the permanent injunction contained in ordering
paragraph (1) of the Judgment Order be vacated.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau, is
of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted and that the permanent injunction contained in ordering paragraph (1) of the Judgment Order
should be vacated.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted,;

(2) The permanent injunction against the Defendant, as set forth in ordering paragraph (1) of the Judgment Order is hereby vacated,;

(3) The Defendant cease and desist from any conduct which constitutes the operation of a MEWA in the Commonwealth of Virginia until such
time as the Bureau accepts its filing as a fully insured MEWA or it otherwise becomes licensed as an insurance company, a health maintenance organization,
a health services plan, or a dental or optometric services plan in the Commonwealth of Virginia;

(4) The Defendant cease and desist from any conduct which constitutes a violation of 14 VAC 5-410 of the Virginia Administrative Code; and

(5) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00145
MAY 15, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

JOSEPH W. SCHUTT,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the State of Mississippi.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letters dated March 5, 2007 and
March 27, 2007, and mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance and the Ohio Department of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.
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The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the State of Mississippi.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00148
MAY 15, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

DANIELLE TAMARRA JOHNSON,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of New York.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated April 6, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of New York.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;
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(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00152
MAY 15, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

SCOTT WILLIAM LONG,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the State of Pennsylvania.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letters dated April 13, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the State of Pennsylvania.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00153
MAY 15, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
CANDY SHAVAUN FISHER,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 A of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which she is appointed any change in her residence or name.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letters dated March 2, 2007 and
April 10, 2007, and mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION s of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to report
within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which she is appointed any change in her residence or name.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00154
MAY 15, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

INTERNATIONAL WATER SAFETY FOUNDATION
and

NORTH AMERICAN MARINE & GENERAL INSURANCE CO., LTD,
Defendants

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that Defendant, International Water Safety Foundation, violated
§ 38.2-1802 of the Code of Virginia by selling, soliciting or negotiating a contract of insurance in Virginia on behalf of an insurance company that was not
licensed by the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) or approved as a surplus lines carrier. It is further alleged that the Defendant, North
American Marine & General Insurance Co., Ltd violated § 38.2-1040 by issuing or delivering an insurance contract to a Virginia resident without first
obtaining a license from the Commission.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the Defendants TAKE NOTICE that the Commission shall, pursuant to § 38.2-220, enter an order
subsequent to June 15, 2007, permanently enjoining the Defendants from transacting the business of insurance in the Commonwealth unless on or before
June 15, 2007, Defendants file with the Clerk of the Commission, Document Control Center, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218, a request for a
hearing before the Commission with respect to the entry of a permanent injunction.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00155
MAY 14, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

GLOBAL BONDING INCORPORATED, GLOBAL RISK MANAGEMENT, MILLENNIUM BONDING
and

ROBERT JOE HANSON
Defendants

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that Global Bonding Incorporated, Global Risk Management,
Millennium Bonding, and Robert Joe Hanson (“"Defendants") violated § 38.2-1040 by soliciting applications to Virginia consumers without having first
obtained a license from the State Corporation Commission (“Commission").

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the Defendants TAKE NOTICE that the Commission shall, pursuant to § 38.2-220, enter an order
subsequent to June 15, 2007, permanently enjoining Defendants from transacting the business of insurance in the Commonwealth unless on or before
June 15, 2007, Defendants file with the Clerk of the Commission, Document Control Center, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218, a request for a
hearing before the Commission with respect to the entry of a permanent injunction.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00155
JULY 20, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.

GLOBAL BONDING INCORPORATED, GLOBAL RISK MANAGEMENT, MILLENNIUM BONDING,
and

ROBERT JOE HANSON,
Defendants

JUDGMENT ORDER

In an Order entered herein May 14, 2007, the Defendants were ordered to take notice that the State Corporation Commission ("Commission")
would enter a Judgment Order subsequent to June 15, 2007, permanently enjoining the Defendants from transacting the business of insurance in the
Commonwealth of Virginia, unless on or before June 15, 2007, the Defendants filed with the Clerk of the Commission a request for hearing before the
Commission with the respect to the entry of a permanent injunction.

As of the date of this Order, the Defendants have neither filed a responsive pleading to object to the entry of a Judgment Order, nor have the
Defendants requested a hearing.

THEREFORE IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Defendants be, and they are hereby, PERMANENTLY ENJOINED from transacting the business of insurance in the Commonwealth
of Virginia; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00157
MAY 15, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
JKV REAL ESTATE SERVICES, INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et al.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated February 20, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00160
JUNE 7, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

GROUP HOSPITALIZATION AND MEDICAL SERVICES, INC,,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a target market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission (*Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, has violated
subsection 1 of §38.2-502 and 8§ 38.2-316 C 1, 38.2-503, 38.2-510 A 5, 38.2-511, 38.2-610 A, 38.2-1318 C, 38.2-3407.1 B, 38.2-5804 A, and
38.2-5804 A 2 of the Code of Virginia, as well as 14 VAC 5-90-160 and 14 VAC 5-90-170 A.
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The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of fifteen thousand dollars
($15,000) and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00161
JUNE 7, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
UNITED SERVICES AUTOMOBILE ASSOCIATION,
USAA GENERAL INDEMNITY COMPANY,
and
USAA CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendants, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated 8§ 38.2-2212 E 4, 38.2-2212 E 5,
38.2-2114 C 3, and 38.2-2114 C 4 of the Code of Virginia by failing to inform an insured of his right to request that the Commissioner of Insurance review
the action of the insurer when terminating automobile policies for nonpayment of premium, by failing to inform an insured of the possible availability of
other insurance through his agent, another insurer, or the Virginia Automobile Insurance Plan when terminating automobile policies for nonpayment of
premium, by failing to inform an insured of his right to request that the Commissioner of Insurance review the action of the insurer when terminating
homeowner policies for nonpayment of premium, and by failing to inform an insured of his possible eligibility for fire insurance coverage through the
Virginia Property Insurance Association when terminating homeowner policies for nonpayment of premium.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendants' licenses upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendants have committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendants have been advised of their right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendants, without admitting any violation of
Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendants have tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of two
thousand dollars ($2,000) per company for an amount totaling six thousand dollars ($6,000) and waived their right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendants pursuant to the authority
granted the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendants, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendants' offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendants in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00164
JUNE 7, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
AMEX ASSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated 8§ 38.2-305, 38.2-510 A 1,
38.2-512 A, 38.2-604, 38.2-610, 38.2-1905, 38.2-1906 D, 38.2-2202, 38.2-2212, 38.2-2220, 38.2-2230, and 38.2-2234 of the Code of Virginia, as well as
14 VAC 5-400-40 A, 14 VAC 5-400-70 A, and 14 VAC 5-400-70 D.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of twenty-six thousand
four hundred dollars ($26,400), waived its right to a hearing, and agreed to comply with the Corrective Action Plan set forth in its letters to the Bureau dated
January 30, 2007, February 14, 2007, and April 3, 2007.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00167
JULY 3, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
KAISER PERMANENTE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an inquiry performed by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in a certain instance, has violated 14 VAC 5-234-40 C by failing to
file timely with the Commission the Defendant's Primary Small Employer New Business Report.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of five thousand dollars
($5,000) and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00169
MAY 31, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
VICTOR A. LINDSEY,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days administrative actions that were taken against him by the states of lowa, Wisconsin, South Dakota, and
Nebraska.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letters dated May 2, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days administrative actions that were taken against him by the states of lowa, Wisconsin, South Dakota, and Nebraska.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.



126
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

CASE NO. INS-2007-00170
MAY 31, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
CERTIFIED TITLE & ESCROW, INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated 88 6.1-2.21 and 6.1-2.26 of the Code of
Virginia by failing to comply with all applicable requirements of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia regarding licensing, financial responsibility, errors and
omissions or malpractice insurance policies, audits, escrow account analyses and record retention, and by acting as a settlement agent without being properly
registered with the Virginia State Bar.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violations of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated February 8, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00173
JUNE 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

SCHALISA M. TATE,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of New York.
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The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 4, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of New York.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00177
JUNE 11, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
SHARON ANN MASTBROOK,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in a
certain instance, violated § 38.2-4807 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to file timely with the Commission a 2006 Annual Gross Premiums Tax Report.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, 38.2-1831, and 38.2-1857.7 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary
penalties, issue cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's licenses upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be
heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 8, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-4807 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to file timely a
2006 Annual Gross Premiums Tax Report.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth
of Virginia are hereby REVOKED;
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(2) All appointments issued under said insurance agent license are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent or as a surplus lines broker;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent or as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth of
Virginia prior to one (1) year from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00178
JUNE 11, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

MARK J. ELLIOTT,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in a
certain instance, violated § 38.2-4807 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to file timely with the Commission a 2006 Annual Gross Premiums Tax Report.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, 38.2-1831, and 38.2-1857.7 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary
penalties, issue cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's licenses upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be
heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 8, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-4807 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to file timely a
2006 Annual Gross Premiums Tax Report.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth
of Virginia are hereby REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said insurance agent license are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent or as a surplus lines broker;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent or as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth of
Virginia prior to one (1) year from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00179
JUNE 11, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
KATHRYN LEIGH ALGEE,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in a
certain instance, violated § 38.2-4807 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to file timely with the Commission a 2006 Annual Gross Premiums Tax Report.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, 38.2-1831, and 38.2-1857.7 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary
penalties, issue cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's licenses upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be
heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 8, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-4807 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to file timely a
2006 Annual Gross Premiums Tax Report.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth of
Virginia are hereby REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said insurance agent license are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent or as a surplus lines broker;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent or as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth of
Virginia prior to one (1) year from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00180
JUNE 11, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

THOMAS G. TODD,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in a
certain instance, violated § 38.2-4807 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to file timely with the Commission a 2006 Annual Gross Premiums Tax Report.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, 38.2-1831, and 38.2-1857.7 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary
penalties, issue cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's licenses upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be
heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.
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The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 8, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-4807 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to file timely a
2006 Annual Gross Premiums Tax Report.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth
of Virginia are hereby REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said insurance agent license are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent or as a surplus lines broker;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent or as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth of
Virginia prior to one (1) year from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00181
JUNE 11, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

ANTHONY SCOTT CONVERY,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in a
certain instance, violated § 38.2-4807 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to file timely with the Commission a 2006 Annual Gross Premiums Tax Report.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, 38.2-1831, and 38.2-1857.7 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary
penalties, issue cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's licenses upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be
heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 8, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-4807 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to file timely a
2006 Annual Gross Premiums Tax Report.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth
of Virginia are hereby REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said insurance agent license are hereby VOID;

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent or as a surplus lines broker;
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(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent or as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth of
Virginia prior to one (1) year from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00182
JUNE 11, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

CHIA-LU JEFF PAN,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in a
certain instance, violated § 38.2-4807 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to file timely with the Commission a 2006 Annual Gross Premiums Tax Report.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, 38.2-1831, and 38.2-1857.7 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary
penalties, issue cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's licenses upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be
heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 8, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-4807 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to file timely a
2006 Annual Gross Premiums Tax Report.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth
of Virginia are hereby REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said insurance agent license are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent or as a surplus lines broker;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent or as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth of
Virginia prior to one (1) year from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00183
JUNE 11, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
M & O AGENCIES INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in a
certain instance, violated § 38.2-4807 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to file timely with the Commission a 2006 Annual Gross Premiums Tax Report.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, 38.2-1831, and 38.2-1857.7 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary
penalties, issue cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's licenses upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be
heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 8, 2007, and mailed to
the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-4807 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to file timely a
2006 Annual Gross Premiums Tax Report.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth
of Virginia are hereby REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said insurance agent license are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent or as a surplus lines broker;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent or as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth of
Virginia prior to one (1) year from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00183
JUNE 20, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

M & O AGENCIES INC.,
Defendant

VACATING ORDER

GOOD CAUSE having been shown, the Order Revoking License entered herein June 11, 2007, is hereby vacated.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00183
JULY 12, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
M & O AGENCIES INC.,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent and as a surplus lines broker in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in
certain instances, violated §§ 38.2-4807 A and 38.2-4809 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to file timely with the Commission a 2006 Annual Gross
Premiums Tax Report, and by failing to pay the annual assessments, penalties and taxes for its Virginia surplus lines business.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, 38.2-1831, and 38.2-1857.7 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary
penalties, issue cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be
heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of five thousand five
hundred eighty dollars ($5,580), waived its right to a hearing, and agreed to the entry by the Commission of a cease and desist order.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted;

(2) The Defendant cease and desist from any conduct which constitutes a violation of § 38.2-4807 A or § 38.2-4809 A of the Code of Virginia;
and

(3) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00184
JUNE 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
TYCHAR DEVONNAE SMITH,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1813 of the Code
of Virginia by failing to pay funds in the ordinary course of business to the insured or his assignee, insurer, insurance premium finance company or agent
entitled to the payment.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated December 11, 2006, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not otherwise
communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.
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THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1813 of the Code of Virginia by failing to pay funds in
the ordinary course of business to the insured or his assignee, insurer, insurance premium finance company or agent entitled to the payment.
IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to five (5) years
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00187
JUNE 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
ARRAY TITLE & ESCROW, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission (“Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated February 28, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;
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(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00191
JULY 3, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

CAREFIRST BLUECHOICE, INC.,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of a health maintenance organization in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain
instances, has violated §§ 38.2-316 A, 38.2-316 B, 38.2-316 C, subsection 1 of § 38.2-502, 38.2-503, 38.2-510 A 5, 38.2-510 A 15, 38.2-511, 38.2-1318 C,
38.2-1812 A, 38.2-1833 A 1, 38.2-1834 D, 38.2-3407.12, 38.2-3407.15 B 1, 38.2-3407.15 B 2, 38.2-3407.15 B 3, 38.2-3407.15 B 4, 38.2-3407.15 B 5,
38.2-3407.15 B 6, 38.2-3407.15 B 7, 38.2-3407.15 B 8, 38.2-3407.15 B 9, 38.2-3407.15 B 10, 38.2-3418.1:1 A, 38.2-3431 C 3, 38.2-3431 C 6,
38.2-4306 A 2, 38.2-4306.1, 38.2-4312 A, 38.2-5805 C 8, and 38.2-5805 C 9 of the Code of Virginia, as well as 14 VAC 5-90-50 A, 14 VAC 5-90-55 B,
14 VAC 5-90-160, 14 VAC 5-90-170 A, and 14 VAC 5-211-60 A.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-4316 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of one hundred twenty
dollars ($120,000) and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00197
JUNE 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

FREDERICKSBURG TITLE & ESCROW, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.23 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to maintain funds received in connection with an escrow, settlement or closing in a fiduciary capacity.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violations of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.
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The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated April 5, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.23 of the Code of Virginia by failing to maintain funds
received in connection with an escrow, settlement or closing in a fiduciary capacity.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00198
JUNE 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
CLEARTRACT, INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letters dated March 2, 2007 and
April 5, 2007, and mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;
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(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00199
JUNE 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

QUALITY SETTLEMENTS, INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated 8§ 6.1-2.24 and 38.2-1809 of the Code of
Virginia by failing to maintain sufficient records of its affairs and by failing to make records available promptly upon request for examination by the
Commission or its employees.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violations of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated April 5, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated §§ 6.1-2.24 and 38.2-1809 of the Code of Virginia by failing to
maintain sufficient records of its affairs and by failing to make records available promptly upon request for examination by the Commission or its
employees.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00200
JULY 30, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
THOMAS J. CAVALARI,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission (*Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated subsection 1 of § 38.2-1831 of the Code of
Virginia by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in his license application filed with the Commission.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated July 5, 2007, and mailed to
the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated subsection 1 of § 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia by
providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in his license application filed with the Commission.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00202
JUNE 20, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION COMPANY OF AMERICA, LC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (8§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.
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The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated March 14, 2007 and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00204
AUGUST 28, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

NELLIE WILLIAMS,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C and subsection 1 of
§ 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia, by failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the state
of Georgia, and by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in her license application filed with the Commission.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated July 13, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C and subsection 1 of § 38.2-1831 of the Code of
Virginia, by failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the state of Georgia, and by
providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in her license application filed with the Commission.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00204
SEPTEMBER 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

NELLIE WILLIAMS,
Defendant

VACATING ORDER

GOOD CAUSE having been shown, the Order Revoking License entered herein August 28, 2007, is hereby vacated.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00207
AUGUST 30, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

CUNA MUTUAL INSURANCE SOCIETY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, has violated
subsection 1 of §38.2-502 and 8§ 38.2-503, subsection 1 of §38.2-3717, 38.2-3729 A, 38.2-3731 A, subsection 1 of §38.2-3732, subsection 2 of
§ 38.2-3732, and 38.2-3735 C 2 of the Code of Virginia, as well as, 14 VAC 5-40-40 A 1, 14 VAC 5-40-40 A 4, 14 VAC 5-40-40 A 5, 14 VAC 5-40-40 D 1,
14 VAC 5-40-40 D 2, 14 VAC 5-40-40 E 2, 14 VAC 5-40-60 B, 14 VAC 5-90-50 A, 14 VAC 5-90-55 A, 14 VAC 5-90-60 A 1, 14 VAC 5-90-60 B 3,
14 VAC 5-90-60 C 2, 14 VAC 5-90-170 A, and 14 VAC 5-400-60 A.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has (i) tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of thirty thousand
dollars ($30,000), (ii) waived its right to a hearing, and (iii) agreed to implement the corrective action plans in its submission to the Bureau of Insurance in a
letter dated July 30, 2007 with respect to the matters cited in the market conduct examination report related to the issuance of credit insurance on loans with
a duration of more than 120 months, which plans will be applied prospectively and will not result in termination of any existing coverages.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.



141
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00208
OCTOBER 17, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
BANNER LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in a certain instance, has violated § 38.2-610 of the
Code of Virginia by failing to give to an applicant for insurance written notice of an adverse underwriting decision in the form approved by the Commission.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of five thousand dollars
($5,000), waived its right to a hearing, and as explained in a letter to the Bureau dated September 19, 2007, provided assurance that the Defendant's are in
compliance with § 38.2-508.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00211
JULY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

GLENN BRADFORD OLIVO,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state Mississippi.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated June 4, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.
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The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state Mississippi.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00211
AUGUST 3, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
GLENN BRADFORD OLIVO,
Defendant

VACATING ORDER

GOOD CAUSE having been shown, the Order Revoking License entered herein July 13, 2007, is hereby vacated.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00213
AUGUST 24, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
NATIONWIDE SETTLEMENT SERVICES, INC.,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.23 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to handle funds deposited in connection with an escrow, settlement or closing in a fiduciary capacity, by failing to maintain funds received in connection
with an escrow, settlement or closing in a separate fiduciary account, by failing to disburse funds in accordance with § 6.1-2.13 of the Code of Virginia, by
failing to disburse funds pursuant to a written instruction or agreement specifying how and to whom such funds may be disbursed, and by retaining interest
received on funds deposited in connection with an escrow, settlement, or closing.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violations of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of five thousand nine
hundred dollars ($5,900) and waived its right to a hearing.
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The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00216
AUGUST 30, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

NETWORK CLOSING SERVICES, INC.,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.26 of the Code of Virginia by acting as
a settlement agent without being properly registered with the Virginia State Bar.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violations of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of seven thousand five
hundred dollars ($7,500) and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00217
JULY 12, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

STAFFORD TITLE, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.
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The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (8§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated April 10, 2007 and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00218
JULY 25, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
MONITOR TITLE & ESCROW OF HERNDON, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1809 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to make records available promptly upon request for examination by the Commission or its employees.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 31, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1809 of the Code of Virginia by failing to make records
available promptly upon request for examination by the Commission or its employees.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00219
JULY 30, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

ANTHEM HEALTH PLANS OF VIRGINIA, INC,,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, has violated
subsection 1 of §38.2-502 and §§ 38.2-503, 38.2-510 A 1, 38.2-510 A 4, 38.2-510 A 6, 38.2-510 A 14, 38.2-510 A 15, 38.2-514 B, 38.2-610 A,
38.2-3407.1 B, 38.2-3407.4 A, 38.2-3407.15 B 1, 38.2-3407.15 B 2, 38.2-3407.15 B 3, 38.2-3407.15 B 4, 38.2-3407.15 B 5, 38.2-3407.15 B 6,
38.2-3407.15 B 7, 38.2-3407.15 B 8, 38.2-3407.15 B 9, 38.2-3407.15 B 10, 38.2-3407.15 B 11 of the Code of Virginia, as well as 14 VAC 5-90-55 B,
14 VAC 5-90-170 A, 14 VAC 5-400-30, 14 VAC 5-400-40 A, 14 VAC 5-400-50 A, 14 VAC 5-400-60 A, 14 VAC 5-400-60 B, 14 VAC 5-400-70 B, and
14 VAC 5-400-70 D.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of one hundred five
thousand dollars ($105,000) and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00220
JULY 12, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

MARIKA LYNN MERRITT,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C and subsection 1 of
§ 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State
of South Carolina, and by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in her license application filed with the Commission.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letters dated April 24, 2007, and
June 15, 2007, and mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C and subsection 1 of § 38.2-1831 of the Code of
Virginia by failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of South Carolina, and by
providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in her license application filed with the Commission.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00221
AUGUST 9, 2007

UNITEDHEALTHCARE INSURANCE COMPANY, et al.
Ex Parte: In the matter of Approval of a Multi-State Regulatory Settlement Agreement between UnitedHealthcare Insurance Company, et al., and
the Arkansas Department of Insurance, the Connecticut Department of Insurance, the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation, the lowa Insurance
Division, and the New York State Insurance Department, for and on behalf of the Virginia Bureau of Insurance and the Insurance Regulators of
the all remaining States and the District of Columbia

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

ON THIS DAY came the Bureau of Insurance (“the Bureau"), by counsel, and requested (i) Commission approval and acceptance of a
multi-state Regulatory Settlement Agreement (“the Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between the
Commissioners of Insurance for the States of Arkansas, Connecticut, Florida and lowa and the Superintendent of Insurance for the State of New York, and
UnitedHealthcare Insurance Company, et al., (collectively, the "Company"), domiciled in Connecticut and licensed to transact the business of insurance in
the Commonwealth of Virginia, and (ii) authority to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's acceptance
of the Agreement;
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NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the terms of the Agreement together with the recommendation of the Bureau that the
Commission approve and accept the Agreement, is of the opinion, finds, and ORDERS that

(1) The Agreement be, and it is hereby, APPROVED AND ACCEPTED and;

(2) The Commissioner of Insurance be, and he is hereby authorized to execute any attendant documents necessary to evidence the Commission's
approval and acceptance of the Agreement.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled "Regulatory Settlement Agreement" is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation
Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00224
NOVEMBER 9, 2007

APPLICATION OF
NATIONAL COUNCIL ON COMPENSATION INSURANCE, INC.

For revision of advisory loss costs and assigned risk workers' compensation insurance rates
FINAL ORDER

The State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) heard the application filed in this matter on October 30, 2007. At the hearing appeared the
National Council on Compensation Insurance, Inc. ("NCCI"), the Division of Consumer Counsel of the Office of the Attorney General ("OAG"), the Bureau
of Insurance of the State Corporation Commission (“Bureau™), and the Washington Construction Employers Associations and Iron Workers Employers
Association ("Respondents"), by their respective counsel.

The Commission has considered the record in its entirety, including the application, the pre-filed testimony and rebuttal testimony, the joint pre-
trial motion to stipulate certain witnesses' testimony, and the evidence and exhibits presented at the hearing.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The proposal by NCCI to use statewide combined data (voluntary and assigned risk) to produce a statewide combined change due to
experience, trend, and benefits is accepted. NCCI shall use the agreed upon procedure outlined in its rebuttal testimony to distribute the statewide combined
change to both markets. Furthermore, prior to next year's application proceeding, NCCI shall fully test the results of the newly approved methodology
against the results of the current methodology to ensure that there are no material differences between them, and it shall include this analysis in its filing.

(2) The proposal by NCCI to exclude year 2006 claim frequency data in determining the occupational disease component of loss costs and
assigned risk rates for coal mine classifications is rejected. Instead, NCCI shall use the currently approved methodology that averages the most recent three
years of available data.

(3) The compromise proposed in NCCI's rebuttal testimony and recommended for adoption by the Bureau's witness to impose a 50 percent
limitation on the annual maximum and minimum weekly payroll values for executive officers until they reach the updated amounts recommended by the
working group is accepted.

(4) NCCI shall revise its proposed voluntary loss costs and assigned risk rates as follows: (i) an increase of 2.5% in industrial class voluntary
loss costs; (ii) a decrease of 17.8% in "F" class voluntary loss costs; (iii) an increase of 0.1% in the surface coal mines voluntary loss costs; (iv) a decrease of
12.3% in the underground coal mines voluntary loss costs; (v) an increase of 9.9% in industrial class assigned risk rates; (vi) a decrease of 15.7% in "F" class
assigned risk rates; (vii) an increase of 10.4% in the surface coal mines assigned risk rates; and (viii) a decrease of 4.5% in the underground coal mines
assigned risk rates.

(5) Except as otherwise ordered herein, the proposed revisions to voluntary loss costs, assigned risk rates, minimum premiums, rating values,
rules, regulations and procedures for writing workers' compensation voluntary loss costs and assigned risk rates that have been filed by NCCI in this
proceeding on behalf of its members and subscribers shall be, and they are hereby, APPROVED, for use with respect to new and renewal policies effective
on or after April 1, 2008.

(6) NCCI, the Bureau, OAG, and the Respondents in this proceeding, shall endeavor to recommend jointly to the Commission on or before
June 1, 2008, a proposed schedule for any year 2008 voluntary loss costs/assigned risk rate revision proceeding before the Commission. The proposed
schedule shall address: (i) “pre-filing" of any discovery requests by the Bureau, OAG, and any other parties; (ii) the date on which NCCI proposes to file
with the Commission any voluntary loss costs/assigned risk rate revision application and its direct testimony; (iii) the date on which NCCI proposes to file its
responses to pre-filed discovery requests; (iv) the dates for the pre-filing of the direct testimony of the Bureau, OAG, and any respondents; (v) the date for
filing by NCCI of its rebuttal testimony; and (vi) the date of any proposed hearing before the Commission.

(7) NCCI and any other persons participating in future voluntary loss costs and assigned risk rate application proceedings before the
Commission, when proposing methodologies or data sources that are different from the methodologies or data sources upon which then current voluntary
loss costs and/or assigned risk rate or rating values are based, shall be required to disclose the impact on voluntary loss costs and/or assigned risk rate or
rating values of the change employing both the methodology it proposes to replace as well as the newly proposed methodology.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00225
OCTOBER 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
PENINSULA HEALTH CARE INC., HEALTHKEEPERS, INC., PRIORITY HEALTH CARE, INC.,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendants, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of a health maintenance organization in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, have
violated § 38.2-510 A 6 and 38.2-4312.3 of the Code of Virginia by employing a prohibited payment methodology to reimburse non-participating providers
of emergency services, resulting in unfair claims settlement practices.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-4316 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendants' licenses upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendants have committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendants have been advised of their right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendants, without admitting any violation of
Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendants have waived their right to a hearing.

Additionally, the Defendants have agreed to the following:
(1) With respect to claims for emergency services processed by the Defendants on and after July 1, 2006:

(a) Within thirty (30) days from the date of entry of this Order, the Defendants will submit a written proposal to reimburse members who
paid or are currently paying one or more non-participating providers amounts in excess of the deductible, coinsurance or copayment amounts applicable to
the services provided, along with interest pursuant to § 38.2-4306.1 of the Code of Virginia; and

(b) Within thirty (30) days of the date of entry of this Order, the Defendants will submit a written proposal to identify and reimburse with
interest, non-participating providers who recovered less than an amount which would have satisfied any unpaid balances (beyond deductible, coinsurance or
copayment amounts), not otherwise forgiven, for claims associated with emergency services provided to the Defendants' members.

(2) With respect to prospective compliance the Defendants have agreed to:

(@) A Cease and Desist order, under which the Defendants will be ordered to cease and desist from using the prohibited payment
methodology, and employ a payment methodology for non-participating providers in conformity with § 38.2-4312.3 of the Code of Virginia, as expressed in
Commissioner Gross's letter of August 28, 2007, to be effective concurrent with the implementation of an approved corrective reimbursement plan outlined
in paragraph (1) above.

(b) The Defendants will immediately prepare revisions to its Evidences of Coverage to correct the noncompliant language and submit the
revisions to the Bureau of Insurance for approval no later than thirty (30) days from the date of entry of this Order. The revised language will address the
payment methodology as well as the direct reimbursement requirement, and will be presented in an understandable and clear format; and

(c) The Defendants will provide all members with the corrected or amended Evidences of Coverage as soon as reasonably practical, but no
later than the first renewal date occurring thirty (30) days after the amendments or revisions have been approved.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendants pursuant to the authority
granted the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendants, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendants' offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendants in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted;

(2) Inaccordance with the terms of this Order, the Defendants cease and desist from any conduct which constitutes a violation of § 38.2-4312.3
of the Code of Virginia; and

(3) This case is continued pending further order from the Commission.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00226
JULY 20, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
TECUMSEH IRVIN BEY,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1809 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to make records available promptly upon request for examination by the Commission or its employees.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 31, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1809 of the Code of Virginia by failing to make records
available promptly upon request for examination by the Commission or its employees.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to five (5)
years from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00230
JULY 27, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

ANTHONY CARUSO,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state of South Dakota.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.



150
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated June 25, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state of South Dakota.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00231
JULY 27, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

JILLRAE DILL COLTART,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the state of Utah.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated June 25, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the state of Utah.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;

(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;
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(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00232
OCTOBER 10, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

NATIONAL TRADE BUSINESS ALLIANCE OF AMERICA,
PROFESSIONAL BENEFITS CONSULTANTS OF DELAWARE, INC., a’lk/a PERSONAL BENEFITS CONSULTANTS, INC.,
d/b/a PBC DIRECT, AMERICA'S BEST BENEFITS,
AFFINITY HEALTH PLANS OF AMERICA,
CHRISTOPHER ASHIQOTES,
JAMES DOYLE,
and
THOMAS J. SULLIVAN,
Defendants

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

The Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), after having conducted an investigation of this matter, alleges as follows:

1. Defendant National Trade Business Alliance of America ("NTBAA") is a membership association that purportedly provides health insurance
and accidental death benefits to its members. Defendant Thomas J. Sullivan is the President of NTBAA, and Defendant James Doyle is the Secretary and
Treasurer of NTBAA.

2. On March 19, 2006, NTBAA entered into a contract with Defendant Professional Benefits Consultants of Delaware, Inc., a/k/a Personal
Benefits Consultants, Inc., which does business as PBC Direct ("PBC Direct") to market health insurance to NTBAA's members. Thomas J. Sullivan, in
addition to being NTBAA's President, was also the incorporator agent of PBC Direct. Defendant Christopher Ashiotes is the Vice President and Marketing
Director of PBC Direct.

3. PBC Direct contracted with several companies, including Defendant America's Best Benefits, to market NTBAA's plan. America's Best
Benefits marketed NTBAA's plan by faxing circulars advertising health insurance to individuals in Virginia and other states, including those who were not
members of NTBAA. NTBAA Treasurer and Secretary James Doyle was also Vice President of America's Best Benefits.

4. NTBAA issued at least 18 health insurance policies or certificates to Virginia residents in 2006. Once these individuals enrolled in the health
plan, they received insurance cards listing Defendant Affinity Health Plans of America as the provider of the plan. All of the Virginia residents who enrolled
in the plan paid monthly premiums for the coverage. However, as of this date, NTBAA has failed to pay any of their claims.

5. None of the Defendants, corporate and individual, currently is licensed or has ever been licensed in any capacity by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia. Defendants NTBAA, Affinity Health Plans of
America, Sullivan, and Doyle have violated § 38.2-1024 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by issuing insurance policies or insurance certificates to Virginia
residents without being properly licensed. Defendants PBC Direct, America's Best Benefits, Ashiotes, and Doyle have violated §§ 38.2-1802 and 1822 by
selling insurance on behalf of an unlicensed insurance company and by acting as an agent without being properly licensed.

6. Section 38.2-220 of the Code of Virginia authorizes the Commission to issue temporary and permanent injunctions restraining acts that violate
or attempt to violate any of the provisions of Title 38.2 of the Code. Virginia residents have been harmed by the actions of the Defendants in this
Commonwealth, and the Defendants' actions have brought them under the regulatory jurisdiction of the Commission. Absent the issuance of a permanent
injunction by the Commission, there is no other adequate remedy at law to restrain the Defendants from committing acts which violate or attempt to violate
the provisions of Title 38.2.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the Defendants TAKE NOTICE that the Commission shall enter a judgment order subsequent to
November 1, 2007, permanently enjoining each of the Defendants from transacting the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, unless on or
before November 1, 2007, each such Defendant files with the Clerk of the Commission, Document Control Center, P. O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia
23218, an original and fifteen (15) copies of a responsive pleading and a request for a hearing before the Commission with respect to the proposed judgment
order.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00234
JULY 27, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
KRISTINA PATRICIA JOHNSON,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of Vermont.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated June 29, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of Vermont.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00234
AUGUST 7, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

KRISTINA PATRICIA JOHNSON,
Defendant

VACATING ORDER

GOOD CAUSE having been shown, the Order Revoking License entered herein July 27, 2007, is hereby vacated.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00235
AUGUST 7, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

WAKAMBA KAMBARANGEE GUICHARD,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated §§ 38.2-1826 A and 38.2-1826 C of the Code
of Virginia, by failing to report within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which he is appointed any change in his residence or name, and
by failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state of Utah.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated July 3, 2007, and mailed to
the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated 88 38.2-1826 A and 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia, by
failing to report within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which he is appointed any change in his residence or name, and by failing to
report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state of Utah.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to five (5)
years from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00236
AUGUST 29, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

UNITED AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, has violated
§§ 38.2-316 A, 38.2-316 C 2, subsection 1 of § 38.2-502, 38.2-503, 38.2-510 A 2, 38.2-510 A 5, 38.2-610 A, 38.2-3407.1 B, 38.2-3407.4 A, and 38.2-3609
of the Code of Virginia, as well as 14 VAC 5-90-50 A, 14 VAC 5-90-50 B, 14 VAC 5-90-55 A, 14 VAC 5-90-60 C 3, 14 VAC 5-90-90 C,
14 VAC 5-90-160, 14 VAC 5-90-170 A, 14 VAC 5-170-170, 14 VAC 5-200-160 A, 14 VAC 5-400-50 A, 14 VAC 5-400-60 A, 14 VAC 5-400-60 B,
14 VAC 5-400-70 A, and 14 VAC 5-400-70 B.
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The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of fifteen thousand dollars
($15,000) and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00240
AUGUST 24, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.

INTEGON CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

INTEGON INDEMNITY CORPORATION,

INTEGON PREFERRED INSURANCE COMPANY,
and

NEW SOUTH INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendants, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated the Code of Virginia as follows: Integon
Casualty Company and Integon Preferred Insurance Company violated § 38.2-1905 A of the Code of Virginia by charging points under a safe driver
insurance plan without first ascertaining whether the accident was caused either wholly or partially by the named insured; Integon Indemnity Corporation
violated § 38.2-1905 C of the Code of Virginia by assigning points under a safe driver insurance policy to a vehicle other than the vehicle customarily driven
by the operator responsible for incurring points; and Integon Casualty Insurance Company and New South Insurance Company violated § 38.2-1906 D of the
Code of Virginia by making or issuing an insurance contract or policy not in accordance with the rate and supplementary rate information filings in effect for
the Defendants.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendants' licenses upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendants have committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendants have been advised of their right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendants, without admitting any violation of
Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein: Integon Casualty Insurance Company has tendered to the Commonwealth of
Virginia the sum of two thousand dollars ($2,000); Integon Indemnity Corporation has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of one thousand
dollars ($1,000); Integon Preferred Insurance Company has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of one thousand dollars ($1,000); and New
South Insurance Company has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of one thousand dollars ($1,000), for an amount totaling five thousand
dollars ($5,000). The Defendants have also waived their right to a hearing, and agreed to comply with the Corrective Action Plan set forth in their letter to
the Bureau dated June 1, 2007.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendants pursuant to the authority
granted the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendants, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendants' offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendants in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00250
AUGUST 24, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
PROSPERITY TITLE & REAL ESTATE SETTLEMENT COMPANY,

Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 1, 2007 and mailed to
the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00251
AUGUST 24, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
GREATER CHESAPEAKE TITLE COMPANY, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.
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The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 1, 2007 and mailed to
the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00252
AUGUST 24, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
JASON NATHAN LEIGH,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia, by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state of Wisconsin.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated July 16, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state of Wisconsin.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00252
SEPTEMBER 12, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

JASON NATHAN LEIGH,
Defendant

VACATING ORDER

GOOD CAUSE having been shown, the Order Revoking License entered herein August 24, 2007, is hereby vacated.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00252
NOVEMBER 14, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

JASON NATHAN LEIGH,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated 88§ 38.2-1809, 38.2-1826 C, and 38.2-1831 (2)
of the Code of Virginia, by failing to make records available promptly upon request for examination by the Commission or its employees, by failing to report
to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state of Wisconsin, and by violating any insurance laws, or
violating any regulation, subpoena or order of the Commission or of another state's insurance regulatory authority.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated October 17, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated 8§ 38.2-1809, 38.2-1826 C, and 38.2-1831 (2) of the Code of
Virginia, by failing to make records available promptly upon request for examination by the Commission or its employees, by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state of Wisconsin, and by violating any insurance laws, or
violating any regulation, subpoena or order of the Commission or of another state's insurance regulatory authority.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00253
AUGUST 27, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

NICHOLAUS PAUL SALDUTTI,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state of Utah.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated July 13, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state of Utah.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.



159
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

CASE NO. INS-2007-00254
AUGUST 15, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
TERRI J. SHAKIR,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of Utah.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated July 17, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of Utah.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to five (5)
years from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00260
AUGUST 28, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

SARITA MICHELLE RICHARD,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated 8§ 38.2-1826 A and 38.2-1826 C of the Code
of Virginia, by failing to report within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which she is appointed any change in her residence or name,
and by failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the state of Utah.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.



160
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated July 23, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated §§ 38.2-1826 A and 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia, by
failing to report within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which she is appointed any change in her residence or name, and by failing to
report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the state of Utah.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00261
AUGUST 28, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
LANCE JUSTIN MORGAN,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated 8§ 38.2-1826 A and 38.2-1826 C of the Code
of Virginia, by failing to report within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which he is appointed any change in his residence or name, and
by failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state of Utah.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated July 23, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated 88 38.2-1826 A and 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia, by
failing to report within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which he is appointed any change in his residence or name, and by failing to
report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state of Utah.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;
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(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00264
AUGUST 27, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
STEVEN TIMOTHY SEITZINGER,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state of New York.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated July 26, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state of New York.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00265
AUGUST 28, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
DANA BRETT POLK,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated 8§ 38.2-1826 A and 38.2-1826 C of the Code
of Virginia, by failing to report within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which she is appointed any change in her residence or name,
and by failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the state of Massachusetts.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated July 26, 2007, and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated 88 38.2-1826 A and 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia, by
failing to report within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which she is appointed any change in her residence or name, and by failing to
report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the state of Massachusetts.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00265
SEPTEMBER 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

DANA BRETT POLK,
Defendant

VACATING ORDER

GOOD CAUSE having been shown, the Order Revoking License entered herein August 28, 2007, is hereby vacated.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00265
NOVEMBER 21, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
DANA BRETT POLK,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated §§ 38.2-1809, 38.2-1826 A, 38.2-1826 C, and
subsection 2 of § 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia, by failing to make records available promptly upon request for examination by the Commission or its
employees, by failing to report within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which she is appointed any change in her residence or name, by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the state of Massachusetts, and by violating any
insurance laws, or violating any regulation, subpoena or order of the Commission or of another state's insurance regulatory authority.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated October 17, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated §§ 38.2-1809, 38.2-1826 A, 38.2-1826 C, and 38.2-1831 (2) of
the Code of Virginia, by failing to make records available promptly upon request for examination by the Commission or its employees, by failing to report
within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which she is appointed any change in her residence or name, by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the state of Massachusetts, and by violating any insurance laws, or
violating any regulation, subpoena or order of the Commission or of another state's insurance regulatory authority.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00267
SEPTEMBER 26, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

METROPOLITAN TITLE & ESCROW COMPANY, LLC,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.23 of the Code of Virginia, by
retaining interest received on funds deposited in connection with an escrow, settlement, or closing.
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The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violations of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of ninety thousand dollars
($90,000) and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00268
AUGUST 29, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
Ex Parte: In the matter of Adopting New Rules Governing Military Sales Practices

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

Section 12.1-13 of the Code of Virginia provides that the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) shall have the power to promulgate
rules and regulations in the enforcement and administration of all laws within its jurisdiction, § 38.2-223 of the Code of Virginia provides that the
Commission may issue any rules and regulations necessary or appropriate for the administration and enforcement of Title 38.2 of the Code of Virginia.

The rules and regulations issued by the Commission pursuant to § 38.2-223 of the Code of Virginia are set forth in Title 14 of the Virginia
Administrative Code.

The Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau") has submitted to the Commission a proposal to adopt new "Rules Governing Military Sales Practices" which
are recommended to be set out at 14 VAC 5-420-10 through 14 VAC 5-420-60.

The proposed new Rules closely follow the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) Model Regulation on the same subject.
The Military Sales Practices Model Regulation was developed as a result of federal legislation passed in September 2006, the Military Personnel Financial
Services Protection Act (Pub. L. No. 109-290). Congress found it imperative that members of the United States Armed Forces be shielded from abusive and
misleading sales practices. To address these concerns, Congress required that the States collectively work with the Secretary of Defense to ensure
implementation of appropriate standards to protect members of the Armed Forces from dishonest and predatory insurance sales practices while on a military
installation. The Model Regulation was developed with the assistance of the Department of Defense to meet these Congressional mandates.

The Commission is of the opinion that the proposed new Rules submitted by the Bureau and set out at 14 VAC 5-420-10 through
14 VAC 5-420-60 should be considered for adoption.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The proposed new Rules entitled "Rules Governing Military Sales Practices," which are recommended to be set out at 14 VAC 5-420-10
through 14 VAC 5-420-60 be attached hereto and made a part hereof.

(2) All interested persons who desire to comment in support of or in opposition to, or request a hearing to oppose the adoption of the proposed
new Rules shall file such comments or hearing request on or before October 15, 2007, in writing with the Clerk of the Commission, Document Control
Center, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218 and shall refer to Case No. INS-2007-00268.

(3) The Bureau shall hold a meeting during the comment period, in order for interested parties to address questions about the Rules to the
Bureau. The meeting shall be held on Thursday, October 4, 2007, at 9:00 am in the Conference Room located on the 5th Floor of the State Corporation
Commission, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.
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(4) If no written request for a hearing on the adoption of the proposed new Rules is filed on or before October 15, 2007, the Commission, upon
consideration of any comments submitted in support of or in opposition to the proposed new Rules, may adopt the Rules as proposed by the Bureau of
Insurance.

(5) AN ATTESTED COPY hereof, together with a copy of the proposed new Rules, shall be sent by the Clerk of the Commission to the Bureau
of Insurance in care of Deputy Commissioner Jacqueline K. Cunningham, who forthwith shall give further notice of the adoption of the proposed new Rules
by mailing a copy of this Order, together with the proposed new Rules, to all carriers licensed by the Commission to sell life or variable life insurance or
annuities or variable annuities in Virginia, as well as all interested parties.

(6) The Commission's Division of Information Resources forthwith shall cause a copy of this Order, together with the proposed new Rules, to be
forwarded to the Virginia Registrar of Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations.

(7) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall make available this Order and the attached proposed new Rules on the
Commission's website, http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.

(8) The Bureau of Insurance shall file with the Clerk of the Commission an affidavit of compliance with the notice requirements of Ordering
Paragraph (5) above.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled "Rules Governing Military Sales Practices" is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation
Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00268
NOVEMBER 9, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of Adopting New Rules Governing Military Sales Practices

ORDER ADOPTING RULES

By order entered herein August 29, 2007, all interested persons were ordered to take notice that subsequent to October 15, 2007, the State
Corporation Commission (Commission) would consider the entry of an order adopting new rules proposed by the Bureau of Insurance (Bureau) entitled
Rules Governing Military Sales Practices (Rules), set forth in Chapter 420 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code, unless on or before October 15,
2007, any person objecting to the adoption of the proposed new rules filed a request for hearing with the Clerk of the Commission (Clerk).

The Order to Take Notice also required all interested persons to file their comments in support of or in opposition to the proposed new rules on or
before October 15, 2007.

The American Council of Life Insurers (ACLI) timely filed comments with the Clerk, to which the Bureau provided a response in the form of a
Statement of Position filed with the Clerk on November 1, 2007.

The Bureau recommends that the proposed new rules be revised at 14 VAC 5-420-20, in the definition of “active duty”, and by adding a
definition of "basic illustration." Further, 14 VAC 5-420-50 is recommended to be revised in subsection A 5 to add language to mirror the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) Model regulation of the same title, and subsection E 5 be revised to allow for a basic illustration to meet
the written disclosure requirements.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the proposed revisions, the comments, and the Bureau's response to and recommendation regarding the
comments, is of the opinion that the attached new rules and revisions from the proposed rules should be adopted.

THEREFORE IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The new rules at Chapter 420 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code entitled "Rules Governing Military Sales Practices," which are
attached hereto and made a part hereof, should be, and they are hereby, ADOPTED to be effective February 15, 2008.

(2) AN ATTESTED COPY hereof shall be sent by the Clerk of the Commission to Jacqueline K. Cunningham, Deputy Commissioner, Bureau
of Insurance, State Corporation Commission, who forthwith shall give further notice of the adoption of the new rules by mailing a copy of this Order,
including a clean copy of the attached final rules, to all insurance carriers licensed by the Commission to sell life or variable life insurance or annuities or
variable annuities in the Commonwealth of Virginia, and certain interested parties designated by the Bureau of Insurance.

(3) The Commission's Division of Information Resources forthwith shall cause a copy of this Order, including a copy of the attached new rules,
to be forwarded to the Virginia Registrar of Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations and shall make this Order and the
attached new rules available on the Commission's website, http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.

(4) The Bureau of Insurance shall file with the Clerk of the Commission an affidavit of compliance with the notice requirements in paragraph (2)
of this Order.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled "Rules Governing Military Sales Practices" is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation
Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00269
SEPTEMBER 17, 2007

PETITION OF
ANTHEM HEALTH PLANS OF VIRGINIA, INC.

For approval to provide services to a new national account from a location outside of Virginia and for expedited treatment
FINAL ORDER

On August 22, 2007, Anthem Health Plans of Virginia, Inc. ("Petitioner" or "Anthem") filed a Petition under Rule 5 VAC 5-20-80 of the State
Corporation Commission's ("Commission™) Rules of Practice and Procedure and the Final Order entered in Case No. INS-2007-00141." In the Final Order,
the Commission continued the requirement that Anthem cause the following services to be provided from offices located in Virginia: claims processing and
case management, customer service, quality management, provider services, medical management, and network development. The Commission permitted
Anthem to provide the following services from offices located outside of the Commonwealth of Virginia: actuarial, underwriting, marketing, community
relations, distribution management, and sales. In the Final Order, the Commission also provided that if Anthem seeks to provide any of the aforementioned
services currently required to be provided from offices located in Virginia from offices located outside of Virginia, it should seek permission from the
Commission by filing a petition ". . . setting forth a specific and detailed proposal for providing such services out of state, including specific and detailed
information on how and where Anthem will provide such services, as well as safeguards for ensuring adequate levels of service."?

In the Petition, Anthem requests ". . . relief with respect to one limited matter from the requirement in the Final Order that [certain] services be
provided in Virginia."® Anthem seeks permission for the claims related to a new Virginia-based national account to be administered by its Georgia affiliate.
The handling of those claims will include claims processing, customer service, case management, medical management, and quality management. Anthem
further asserts that the national account customer seeks certain administrative capabilities that the Virginia claims system is not equipped to perform but
which are currently provided by Anthem's Georgia affiliate.*

According to the Petitioner, "[a]bsent the approval being sought herein, Virginia employees will have to be trained on the system so that this one
account can be served. It will require four to six weeks to properly train these employees, pulling them off of other local work to do so. There should be no
need to incur the cost of training Virginia employees to service this one account as the Georgia affiliate has the capacity to handle this account."® Anthem
emphasizes that the relief requested only applies to this one national account, and it further seeks expedited treatment as it will have to begin training
Virginia employees in early September if the Commission denies the requested relief.

Finally, Anthem represents that it has met with The Medical Society of Virginia ("MSV"), the Virginia Medical Group Managers Association
("VMGMA"), and the Division of Consumer Counsel, Office of the Attorney General (*Consumer Counsel") and advised them of the substance of the
Petition. Anthem represents further that the Division of Consumer Counsel takes no position on the Petition, and that the MSV and the VMGMA have
indicated that "given the unique circumstances presented by this one national account that neither organization objects to this Petition."®

On August 23, 2007, the Commission entered a Scheduling Order, in which it stated that “[i]f there is no opposition to the Petition, the
Commission may grant the Petition without further proceedings.” The Commission provided an abbreviated timeframe for persons to comment, with an
initial comment deadline of September 7, 2007, and the Commission directed the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau") to file a response to the Petition on or
before September 14, 2007.

On September 7, 2007, Consumer Counsel filed electronic comments on the Petition. Consumer Counsel "takes no position™ on the Petition, but
it asserts that this should not be viewed as “. . . voicing no objection on the Petition on behalf of the affected Anthem customer.” Consumer Counsel contends
that it would be more ". . . appropriate for this single national account customer at issue to represent its own interests. . ."

On September 10, 2007, the Bureau filed its Response to the Petition. The Bureau states that it has reviewed the Petition and Consumer
Counsel's comments, and the Bureau does not oppose the relief requested by Anthem.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the Petition, Consumer Counsel's comments thereon, and the Bureau's response thereto, finds
that the Petition should be granted. Anthem's request is narrowly focused as it is limited to one part of its operations involving one new Virginia-based
national account and the handling of claims pertaining thereto. Anthem acknowledges that, if there are other Virginia-based national accounts in the future
for which Anthem seeks to provide services outside the Commonwealth, Anthem will file for the requisite approval under the terms of the Final Order. We
also note the absence of public comments on the Petition, as well as the fact that the Virginia Dental Association, the MSV, the VMGMA, and Consumer
Counsel do not oppose the Petition.

! Petition of Anthem Health Plans of Virginia, Inc., HealthKeepers, Inc., Priority Health Care, Inc., Peninsula Health Care, Inc., WellPoint, Inc., Anthem
Southeast, Inc., For Amendment of Final Order in Case No. INS-2002-00131, Final Order entered on August 9, 2007 ("Final Order").

2 Final Order at 8, 1 4.

® Petition at 2.

* See, Petition at 2-3 and n. 4.
*1d. at 3.

®1d. at 4, 118,9.
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Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) Anthem's Petition is GRANTED.

(2) Anthem is permitted to service the claims of the new Virginia national account in Georgia, including the provision of claims processing,
customer service, case management, medical management, and quality management as they relate to the servicing of such claims for the new Virginia
national account.

(3) The other provisions of the Final Order in Case No. INS-2007-00141 are not affected hereby, and Anthem shall continue to comply
therewith.

(4) This matter is dismissed and the papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00276
OCTOBER 26, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

METROPOLITAN LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances, has violated § 38.2-3115 B of the
Code of Virginia by failing to pay interest on life insurance proceeds.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant, within one hundred twenty (120) days from the date of entry of this Order, will
pay interest as required by § 38.2-3115 B of the Code of Virginia on any and all claims under Virginia-issued individual policies during the period of
February 1, 2004 through January 2007; upon finalization of the reimbursement process, the Defendant will provide the Bureau with the total number of
policyholders reimbursed and the total amount of the reimbursement; and the Defendant has waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) This case is continued pending further order from the Commission.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00278
DECEMBER 17, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

SOUTHERN HEALTH SERVICES, INC,,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance as a health maintenance organization in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in
certain instances, has violated §8§ 38.2-316 C 1, subsection 1 of § 38.2-502, 38.2-503, 38.2-510 A 1, 38.2-510 A 6, 38.2-510 A 14, 38.2-510 A 15,
38.2-3407.4 A, 38.2-3407.15 B 1, 38.2-3407.15 B 2, 38.2-3407.15 B 3, 38.2-3407.15 B 4, 38.2-3407.15 B 5, 38.2-3407.15 B 6, 38.2-3407.15B 7,
38.2-3407.15 B 8, 38.2-3407.15 B 9, 38.2-3407.15 B 10, 38.2-3407.15 B 11, 38.2-3412.1:01 C, 38.2-4306.1, 38.2-5804 A 2, 38.2-5805 C 1, 38.2-5805 C 3,
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38.2-5805 C 4, 38.2-5805 C 6, 38.2-5805 C 7, 38.2-5805 C 9, and 38.2-5805 C 10 of the Code of Virginia, as well as 14 VAC 5-90-60 A 1,
14 VAC 5-210-70 C, 14 VAC 5-211-80 B, 14 VAC 5-215-50 |, and 14 VAC 5-215-50 J.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-4316 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of fifty-one thousand
dollars ($51,000), waived its right to a hearing, and agreed to the entry by the Commission of a cease and desist order.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted;

(2) The Defendant cease and desist from any future conduct which constitutes a violation of §8§ 38.2-316 C 1, subsection 1 of § 38.2-502,
38.2-503, 38.2-510 A 1, 38.2-510 A 6, 38.2-510 A 14, 38.2-510 A 15, 38.2-3407.4 A, 38.2-3407.15 B 1, 38.2-3407.15 B 2, 38.2-3407.15B 3,
38.2-3407.15 B 4, 38.2-3407.15 B 5, 38.2-3407.15 B 6, 38.2-3407.15 B 7, 38.2-3407.15 B 8, 38.2-3407.15 B 9, 38.2-3407.15 B 10, 38.2-3407.15 B 11,
38.2-3412.1:01 C, 38.2-4306.1, 38.2-5804 A 2, 38.2-5805 C 1, 38.2-5805 C 3, 38.2-5805 C 4, 38.2-5805 C 6, 38.2-5805 C 7, 38.2-5805 C 9, or
38.2-5805 C 10 of the Code of Virginia, or 14 VAC 5-90-60 A 1, 14 VAC 5-210-70 C, 14 VAC 5-211-80 B, 14 VAC 5-215-50 I, or 14 VAC 5-215-50 J;
and

(3) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00280
SEPTEMBER 26, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
Ex Parte: In the matter of Adopting Revisions to the Rules Governing Annual Audited Financial Reports

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

Section 12.1-13 of the Code of Virginia provides that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") shall have the power to promulgate
rules and regulations in the enforcement and administration of all laws within its jurisdiction, and § 38.2-223 of the Code of Virginia provides that the
Commission may issue any rules and regulations necessary or appropriate for the administration and enforcement of Title 38.2 of the Code of Virginia.

The rules and regulations issued by the Commission pursuant to § 38.2-223 of the Code of Virginia are set forth in Title 14 of the Virginia
Administrative Code.

The Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™) has submitted to the Commission proposed revisions to the "Rules Governing Annual Audited Financial
Reports" set forth in Chapter 270 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code, to be entitled "Rules Governing Annual Financial Reporting," which
amend 14 VAC 5-270-10 through 14 VAC 5-270-150, 14 VAC 5-270-170 and 14 VAC 5-270-180, and new proposed rules are recommended at
14 VAC 5-270-144, 14 VAC 5-270-146, 14 VAC 5-270-148, and 14 VAC 5-270-174.

The proposed revisions to the rules require insurers to comply with certain best business practices related to auditor independence, corporate
governance, and internal controls over financial reporting. It will also require a change in the rotation of the qualified independent certified public
accountant from the current period of a seven year rotation to a five year rotation. The proposed revisions are necessary due to the adoption by the NAIC in
June 2006 of the revisions to the Annual Financial Reporting Model Regulation (formerly known as the Model Regulation Requiring Annual Audited
Financial Reports). The Bureau has recommended that there be a proposed effective date of January 1, 2010, in order to give affected insurers and
designated entities sufficient time to review the new reporting requirements and to amend current agreements to allow for the five year accountant rotation.

The Commission is of the opinion that the proposed revisions to Chapter 270 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code submitted by the
Bureau should be considered for adoption with an effective date of January 1, 2010.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The proposed revised rules entitled “Rules Governing Annual Financial Reporting," which amend the rules at 14 VAC 5-270-10 through

14 VAC 5-270-150, 14 VAC 5-270-170, and 14 VAC 5-270-180 and add new proposed rules at 14 VAC 5-270-144, 14 VAC 5-270-146,
14 VAC 5-270-148, and 14 VAC 5-270-174, be attached hereto and made a part hereof.
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(2) All interested persons who desire to comment in support of or in opposition to, or request a hearing to oppose the adoption of the proposed
revised rules shall file such comments or hearing request on or before October 29, 2007, in writing with the Clerk of the Commission, Document Control
Center, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218 and shall refer to Case No. INS-2007-00280.

(3) If no written request for a hearing on the proposed revised rules is filed on or before October 29, 2007, the Commission, upon consideration
of any comments submitted in support of or in opposition to the proposed revised rules, may adopt the proposed revised rules as submitted by the Bureau.

(4) AN ATTESTED COPY hereof, together with a copy of the proposed revised rules, shall be sent by the Clerk of the Commission to the
Bureau in care of Deputy Commissioner Douglas C. Stolte, who forthwith shall give further notice of the proposed adoption of the revised rules by mailing a
copy of this Order, together with the proposed revised rules, to all licensed insurers, home protection companies, burial societies, fraternal benefit societies,
health service plans, health maintenance organizations, legal services plans, dental or optometric services plans and dental plan organizations authorized by
the Commission pursuant to Title 38.2 of the Code of Virginia, and certain interested parties designated by the Bureau.

(5) The Commission's Division of Information Resources forthwith shall cause a copy of this Order, together with the proposed revised rules, to
be forwarded to the Virginia Registrar of the Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations and shall make available this
Order and the attached proposed revised rules on the Commission's website, http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.

(6) The Bureau shall file with the Clerk of the Commission an affidavit of compliance with the notice requirements of paragraph (4) above.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled "Rules Governing Annual Audited Financial Reports" is on file and may be examined at the State
Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00284
SEPTEMBER 24, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
MONITOR INSURANCE, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-4809 A of the Code of Virginia by
failing to pay the annual assessments, penalties and taxes for its Virginia surplus lines business.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated August 21, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-4809 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to pay the
annual assessments, penalties and taxes for its Virginia surplus lines business.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00285
SEPTEMBER 24, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

MARTIN ALEXANDER HARTLEY,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-4809 A of the Code of Virginia by
failing to pay the annual assessments, penalties and taxes for his Virginia surplus lines business.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated August 21, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION s of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-4809 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to pay the
annual assessments, penalties and taxes for his Virginia surplus lines business.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00286
NOVEMBER 19, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

MICHAEL D. CLAYTON,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C and subsection 1 of
§ 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the State
of California, and by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in his license application filed with the Commission.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.
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The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated October 11, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated subsection 1 of § 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia by
providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in his license application filed with the Commission.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00289
SEPTEMBER 27, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

JOSHUA VALDEZ,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated 8§ 38.2-1826 A and 38.2-1826 C of the Code
of Virginia, by failing to report within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which he is appointed any change in his residence or name, and
by failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state of Utah.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated August 21, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated §§ 38.2-1826 A and 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia, by
failing to report within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which he is appointed any change in his residence or name, and by failing to
report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against him by the state of Utah.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
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(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00290
SEPTEMBER 27, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
LORI M. HERRON,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of North Carolina.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of her right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated August 27, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of her right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against her by the State of North Carolina.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to five (5)
years from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00291
SEPTEMBER 26, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
CHARLES JON PELLISSIER,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission (*Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated subsection 1 of § 38.2-1831 of the Code of
Virginia by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in his license application filed with the Commission.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated August 21, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated subsection 1 of § 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia by
providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in his license application filed with the Commission.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00297
DECEMBER 18, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

HORACE MANN INSURANCE COMPANY,

HORACE MANN PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,
and

TEACHERS INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendants, duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission (*Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated 8§ 38.2-304, 38.2-305, 38.2-317,
38.2-502, 38.2-510 A 1, 38.2-510 A 10, 38.2-512, 38.2-1318, 38.2-1906 D, 38.2-2113, 38.2-2114, 38.2-2124, 38.2-2126, 38.2-2208, 38.2-2212, 38.2-2220,
and 38.2-2234 of the Code of Virginia, as well as 14 VAC 5-400-40 A, 14 VAC 5-400-70 A, 14 VAC 5-400-70 D, and 14 VAC 5-400-80 D.
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The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendants' licenses upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendants have committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendants have been advised of their right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendants, without admitting any violation of
Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendants have tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of forty-
two thousand four hundred dollars ($42,400), waived their right to a hearing, and agreed to comply with the Corrective Action Plan set forth in its letter to
the Bureau dated July 19, 2007.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendants pursuant to the authority
granted the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendants, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendants' offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendants in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00300
NOVEMBER 6, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

EVERARDO FLORES,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 A of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which he is appointed a change in his residence address.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of his right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letters dated September 10, 2007, and
October 12, 2007, and mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of his right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 A of the Code of Virginia by failing to report
within thirty days to the Commission and to every insurer for which he is appointed a change in his residence address.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00301
OCTOBER 18, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
AGENCY DEVELOPMENT SERVICES, INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) days an administrative action that was taken against it by the state of Illinois.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated September 10, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) days an administrative action that was taken against it by the state of Illinois.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00303
NOVEMBER 6, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

ABC TITLE SERVICES & ESCROW, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (8§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.
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The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated July 3, 2007 and mailed to
the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00304
NOVEMBER 6, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

BEST SETTLEMENT SERVICES, INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (8§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated June 12, 2007 and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.



177
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00305
NOVEMBER 6, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

TITLE 2000, LLC d/b/a COMMERCE TITLE COMPANY,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (8§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated June 8, 2007 and mailed to
the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00306
NOVEMBER 6, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
NATIONS TITLE, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated June 12, 2007 and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00307
NOVEMBER 6, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

RELIANT TITLE & SETTLEMENTS, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.
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The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated July 3, 2007, and mailed to
the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00308
NOVEMBER 6, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

CFS SETTLEMENTS, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (8§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letters dated July 3, 2007 and July 26,
2007, and mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.
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THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.
IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00309
NOVEMBER 6, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
USTA, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission (“Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated August 2, 2007 and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;
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(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00310
NOVEMBER 6, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

TITLESOURCE, LTD,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (8§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated August 13, 2007 and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.



182
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

CASE NO. INS-2007-00311
NOVEMBER 6, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
AMERICAN HOMEOWNERS TITLE AGENCY, INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated August 13, 2007 and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00312
NOVEMBER 21, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

HISTORIC TITLE, INC.,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated §6.1-2.23 of the Code of Virginia by
retaining interest received on funds deposited in connection with an escrow, settlement, or closing.
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The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violations of Chapter 1.3 (8 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of five thousand dollars
($5,000) and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00313
NOVEMBER 6, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
ACCURATE TITLE GROUP, LLC,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.23 of the Code of Virginia by
retaining interest received on funds deposited in connection with an escrow, settlement, or closing.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violations of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of fourteen thousand five
hundred dollars ($14,500) and waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00322
NOVEMBER 21, 2007

APPLICATION OF
COMMONWEALTH ANNUITY AND LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

For approval of an assumption reinsurance agreement pursuant to § 38.2-136 C of the Code of Virginia

ORDER APPROVING APPLICATION

By petition application filed with the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) on October 29, 2007, Commonwealth Annuity and Life
Insurance Company ("CALIC"), a Massachusetts-domiciled insurer licensed by the Commission to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth
of Virginia, requested approval of an assumption reinsurance agreement dated June 27, 2007, pursuant to § 38.2-136 C of the Code of Virginia, whereby
CALIC would assume certain Virginia life insurance policies, accident and sickness policies, and annuity contracts from Fidelity Mutual Life Insurance
Company (“Fidelity") in Rehabilitation, a Pennsylvania-domiciled insurer, whose license to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of
Virginia was suspended by the Commission in Case No. INS-1993-00352 on August 9, 1993.

The assumption reinsurance agreement was approved by the Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania on September 27, 2007. The Statutory
Rehabilitator of Fidelity has waived its right to a hearing.

The Bureau of Insurance, having reviewed the application to ensure that Virginia policyholders will not lose any rights or claims afforded under
their original policies or contracts pursuant to Chapter 17 of Title 38.2 of the Code of Virginia, has recommended that the petition application be approved.

The COMMISSION, having considered the petition application, the recommendation of the Bureau of Insurance that the petition application be
approved, and the law applicable hereto, is of the opinion that the petition application should be approved.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT the petition application of Commonwealth Annuity and Life Insurance Company for approval of the
assumption reinsurance agreement with Fidelity Mutual Life Insurance Company in Rehabilitation, pursuant to § 38.2-136 C of the Code of Virginia be, and
it is hereby, APPROVED.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00324
NOVEMBER 6, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
CLEAR TRUST TITLE AGENCY, INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated §§ 6.1-2.23, 6.1-2.24, and 38.2-1813 of the
Code of Virginia by failing to handle funds deposited in connection with an escrow, settlement or closing in a fiduciary capacity, by failing to maintain funds
received in connection with an escrow, settlement or closing in a separate fiduciary account, by failing to maintain sufficient records of its affairs, and by
failing to pay funds in the ordinary course of business to the insured or his assignee, insurer, insurance premium finance company or agent entitled to the
payment.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violations of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated September 21, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated 88 6.1-2.23, 6.1-2.24, and 38.2-1813 of the Code of Virginia by
failing to handle funds deposited in connection with an escrow, settlement or closing in a fiduciary capacity, by failing to maintain funds received in
connection with an escrow, settlement or closing in a separate fiduciary account, by failing to maintain sufficient records of its affairs, and by failing to pay
funds in the ordinary course of business to the insured or his assignee, insurer, insurance premium finance company or agent entitled to the payment.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00325
NOVEMBER 6, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
SEASIDE TITLE & ESCROW, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated August 31, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00328
DECEMBER 27, 2007

PETITION OF
ANTHEM HEALTH PLANS OF VIRGINIA, INC., et al.,

For approval to provide case management and utilization management for transplant services from a location outside of Virginia and for
expedited treatment

EINAL ORDER

On October 29, 2007, Anthem Health Plans of Virginia, Inc., HealthKeepers, Inc., Peninsula Health Care Inc., and Priority Health Care, Inc.
(collectively, "Petitioner" or "Anthem"), filed a Petition under Rule 5 VAC 5-20-80 of the State Corporation Commission's ("Commission") Rules of
Practice and Procedure and the Final Order entered in Case No. INS-2007-00141." In the Final Order, the Commission continued the requirement that
Anthem cause the following services to be provided from offices located in Virginia: claims processing and case management, customer service, quality
management, provider services, medical management, and network development. The Commission permitted Anthem to provide the following services
from offices located outside of the Commonwealth of Virginia: actuarial, underwriting, marketing, community relations, distribution management, and
sales. In the Final Order, the Commission also provided that if Anthem seeks to provide any of the aforementioned services currently required to be
provided from offices located in Virginia from offices located outside of Virginia, it should file a petition with the Commission "setting forth a specific and
detailed proposal for providing such services out of state, including specific and detailed information on how and where Anthem will provide such services,
as well as safeguards for ensuring adequate levels of service."?

In the Petition, Anthem requests ". . . relief with respect to one limited matter from the requirement in the Final Order that [certain] services be
provided in Virginia."®> Anthem seeks approval from the Commission for case management and utilization management for transplant services to continue
to be performed from a location outside of Virginia. Specifically, Anthem seeks approval for the continued provision of case management and utilization
management relating to organ and stem cell transplant services by its Ohio staff.* Anthem requests that it be permitted to provide these services from
outside of Virginia indefinitely; however, Anthem is not seeking Commission approval for it to provide these services from outside of the United States.®

According to Anthem, "[o]n November 13, 2006, Anthem received temporary approval [from the Bureau of Insurance] for one year to allow
non-Virginia specialized case management nurses to perform utilization management and case management with respect to transplant cases arising in
Virginia."® Anthem also notes that there are a limited number of providers in Virginia whose practice encompasses transplant services and that Anthem's
case managers and providers have become well known to each other in the past year. Anthem further claims that its case management and utilization staff
operate under a private review agent license issued to it by the Virginia Department of Health.” Anthem seeks expedited treatment of its Petition or, in the
alternative, that the Commission toll the expiration of the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau") approval that expires on November 13, 2007, while this matter is
under consideration.®

Finally, Anthem represented that it provided an advance draft of the Petition to the Division of Consumer Counsel, Office of the Attorney
General ("Consumer Counsel"), the Virginia Medical Society ("MSV"), and the Virginia Dental Association.®

On November 9, 2007, the MSV filed a Notice of Participation and a letter from the President of the MSV. Therein, the MSV stated that it does
not oppose the relief requested in the Petition but also expressed its continued preference for services to be delivered in Virginia when at all possible. The
MSYV also requested that a requirement be included that Anthem provide for face-to-face interaction with physicians in Virginia, regardless of where the
services are actually performed.

On November 9, 2007, Consumer Counsel filed Comments on the Petition. Therein, Consumer Counsel stated that the Anthem personnel
providing organ and stem cell transplant services have essential functions dealing directly with providers and consumers in Virginia. Consumer Counsel
also expressed concern over Anthem's failure to submit a plan to the Bureau for providing the foregoing services in Virginia. Consumer Counsel also noted
that Anthem has not indicated specifically how and where the services will be provided, as is required by the Final Order. Consumer Counsel also
contended that the safeguards provided in the Petition compare unfavorably to those provided in another petition filed by Anthem to provide certain services

! Petition of Anthem Health Plans of Virginia, Inc., HealthKeepers, Inc., Priority Health Care, Inc., Peninsula Health Care, Inc., WellPoint, Inc., Anthem
Zorzglﬁist, Inc., For Amendment of Final Order in Case No. INS-2002-00131, Case No. INS-2007-000141, Final Order entered on August 9, 2007 (“Final
2 Final Order at 8, 1 4.

® Petition at 2.

4 See, Petition 1-2.

*1d. at 3-4.

®1d. at 2.

71d. at 3-4.

®1d. at 4.

°Id. at 4, 118,9.
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from outside the Commonwealth.*® Consumer Counsel concluded by requesting that the Commission deny the Petition and require Anthem to provide case
management and utilization review for organ transplant and stem cell transplant services from within Virginia within seven months.

On November 16, 2007, the Bureau filed the Response of the Bureau of Insurance (“Response™). The Bureau recommended that the Petition be
denied and that the Commission order Anthem to provide case management and utilization review for organ transplant and stem cell transplant services from
within Virginia within nine months of the Commission's Order. The Bureau asserted that it only authorized Anthem to provide organ transplant services
from offices outside of Virginia and that Anthem has failed to submit the required plan to provide such services in Virginia. Further, the Bureau contended
that the provision of stem cell transplant services from outside the Commonwealth was never authorized and, if occurring, is in violation of the Final Order.
The Bureau also stated that Anthem has failed to specify adequately where and how the case management and utilization review for organ and stem cell
transplant services will be performed.

On November 27, 2007, Anthem filed a Motion for Permission to Respond to Comments and File an Amendment to Petition (*Motion"), a
Response to Comments ("Anthem Response”), and an Amendment to Petition ("Amendment™). In the Motion, Anthem requests that it be permitted to
submit a response to the MSV, Consumer Counsel, and the Bureau. Anthem also requests permission to amend its Petition to provide further clarity on the
scope of the services for which relief is sought.

In the Anthem Response, Anthem states that it intends to continue its commitment to local operations of provider network management and local
medical directors. Anthem asserts that case management and utilization management is primarily a telephone-based activity, and that patient care has not
been harmed because the transplant call is handled by an out-of-state case specialist. Anthem contends that adding staff in Virginia unnecessarily increases
administrative costs when the caseload would not justify such an increase. Anthem acknowledges that it is not limiting its provision of the requested
services to the Ohio location only, but that it does commit to maintaining the provision of the requested services in the United States. Anthem also states
that no location-specific comparative service statistics exist for the transplant services. Anthem asserts that the success of the activity is driven by employee
performance, rather than employee location. Anthem continues to maintain that the national service standards under which it performs the services provide
adequate safeguards. Disagreeing with Consumer Counsel and the Bureau, Anthem contends that it was not required to file a plan with the Bureau to
provide the transplant services in Virginia, as the Final Order eliminated the Bureau's jurisdiction to approve exceptions to the requirement that Anthem
provide certain services within the Commonwealth.

Anthem states that it is requesting the Amendment to clarify that organ, stem cell and tissue, and bone marrow transplants are within the scope of
its request, as well as any ". . . future type of transplant service that may be discovered from these same experts located out-of-state."'* Anthem also seeks
". .. to provide tangential customer and provider service functions for the members that are engaged in the case management and utilization review process
so that Anthem can continue to provide the 'one-touch’ service that members and providers expect rather than being transferred around the company."?

In the Amendment, Anthem seeks to amend its Petition to: (i) specify that the transplant procedures subject to case management and utilization
management from a location outside of Virginia include organ transplants, stem cell and tissue transplants, and bone marrow transplants; (ii) include any
type of transplant service that may be developed in the future to be provided by the same staff located out-of-state; (iii) permit the management of transplant-
related medical procedures to be provided by the same staff located out-of-state; and, (iv) permit incidental customer and provider service functions upon the
request of the member or provider to be provided by the same staff located out-of-state.

On December 5, 2007, the Commission entered an Order Requesting Additional Responses wherein the Commission provided any party and the
Bureau an opportunity to file a response to the Motion, Anthem Response and Amendment on or before December 14, 2007.

On December 12, 2007, the MSV filed a letter in response to the Order Requesting Additional Responses. Therein, the MSV stated that its
request for face-to-face interaction by Anthem with Virginia physicians remains unchanged. The MSV also reported that it had productive communication
with Anthem regarding certain transplant issues at VCU and that Anthem had promptly offered to meet with representatives of certain academic physicians.
The MSV also stated that it ". . . remains optimistic that Anthem will be able to enhance services in such a way as to better enable transplant services to be
delivered to the patients served by these physicians."**

On December 14, 2007, the Bureau filed the Response of the Bureau of Insurance, wherein the Bureau states that Anthem has still not shed any
light on whether it is currently in compliance with previous Commission Orders. The Bureau continues to oppose the Petition. Consumer Counsel did not
file any further response.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the Petition, the responses thereto, as well as the Motion, Anthem Response, Amendment, and
responses thereto finds that Anthem's amended Petition should be granted.

We note that Anthem's request appears to be limited to a narrowly defined and specialized group of services. Specifically, Anthem seeks
permission to provide organ, stem cell, tissue, and bone marrow transplant case management and utilization review services from a location outside of
Virginia. Anthem is currently providing such services from outside the Commonwealth, so this is not a situation where Anthem is seeking to shut down
Virginia offices currently providing such services or transfer such services out-of-state. Anthem also has represented, and we expect Anthem to abide by its
representation, that such services will not be outsourced to a location outside of the United States. We are encouraged especially by the MSV's reaction to
the Petition, and we fully expect the cooperation between Anthem and the MSV to continue, including Anthem's provision of face-to-face interaction with
Virginia physicians upon request. The Bureau previously requested that it be removed from the approval process for the type of request involved in this
case, and we granted the Bureau's request in the Final Order in Case No. INS-2007-00141. We find it appropriate to require Anthem to provide written

0 Consumer Counsel Comments at 4.
™ Anthem Response at 9.
21d.

%% |etter filed December 12, 2007, by Richard Hamrick, 111, President of the MSV, at 1.
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notice to the Bureau if and when Anthem seeks to provide "any future type of transplant service that may be discovered from these same experts located out-
of-state."™

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Anthem's Motion is GRANTED.

(2) Anthem's Petition, including the Amendment thereto, is GRANTED, subject to the requirements stated herein.

(3) Anthem shall provide written notice to the Bureau if and when Anthem seeks to provide any future type of transplant services from outside
the Commonwealth.

(4) This matter is dismissed and the papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

¥ See, Anthem Response at 9, Amendment at 2. We are granting a narrow exemption from the requirements of the Final Order in Case No.
INS-2007-00141, and we deem it appropriate therefore to require Anthem to provide written notice to the Bureau if and when Anthem seeks to provide such
"future type of transplant services" from outside the Commonwealth.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00340
NOVEMBER 14, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

ELLEN DOSS BROOKS,
Defendant

CONSENT ORDER
By letter dated November 1, 2007 and filed with the Clerk of the Commission on November 14, 2007, Ellen Doss Brooks (“Defendant™), an
individual licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth
of Virginia, has agreed, effective as of the date hereof and continuing until further order of the Commission, to the suspension of her insurance agent licenses
for her alleged violation of subsection 9 of § 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia.
THEREFORE IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia be, and they are
hereby, SUSPENDED, until further order of the Commission;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses be, and they are hereby, SUSPENDED; and

(3) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00342
NOVEMBER 21, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
DOUGLAS ALAN GARLING,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-512 of the Code of Virginia by making
false or fraudulent statements or representations on or relative to an application or any document or communication relating to the business of insurance for
the purpose of obtaining a fee, commission, money, or other benefit from any insurer, agent, broker, premium finance company, or individual.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.
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The Defendant has been advised of his right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia
law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has waived his right to a hearing, agreed to the suspension of his licenses for
a period of thirty (30) days from the date of entry of this Order, and agreed to be placed on probation for a period of five (5) years from the date his licenses
are reinstated after the suspension period.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia be, and they are
hereby, SUSPENDED, for a period of thirty (30) days from the date of entry of this Order;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses be, and they are hereby, SUSPENDED, for a period of thirty (30) days from the date of entry of
this Order;

(3) The Defendant will be placed on probation for a period of five (5) years from the date his licenses are reinstated after the suspension period;

(4) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(5) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00353
DECEMBER 17, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
SENTINEL INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-2220 of the Code of Virginia by using
forms which did not contain the precise language of the standard forms filed and adopted by the Commission.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of five thousand dollars
($5,000), waived its right to a hearing, and agreed to comply with the Corrective Action Plan set forth in its letter to the Bureau dated September 6, 2007.

The Bureau of Insurance has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted
the Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau of
Insurance, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00358
DECEMBER 10, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
KILONA SETTLEMENTS, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated October 18, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00364
DECEMBER 17, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

AMERICAN DEED COMPANY, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by
failing to report to the Commission within thirty days an administrative action that was taken against it by the state of Florida.
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The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated November 16, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) days an administrative action that was taken against it by the state of Florida.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00365
DECEMBER 17, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

TITLE PRO, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (8§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated November 5, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2007-00366
DECEMBER 17, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

At the relation of the

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

SOUTHWEST VIRGINIA SETTLEMENT, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance, it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing
to timely provide the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

The Commission is authorized by § 6.1-2.27 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties and to suspend or revoke the
Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged
violation of Chapter 1.3 (8§ 6.1-2.19 et seq.) of Title 6.1 of the Code of Virginia.

The Commission is also authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue
cease and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of its right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated November 6, 2007, and
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau of Insurance.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of its right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing and has not
otherwise communicated with the Bureau of Insurance.

The Bureau of Insurance, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking all of
the Defendant's licenses to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent.

THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 6.1-2.21 of the Code of Virginia by failing to timely provide
the Commission with a copy of the Defendant's analysis or audit report of its escrow account.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia are hereby
REVOKED;

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID;
(3) The Defendant transact no further business in the Commonwealth of Virginia as an insurance agent;

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior to one (1) year
from the date of this Order;

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause a copy of this Order to be sent to every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an
appointment to act as an insurance agent in the Commonwealth of Virginia; and

(6) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2007-00375
DECEMBER 21, 2007
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
At the relation of the
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
MERCURY CASUALTY COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that the Defendant, duly licensed by the
State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, violated 8§ 38.2-502,
38.2-510 A 10, 38.2-512, 38.2-1905 A, 38.2-1906 A, 38.2-1906 D, 38.2-2202, 38.2-2204, 38.2-2210, 38.2-2212, 38.2-2214, 38.2-2220, 38.2-2223, and
38.2-2234 of the Code of Virginia, as well as 14 VAC 5-400-40 A, 14 VAC 5-400-70 A, 14 VAC 5-400-70 D, and 14 VAC 5-400-80 D.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code of Virginia to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and suspend or revoke the Defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that the
Defendant has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of its right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting any violation of Virginia law,
has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Commonwealth of Virginia the sum of twenty-five thousand
six hundred dollars ($25,600), waived its right to a hearing, and agreed to comply with the Corrective Action Plan set forth in its letters to the Bureau dated
April 30, 2007 and September 17, 2007.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code of Virginia.

THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the Bureau, is
of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein be, and it is hereby, accepted; and

(2) The papers herein be placed in the file for ended causes.
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DIVISION OF PUBLIC SERVICE TAXATION

CASE NO. PST-2004-00039
JANUARY 17, 2007

APPLICATION OF
HOPEWELL COGENERATION LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

For review and correction of assessment of value of property subject to local taxation-Tax Year 2004

DISMISSAL ORDER

Before the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission™) is the application of Hopewell Cogeneration Limited Partnership (the “Company") for
review and correction of the assessment of the value of property subject to local taxation for tax year 2004. By Order for Notice of January 6, 2005, the
Commission docketed this application for review and correction as provided by § 58.1-2670 of the Code of Virginia, and we directed the Company to give
notice. On January 28, 2005, the City of Hopewell filed its notice of participation as a respondent.

On January 9, 2007, the Company moved to dismiss on the grounds that it had elected not to prosecute the matter. Upon consideration of the
motion, the Commission will dismiss the case.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Company's motion to dismiss be granted.

(2) Case No. PST-2004-00039 be dismissed; be struck from the Commission's docket; and be placed in closed category in the records maintained
by the Commission Clerk.

CASE NO. PST-2007-00003
JUNE 7, 2007

APPLICATION OF
PRIMUS TELECOMMUNICATIONS, INC.

For review and correction of gross receipts certified to the Department of Taxation for Tax Year 2006
FINAL ORDER

On January 31, 2007, Primus Telecommunications, Inc. ("Primus" or "Company") filed an application with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") pursuant to § 58.1-2674.1 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), requesting a review and correction of the Company's gross receipts certified to
the Virginia Department of Taxation for the twelve months ending December 31, 2005. The application alleges that the amount of gross receipts Primus
reported to the Commission for Tax Year 2006 erroneously included gross receipts from international customers, resulting in an overstatement of gross
receipts attributable to Virginia. The Company's application further alleges that the correct amount of gross receipts is $3,776,123 for Tax Year 2006, which
is approximately $38.8 million less than the amount the Company reported in its Statement of Gross Receipts filed with the Commission on or about
March 31, 2006. Primus therefore requests that the Commission enter an order providing notice to the Virginia Department of Taxation of the Company's
application; correcting the Company's gross receipts certified to the Department of Taxation by the Commission; and providing such further relief as may be
necessary or appropriate.

On February 28, 2007, the Commission entered an Order for Notice that docketed the application, directed the Company to provide notice to the
Department of Taxation of its application filed with the Commission, as required by § 58.1-2674.1 of the Code, and established a procedural schedule
allowing the Department of Taxation and other interested persons to participate as respondents in this proceeding. No notices of participation have been
filed in this proceeding.

On May 29, 2007, Primus and the Division of Public Service Taxation ("Division") filed Joint Stipulations of Fact (“Stipulation") and a Joint
Motion for Approval of Stipulation and Dismissal of Application ("Joint Motion™). In the Stipulation, Primus and the Division agree that Primus overstated
is gross receipts for Tax Year 2006. Primus and the Division further agree that the correct amount of gross receipts is $3,776,123, rather than the
$42,616,270 erroneously reported in the Company's Statement of Gross Receipts. In their Joint Motion, Primus and the Division further request that the
Commission enter a Final Order: (1) approving the Stipulation and adopting the proposal of Primus and the Division to reduce and correct the amount of
gross receipts to $3,776,123 for Tax Year 2006 and (2) dismissing this case from the Commission's docket of active proceedings.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the Company's application, the Joint Stipulations of Fact, and the Joint Motion for Approval of
Stipulation and Dismissal of Application, is of the opinion and finds that the Joint Motion of the Company and Staff should be granted, and that the
Company's gross receipts for Tax Year 2006 should be corrected and reduced to $3,776,123.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Joint Motion for Approval of Stipulation and Dismissal of Application filed by the Company and Division is granted.
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(2) As provided by § 58.1-2674.1 of the Code, the gross receipts certified to the Department of Taxation for the Tax Year 2006 is reduced and
corrected to $3,776,123.
(3) The Public Service Taxation Division shall promptly mail an attested copy of the Final Order to the Tax Commissioner.

(4) This case be dismissed from the Commission's docket of active proceedings and placed in closed status in the records of the Clerk of the
Commission.
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DIVISION OF COMMUNICATIONS

CASE NO. PUC-1999-00188
AUGUST 15, 2007

IN THE MATTER OF

VERIZON VIRGINIA INC.
and

CORECOMM VIRGINIA, INC.

For approval of interconnection agreement

ORDER CLOSING CASE

By order entered January 12, 2000, in this matter, the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) approved an interconnection agreement
between the parties named in the caption.® Verizon Virginia Inc. ("Verizon Virginia") has submitted a "Notification of Termination of Interconnection
Agreement,” advising that Verizon Virginia had terminated its agreement with CoreComm Virginia, Inc. (“CoreComm"), pursuant to terms contained in the
agreement. CoreComm's certificates of public convenience and necessity were cancelled at its request by order entered in Case No. PUC-2005-00133 and
therefore CoreComm is no longer authorized to provide service in Virginia.

NOW THE COMMISSION, being sufficiently advised, finds that there is nothing further to be acted upon in the instant case and that the case
should be closed.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT Case No. PUC-1999-00188 is hereby closed.

 Verizon Virginia Inc.'s predecessor, Bell Atlantic-Virginia, Inc., was the actual executing party to the interconnection agreement.

CASE NO. PUC-1999-00207
OCTOBER 17, 2007

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
Ex Parte: Inre: Petition for approval of NPA relief plan for the 540 area code

ORDER OF DISMISSAL

On February 22, 2001, the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") issued an Order on Area Code Relief, which adopted the Chief
Hearing Examiner's recommended plan of relief for the projected exhaustion of NXX codes® in the 540 area code, identified as Alternative 5B. In adopting
Alternative 5B, the Commission ordered a phased implementation of the Staff's recommended three-way geographic split of area code 540. The 540 area
was split into Area A/B and Area C. Area C in southwestern Virginia was assigned a new area code (276) and Area A/B was to retain area code 540 for an
estimated additional four years before Area B, Roanoke and the surrounding communities, would receive a new area code. Area A, with 42 percent of the
access lines then present in the 540 NPA, would experience no change.

Following implementation of the first phase of the three-way geographical split of area code 540 and assignment of the new area code 276 to
Area C, the Commission ordered the case to remain open for future orders concerning the timing and implementation of splitting Areas A and B.

The Commission is now informed by the Staff that the latest projection shows the 540 area code (Area A/B) will not exhaust until 2015.
The Commission, therefore, finds that there is no need to hold this case open to further implement the approved area code relief.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT this case is hereby dismissed.

* An NXX code is the central office code or the three digits that follow the area code in a phone number.
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CASE NO. PUC-2001-00226
APRIL 20, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: Establishment of a Performance Assurance Plan for Verizon Virginia Inc.
ORDER APPROVING THE PROPOSED REVISIONS

TO COMBINED VA GUIDELINES, INCLUDING REVISIONS
TO APPENDIX F AND MECHANISM TO CLOSE OUT CURRENT VA PAP

On November 21, 2006, Verizon Virginia Inc. ("Verizon VA") and Verizon South Inc. ("Verizon South™) (collectively "Verizon") filed with the
State Corporation Commission ("Commission™), in accordance with Section I1.K of their "Performance Assurance Plan for Verizon Virginia Inc. and
Verizon South Inc. for Virginia" ("VA PAP"),* a revised VA PAP. According to Verizon, the proposed revisions to the VA PAP are consistent with the
New York Public Service Commission's (“NYPSC") September 25, 2006 Order in Case 99-C-0949, which amended the "Performance Assurance Plan
Verizon New York Inc." ("NY PAP"), and Verizon New York Inc.'s ("Verizon NY") October 25, 2006 Compliance Filing in that proceeding.?

On December 7, 2006, the Commission issued its Procedural Order for Comments on the Proposed Revisions to the Performance Assurance Plan
("Order") that allowed interested persons an opportunity to file comments on the proposed revisions to the VA PAP. Verizon, Cavalier Telephone
Mid-Atlantic, LLC ("Cavalier"), and the Commission's Division of Communications Staff ("Staff ") filed comments on January 22, 2007. In addition, on
February 22, 2007, Verizon and Cavalier filed reply comments.

Verizon states that the Commission should adopt the revised VA PAP including additional revisions to reflect a further order of the NYPSC. The
NYPSC issued an order on December 15, 2006, modifying its initial ruling that the -1 Recapture Provision would not continue to apply to metric NP-1-03.%
Verizon states that the revisions are essential to the effectiveness and operation of the VA PAP and will provide strong motivation to Verizon to continue
providing quality service to competitive local exchange carriers ("CLECs").

Verizon asserts that if the Commission approves the revised VA PAP by March 31, 2007, it can implement the revisions for the July 2007 data
month. If the approval is not granted by March 31, 2007, the implementation will be delayed accordingly. In addition, Verizon claims that any
modifications to the revised VA PAP would delay implementation until after the July 2007 data month. Verizon plans to notify the Commission of the date
the revised VA PAP will be implemented if approval is granted after March 31.

Cavalier requests that the Commission evaluate the current and proposed VA PAPs to determine if either has any utility by conducting a study of
the current competitive landscape in Virginia, similar to the study recently ordered in New Jersey. It states that a performance plan should be simple and
limited in the number and type (i.e., benchmark) of metrics. Cavalier recommends that the Commission create an entirely new performance plan for Verizon
that is understandable and auditable by all carriers, not Verizon only.

The Staff's comments focus on the 65% overall reduction in at-risk dollars in the proposed VA PAP. According to the Staff, the proposed 65%
reduction is based on an analysis done for the NY PAP with no comparable analysis done for Virginia. The Staff's concern is that the 65% reduction does
not reflect conditions in the wholesale market in Virginia and Verizon did not provide any Virginia-specific market data. The Staff obtained data
demonstrating that VVerizon has experienced a 55% decline in total wholesale lines in Virginia due to the elimination of UNE-P lines. As a result, the Staff
recommends that the at-risk dollars be reduced by only 55% to better reflect the actual Virginia marketplace.

In addition, the Staff raised a concern that Verizon did not include the reserve the NYPSC created from the dollars resulting from eliminating the
Special Provisions section in the revised VA PAP. However, after discussions with Verizon, the Staff determined that if the NYPSC orders the reserve to be
used in New York, Verizon intends to file for a reserve in Virginia in accordance with the VA PAP. The Staff views this as a reasonable approach.

Cavalier's reply reiterates that the Commission should initiate a study and evaluation of the current VA PAP in order to create a more streamlined
VA PAP. In its reply, Cavalier commends the Staff for challenging Verizon's proposed decrease to the dollars-at-risk in the VA PAP; however, it still
maintains that the entire VA PAP should be redone.

In its reply, Verizon states that the proposed total dollars at-risk in the VA PAP of $72.924 million per year is sufficient incentive for Verizon to
meet the standards in the VA PAP. Verizon argues against the Staff's proposal to increase the dollars-at-risk to $95.009 million per year in the revised
VA PAP. If the Commission utilizes the Staff's proposal, VVerizon recommends that the increase in dollars be accomplished by adding $8.647 million to the
Loop-Based Mode of Entry dollars-at-risk (with the potential for doubling bringing it to $17.294 million per year) and adding $4.791 million to the Loop
Critical Measures dollars-at-risk.

In addition, Verizon argues that the revised VA PAP should be adopted as proposed but offers an alternative to the Staff proposal, that would
increase the dollars-at-risk to the level of total dollars-at-risk under the core sections of the current VA PAP (the Mode of Entry and Critical Measures
sections), which would be $90.219 million per year. This amount is somewhat less than the Staff's proposal, but more than the amount in the proposed
VA PAP.

* A copy of the current August 2, 2005 VA PAP, approved on September 22, 2005, is available at http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.

2 A copy of the November 21, 2006 revised VA PAP is also available at http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.

% See Exhibit 1, further revised VA PAP, Footnotes 15, 17, 23, and 26.
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Verizon also states in its reply that the Commission should not include the reserve amount in the revised VA PAP. According to Verizon, there is
no need for the Commission to take this action, because if the NYPSC ever applies the reserve fund to the NY PAP then it will submit the reserve
dollars-at-risk for consideration pursuant to Section 1.D of Appendix F of the VA PAP.

Furthermore, Verizon states that the VA PAP has served Cavalier and the CLECs well while it has been in effect. It claims the VA PAP has been
reviewed and audited repeatedly by auditors in Virginia and other jurisdictions confirming the accuracy of the measurements and reporting procedures. In
addition, Verizon states that there are still audit and replication provisions in the proposed VA PAP, which allow the Commission or individual CLECs upon
request to audit the revised VA PAP. Therefore, according to Verizon, there is no need to discard the VA PAP and create a new, untested VA PAP.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that Verizon's proposed revised VA PAP should be adopted, including the additional
revision included in Verizon's January 22, 2007 comments. However, the revised VA PAP shall be modified to reflect the Staff's recommended level of at-
risk dollars and Verizon's allocation of the total dollars-at-risk. The Commission finds that the proposed VA PAP will balance protecting the interests of the
CLECs while simplifying the reporting process for Verizon. The current and previous versions of the VA PAP have been audited and replicated by this
Commission and other jurisdictions and Verizon has modified the VA PAP over time to reflect the findings from these audits. Therefore, the Commission is
satisfied that the VA PAP need not be replaced as urged by Cavalier.

The Commission further finds that the total dollars-at-risk in the VA PAP should reflect the Virginia wholesale market conditions and not New
York or any other jurisdiction. Therefore, the Commission adopts the Staff's proposal to set the total dollars-at-risk at 55% of the now current VA PAP's
total dollars-at-risk, or $95.009 million per year. In addition the Commission finds that the increase in dollars from the proposed VA PAP should be
accomplished in the manner detailed by Verizon in its February 22, 2007 reply comments and as summarized above.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The November 21, 2006, revised VA PAP, including the additional revision included in Verizon's January 22, 2007 comments, is hereby
adopted with the Staff's proposed dollars-at-risk.

(2) Verizon is directed to report to the Commission within ten (10) days of the date of this Order its new proposed implementation date for this
Order.

(3) This case is now continued.

CASE NO. PUC-2001-00226
MAY 15, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: Establishment of a Performance Assurance Plan for Verizon Virginia Inc.

ORDER FOR IMPLEMENTATION

On April 20, 2007, the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") issued an Order Approving the Proposed Revisions to Combined VA
Guidelines, Including Revisions to Appendix F and Mechanism to Close Out Current PAP ("April 20, 2007 Order"). Verizon Virginia Inc. and Verizon
South Inc. (collectively "Verizon") was directed to report to the Commission within ten (10) days of the date of the April 20, 2007 Order its new proposed
implementation date for the April 20, 2007 Order.

On April 30, 2007, Verizon filed notice that the new proposed implementation date for the revised Performance Assurance Plan for Verizon
Virginia Inc. and Verizon South Inc. ("Revised Virginia PAP") is the November 2007 data month. Verizon indicates that Virginia PAP reports for the
November 2007 data month will be issued at the end of December 2007.

The Commission finds that the proposed implementation date for the Revised Virginia PAP should be accepted and approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Verizon is hereby ordered to implement the Revised Virginia PAP for the November 2007 data month as proposed.

(2) This case is now continued.
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CASE NO. PUC-2001-00231
AUGUST 15, 2007

IN THE MATTER OF

VERIZON SOUTH INC.
and

PREFERRED CARRIER SERVICES OF VIRGINIA, INC.
For approval of interconnection agreement

ORDER CLOSING CASE

By order entered January 8, 2002, in this matter, the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) approved an interconnection agreement
between the parties named in the caption. Verizon South Inc. ("Verizon South™) has submitted a "Notification of Termination of Interconnection
Agreement,"” advising that Verizon South had terminated its agreement with Preferred Carrier Services of Virginia, Inc. (*PCS"), pursuant to terms contained
in the agreement. PCS' certificate of public convenience and necessity was cancelled at its request by order entered in Case No. PUC-2006-00155 and
therefore PCS is no longer authorized to provide service in Virginia.

NOW THE COMMISSION, being sufficiently advised, finds that there is nothing further to be acted upon in the instant case and that the case
should be closed.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT Case No. PUC-2001-00231 is hereby closed.

CASE NO. PUC-2001-00236
AUGUST 15, 2007

IN THE MATTER OF

VERIZON VIRGINIA INC.
and

PREFERRED CARRIER SERVICES OF VIRGINIA, INC.
For approval of interconnection agreement

ORDER CLOSING CASE

By order entered December 12, 2001, in this matter, the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") approved an interconnection agreement
between the parties named in the caption. Verizon Virginia Inc. (“Verizon Virginia") has submitted a "Notification of Termination of Interconnection
Agreement," advising that Verizon Virginia had terminated its agreement with Preferred Carrier Services of Virginia, Inc. ("PCS"), pursuant to terms
contained in the agreement. PCS' certificate of public convenience and necessity was cancelled at its request by order entered in Case No. PUC-2006-00155
and therefore PCS is no longer authorized to provide service in Virginia.

NOW THE COMMISSION, being sufficiently advised, finds that there is nothing further to be acted upon in the instant case and that the case
should be closed.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT Case No. PUC-2001-00236 is hereby closed.

CASE NO. PUC-2005-00007
FEBRUARY 13, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the Matter of Investigating Directory Errors and Omissions of Verizon Virginia Inc. and Verizon South Inc.

ORDER APPROVING OFFER OF SETTLEMENT

On January 21, 2005, the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") issued an Order Establishing Investigation to address the significant
and ongoing errors and omissions in the White Page directory listings of Verizon Virginia Inc. and Verizon South Inc. (collectively "Verizon" or
"Company"). The Order directed the Commission's Division of Communications (“Division") to investigate Verizon's directory operations to identify the
source or sources of the errors and omissions in Verizon directories, and to make recommendations on how to resolve the problem and increase the quality
and accuracy of Verizon directories. Finally, the Order invited interested persons to file comments addressing the errors and omissions in Verizon
directories.

The Commission's investigation generated substantial public interest as evidenced by the number of comments filed in response to the
Commission's January 21, 2005 Order. Almost 500 comments were filed, including comments from Verizon residential and business customers, members
of the Virginia General Assembly, other governmental officials, and competitive local exchange carriers ("CLECs") and their customers. The comments
described, among other things, the inconvenience and hardship caused by the errors and omissions in Verizon directories; the adverse economic impact on
businesses whose telephone numbers were omitted, printed erroneously, or placed under the wrong headings in directories; and the delays experienced by
customers attempting to correct their telephone numbers or directory listing information.
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On August 31, 2005, the Staff filed a Status Report with the Commission describing the preliminary results of its investigation. The Status
Report stated that several interrelated factors appeared to have caused the increase in directory errors and omissions, including merging the directory
operations of Bell Atlantic Corporation and GTE Corporation,* converting directory-related computer systems, unnecessarily cumbersome processes for
wholesale and retail listings, and human error.

On September 7, 2006, the Staff filed its Report containing its findings and recommendations developed as a result of its investigation. The Staff
Report noted that the errors and omissions in Verizon directories began to increase during the modernization and merger of the Company's automated
directory listing systems. While several interrelated automated system problems contributed to the errors and omissions, the Staff Report found that most of
the errors and omissions were caused by Verizon's automated directory listing systems being unable to synchronize accurately local telephone listing data
with the VAST? database system maintained by Verizon Information Services (now known as "ldearc")* for directory publications in Virginia and other
States. These system synchronization problems caused thousands of directory listings to be rejected by VAST, and required the erroneous listing
information housed in the respective listing systems to be corrected and synchronized manually. While the Staff concluded that other factors, such as human
error and lack of resources devoted to the conversion and synchronization of directory listing systems, may have contributed to the problem, it found that the
inability of the local telephone and VAST automated directory listing systems to synchronize accurately directory listing information was the primary cause
of most of the errors and omissions in Verizon directories.

The Staff Report further described the actions undertaken by Verizon to correct the automated system problems. Verizon indicated to the Staff
that it had spent approximately $8 million to identify and correct its directory problems and improve the quality of Verizon directories. Among other things,
Verizon established a single listing database (“eListings") as its master database for local directory listings. Additionally, the Company initiated a cleanup
process that began synchronizing the local listing data housed in Verizon's eListings database with the listing data housed in the VAST system. The Staff
Report further indicated that the corrective actions undertaken by Verizon had reduced the number of complaints filed with the Commission for errors and
omissions in Verizon directories.

During the course of the investigation, the Staff and Verizon also sought to identify additional actions that could be undertaken to provide relief
for customers who experience errors and omissions, and how the accuracy of Verizon directories could be improved on a going-forward basis. As a result of
these discussions, the Staff and Verizon filed a Joint Motion to Approve Offer of Settlement on September 7, 2006, which is designed to resolve this
investigation; provide limited relief for past and future customers experiencing directory errors; and establish appropriate financial incentives to assure that
future Verizon directories do not experience the same level of errors and omissions as in the past. The Offer of Settlement contains, among other things, the
following agreed upon terms:

e A Corrective Action Plan that will distribute $2 million to customers affected by past errors and omissions;

e An Incentive Plan under which eighty (80) future directories will be audited by the Staff. The directories must meet a 99% accuracy rate,
with a $50,000 payment to the Treasurer of Virginia by Verizon for each directory that fails to meet the accuracy metric;

e  Tariff revisions that will expand the relief available to VVerizon customers who experience errors and omissions in future directories;

e  Payments to the Treasurer of Virginia by Verizon for errors and omissions in business listings that occur for more than one year without
being corrected by Verizon;

e Initiating new processes for customer verification of directory listings prior to publication;
o  Clarification that Verizon is in command and control with regard to decisions on republishing or supplementing a directory;

e Implementing reporting requirements on Verizon so the Staff can continue to monitor Verizon's progress in correcting the causes of the
errors and omissions in the Company's directories; and

e  Establishing of a Verizon toll-free hotline and e-mail address for directory listing complaints and inquiries with a waiting time of no more
than three (3) minutes, on average, before a “live™ person is connected to handle telephone complaints and inquiries.

The Staff and Verizon further recommend that the Offer of Settlement be accepted by the Commission as an appropriate means to resolve this matter. Under
the terms of the Offer of Settlement, the requirements imposed on Verizon will sunset in three (3) years, with the exception of the Staff's audit of future
Verizon directories to assure compliance with the 99% accuracy metric. The accuracy metric will sunset at the earlier of three (3) years from the date the
Commission approves the Offer of Settlement or the conclusion of the Staff's 80th directory audit.

On September 29, 2006, the Staff filed proposed procedures (“Claim Procedures”) for implementing the Offer of Settlement's proposed
Corrective Action Plan, which will distribute up to $2 million in payments to customers who experienced "service affecting™ errors and omissions in past

! Bell Atlantic Corporation and GTE Corporation merged on June 30, 2000, to form Verizon Communications, Inc. The Commission approved the merger
in Joint Petition of Bell Atlantic Corporation and GTE Corporation, For approval of agreement and plan of merger, Case No. PUC-1999-00100, 1999 S.C.C.
Ann. Rept. 321.

2 \/AST is an acronym for Verizon Advertising System for Tomorrow. VAST extracts Virginia listing data from Verizon's automated listing system for the
publication of Virginia directories.

® Subsequent to the filing of the Staff Report and the Offer of Settlement on September 7, 2006, Verizon Communications Inc. spun-off of Verizon
Information Services to the company's stockholders on November 17, 2006. Verizon Information Services changed its corporate name to Idearc subsequent
to the spin-off. Idearc will continue to publish directories in Virginia for Verizon.
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directories.® The proposed Claim Procedures define the customers eligible to participate in the Corrective Action Plan, describe the information that must be
submitted to the Division of Communications to participate in the Corrective Action Plan, propose deadlines for filing claims with the Division, propose
maximum claim amounts for residential and business customers, and describe customer remedies should their claim be denied by the Division.

On October 4, 2006, the Commission entered an Order for Notice and Comment that notified the public of the proposed Offer of Settlement and
Claim Procedures; allowed interested persons to file comments on the proposed Offer of Settlement and Claim Procedures; and allowed the Staff and
Verizon to file replies to any comments filed by interested persons.

Comments on the proposed Offer of Settlement and the Staff's proposed Claim Procedures were filed by the Office of the Attorney General,
Division of Consumer Counsel (“Consumer Counsel"), the Free Lance-Star Publishing Company (“the Free Lance-Star"), and over 100 residential and
business customers. The Commission Staff and Verizon filed Replies on December 21, 2006, addressing the major substantive issues raised in the
comments.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the Joint Motion to Approve Offer of Settlement, the comments of interested persons, and the
Replies of Verizon and our Staff, is of the opinion and finds that the proposed Offer of Settlement and the Staff's proposed Claim Procedures to implement
the Corrective Action Plan contained in the Offer of Settlement should be accepted, subject to the modifications to the Staff's proposed Claim Procedures
discussed herein. The proposed settlement is in the public interest because it provides monetary relief for customers experiencing past errors and omissions
in Verizon directories, expands the tariff relief available to Verizon customers who experience future errors and omissions, and establishes significant
financial incentives designed to improve the accuracy of listing information in future Verizon directories. The Offer of Settlement will also give customers
additional means to verify the accuracy of their listings before directories are published, thus allowing business customers an opportunity to avoid some of
the financial hardships created when their telephone numbers or listing information is omitted or printed erroneously in a directory. Accordingly, we find
the Offer of Settlement and the Staff's proposed Claim Procedures, as modified, are reasonable means to address this problem and they should be approved.

Customer Notification of Claim Procedures

The Consumer Counsel supports the proposed Offer of Settlement, but notes that the proposed Offer of Settlement and Claim Procedures do not
address how customers will be notified of their right to file claims under the Corrective Action Plan. Accordingly, the Consumer Counsel recommends that
"the Commission should consider directing Verizon to send proper notice to customers via U.S. Mail in the form of letters, bill inserts, or bill imprints."® If
the Commission decides that newspaper display advertising should be used to notify customers of the Claim Procedures, the Consumer Counsel recommends
that “the Commission should consider publication on multiple occasions to increase the likelihood of the notice reaching affected customers."®

We share the Consumer Counsel's view that customers eligible to file claims under the Corrective Action Plan should be given adequate notice of
their right to file claims under the settlement. However, we do not believe that Verizon should be required to notify customers by letters, bill inserts or bill
imprints of the Claim Procedures we adopt herein. This proceeding has generated widespread media attention in newspaper articles, television reports, and
editorial comment. We have also notified the public of this investigation and the proposed Offer of Settlement by display advertising in newspapers
throughout Verizon's service territory. Finally, the Staff indicated in its December 21, 2006 Reply that it plans to mail a claim form to all those customers
who filed directory listing related complaints or comments with the Commission.”

Given the widespread media coverage of this proceeding and the legal notices previously published notifying the public of this investigation and
the proposed Offer of Settlement and Claim Procedures, we find it unnecessary to direct the Company to notify customers of the Claim Procedures by letters,
bill inserts, or bill imprints. Instead, we find that adequate public notice of the Claim Procedures can be provided to customers by publishing, on one
occasion, public notice of our approval of the Offer of Settlement and Claim Procedures in newspapers of general circulation throughout Verizon's service
territory. In addition, our Staff is directed to: (1) mail a claim form to customers who have filed complaints or comments in this proceeding concerning
errors and omissions in their directory listings, (2) prepare and circulate a news release describing our approval of the Offer of Settlement and Claim
Procedures, and (3) make the claim form available on the Commission's website so eligible customers can file claims electronically. These notification
procedures should assure that all customers entitled to file claims for directory errors and omissions are adequately notified of the Corrective Action Plan
and of the procedures that must be followed to file a claim for monetary payments under the plan.

Customer Verification of Listing Information

The Offer of Settlement also provides means by which customers can verify that their listing information is accurate before a directory is
published. Under the terms and conditions of the Offer of Settlement, Verizon will make available a new hotline number and e-mail address wherehy
customers can verify whether their listing information housed in the automated listing databases of Verizon and Idearc is accurate before a directory is
published. The Consumer Counsel notes that the Offer of Settlement does not indicate precisely how customers will be made aware of the customer
verification procedures, and therefore urges the Commission to direct VVerizon to publicize the availability of these new features.

Verizon's December 21, 2006 Reply indicates that the Company "is considering plans to provide direct customer notification of the verification
process and hotline contact information (telephone and email) utilizing the directories, bill messages/inserts, recorded messages for customer contact centers,

* Service affecting errors are generally defined in the Offer of Settlement as errors and omissions that prevent a customer's listing or correct number to be
located in a directory, or the publication of a non-listed or non-published telephone number.

® Consumer Counsel December 1, 2006 Comments at 4.
6 m

7 Staff December 21, 2006 Reply at 5.
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and Verizon's web page. ..."® Verizon's Reply, however, does not indicate which of these specific methods it will use to notify customers of the listing
verification process. The Company merely indicates that it "will select options that provide sufficient notification to customers" of the verification process.®

We find the listing verification process is one of the most important remedies provided to customers under the Offer of Settlement. If a directory
error or omission is discovered "after" a directory is published, customers must wait at least a year before a new directory is published and their listing
information is corrected. This one-year delay in having listing information corrected can cause undue inconvenience and, in some cases, severe economic
consequences for business customers. Accordingly, given the importance of the listing verification process, we find that Verizon should provide customer
notification of the verification process and hotline contact information by each of the four (4) methods listed in the Company's December 21, 2006 Reply.
Verizon is hereby directed to notify its customers of the listing verification process by: (1) advising customers of the verification process in the Company's
future directories, (2) sending bill messages or bill inserts to its customers advising them of the verification process, (3) providing recorded messages for
customers calling Verizon's customer contact centers to advise them of the verification process, and (4) advising customers of the verification process on
Verizon's website.

Claim Procedures

The Staff's proposed Claim Procedures provide that all claims must be filed with the Division no later than ninety (90) days from the entry of a
Commission Order approving the Offer of Settlement. Customers not meeting the filing deadline are not eligible to participate in the Corrective Action Plan.

The Consumer Counsel believes a 90-day period for filing claims is appropriate. However, the Consumer Counsel recommends that the 90-day
period begin to run at the last instance of notice to customers rather than the date of a Commission Order approving the Offer of Settlement. The Staff Reply
did not support the Consumer Counsel's proposal, stating that it may be difficult to ascertain the specific date of the last customer notice in order to
determine when the claim period begins to run.® As an alternative to the Consumer Counsel's proposal, the Staff indicates it does not oppose extending the
filing deadline to one-hundred and twenty (120) days from the date of the Commission's Order approving the Offer of settlement.*

We find the 90-day claim period in the Staff's proposed Claim Procedures should be adopted, and that the claim period should begin from the
date of this Order Approving Offer of Settlement. As mentioned herein, customers will be notified of the Claim Procedures by three methods, namely, the
publication of a legal notice in newspapers throughout Verizon's service territory, direct mailing by the Staff to customers who have filed complaints and
comments relating to errors and omissions in Verizon directories, and the issuance of a news release by the Staff. Given the various forms of public notice
that are required by this Order, we agree with the Staff that it would be difficult to determine the last date of customer notification for purposes of
determining when the claims process begins. Accordingly, in order to establish a date certain for filing claims, we find that all claims for monetary relief
under the Corrective Action Plan must be filed with the Division no later than ninety (90) days from the date of this Order Approving Offer of Settlement.

Customers who experienced past errors and omissions should have their claims evaluated promptly and efficiently by the Division so the claims
process can be concluded in a timely manner. We find that in order to expedite the payment of claims to customers under the Corrective Action Plan, the
Division should investigate all claims and determine eligibility no later than one-hundred and fifty (150) days from the entry date of this Order. In addition,
we note that the Division's evaluation of customer eligibility is dependent upon information held by Verizon in various formats and, as further set forth
below, direct Verizon to cooperate fully with the Division in this regard.

Finally, Section 1V of the Staff's proposed Claim Procedures provides that any customer claims denied by the Division may be reviewed by the
full Commission upon a customer's written request. The Commission, however, must identify all of the claimants entitled to receive payment prior to the
payout of any claims. As a result, we find that Section IV of the Staff's proposed Claim Procedures should be modified to provide a deadline for customers
challenging a Division decision denying their claim. We will therefore amend Section 1V of the Claim Procedures to provide that customers seeking review
of claims denied by our Staff must file a written request for review with the Commission no later than one-hundred and eighty (180) days from the entry of
this Order Approving Offer of Settlement.

Eligibility Claim Period

The Consumer Counsel's comments note that the Staff's proposed claim form only lists directories published in the years 2004, 2005, and 2006 as
being eligible for monetary relief under the Corrective Action Plan. However, since the Staff's proposed eligibility claim period runs from January 1, 2004,
through the effective date of the new tariff provisions Verizon will file pursuant to Section Il of the Offer of Settlement, the Consumer Counsel
recommends that the proposed claim form be amended to include directories published in 2007 before the effective date of the new tariff provisions. The
Staff Reply indicates that it "agrees with the AG's recommendation regarding the claim form and plans to update the form to include 2007 directories that
may be published prior to the effective date of Verizon's proposed tariff revisions expanding customer relief for future errors and omissions."*?

We find the claim form should be modified to include directories published in 2007 prior to the effective date of the new tariff revisions
expanding customer relief for future errors and omissions. Under the proposed Offer of Settlement, customers experiencing service affecting errors and
omissions between January 1, 2004, and the effective date of the new tariff revisions can file claims under the Corrective Action Plan. Those Verizon
customers experiencing future service affecting errors will be given automatic credits for their Local Exchange Service under the new tariff revisions
Verizon will file under the Offer of Settlement.

8 Verizon's December 21, 2006 Reply at 7.
9 m

10 Staff's December 21, 2006 Reply at 5.
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Governmental Directory Listings

Under the proposed Offer of Settlement, Verizon will file new tariff provisions expanding the relief available for its residential and business
customers who experience service affecting errors in future Verizon directories. Business customers will receive an automatic credit of twelve (12) months
of the fixed monthly charges for Local Exchange Service while residential customers will receive an automatic credit of six (6) months of the fixed monthly
charges for Local Exchange Service. The Consumer Counsel seeks clarification on whether these new tariff provisions will be applicable to governmental
customers. The Consumer Counsel also seeks clarification on whether governmental entities can participate in the Corrective Action Plan.

We find that only customers subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission should be allowed to participate in the Offer of Settlement. Telephone
services provided under contract to the state government and its agencies are exempt from Commission regulation under Va. Code § 56-234. Accordingly,
any relief for errors and omissions in state governmental listings provided under a contract will not qualify for relief under the proposed Offer of Settlement.

Sales of Directory Listings to Third Parties

The Free Lance-Star publishes the newspaper of general circulation in Fredericksburg, Virginia, the Free Lance-Star, and competes with
Verizon's directories through its own website, "Fredericksburg.com," and the Star Directory. The Free Lance-Star recommends that the Commission modify
the Offer of Settlement to grant the Free Lance-Star compensation in the minimum amount of $25,000 for past erroneous listing information provided by
Verizon; order Verizon to provide the Free Lance-Star with a mechanism to verify future directory listings; and allow the Free Lance-Star to seek further
compensation under the Corrective Action Plan.

The provision of directory listing information to the Free Lance-Star is provided pursuant to a license agreement that defines the relationship
between the parties for listing accuracy and quality, establishes processes to address inaccuracies, and includes provisions providing for compensation for
errors and omissions.* The listing information purchased by third parties under such license agreements is used for many different purposes, including third
party directories, websites, and other business uses.

The issues raised by the Free Lance-Star are beyond the scope of this proceeding. As stated in our Order Establishing Investigation issued on
January 21, 2005, the purpose of this proceeding is to investigate the errors and omissions appearing in Verizon directories and to formulate a plan to
improve the quality of Verizon directories. In contrast, the licensing agreement between the Free Lance-Star and Verizon is not regulated by the
Commission. The remedies available to the Free Lance-Star for erroneous listing information provided by Verizon are governed by the specific terms and
conditions of the license agreement between Verizon and the Free Lance-Star. We therefore reject the Free Lance-Star's requests.

Sunset Provisions

The proposed Offer of Settlement provides that the requirements imposed on Verizon under the settlement will automatically sunset in
three (3) years, with the exception of the Staff's audit of future Verizon directories to assure compliance with the proposed 99% accuracy metric. The
accuracy metric will sunset at the earlier of three (3) years from the date the Commission approves the Offer of Settlement or the conclusion of the Staff's
80th directory audit.

Although the Consumer Counsel understands that Verizon should not be expected to remain at financial risk indefinitely for several obligations
imposed by the Offer of Settlement, such as the proposed Corrective Action Plan and Incentive Plan, the Consumer Counsel questions why the Offer of
Settlement's provisions relating to tariff revisions, customer verification processes, and command and control should sunset in three years. The Consumer
Counsel therefore requests that the Staff and Verizon "address in their reply comments the rationale for eliminating these useful features after only three
years, and absent compelling justification for doing so, urges the Commission to modify the proposed settlement to preserve them for the benefit of
consumers of telephone services."**

The Staff and Verizon state in their Replies that the provisions contained in the proposed Offer of Settlement are designed primarily to eliminate
the causes of the errors and omissions in Verizon directories. If VVerizon's corrective actions and process improvements prove to be successful over the next
three (3) years, the Staff and Verizon believe the Company should be relieved of the duties and obligations imposed by the Offer of Settlement. However, if
Verizon is unsuccessful in improving the quality of its directories, the Staff Reply indicates that the Commission still has ample legal authority to take
further corrective action.

We will not upset the balance struck in the Offer of Settlement by ordering that those provisions relating to tariff revisions, verification processes,
and command and control become a permanent feature of the Company's telecommunications services provided to the public. The provisions contained in
the Offer of Settlement are designed to improve the quality of Verizon's directories. If the provisions contained in the Offer of Settlement prove effective in
remedying the errors and omissions in VVerizon directories, the Company will be relieved of the obligations imposed by the Offer of Settlement.

However, Verizon has an affirmative duty to provide "adequate service" to the public under Va. Code § 56-234. We have also held that "[a]n
essential part of furnishing telephone service is the furnishing of numbers to reach others” in directories and through directory assistance.™® Given the
importance of furnishing and publishing accurate telephone numbers in directories, we will closely monitor Verizon's progress in improving the quality of its
directories.

3 Verizon's December 21, 2006 Reply, Attachment A.
1 Consumer Counsel's December 1, 2006 Comments at 9.

5 Application of the Virginia Telephone Association, For authority to reduce the free call allowance for directory assistance calls, Case No.
PUC-1989-00025, 1990 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 241.
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Miscellaneous Provisions

Under the terms of the Offer of Settlement, the Division will determine customer eligibility to participate in the Corrective Action Plan. The
Division is also responsible for auditing eighty (80) of Verizon's future directories over the next three (3) years to assure compliance with the 99% accuracy
metric proposed in the Offer of Settlement. Given the abbreviated time-frame we have established for reviewing customer claims by our Staff, it is
imperative that the Division will have ready access to the directory listing information necessary to investigate customer claims under the Corrective Action
Plan. Staff access to directory listing information will also be necessary for the Division to perform the directory audits under the Incentive Plan.
Accordingly, Verizon is hereby directed, no later than thirty (30) days after the entry of this Order, to provide the Division with access to the Company's
relevant directories, automated directory listing systems, and other directory listing records to review customer claims under the Corrective Action Plan and
to audit the Company's directories under the Incentive Plan. Verizon is further directed to respond to all Staff requests for information, reports, or other data
in a timely and efficient manner so customer claims, monetary payments under the Corrective Action Plan, and directory audits can be completed by the
Division in a prompt and efficient manner.

Finally, we find the Offer of Settlement's listing verification processes, monthly reports, and payments made to customers under the Corrective
Action Plan should be implemented forthwith. Accordingly, Verizon is directed to implement the listing verification processes contained in Sections V
and V111 of the Offer of Settlement within thirty (30) days from the date of this Order. The Company is further directed to begin filing the monthly reports
required by Section VII of the Offer of Settlement on March 1, 2007. With respect to the monetary payments to customers under the Offer of Settlement's
Corrective Action Plan, Verizon is directed to make payments to customers no later than forty-five (45) days after the Staff notifies Verizon, in writing,
which customers qualify for payment under the plan. Verizon shall also provide the Staff with written verification that all payments under the Corrective
Action Plan have been made in accordance with the Staff's directives.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Joint Motion to Approve Offer of Settlement is granted.
(2) The Offer of Settlement is approved.

(3) On or before February 28, 2007, the Commission's Division of Information Resources shall complete publication of the following notice to
be published on one (1) occasion as display advertising in newspapers having general circulation throughout the service territory of VVerizon:

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC OF A SETTLEMENT
APPROVED BY THE STATE CORPORATION
COMMISSION FOR ERRORS AND OMISSIONS
IN VERIZON TELEPHONE DIRECTORIES
CASE NO. PUC-2005-00007

On February 13, 2007, the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) approved an Offer of
Settlement (“Settlement™) to address the significant and ongoing errors and omissions in the directories of
Verizon Virginia Inc. and Verizon South Inc. (collectively "Verizon" or "Company"). The Settlement provides
customer relief for past and future directory errors, and establishes appropriate financial incentives to assure that
future Verizon directories do not experience the same level of errors and omissions experienced in the past.

The Settlement, among other things, contains a Corrective Action Plan that will distribute up to
$2 million to customers who have experienced service affecting errors and omissions in directories published by
Verizon. Customers desiring to participate in the Corrective Action Plan of the Settlement must file claims with
the Commission's Division of Communications ("Division") no later than ninety (90) days from the date of the
Commission's Order approving the Settlement.

The Settlement approved by the Commission, the procedures established for filing monetary claims
under its Corrective Action Plan, and claim forms approved in Case No. PUC-2005-00007 are available for
public review and inspection in the Commission's Document Control Center, located on the First Floor of the
Tyler Building, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia 23219, between the hours of 8:15 a.m. and
5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. These documents may also be downloaded from the Commission's website:
http:/www.scc.virginia.gov/division/puc/claim.htm.

Interested persons desiring to file claims for monetary relief under the Corrective Action Plan must
file a written claim with the Division using the claim form approved by the Commission in its Order approving
the Settlement. All written claims shall be sent to State Corporation Commission, Division of Communications,
P.O. Box 1197, Richmond, Virginia 23218. Claims may also be filed electronically by following the
instructions set forth on the Commission's website. All claims, whether filed in writing or electronically, must
be filed with the Division no later than ninety (90) days from the date of the Commission's Order approving the
Settlement. Persons desiring to participate in the Corrective Action Plan are encouraged to read and review the
Claim Procedures because failure to file a timely claim with the Division will render the person ineligible to
qualify for monetary payments under the Corrective Action Plan.

VIRGINIA STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

(4) Verizon shall, no later than thirty (30) days after the entry of this Order, provide the Division with access to the Company's relevant
directories, automated listing systems, and other directory listing records necessary to review customer claims under the Corrective Action Plan and to
perform the audits of the Company's directories under the Incentive Plan proposed in the Offer of Settlement. Verizon shall further respond to all Staff
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requests for information, reports, or other data in a timely and efficient manner so the Division can process customer claims under the Corrective Action Plan
and complete its audit of future directories in a prompt and efficient manner.

(5) Verizon shall implement the listing verification processes and hotline contained in Sections V and VI1II of the Offer of Settlement within
thirty (30) days from the date of this Order.

(6) Verizon shall notify its customers of the listing verification process by: (i) advising customers of the notification process in the Company's
future directories, (ii) sending bill messages or bill inserts to its customers advising them of the verification process, (iii) providing recorded messages for
customers calling Verizon customer contact centers to advise them of the verification process, and (iv) advising customers of the verification process on
Verizon's website.

(7) Verizon shall begin filing the monthly reports required in Section VI1 of the Offer of Settlement on March 1, 2007.

(8) Verizon shall make payments to customers eligible to participate in the Corrective Action Plan no later than forty-five (45) days after the
Staff notifies VVerizon, in writing, which customers qualify for payments under the plan.

(9) The Claim Procedures and claim form attached hereto as Appendix A shall be used by the Division when administering the Corrective Action
Plan contained in Section | of the Offer of Settlement.

(10) This proceeding shall be continued, pending further Order of the Commission.
Commissioner Jagdmann did not participate in this matter.
NOTE: A copy of Appendix A entitled "Procedures for Implementing Verizon Corrective Action Plan" is on file and may be examined at the

State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond,
Virginia.

CASE NO. PUC-2006-00049
JUNE 11, 2007

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
COLIN B. STEGALL T/A QUALITY COMMUNICATION SPECIALIST,
Defendant

ORDER CLOSING CASE

On April 28, 2006, the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") issued a Rule to Show Cause against Colin B. Stegall t/a Quality
Communication Specialist ("Defendant™), alleging that the Defendant failed to register to provide payphone service and to pay its registration fee and late
filing fee in violation of Chapter 16.3 (8 56-508-15 et seq.) of Title 56 of the Code of Virginia ("Pay Telephone Registration Act") and the Rules for
Payphone Service and Instruments, 20 VAC 5-407-10 et seq. (“Payphone Rules").

On November 14, 2006, a Commission Hearing Examiner held a hearing and found the Defendant to be in default and in violation of the Pay
Telephone Registration Act and the Payphone Rules. On February 22, 2007, the Commission issued its Judgment Order, and ordered that the Defendant pay
a registration fee, late fee, and fine in the total amount of nine hundred seventy-four dollars ($974.00) to the Treasurer of Virginia. The Commission further
ordered that if the requirements of the Judgment Order were not met on or before March 22, 2007, the Defendant's registration certificate would be revoked,
and any carrier certificated by the Commission would be directed to disconnect service to the payphone instruments of the Defendant.

On February 23, 2007, a copy of the Judgment Order was sent via certified mail to the Defendant.

On March 28, 2007, the Commission received proof of attempted delivery of the Judgment Order, but the requirements of the Judgment Order
were never met by the Defendant.

On March 23, 2007, the Commission notified all certificated carriers that the Defendant's registration certificate had been revoked, and that the
Defendant's registration number had been cancelled. The Commission requested that the carriers disconnect any telephone service that they may have been
providing to the payphone instrument(s) of the Defendant.

On April 17, 2007, the Commission notified the Defendant that, pursuant to the Judgment Order, its registration certificate as a payphone service
provider was revoked and its State Corporation Commission Registration Certificate Number PSP-1324 was cancelled.

NOW THE COMMISSION, being sufficiently advised, finds that there is nothing further to be acted upon in the instant case, and the case
should be closed.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT Case No. PUC-2006-00049 is hereby closed.
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CASE NO. PUC-2006-00085
JUNE 7, 2007

PETITION OF
GRETNA EXCHANGE CUSTOMERS OF PEOPLES MUTUAL TELEPHONE COMPANY, INC

For Extended Local Service to Verizon Virginia, Inc.'s Chatham and Danville Exchanges
FINAL ORDER

On June 20, 2006, telephone customers in Peoples Mutual Telephone Company, Inc.'s ("Peoples") Gretna Exchange petitioned the State
Corporation Commission (“"Commission") for Extended Local Service ("ELS") to the nearby Verizon Virginia Inc. (*Verizon") exchanges of Chatham and
Danville. By Order entered on September 21, 2006, the Commission docketed this matter and prescribed a schedule for Peoples to perform a cost study and
to conduct a poll of its affected customers.

Peoples filed its affidavit with the results of its poll with the Commission on May 2, 2007. The results show that the majority of those responding
opposed the proposal. Peoples polled 3,663 customers, and ballots were returned by 1,326 customers. Of those responding, 672 oppose the extension of
local service and 654 favor it.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the matter, is of the opinion and finds that because a majority of the responding Gretna
Exchange customers voted against extension of local service to the Verizon exchanges of Chatham and Danville, the petition should be denied.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The petition is hereby denied.

(2) There being nothing further to be done herein, this matter is hereby dismissed.

CASE NO. PUC-2006-00087
MAY 2, 2007

APPLICATION OF
CLOSECALL AMERICA, INC. OF VIRGINIA

For certificates of public convenience and necessity to provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services
FINAL ORDER

On December 11, 2006, CloseCall America, Inc. of Virginia ("CloseCall" or the "Company") completed an application for certificates of public
convenience and necessity with the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) to provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications
services throughout the Commonwealth of Virginia." The Company also requested authority to price its interexchange telecommunications services on a
competitive basis pursuant to § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia.

By Order for Notice and Comment dated December 27, 2006, the Commission directed the Company to provide notice to the public of its
application and directed the Commission Staff to conduct an investigation and file a Staff Report. On February 28, 2007, the Company filed proof of
publication and proof of service as required by the December 27, 2006 Order.

On April 9, 2007, the Staff filed its Report finding that CloseCall's application was in compliance with the Rules Governing the Certification and
Regulation of Competitive Local Exchange Carriers, 20 VAC 5-417-10 et seq., and the Rules Governing the Certification of Interexchange Carriers,
20 VAC 5-411-10 et seg. Based upon its review of CloseCall's application, the Staff determined it would be appropriate to grant the Company certificates to
provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services subject to the following conditions: CloseCall should notify the Division of
Economics and Finance no less than 30 days prior to the cancellation or lapse of its bond and should provide a replacement bond at that time. This
requirement should be maintained until such time as the Commission determines it is no longer necessary.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the application and the Staff Report, finds that the Company should be granted certificates to
provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services. Having considered § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia, the Commission further
finds that the Company may price its interexchange telecommunications services competitively.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) CloseCall America, Inc. of Virginia is hereby granted a certificate of public convenience and necessity, No. TT-231A, to provide

interexchange telecommunications services subject to the restrictions set forth in the Commission's Rules Governing the Certification of Interexchange
Carriers, § 56-265.4:4 of the Code of Virginia, and the provisions of this Order.

! The application states the name of the applicant as being CloseCall America of Virginia, Inc. However, the legal name of this Virginia entity, as reflected
in Attachment B to the application, is CloseCall America, Inc. of Virginia. Therefore, the latter will be used on the certificates issued by the Commission.
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(2) CloseCall America, Inc. of Virginia is hereby granted a certificate of public convenience and necessity, No. T-665, to provide local exchange
telecommunications services subject to the restrictions set forth in the Rules Governing the Certification and Regulation of Competitive Local Exchange
Carriers, § 56-265.4:4 of the Code of Virginia, and the provisions of this Order.

(3) Pursuant to § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia, the Company may price its interexchange telecommunications services competitively.
(4) The Company shall provide tariffs to the Division of Communications that conform to all applicable Commission rules and regulations.

(5) CloseCall shall notify the Division of Economics and Finance no less than 30 days prior to the cancellation or lapse of its bond and shall
provide a replacement bond at that time. This requirement shall be maintained until such time as the Commission determines it is no longer necessary.

(6) There being nothing further to come before the Commission, this case shall be dismissed and the papers filed herein placed in the file for
ended causes.

CASE NO. PUC-2006-00116
JANUARY 16, 2007

APPLICATION OF
LTS OF ROCKY MOUNT

For a certificate of public convenience and necessity to provide local exchange telecommunications services
ORDER

On August 30, 2006, LTS of Rocky Mount ("LTS" or the "Company"), filed an application with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") for a certificate of public convenience and necessity to provide local exchange telecommunications services throughout the Commonwealth
of Virginia. On September 29, 2006, LTS amended its application to propose offering a prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications
service in addition to its standard local exchange telecommunications services.

To provide the prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service, LTS requests waivers of Rule 30 A4, Rule 30 A5,
Rule 30 A 6, and Rule 30 E of the Rules Governing the Offering of Competitive Local Exchange Telephone Service, 20 VAC 5-417-10 et seqg. (“Local
Rules™). These specific Local Rules require a new entrant, either directly or through arrangements with others, to provide access to directory assistance;
access to operator services (including collect and third-party billed); and equal access to interLATA and intraLATA services. Also specific to the prepaid
month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service, the Company requests a waiver of Rule 50 D of the Local Rules, limiting the proposed rate for
service provided by a new entrant not to exceed the highest rate of the comparable tariffed services provided by the incumbent local exchange telephone
company or companies in the same local service areas.

By Order for Notice and Comment dated October 10, 2006, the Commission directed the Company to provide notice to the public of its
application and directed the Commission Staff to conduct an investigation and file a Staff Report. On November 20, 2006, LTS filed proof of publication
and proof of service as required by the October 10, 2006 Order.

On December 8, 2006, the Staff filed its Report finding that LTS's application was in compliance with the Local Rules.

The Staff does not oppose granting LTS's request for waivers from certain requirements of the Local Rules applicable only to its month-by-month
prepaid local exchange telecommunications service offering. All other services should be required to meet all the conditions in the Local Rules. The Staff
believes it is appropriate to grant LTS a certificate to provide local exchange telecommunications services subject to certain conditions, as follows:

(1) LTS should notify the Division of Economics and Finance no less than thirty (30) days prior to the cancellation or lapse of its bond and
should provide a replacement bond at that time. This requirement should be maintained until such time as the Commission determines it is no longer
necessary.

(2) Regarding LTS's prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service offering, the Company should provide full disclosure
to consumers about the services and features LTS will and will not furnish to subscribers of its alternative prepaid month-by-month local exchange
telecommunications service. Sales brochures and other marketing and advertising materials should prominently disclose that customers will have no access
to directory assistance, operator services, long distance, collect and third-party calls, or any other pay-for-usage services.

(3) Any waivers granted to LTS in this case for its prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service described in the
Company's filing should be limited solely to that service offering.

(4) Any waivers granted to LTS for its prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service should be subject to revocation,
alteration, or the imposition of additional conditions, such as pricing restrictions, in the event the Commission subsequently determines the service is
operating improperly or is not in the public interest.

(5) Any subsequent increase in the rate for LTS's prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service should be subject to thirty
(30) days' notice to the Commission and notice to customers provided through billing inserts or publication for two (2) consecutive weeks as display
advertising in newspapers having general circulation in the areas served by the Company.

(6) Regarding LTS's prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service offering, the Company should be authorized to bill its
prepaid customers for per-use or per-minute features and services, in limited situations where the Company does not have the ability to block the customers'
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access to those services and features. The Company should be required to provide full disclosure to consumers that per-minute or per-use charges may apply
for certain services or features in these limited circumstances.

(7) Regarding LTS's prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service offering, the Company should be required to clearly
and specifically include any features and services, including rates, in the Company's tariff, for the limited situations where the Company does not have the
ability to block customers' access to features and services that have associated per-use or per-minute charges and that the Company intends to bill to the
customer.

(8) Regarding LTS's prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service offering, the Company should not be granted a waiver
from the price ceiling requirement (Rule 50 D of the Local Rules) in the limited circumstances where the Company is unable to block a customer's access to
certain features and services that have associated per-use or per-minute charges.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the application and the Staff Report, finds that the Company should be granted a certificate to
provide local exchange telecommunications services subject to the conditions set forth below.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) LTS of Rocky Mount is hereby granted a certificate of public convenience and necessity, No. T-662, to provide local exchange
telecommunications services subject to the restrictions set forth in the Local Rules, § 56-265.4:4 of the Code of Virginia, and the provisions of this Order.

(2) The Company shall notify the Division of Economics and Finance no less than thirty (30) days prior to the cancellation or lapse of its bond
and shall provide a replacement bond at that time. This requirement shall be maintained until such time as the Commission determines it is no longer
necessary.

(3) Local Rules 30 A 4,30 A5 30 A6, 30 E, and 50 D are hereby waived for the Company's prepaid month-by-month local exchange
telecommunications service offering described in the application.

(4) The waivers granted herein to LTS for the Company's month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service offering shall be limited
solely to that service offering. The Local Rules shall otherwise apply to all other local exchange telecommunications services provided by the Company.

(5) With regard to the Company's prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service offering, the Company shall not be
granted the requested waiver from the price ceiling requirement of Rule 50 D of the Local Rules in the limited circumstances where the Company is unable
to block a customer's access to certain features and services that have associated per-use or per-minute charges.

(6) Any waivers granted to the Company for its prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service shall be subject to
revocation, alteration, or the imposition of additional conditions, such as pricing restrictions, in the event the Commission subsequently determines the
service is operating improperly or is not in the public interest.

(7) With regard to its prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service offering, the Company shall not be allowed to
collect customer deposits under any circumstances.

(8) The Company shall provide full disclosure to consumers about the services and features the Company will and will not furnish to
subscribers of its alternative prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service. Sales brochures and other marketing and advertising
materials shall prominently disclose that customers will have no access to directory assistance, operator services, long distance, collect and third-party calls,
or any other pay-for-usage services.

(9) Any subsequent increase in the rate for LTS's prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service shall be subject to thirty
(30) days' notice to the Commission, and notice to customers shall be provided through billing inserts or publication for two (2) consecutive weeks as display
advertising in newspapers having general circulation in the areas served by the Company.

(10) The Company is authorized to bill its prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service customers for per-use or
per-minute features and services in limited situations where the Company does not have the ability to block the customers' access to those services and
features. The Company shall provide full disclosure to consumers that per-minute or per-use charges may apply for certain services or features in these
limited circumstances.

(11) With regard to its prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service offering, the Company shall clearly and specifically
include any features and services, including rates, in the Company's tariff for the limited situations where the Company does not have the ability to block
customers' access to features and services that have associated per-use or per-minute charges and that the Company intends to bill to the customer.

(12) The Company shall provide tariffs to the Division of Communications that conform to all applicable Commission rules from which the
Company has not been granted a waiver.

(13) This case shall remain open to evaluate LTS's prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications service offering.



209
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

CASE NO. PUC-2006-00116
FEBRUARY 27, 2007

APPLICATION OF
LTS OF ROCKY MOUNT, LLC

For a certificate of public convenience and necessity to provide local exchange telecommunications services

CORRECTING ORDER

On August 30, 2006, LTS of Rocky Mount, LLC ("LTS" or the "Company"), filed an application with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") for a certificate of public convenience and necessity to provide local exchange telecommunications services throughout the Commonwealth
of Virginia. On September 29, 2006, LTS amended its application to propose offering a prepaid month-by-month local exchange telecommunications
service in addition to its standard local exchange telecommunications services.

Following the December 8, 2006 filing of the Staff Report in this matter, the Commission, by Order entered January 16, 2007, granted LTS a
certificate of public convenience and necessity, No. T-662, based upon the conditions set out in that order. The Staff has now informed the Commission that
the order and certificate No. T-662 did not reflect the full name of LTS, having omitted the "LLC" that designates the Company as a limited liability
company.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having been advised by the Staff, finds that the order entered on January 16, 2007, should be corrected to reflect
LTS's status as a limited liability company.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Commission's order, entered January 16, 2007 in this matter is corrected, in its caption, in its first line, and in its ordering paragraph (1),
to reflect the correct name "LTS of Rocky Mount, LLC."

(2) Certificate of public convenience and necessity No. T-662 is also corrected to reflect the Company's name as "LTS of Rocky Mount, LLC."

(3) Inall other respects, the order entered January 16, 2007, remains unaltered and this case shall remain open to evaluate LTS's prepaid month-
by-month local exchange telecommunications service offering.

CASE NO. PUC-2006-00118
FEBRUARY 1, 2007

APPLICATION OF
NTELOS TELEPHONE INC.

For approval to enter into an amended affiliates agreement pursuant to Chapter 4 of Title 56 of the Code of Virginia

ORDER GRANTING APPROVAL

On September 15, 2006, NTELOS Telephone Inc. ("NTELOS Telephone" or "Applicant") filed a complete application (“Application") with the
State Corporation Commission ("Commission") requesting approval to amend its affiliate agreement ("Agreement")® pursuant to Chapter 4 of Title 56
("Affiliates Act") of the Code of Virginia ("Code"). The Application adds NTELOS Media Inc. ("Media") as a party to the Agreement and adds an
attachment ("Tax Attachment") that formally describes the methodology that is used to allocate federal and state tax liabilities and benefits among the
members (“Members") of NTELOS Telephone's consolidated tax group (“Group"). During the initial review process, NTELOS Telephone determined that
the Tax Attachment required substantial modification. Therefore, on November 15, 2006, the Applicant re-filed the Application and Agreement with a
revised Tax Attachment. The re-filed Application restarted the statutory review period as of November 15, 2006.

NTELOS Telephone is a Virginia public service corporation that provides local exchange telecommunications services to approximately
40,000 access lines in Alleghany and Augusta Counties, the Town of Clifton Forge, and the Cities of Covington and Waynesboro. NTELOS Telephone is a
wholly owned, indirect subsidiary of NTELOS Inc. ("NTELOS").

NTELOS is a Virginia business corporation headquartered in Waynesboro, Virginia, that provides a broad range of telecommunications products
and services to businesses, telecommunications carriers and residential customers in Virginia, West Virginia and surrounding states. NTELOS' primary
services include wireless digital personal communications services (“TCS"), local and long distance telephone services, broadband network services and
high-speed Internet access. NTELOS is a wholly owned subsidiary of NTELOS Holdings Corp. ("Holdings").

! The Commission has approved the Agreement (with amendments) in four previous cases: (1) Application of Clifton Forge- Waynesboro Telephone
Company, For approval of affiliate agreements, Case No. PUA-1988-00015, Order Granting Authority (April 18, 1988), 1988 S.C.C. Ann. Rep. 192;
(2) Application of Clifton Forge-Waynesboro Telephone Company, For authority to modify a previously approved affiliates agreement, Case No.
PUA-1990-00016, Order Granting Authority (April 11, 1990), 1990 S.C.C. Ann. Rep. 202; (3) Application of Clifton Forge-Waynesboro Telephone
Company, For approval of an amended Affiliates Agreement, Case No. PUA-1995-00013, Order Granting Approval (August 4, 1995), 1995 S.C.C. Ann.
Rep. 207; and (4) Application of NTELOS Telephone Inc., For approval to enter into an amended affiliates agreement, Case No. PUC-2003-00105, Order
Granting Approval (September 17, 2003), 2003 S.C.C. Ann. Rep. 281.
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Holdings is a holding company formed by Citigroup Venture Capital Equity Partners, L.P. and certain of its affiliates, and Quadrangle Capital
Partners LLP and certain of its affiliates, for the purpose of purchasing NTELOS, which was acquired in early 2005.

NTELOS Media Inc. ("Media") is a stock company that will be providing Video over Internet Protocol ("IP").

NTELOS Telephone, NTELOS, Holdings and Media are considered affiliated interests under § 56-76 of the Code. As such, NTELOS Telephone
must obtain prior approval from the Commission pursuant to the Affiliates Act for any agreement or arrangement between the companies for the provision of
services, the exchange of property, rights, or things, or the purchase or sale of treasury bonds or stock.

The amended Agreement, which is dated August 31, 2006, lists 19 NTELOS Telephone affiliates including NTELOS Telephone, NTELOS,
Holdings, and Media. Under the amended Agreement, NTELOS Telephone will provide: 1) local telephone services; 2) building space; 3) construction,
maintenance and repair services; 4) access to local loops for the provision of IP video and broadband services; and 5) usage of its 5ESS central processor
common equipment to various affiliates. In turn, NTELOS Telephone will: 1) receive executive, administrative, accounting, revenue billing, regulatory,
marketing and information processing services; 2) lease dark fiber and trunking capacity; and 3) obtain wireless communication services from various
affiliates. In addition, NTELOS Telephone will participate with Holdings in filing consolidated federal and state tax returns. The amended Agreement
becomes effective upon approval by the Commission, and remains in effect until NTELOS Telephone or its affiliates provide written notification of intent to
terminate, which must be provided 30 days in advance of the termination date. Attachment A to the amended Agreement describes the various direct charge
and allocation methodologies that NTELOS Telephone and its affiliates will use to assign costs for services provided and received.

Media Services and Costs

Under the amended Agreement, NTELOS Telephone will provide local telecommunications services to Media at tariffed rates and will provide
construction, maintenance and repair services at full cost.? NTELOS Telephone will also provide access to its local loops to Media for the provision of
IP Video at tariffed rates.

Tax Attachment

NTELOS Telephone participates with Holdings in filing a consolidated federal income tax return in accordance with Title 26, Subtitle A,
Chapter 6, Subchapter A, 88 1501 et seg. and Subchapter B, § 1552 of the Internal Revenue Code, and in accordance with Title 26, Chapter 1, Subchapter A,
Part 1, 88 1.1502-0 et seq. and § 1.1552-1 of the Treasury Regulations. The Tax Attachment lists the 19 NTELOS affiliates as Members of the federal
consolidated tax Group. NTELOS Telephone also participates with Holdings in filing a consolidated state income tax return in accordance with 88 58.1-300
et seq. of the Code. The Tax Attachment provides consolidated tax allocation procedures for federal and state income taxes.

The Tax Attachment states that each Member will pay to Holdings its separate return tax liability ("SRTL), if any, for each consolidated return
year ("Tax Year"). A Member's SRTL is defined as the amount of federal and state income taxes for which it would be liable if it had filed separate federal
and state returns for that Tax Year, computed in accordance with the principles of § 1.1552-1(a)(2)(ii) of the Treasury Regulations.

In turn, Holdings will pay each Member its share of tax savings (“Tax Savings") generated by such Member, if any, for each Tax Year. A
Member's Tax Savings is defined as the portion of consolidated tax savings ("CTS") for the Tax Year that was generated by that Member's federal and state
income tax credits, deductions or losses (“Tax Benefits"), computed in accordance with the principles of § 1.1502-33(d)(3)(ii) of the Treasury Regulations.
The CTS for a Tax Year is the excess, if any, of the sum of the SRTLs of all of the Members over the consolidated tax liability of the Group, computed in
accordance with the principles of § 1.105-2 of the proposed Treasury Regulations.

In no event will the amount paid by a Member to Holdings with respect to a Tax Year be greater than: (i) the amount the Member would have
paid to the Internal Revenue Service if it had filed its federal income tax return on a separate return basis, and (ii) the amount the Member would pay the
applicable state taxing authority if it had filed its state income tax return on a separate return basis.

Once a Member has been compensated for the use of Tax Benefits, those Tax Benefits will not be included in the calculation of the Member's
SRTL. If a Member has a federal SRTL and a state Tax Benefit (or vice versa), the two amounts will be netted to determine the amount payable to
Holdings.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the Application and having been advised by its Staff, is of the opinion and finds that the
Applicant's request for approval of the amended Agreement is in the public interest and should be approved.

As noted earlier, we have approved the Agreement (with amendments) several times before. The amended Agreement simply adds Media as a
party to the Agreement and adds a Tax Attachment that formally documents the federal and state tax allocation procedures for NTELOS Telephone's
consolidated tax Group. We will, however, subject our approval to certain requirements as described below.

First, we will limit our approval to the specific affiliate services identified by NTELOS Telephone in the Agreement and Application. Any
additional services should require separate approval. Second, our approval will have no ratemaking implications. Third, we will reserve the right to reflect
ratemaking adjustments to NTELOS Telephone's income taxes in the course of our analysis and review of NTELOS Telephone's cost of service in the future.
We will also require NTELOS Telephone to prepare an annual schedule providing a detailed reconciliation of its allocation of consolidated federal and state
tax liabilities to what such liabilities would have been on a separate return basis. This tax schedule should be included in NTELOS Telephone's Annual
Report of Affiliate Transactions ("ARAT") to be submitted to the Director of Public Utility Accounting each year.

Finally, we will require NTELOS Telephone to bear the burden of showing that it charged the higher of cost or market for non-tariffed services
provided to its affiliates where a market and a market price exists. Where no market exists, NTELOS Telephone should charge full cost. Likewise,
NTELOS Telephone should bear the burden to show that, for non-tariffed services obtained from its affiliates where a market and a market price exists,
NTELOS Telephone paid the lower of cost or market. Where no market exists, NTELOS Telephone should pay full cost.

2 Full cost = Fully distributed cost.
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We note that all of these requirements, with the exception of the tax schedule, have been adopted before in similar affiliate cases.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

1) Pursuant to § 56-77 of the Code of Virginia, NTELOS Telephone Inc. is hereby granted approval of its amended Affiliates Agreement as
described herein, consistent with the findings above.

2) Services provided by or to NTELOS Telephone, and costs charged by or to NTELOS Telephone, shall be limited to those specifically
described in the Agreement and the Application. Additional services will require separate approval.

3) The approval granted herein shall have no ratemaking implications.

4) The Commission reserves the right to reflect ratemaking adjustments to NTELOS Telephone's income taxes in the course of the
Commission's review and analysis of NTELOS Telephone's cost of service in the future.

5) NTELOS Telephone shall bear the burden of showing that it charged the higher of cost or market for non-tariffed services provided to its
affiliates where a market and a market price exists. Where no market exists, NTELOS Telephone shall charge full cost. Likewise, NTELOS Telephone
shall bear the burden to show that, for non-tariffed services obtained from its affiliates where a market and a market price exists, NTELOS Telephone paid
the lower of cost or market. Where no market exists, NTELOS Telephone shall pay full cost.

6) Commission approval shall be required for any changes in the terms and conditions of the amended Agreement, including successors and
assigns.

7) The approval granted herein shall not preclude the Commission from exercising the provisions of §§ 56-78 and 56-80 of the Code of
Virginia hereafter.

8) The Commission reserves the right to examine the books and records of any affiliate in connection with the approval granted herein whether
or not such affiliate is regulated by this Commission.

9) NTELOS Telephone shall include the transactions associated with the Agreement approved herein in its ARAT submitted to the Director of
Public Utility Accounting of the Commission each year. NTELOS Telephone shall also prepare an annual schedule providing a detailed reconciliation of its
allocation of consolidated federal and state tax liabilities to what such liabilities would have been on a separate return basis, and submit this tax schedule
with its ARAT.

10) In the event that any rate filings are not based on a calendar year, then NTELOS Telephone shall include the affiliate information contained
in the ARAT in such filings.

11) There appearing nothing further to be done in this matter, it hereby is dismissed.

CASE NO. PUC-2006-00119
FEBRUARY 1, 2007

APPLICATION OF
ROANOKE & BOTETOURT TELEPHONE COMPANY

For approval to enter into an amended affiliates agreement pursuant to Chapter 4 of Title 56 of the Code of Virginia

ORDER GRANTING APPROVAL

On September 15, 2006, Roanoke & Botetourt Telephone Company ("R&B Telephone™ or "Applicant") filed a complete application
("Application") with the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") requesting approval to amend its affiliate agreement ("Agreement”)* pursuant to
Chapter 4 of Title 56 ("Affiliates Act") of the Code of Virginia ("Code"). The Application adds NTELOS Media Inc. ("Media") as a party to the Agreement
and adds an attachment (“Tax Attachment") that formally describes the methodology that is utilized to allocate federal and state tax liabilities and benefits
among the members ("Members") of R&B Telephone's consolidated tax group ("Group"). During the initial review process, R&B Telephone determined
that the Tax Attachment required substantial modification. Therefore, on November 15, 2006, the Applicant re-filed the Application and Agreement with a
revised Tax Attachment. The re-filed Application restarted the statutory review period as of November 15, 2006.

R&B Telephone is a Virginia public service corporation that provides local exchange telecommunications services to approximately
12,000 access lines in Botetourt County. R&B Telephone is a wholly owned, indirect subsidiary of NTELOS Inc. (“"NTELOS").

' The Commission has approved the Agreement (with amendments) in four previous cases: (1) Application of Clifton Forge- Wayneshoro Telephone
Company, For approval of affiliate agreements, Case No. PUA-1988-00015, Order Granting Authority (April 18, 1988), 1988 S.C.C. Ann. Rep. 192;
(2) Application of Clifton Forge-Waynesboro Telephone Company, For authority to modify a previously approved affiliates agreement, Case No.
PUA-1990-00016, Order Granting Authority (April 11, 1990), 1990 S.C.C. Ann. Rep. 202; (3) Application of Clifton Forge-Waynesboro Telephone
Company, For approval of an amended Affiliates Agreement, Case No. PUA-1995-00013, Order Granting Approval (August 4, 1995), 1995 S.C.C. Ann.
Rep. 207; and (4) Application of NTELOS Telephone Inc., For approval to enter into an amended affiliates agreement, Case No. PUC-2003-00105, Order
Granting Approval (September 17, 2003), 2003 S.C.C. Ann. Rep. 281.
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NTELOS is a Virginia business corporation headquartered in Waynesboro, Virginia, that provides a broad range of telecommunications products
and services to businesses, telecommunications carriers and residential customers in Virginia, West Virginia and surrounding states. NTELOS' primary
services include wireless digital personal communications services ("PCS"), local and long distance telephone services, broadband network services and
high-speed Internet access. NTELOS is a wholly owned subsidiary of NTELOS Holdings Corp. (“Holdings").

Holdings is a holding company formed by Citigroup Venture Capital Equity Partners, L.P. and certain of its affiliates, and Quadrangle Capital
Partners LLP and certain of its affiliates, for the purpose of purchasing NTELOS, which was acquired in early 2005.

NTELOS Media Inc. ("Media") is a stock company that will be providing Video over Internet Protocol ("IP").

R&B Telephone, NTELOS, Holdings and Media are considered affiliated interests under § 56-76 of the Code. As such, R&B Telephone must
obtain prior approval from the Commission pursuant to the Affiliates Act for any agreement or arrangement between the companies for the provision of
services, the exchange of property, rights, or things, or the purchase or sale of treasury bonds or stock.

The amended Agreement, which is dated August 31, 2006, lists 19 R&B Telephone affiliates including R&B Telephone, NTELOS, Holdings,
and Media. Under the amended Agreement, R&B Telephone will provide: 1) local telephone services; 2) building space; 3) construction, maintenance and
repair services; 4) access to local loops for the provision of IP video and broadband services; and 5) usage of its 5ESS central processor common equipment
to various affiliates. In turn, R&B Telephone will: 1) receive executive, administrative, accounting, revenue billing, regulatory, marketing and information
processing services; 2) lease dark fiber and trunking capacity; and 3) obtain wireless communication services from various affiliates. In addition, R&B
Telephone will participate with Holdings in filing consolidated federal and state tax returns. The amended Agreement becomes effective upon approval by
the Commission, and remains in effect until R&B Telephone or its affiliates provide written notification of intent to terminate, which must be provided
30 days in advance of the termination date. Attachment A to the amended Agreement describes the various direct charge and allocation methodologies that
R&B Telephone and its affiliates will use to assign costs for services provided and received.

Media Services and Costs

Under the amended Agreement, R&B Telephone will provide local telecommunications services to Media at tariffed rates and will provide
construction, maintenance and repair services at full cost.? R&B Telephone will also provide access to its local loops to Media for the provision of LP
Video at tariffed rates.

Tax Attachment

R&B Telephone participates with Holdings in filing a consolidated federal income tax return in accordance with Title 26, Subtitle A, Chapter 6,
Subchapter A, 88 1501 et seq. and Subchapter B, § 1552 of the Internal Revenue Code, and in accordance with Title 26, Chapter 1, Subchapter A, Part 1,
88 1.1502-0 et seq. and § 1.15 52-1 of the Treasury Regulations. The Tax Attachment lists the 19 R&B Telephone affiliates as Members of the federal
consolidated tax Group. R&B Telephone also participates with Holdings in filing a consolidated state income tax return in accordance with §§ 58.1-300 et
seg. of the Code. The Tax Attachment provides consolidated tax allocation procedures for federal and state income taxes.

The Tax Attachment states that each Member will pay to Holdings its separate return tax liability ("SRTL"), if any, for each consolidated return
year ("Tax Year"). A Member's SRTL is defined as the amount of federal and state income taxes for which it would be liable if it had filed separate federal
and state returns for that Tax Year, computed in accordance with the principles of § 1.1552-1(a)(2)(ii) of the Treasury Regulations.

In turn, Holdings will pay each Member its share of tax savings ("Tax Savings") generated by such Member, if any, for each Tax Year. A
Member's Tax Savings is defined as the portion of consolidated tax savings ("CTS") for the Tax Year that was generated by that Member's federal and state
income tax credits, deductions or losses ("“Tax Benefits"), computed in accordance with the principles of § 1.1502-33(d)(3)(ii) of the Treasury Regulations.
The CTS for a Tax Year is the excess, if any, of the sum of the SRTLs of all of the Members over the consolidated tax liability of the Group, computed in
accordance with the principles of § 1.105-2 of the proposed Treasury Regulations.

In no event will the amount paid by a Member to Holdings with respect to a Tax Year be greater than: (i) the amount the Member would have
paid to the Internal Revenue Service if it had filed its federal income tax return on a separate return basis, and (ii) the amount the Member would pay the
applicable state taxing authority if it had filed its state income tax return on a separate return basis.

Once a Member has been compensated for the use of Tax Benefits, those Tax Benefits will not be included in the calculation of the Member's
SRTL. If a Member has a federal SRTL and a state Tax Benefit (or vice versa), the two amounts will be netted to determine the amount payable to
Holdings.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the Application and having been advised by its Staff, is of the opinion and finds that the
Applicant's request for approval of the amended Agreement is in the public interest and should be approved.

As noted earlier, we have approved the Agreement (with amendments) several times before. The amended Agreement simply adds Media as a
party to the Agreement and adds a Tax Attachment that formally documents the federal and state tax allocation procedures for R&B Telephone's
consolidated tax Group. We will, however, subject our approval to certain requirements as described below.

First, we will limit our approval to the specific affiliate services identified by R&B Telephone in the Agreement and Application. Any additional
services should require separate approval. Second, our approval will have no ratemaking implications. Third, we will reserve the right to reflect ratemaking
adjustments to R&B Telephone's income taxes in the course of our analysis and review of R&B Telephone's cost of service in the future. We will also
require R&B Telephone to prepare an annual schedule providing a detailed reconciliation of its allocation of consolidated federal and state tax liabilities to
what such liabilities would have been on a separate return basis. This tax schedule should be included in R&B Telephone's Annual Report of Affiliate
Transactions ("ARAT") to be submitted to the Director of Public Utility Accounting each year.

2 Full cost = Fully distributed cost.
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Finally, we will require R&B Telephone to bear the burden of showing that it charged the higher of cost or market for non-tariffed services
provided to its affiliates where a market and a market price exists. Where no market exists, R&B Telephone should charge full cost. Likewise, R&B
Telephone should bear the burden to show that, for non-tariffed services obtained from its affiliates where a market and a market price exists, R&B
Telephone paid the lower of cost or market. Where no market exists, R&B Telephone should pay full cost.

We note that all of these requirements, with the exception of the tax schedule, have been adopted before in similar affiliate cases.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

1) Pursuant to § 56-77 of the Code of Virginia, Roanoke & Botetourt Telephone Company is hereby granted approval of its amended Affiliates
Agreement as described herein, consistent with the findings above.

2)  Services provided by or to R&B Telephone, and costs charged by or to R&B Telephone, shall be limited to those specifically described in
the Agreement and the Application. Additional services will require separate approval.

3) The approval granted herein shall have no ratemaking implications.

4) The Commission reserves the right to reflect ratemaking adjustments to R&B Telephone's income taxes in the course of the Commission's
review and analysis of R&B Telephone's cost of service in the future.

5) R&B Telephone shall bear the burden of showing that it charged the higher of cost or market for non-tariffed services provided to its
affiliates where a market and a market price exists. Where no market exists, R&B Telephone shall charge full cost. Likewise, R&B Telephone shall bear
the burden to show that, for non-tariffed services obtained from its affiliates where a market and a market price exists, R&B Telephone paid the lower of cost
or market. Where no market exists, R&B Telephone shall pay full cost.

6) Commission approval shall be required for any changes in the terms and conditions of the amended Agreement, including successors and
assigns.

7) The approval granted herein shall not preclude the Commission from exercising the provisions of 88 56-78 and 56-80 of the Code of
Virginia hereafter.

8) The Commission reserves the right to examine the books and records of any affiliate in connection with the approval granted herein whether
or not such affiliate is regulated by this Commission.

9) R&B Telephone shall include the transactions associated with the Agreement approved herein in its ARAT submitted to the Director of
Public Utility Accounting of the Commission each year. R&B Telephone shall also prepare an annual schedule providing a detailed reconciliation of its
allocation of consolidated federal and state tax liabilities to what such liabilities would have been on a separate return basis, and submit this tax schedule
with its ARAT.

10) In the event that any rate filings are not based on a calendar year, then R&B Telephone shall include the affiliate information contained in
the ARAT in such filings.

11) There appearing nothing further to be done in this matter, it hereby is dismissed.

CASE NO. PUC-2006-00123
AUGUST 30, 2007

PETITION OF
GRETNA AND RENAN EXCHANGE CUSTOMERS OF PEOPLES MUTUAL TELEPHONE COMPANY, INC.

For Extended Local Service to Verizon Virginia Inc.'s Lynchburg Exchange
FINAL ORDER

On September 7, 2006, telephone customers in Peoples Mutual Telephone Company, Inc.'s (“Peoples”) Gretna and Renan exchanges petitioned
the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) for Extended Local Service ("ELS") to the nearby Verizon Virginia Inc. (*Verizon") Lynchburg
Exchange. By Order entered September 29, 2006, the Commission docketed this matter and prescribed a schedule for Peoples to perform a cost study and to
conduct a poll of its affected customers.

Peoples filed its cost study on November 17, 2006. Based upon that cost study, Peoples mailed ballots to its Gretna and Renan exchange
customers. Balloting was completed by April 4, 2007, and Peoples filed an affidavit on May 2, 2007 confirming that 1,529 ballots had been returned from
the 3,125 mailed to its customers. Of the ballots returned, 785 favored the proposed ELS and 744 opposed it. The ballots favoring ELS constituted a
majority of 51.3%.

Verizon then determined the additional costs that would need to be imposed upon its Lynchburg customers if two-way ELS were established to
Peoples' Gretna and Renan exchanges. Verizon reported to the Commission's Staff that the amount of additional cost per customer in the Lynchburg
Exchange did not justify increasing the applicable tariffed rates in Lynchburg. Because no rates would be increased in Lynchburg, there was no need to poll
those customers regarding their willingness to pay higher rates for the proposed ELS to Gretna and to Renan. Nonetheless, Verizon is required by Va. Code
§ 56-484.2(C) to notify its Lynchburg customers that ELS to the Gretna and Renan exchanges will be implemented.
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NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter and applicable law, is of the opinion and finds that, because a majority of Peoples'
customers responding voted for ELS from the two Peoples exchanges to Verizon's Lynchburg Exchange, the petition should be approved. The two
companies, no later than ninety (90) days after this order, shall implement the extended calling at a mutually convenient date, following Verizon's notifying
its Lynchburg Exchange customers that, as of the designated effective date, toll calling will no longer be required for calls to the Gretna and Renan
exchanges.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The proposed extension of local service between Peoples' Gretna and Renan exchanges and Verizon's Lynchburg Exchange shall be
implemented within ninety (90) days of the date of this order.

(2) Peoples and Verizon shall file the tariff revisions necessary for the proposed ELS and coordinate implementing ELS.

(3) Verizon shall file proof of its notice to its Lynchburg customers regarding eliminating toll calls to Peoples' Gretna and Renan customers.
Peoples shall notify its Gretna and Renan customers regarding eliminating toll calls to Verizon's Lynchburg customers.

(4) Peoples and Verizon shall each file with the Commission notice of the successful implementation of ELS.

(5) This matter is dismissed and the papers filed herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. PUC-2006-00136
MARCH 8, 2007

APPLICATION OF
PELZER COMMUNICATIONS OF VIRGINIA, INC.

For certificates of public convenience and necessity to provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services
FINAL ORDER

On October 10, 2006, Pelzer Communications of Virginia, Inc. ("Pelzer" or the "Company"), filed an application with the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) for certificates of public convenience and necessity to provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services
throughout the Commonwealth of Virginia. The Company also requested authority to price its interexchange telecommunications services on a competitive
basis pursuant to § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia.

By Order for Notice and Comment dated November 3, 2006, the Commission directed the Company to provide notice to the public of its
application and directed the Commission Staff to conduct an investigation and file a Staff Report. On December 11, 2006, Pelzer filed proof of publication
and proof of service as required by the November 3, 2006 Order.

On February 5, 2007, the Staff filed its Report finding that Pelzer's application was in compliance with the Rules Governing the Certification and
Regulation of Competitive Local Exchange Carriers, 20 VAC 5-417-10 et seq., and the Rules Governing the Certification of Interexchange Carriers,
20 VAC 5-411-10 et seq. Based upon its review of Pelzer's application, the Staff determined it would be appropriate to grant the Company certificates to
provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services, subject to the following condition: Pelzer should notify the Division of Economics
and Finance no less than 30 days prior to the cancellation or lapse of its bond and should provide a replacement bond at that time. This requirement should
be maintained until such time as the Commission determines it is no longer necessary.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the application and the Staff Report, finds that the Company should be granted certificates to
provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services. Having considered § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia, the Commission further
finds that the Company may price its interexchange telecommunications services competitively.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Pelzer Communications of Virginia, Inc., is hereby granted a certificate of public convenience and necessity, No. TT-228A, to provide
interexchange telecommunications services subject to the restrictions set forth in the Commission's Rules Governing the Certification of Interexchange
Carriers, § 56-265.4:4 of the Code of Virginia, and the provisions of this Order.

(2) Pelzer Communications of Virginia, Inc., is hereby granted a certificate of public convenience and necessity, No. T-663, to provide local
exchange telecommunications services subject to the restrictions set forth in the Rules Governing the Certification and Regulation of Competitive Local
Exchange Carriers, § 56-265.4:4 of the Code of Virginia, and the provisions of this Order.

(3) Pursuant to § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia, the Company may price its interexchange telecommunications services competitively.

(4) The Company shall provide tariffs to the Division of Communications that conform with all applicable Commission rules and regulations.

(5) Pelzer shall notify the Division of Economics and Finance no less than thirty (30) days prior to the cancellation or lapse of its bond and shall
provide a replacement bond at that time. This requirement shall be maintained until such time as the Commission determines it is no longer necessary.

(6) There being nothing further to come before the Commission, this case shall be dismissed and the papers filed herein placed in the file for
ended causes.
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CASE NO. PUC-2006-00141
APRIL 3, 2007

APPLICATION OF

CLEARLINX NETWORKS (VIRGINIA) LLC
and

EXTENET SYSTEMS (VIRGINIA) LLC

For cancellation of certificates of public convenience and necessity to provide local and interexchange telecommunications services and to reissue
certificates reflecting new corporate name

EINAL ORDER

On November 2, 2006, an application was filed with the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") for cancellation of the certificates of
public convenience and necessity to provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services issued to ClearLinx Networks (Virginia) LLC
("ClearLinx™) and to reissue the certificates of public convenience and necessity to ExteNet Systems (Virginia) LLC ("ExteNet") to reflect the company
name change.

On December 20, 2006, the Commission entered an Order finding that the certificates of public convenience and necessity to provide local
exchange and interexchange telecommunications services issued to ClearLinx should be cancelled and new certificates should be issued reflecting the new
corporate name, ExteNet, on the condition that the letter of credit submitted by ClearLinx in the course of obtaining the initial certificates of public
convenience and necessity in Case No. PUC-2005-00161 be amended to reflect the new corporate name, ExteNet, or otherwise replaced. The Order required
that the new or amended letter of credit or bond be submitted to the Commission's Division of Economics and Finance ("Division™) within 30 days of the
December 20, 2006 Order.

On January 23, 2007, the Commission granted ExteNet's Motion to Extend Date By Which ExteNet Systems (Virginia) LLC Must Provide New
or Amended Continuous Performance or Surety Bond or Irrevocable Letter of Credit ("Motion"). In its Motion, ExteNet asked that the date by which it must
provide a new or amended irrevocable letter of credit or a continuous performance or surety bond be extended to March 20, 2007, and that the date by which
ExteNet must file its revised tariffs be extended to April 20, 2007.

On February 13, 2007, ExteNet provided the Commission's Division of Economics and Finance with a Notification of Extension to Letter of
Credit SLC302101 in the name of ExteNet Systems (Virginia) LLC in satisfaction of Ordering Paragraph (6) of the Commission's December 20, 2006 Order
as amended by Ordering Paragraph (1) of the January 23, 2007 Order Granting Motion.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the matter, is of the opinion and finds that ExteNet has satisfied the condition established by
the Commission for reissuance of the certificates reflecting ExteNet's new corporate name.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Ordering Paragraphs (2) through (5) of the Commission's December 20, 2006 Order are in full effect and the new certificates shall be issued
to ExteNet Systems (Virginia) LLC.

(2) Certificate No. T-649 authorizing ClearLinx Networks (Virginia) LLC to provide local exchange telecommunications services throughout the
Commonwealth shall be cancelled.

(3) ExteNet Systems (Virginia) LLC shall be granted a certificate of public convenience and necessity, Certificate No. T-649a, to provide local
exchange telecommunications services subject to all restrictions and conditions imposed on Certificate No. T-649.

(4) Certificate No. TT-219A authorizing ClearLinx Networks (Virginia) LLC to provide interexchange telecommunications services throughout
the Commonwealth is hereby cancelled.

(5) ExteNet Systems (Virginia) LLC shall be granted a certificate of public convenience and necessity, Certificate No. TT-219B, to provide
interexchange telecommunications services subject to all restrictions and conditions imposed on Certificate No. TT-219A.

(6) Ordering Paragraph 7 of the December 20, 2006 Order, as amended by Ordering Paragraph (1) of the January 3, 2006 Order Granting
Motion, remains in effect so that ExteNet shall provide revised tariffs reflecting its new corporate name to the Commission's Division of Communications to
no later than April 20, 2007.

(7) There being nothing further to come before the Commission, this case shall be dismissed and the papers filed herein placed in the file for
ended causes.



216
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

CASE NO. PUC-2006-00152
APRIL 10, 2007

APPLICATION OF
MY TEL CO, INC.

For certificates of public convenience and necessity to provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services
FINAL ORDER

On December 1, 2006, My Tel Co, Inc. ("My Tel" or the "Company"), filed an application for certificates of public convenience and necessity
with the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) to provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services throughout the
Commonwealth of Virginia. The Company also requested authority to price its interexchange telecommunications services on a competitive basis pursuant
to § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia.

By Order for Notice and Comment dated December 27, 2006, the Commission directed the Company to provide notice to the public of its
application and directed the Commission Staff to conduct an investigation and file a Staff Report. On January 30, 2007, the Company filed proof of
publication and proof of service as required by the December 27, 2006 Order.

On February 28, 2007, the Staff filed its Report finding that My Tel's application was in compliance with the Rules Governing the Certification
and Regulation of Competitive Local Exchange Carriers, 20 VAC 5-417-10 et seg., and the Rules Governing the Certification of Interexchange Carriers,
20 VAC 5-411-10 et seq. Based upon its review of My Tel's application, the Staff determined it would be appropriate to grant the Company certificates to
provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services subject to the following condition: My Tel should notify the Division of Economics
and Finance no less than thirty (30) days prior to the cancellation or lapse of its bond and should provide a replacement bond at that time. This requirement
should be maintained until such time as the Commission determines it is no longer necessary.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the application and the Staff Report, finds that the Company should be granted certificates to
provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services. Having considered § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia, the Commission further
finds that the Company may price its interexchange telecommunications services competitively.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) My Tel Co, Inc. is hereby granted a certificate of public convenience and necessity, No. TT-229A, to provide interexchange
telecommunications services subject to the restrictions set forth in the Commission's Rules Governing the Certification of Interexchange Carriers,
§ 56-265.4:4 of the Code of Virginia, and the provisions of this Order.

(2) My Tel Co, Inc. is hereby granted a certificate of public convenience and necessity, T-664, to provide local exchange telecommunications
services subject to the restrictions set forth in the Rules Governing the Certification and Regulation of Competitive Local Exchange Carriers, § 56-265.4:4 of
the Code of Virginia, and the provisions of this Order.

(3) Pursuant to § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia, the Company may price its interexchange telecommunications services competitively.

(4) The Company shall provide tariffs to the Division of Communications that conform to all applicable Commission rules and regulations.

(5) My Tel shall notify the Division of Economics and Finance no less than thirty (30) days prior to the cancellation or lapse of its bond and shall
provide a replacement bond at that time. This requirement shall be maintained until such time as the Commission determines it is no longer necessary.

(6) There being nothing further to come before the Commission, this case shall be dismissed and the papers filed herein shall be placed in the file
for ended causes.

CASE NOS. PUC-2006-00154 and PUC-2007-00033
APRIL 30, 2007

APPLICATION OF
VERIZON VIRGINIA INC.,
VERIZON SOUTH INC.
and
MCIMETRO ACCESS TRANSMISSION SERVICES OF VIRGINIA, INC.
For Modification to Rules Governing Certification and Regulation of Competitive Local Exchange Carriers, 20 VAC 5-417-10 et seq.

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: Amendment of Rules Governing the Certification and Regulation of Competitive Local Exchange Carriers

ORDER ON APPLICATION AND ESTABLISHING PROCEEDING

On December 1, 2006, Verizon Virginia Inc., Verizon South Inc., and MCImetro Access Transmission Services of Virginia, Inc. (collectively,
"Verizon") filed an application with the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") requesting “that the Commission initiate a rulemaking proceeding,
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pursuant to 5 VAC 5-20-100 (A), for the purpose of adopting regulations that would establish a cap on the intrastate access rates that [competitive local
exchange carriers (CLECs')] may charge."* Verizon "proposes that the Commission adopt a rule specifying that CLEC intrastate access rates may not
exceed the access rates currently charged by the competing [incumbent local exchange carrier (ILEC")] in the same service area."?

Verizon asserts that the Commission "can accomplish this either by modifying the existing rule, 20 VAC 5-417-50 (D), or by creating a new
rule."® Specifically, Verizon proposes that the Commission adopt the following language:

A competitive local exchange carrier (CLEC) may not charge switched access rates that are higher than those of
a competing incumbent local exchange carrier (ILEC) serving the same geographic location. A CLEC's
aggregate charges for all of the rate elements that comprise its switched access service may not exceed the
ILEC's aggregate charges for all rate elements that comprise its switched access service. If an ILEC lowers its
access rates either pursuant to an order of the commission or on its own, then, no more than 90 days afterward,
CLECs must adjust their access rates, as appropriate, so that they are not higher than the ILEC's new access
rates. A CLEC may only impose charges for those functions that the carrier actually provides.

For purposes of this rule, a competing incumbent local exchange carrier shall mean the ILEC that serves the
same geographic area in which the CLEC operates.*

On December 27, 2006, the Commission issued an Order for Notice and Comment that docketed this proceeding, provided interested persons and
the Commission's Division of Communications ("'Staff") an opportunity to file written comments, and allowed Verizon to file a response.

PAETEC Communications of Virginia, Inc., and US LEC of Virginia, L.L.C. (collectively, "PAETEC/US LEC") filed comments on January 31,
2007. PAETEC/US LEC assert that "it would be inappropriate for the Commission to generally revise CLEC access charges, as suggested by Verizon, so
that they would be equivalent to the local ILEC's intrastate access charges.”® In addition, "if the Commission feels constrained to act with regard to CLECs
whose access charges are significantly above the ILEC's, PAETEC/US LEC suggest: (i) that the Commission consider specifying a benchmark level of
CLEC aggregate access rates, to be determined after further proceedings, that would continue to provide CLECs with adequate additional revenues and
support; (ii) that any required reduction of CLEC access rates should be phased-in over a transition period of three years; and (iii) that CLECs should
continue to be permitted to adopt their own access rate structures, including having a single access charge rate element."®

The Small Company Committee of the Virginia Telecommunications Industry Association (“Small ILECs") submitted comments on January 31,
2007.” The Small ILECs contend that "[t]here is no basis for the Commission to extend the issues raised in Verizon's Application as support for a separate
generic proceeding regarding the access charge structure for the Small ILECs."®

Cavalier Telephone, LLC, NTELOS Network Inc., and XO Virginia, LLC (collectively, "Cavalier/NTELOS/XQO") filed comments on February 1,
2007. Cavalier/NTELOS/XO "respectfully request that the Commission deny the Verizon Petition and defer any action on access charges at this time. . . .
[T]he Commission should recognize that the existing CLEC rule is a validation of the fact that Verizon and CLECs face different economic realities and
different cost structures. Unless Verizon can show that such differences are somehow mitigated by its reemergence as the dominant landline and long
distance monopolist, no changes to the CLEC rule should be made."®

Cox Virginia Telcom, Inc. ("Cox Telcom") filed comments on February 1, 2007. Cox Telcom "respectfully requests that the Commission deny
Verizon's request to establish a cap on competitive LEC intrastate access charges. In the alternative, the Commission should wait until the [Federal
Communications Commission's ("FCC')] proceeding on intercarrier compensation is resolved before making any adjustments to competitive LEC intrastate
access rates in Virginia. If adjustments are necessary before the FCC proceeding is resolved, Cox Telcom respectfully requests in the alternative that the
Commission adopt a phased-in approach of three years and remove the cap on local service rates assessed by competitive LECs."*°

AT&T Communications of Virginia, LLC, and TCG Virginia, Inc. (collectively, "AT&T") filed comments on February 1, 2007. AT&T states
that "[n]ot only should the Commission require CLECs to cap intrastate switched access rates at the Verizon Virginia rate level, it should also require
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" The Small Company Committee's members are as follows: Buggs Island Telephone Cooperative; Burke's Garden Telephone Co., Inc.; Citizens Telephone
Cooperative, Inc.; Highland Telephone Cooperative; MGW Telephone Company; New Hope Telephone Company; North River Telephone Cooperative;
NTELOS Telephone Company; Pembroke Telephone Cooperative; Peoples Mutual Telephone Company; Roanoke and Botetourt Telephone Company;
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Virginia's other ILECs to cap their intrastate access rates as well, at either the Verizon Virginia rate or the company's interstate rate, whichever is higher. As
the Verizon Virginia and interstate rates change over time, the Virginia intrastate access cap should follow in lockstep. At the same time it implements the
access cap, the Commission should also afford the CLECs and ILECs greater retail pricing flexibility."**

United Telephone-Southeast, Inc., and Central Telephone Company of Virginia (collectively, "Embarq") filed comments on February 1, 2007.
Embarg “encourages the Commission to adopt Verizon's proposed rule changes that would cap the intrastate access charges of CLECs [and] urges the
Commission not to undertake a generic proceeding to examine the appropriate levels of the intrastate access charges of ILECs."*?

Sprint Communications Company of Virginia, Inc., ASC Telecom, Inc., Sprint Spectrum, L.P., Sprintcom, Inc., Nextel Communications of the
Mid-Atlantic, Inc., and NPCR, Inc. d/b/a Nextel Partners (collectively, “Sprint Nextel") filed comments on February 1, 2007. Sprint Nextel states that
"[i]ntrastate switched access rates should be set at cost or, at very least, at parity with interstate rates. Sprint [Nextel] encourages the Commission to take
this opportunity to consider the appropriate level of intrastate switched access charges for all local exchange carriers in a generic proceeding. Further, any
consideration of Verizon's retail deregulation request in PUC-2007-00008 should be linked to reform of Verizon's switched access rates."**

Qwest Communications Corporation of Virginia ("Qwest") filed comments on February 1, 2007. Qwest "urges the Commission to adopt the
proposed modifications . .. recommended by Verizon, as supplemented by" the following language: "In addition, a CLEC's tariff and billing statements
must separately identify and separately price each switched access service element for which it charges. If technically feasible, the level of disaggregation
should mirror the rate element structure used by the competing ILEC."**

The Office of the Attorney General, Division of Consumer Counsel (“Consumer Counsel) filed comments on February 1, 2007. Consumer
Counsel "agrees that some reduction in access charges towards cost may be warranted, but has concerns about Verizon's proposed rule. If the Commission
determines to reduce the level of access charges of CLECs, the Commission may also want to consider the appropriate level(s) of intrastate switched access
charges for all local exchange carriers in a generic proceeding."*®

The Staff filed comments on February 23, 2007. The Staff concluded that the "Commission should require CLECs to lower their switched access
rates to levels that do not exceed those of the ILECs," and the Staff suggested modifications to Verizon's proposed rule.’® The Staff also stated that “the
Commission should implement a transition period for CLECs to phase down their existing rates to the new switched access charge ceilings. Furthermore,
we suggest that the Commission modify the CLEC Rules to provide additional pricing and tariff filing flexibility."*” In addition, the Staff asserted that:
(1) "the Commission can review the intrastate access charges of LECs (or groups of LECs) in separate proceedings" and that "[sJuch an approach may be
more expedient;" (2) “the Commission should initiate an investigation into the appropriate level of access charges for the Embarg companies;" and (3) “[t]he
Commission should consider whether it is timely to initiate an investigation to evaluate the intrastate switched access charges of the small telephone
companies (and cooperatives) where it can address various issues."*®

Verizon filed a response on March 9, 2007. Verizon responded to the previously filed comments and "urges the Commission to proceed quickly
to establish a price ceiling for CLEC intrastate switched access rates that mirrors the comparable ILECs' access rates, and require compliance with that
ceiling quickly."*®

On March 21, 2007, PAETEC/US LEC filed reply comments and moved for leave to file the same. On March 23, 2007, Cavalier/NTELOS/XO
filed reply comments and a Motion for Leave to Respond to Verizon. On March 23, 2007, Cox Telcom filed reply comments and a Motion for Leave to File
Reply Comments.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the application shall be granted in part and denied in
part and that we shall initiate a rulemaking proceeding as set forth herein.

Verizon's application requests "that the Commission initiate a rulemaking proceeding ... for the purpose of adopting regulations that would
establish a cap on the intrastate access rates that CLECs may charge."® We grant the application to the extent that we are initiating such a proceeding,
which shall be docketed as Case No. PUC-2007-00033. Virginia statutory law requires that the "Commission, in resolving issues and cases concerning local
exchange telephone service under [Title 56], shall, consistent with federal and state laws, consider it in the public interest to, as appropriate, (i) treat all
providers of local exchange telephone services in an equitable fashion and without undue discrimination and, to the greatest extent possible, apply the same
rules to all providers of local exchange telephone services; . . .."? We find that the disparity between Verizon's intrastate access rates and CLECS' intrastate

™ AT&T's February 1, 2007 comments at 16.

2 Embarq's February 1, 2007 comments at 4.
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2 Application at 14.
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access rates warrants initiating a proceeding to consider changes to the Commission's Rules Governing the Certification and Regulation of Competitive
Local Exchange Carriers, 20 VAC 5-417-10 et seq. ("CLEC Rules").

We deny the application to the extent that the proposed CLEC Rules attached hereto do not mirror the changes requested by Verizon. In general,
the proposed rules in Case No. PUC-2007-00033 amend only 20 VAC 5-417-10 (Definitions) and 20 VAC 5-417-50 (Regulation of new entrants providing
local exchange telecommunications services) and: (1) require that a CLEC's intrastate access rates not exceed the higher of (a) the interstate access rates of
the CLEC, or (b) the intrastate access rates of the ILEC(s) in whose service territory the CLEC is providing service; (2) provide a transition period for
CLECs to meet the new intrastate access rate requirements; (3) allow CLECs to request pricing structures or rates that do not conform to the new rule; and
(4) provide CLECs with additional pricing and tariff filing flexibility.

The rulemaking proceeding in Case No. PUC-2007-00033 is limited to proposed changes for CLECs. Such limitation, however, does not
represent a finding that no changes are warranted for ILECs' intrastate access rates. Rather, we conclude that any proposed changes to intrastate access rates
for ILECs should be considered in one or more separate proceedings.

Finally, we will not consider, in Case No. PUC-2006-00154, the unauthorized replies filed by PAETEC/US LEC, Cavalier/NTELOS/XO, and
Cox Telcom.

Accordingly, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT:
(1) Verizon's application is granted in part and denied in part as set forth herein.

(2) The motions for leave to file a reply by PAETEC/US LEC, Cavalier/NTELOS/XO, and Cox Telcom in Case No. PUC-2006-00154 are
denied.

(3) Case No. PUC-2007-00033 is docketed for the purposes set forth herein.

(4) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall forward the proposed Rules Governing the Certification and Regulation of
Competitive Local Exchange Carriers (Chapter 417), Attachment A hereto, to the Registrar of Virginia for publication in the Virginia Register of
Regulations.

(5) On or before May 18, 2007, the Commission's Division of Information Resources shall make a downloadable version of the proposed Rules
Governing the Certification and Regulation of Competitive Local Exchange Carriers, Attachment A (amending only 88 10 and 50), available for access by
the public at the Commission's website, http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm. The Clerk of the Commission shall make a copy of the proposed Rules
Governing the Certification and Regulation of Competitive Local Exchange Carriers available for public inspection and provide a copy, free of charge, in
response to any written request for one.

(6) On or before June 20, 2007, interested persons wishing to comment on, propose modifications to, or request a hearing on the proposed Rules
Governing the Certification and Regulation of Competitive Local Exchange Carriers (amending only 8§ 10 and 50) shall file an original and fifteen (15)
copies of such comments, proposals, or requests with the Clerk of the Commission, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218, making reference to Case
No. PUC-2007-00033. Interested persons desiring to submit comments electronically may do so by following the instructions found on the Commission's
website, http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm. Requests for hearing shall state with specificity why such concerns cannot be adequately addressed in
written comments.

(7) On or before May 18, 2007, the Commission's Division of Information Resources shall publish the following notice as classified advertising
in newspapers of general circulation throughout the Commonwealth of Virginia:

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC OF A PROCEEDING TO ADOPT
AMENDED RULES GOVERNING THE CERTIFICATION
AND REGULATION OF COMPETITIVE
LOCAL EXCHANGE CARRIERS
CASE NO. PUC-2007-00033

The State Corporation Commission ("Commission") has initiated a proceeding to consider adopting
changes to the Rules Governing the Certification and Regulation of Competitive Local Exchange Carriers
(20 VAC 5-417-10 et seq.) ("CLEC Rules") for the purpose of establishing caps upon the prices new entrants
may charge for switched access rates. The proposed changes apply only to 20 VAC 5-417-10 and
20 VAC 5-417-50. Interested persons may obtain a copy of the proposed CLEC Rules by visiting the
Commission's website, http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm, or by requesting a copy from the Clerk of the
Commission. The Clerk's office will provide a copy of the proposed CLEC Rules to any interested person, free
of charge, in response to any written request for one.

On or before June 20, 2007, any person wishing to comment on, propose modifications to, or request
a hearing on the proposed CLEC Rules shall file an original and fifteen (15) copies of such comments,
proposals, or requests with the Clerk of the Commission, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218, making
reference to Case No. PUC-2007-00033. Interested persons desiring to submit comments electronically may do
so by following the instructions found on the Commission's website, http://www.scc.virginia.gov/caseinfo.htm.
Requests for hearing shall state with specificity why such concerns cannot be adequately addressed in written
comments.

VIRGINIA STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
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(8) The Staff may file comments regarding the proposed Rules on or before July 20, 2007.
(9) Case No. PUC-2006-00154 is dismissed.
(10) Case No. PUC-2007-00033 is continued for further orders of the Commission.

NOTE: A copy of Attachment A entitled "Rules Governing the Certification and Regulation of Competitive Local Exchange Carriers" is on file
and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East
Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. PUC-2006-00156
JANUARY 16, 2007

JOINT PETITION OF

LEVEL 3 COMMUNICATIONS, LLC,

WILTEL COMMUNICATIONS OF VIRGINIA, INC,,

LOOKING GLASS NETWORKS OF VIRGINIA, LLC,
and

TELCOVE OF VIRGINIA, LLC

For Approval to Partially Discontinue Service

ORDER PERMITTING PARTIAL DISCONTINUANCE OF SERVICE

On December 5, 2006, Level 3 Communications, LLC ("Level 3"), WilTel Communications of Virginia, Inc. ("WilTel"), Looking Glass
Networks of Virginia, LLC ("Looking Glass"), and TelCove of Virginia, LLC (“TelCove") (collectively the "Joint Petitioners" or "Companies"), filed a
petition with the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") requesting Commission approval to discontinue services to customers who are served on a
stand-alone basis by the resale of services or facilities that the Joint Petitioners obtain from a third party (“resale customers™). Joint Petitioners represent they
have determined that it is not economically feasible to continue to provide services to these resale customers.

The Joint Petitioners state that the partial discontinuance of service to resale customers will affect three (3) business customers. Companies also
represent that notice has been provided to each of these business customers either on September 29, 2006, or November 3, 2006.

Pursuant to Rule 20 VAC 5-423-30 of the Commission's Rules Governing Discontinuance of Local Exchange Telecommunications Services
Provided by Competitive Local Exchange Carriers ("Discontinuance Rules™), a competitive local exchange carrier must furnish notice to customers in the
prescribed manner before any services may be discontinued. The Commission's primary concern with authorizing discontinuance is providing adequate
notice to the affected customers. We have been advised by the Staff that the notice previously provided to the customers did not adequately meet the
requirements of the Discontinuance Rules (see 20 VAC 5-423-30 C). Therefore, the Joint Petitioners shall be required to provide additional notification to
the affected customers, which fully complies with the Discontinuance Rules. Joint Petitioners are not requesting the cancellation of any of their existing
certificates of public convenience and necessity authorizing the Companies to provide telecommunications services in Virginia. The Companies state that
they intend to continue to provide services in Virginia.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the pleading and the applicable law, is of the opinion and finds that this matter should be
docketed and assigned Case No. PUC-2006-00156.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) This matter is docketed and assigned Case No. PUC-2006-00156.

(2) Joint Petitioners shall provide notice to the affected customers in the form prescribed in the Discontinuance Rules by January 24, 2007.
Notice shall provide customers a minimum of 30 days' notice before discontinuing service.

(3) Proof of said notice shall be filed with the Clerk of the Commission in this docket by January 29, 2007.

(4) Subject to meeting the requirements of ordering paragraphs (2) and (3) above, Joint Petitioners are authorized to discontinue
telecommunications services to customers who are served on a stand-alone basis by the resale of services or facilities that the Joint Petitioners obtain from a
third party.

(5) This matter is continued generally pending further order of the Commission.
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CASE NO. PUC-2006-00156
APRIL 3, 2007

JOINT PETITION OF

LEVEL 3 COMMUNICATIONS, LLC,

WILTEL COMMUNICATIONS OF VIRGINIA, INC,,

LOOKING GLASS NETWORKS OF VIRGINIA, LLC,
and

TELCOVE OF VIRGINIA, LLC

For Approval to Partially Discontinue Service

DISMISSAL ORDER

On December 5, 2006, Level 3 Communications, LLC ("Level 3"), WilTel Communications of Virginia, Inc. ("WilTel"), Looking Glass
Networks of Virginia, LLC ("Looking Glass"), and TelCove of Virginia, LLC (“TelCove") (collectively the "Joint Petitioners" or "Companies"), filed a
petition with the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") requesting Commission approval to discontinue services to customers who are served on a
stand-alone basis by the resale of services or facilities that the Joint Petitioners obtain from a third party (“resale customers™). Joint Petitioners represent they
have determined that it is not economically feasible to continue to provide services to these resale customers.

The Joint Petitioners state that the partial discontinuance of service to resale customers will affect three (3) business customers. Companies also
represent that notice has been provided to each of these business customers either on September 29, 2006, or November 3, 2006.

By Order entered January 16, 2007, the Joint Petitioners were authorized, subject to famishing proper notice and proof of notice, to discontinue
service to the customers who were served on a stand-alone basis by the resale of services or facilities obtained from a third party. We have been advised by
the Staff that proper notice and proof of notice was filed January 24, 2007, and that this matter can be dismissed.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having been advised by the Staff that Joint Petitioners have fulfilled the requirements of the Order of January 16,
2007, and having considered the applicable law, is of the opinion and finds that this matter should be dismissed.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT this matter is dismissed and the record developed herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. PUC-2006-00157
APRIL 19, 2007

APPLICATION OF
DUKENET COMMUNICATIONS, LLC

For a certificate of public convenience and necessity to provide interexchange telecommunications services
FINAL ORDER

On December 18, 2006, DukeNet Communications, LLC ("DukeNet" or the "Company"), completed an application for a certificate of public
convenience and necessity with the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) to provide interexchange telecommunications services throughout the
Commonwealth of Virginia. The Company also requested authority to price its interexchange telecommunications services on a competitive basis pursuant
to § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia.

By Order for Notice and Comment dated January 3, 2007, the Commission directed the Company to provide notice to the public of its application
and directed the Commission Staff to conduct an investigation and file a Staff Report. On February 6, 2007, the Company filed proof of publication and
proof of service as required by the January 3, 2007 Order.

On March 14, 2007, the Staff filed its Report finding that DukeNet's application was in compliance with 20 VAC 5-411-10 et seg., the Rules
Governing the Certification on Interexchange Carriers. Based upon its review of DukeNet's application, the Staff determined it would be appropriate to
grant the Company a certificate to provide interexchange telecommunications services.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the application and the Staff Report, finds that the Company should be granted a certificate to
provide interexchange telecommunications services. Having considered § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia, the Commission further finds that the Company
may price its interexchange telecommunications services competitively.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) DukeNet Communications, LLC is hereby granted a certificate of public convenience and necessity, No. TT-230A, to provide interexchange
telecommunications services subject to the restrictions set forth in the Commission's Rules Governing the Certification of Interexchange Carriers,
§ 56-265.4:4 of the Code of Virginia, and the provisions of this Order.

(2) The Company shall provide tariffs to the Division of Communications that conform with all applicable Commission rules and regulations.

(3) Pursuant to § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia, the Company may price its interexchange telecommunications services competitively.
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(4) There being nothing further to come before the Commission, this case shall be dismissed and the papers filed herein placed in the file for
ended causes.

CASE NO. PUC-2006-00158
FEBRUARY 8, 2007

JOINT PETITION OF
LIGHTYEAR NETWORK SOLUTIONS, LLC,
FIRST COMMUNICATIONS, LLC,
and
FIRST COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Joint Petition for Approval of Transfer of Control

DISMISSAL ORDER

On December 21, 2006, Lightyear Network Solutions, LLC (“"Lightyear"), First Communications, LLC ("First Communications"), and First
Communications, Inc. (“"FCI") (collectively, "Joint Petitioners"), completed a Joint Petition for State Corporation Commission (*Commission") approval for
the transfer of control of Lightyear to FCI.

On January 29, 2007, the Joint Petitioners filed a Notice of Withdrawal ("Notice") with the Commission seeking the withdrawal of the previously
filed Joint Petition. The Notice states that FCI will not be acquiring control of Lightyear as the basis for withdrawing the Joint Petition.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the pleadings herein, is of the opinion and finds that the request to withdraw the Joint
Petition should be granted, and that the matter should be dismissed.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) This case is dismissed without prejudice.

(2) There being nothing further to come before the Commission in this matter, the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. PUC-2006-00161
JANUARY 22, 2007

JOINT PETITION OF

PAC-WEST TELECOMM, INC,,

PAC-WEST TELECOMM OF VIRGINIA, INC,,
and

PAC-WEST ACQUISITION COMPANY LLC

For approval of transfer of indirect control

ORDER GRANTING APPROVAL

On December 18, 2006, Pac-West Telecomm, Inc. (“Parent"), Pac-West Telecomm of Virginia, Inc, (*Pac-West"), and Pac-West Acquisition
Company LLC ("PWAC") (collectively referred to herein as the "Petitioners"), pursuant to Chapter 5 of the Code of Virginia, filed a joint petition with the
State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") requesting approval of a proposed transaction whereby PWAC will acquire indirect control of Pac-West
through a 95% acquisition of Parent's common stock. Parent holds 100% ownership of Pac-West.

PWAC, a Washington limited liability holding company with principal offices located in VVancouver, Washington, is a wholly owned subsidiary
of Columbia Ventures Corporation ("CVC"), and was established for the sole purpose of making an investment in Parent. CVC is a privately held
investment company that owns and operates a portfolio of telecommunications companies and a small number of manufacturing businesses around the
world, and maintains an actively managed investment portfolio of real estate and equity and debt securities. CVC is incorporated in the State of Washington
with principal offices located in Vancouver, Washington.

Parent, a publicly traded California corporation with principal offices located in Stockton, California, is a provider of integrated
telecommunications services to Internet service providers, other enhanced telecommunications service providers, and other wholesale customers who
provide telecommunications services to their end users. Parent is authorized to provide intrastate telecommunications services in 35 states and holds
domestic and international Section 214 authorizations from the Federal Communications Commission, which allow Parent to offer interstate and
international telecommunications services.

Pac-West, a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent, holds certificates of public convenience and necessity ("CPCN") to provide competitive local
exchange and interexchange telecommunications services in Virginia pursuant to certificate Nos. T-644 and TT-214A, respectively, issued by the
Commission in Case No. PUC-2005-00115 on December 20, 2005. Pac-West does not have any customers in Virginia at this time.

On November 15, 2006, in order to implement the proposed transaction, Parent and PWAC entered into a Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement
("Agreement"), through which PWAC will acquire the non-voting and convertible Series B-1 and Series B-2 preferred stock of Parent, which will then be
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converted into common stock of Parent.® Upon conversion, PWAC will own 95% of the common stock of Parent, on a fully diluted basis, with the current
shareholders of Parent holding the remaining 5% of the common stock. Parent will remain a publicly held corporation, and become the direct 95% owned
subsidiary of PWAC, and an indirect subsidiary of CVC, the parent of PWAC.

The Agreement was negotiated at arm's length by Parent and CVC with the purchase price determined by the market clearing price of Parent (the
price agreed between a willing buyer and willing seller). Because the proposed transaction will occur at the holding company level, Virginia specific price
information is not available. Pursuant to the Agreement, PWAC purchased, in aggregate, 48,158 shares of newly designated non-voting and convertible
Series B-1 Preferred Stock and 830,959 shares of newly designated non-voting and convertible Series B-2 Preferred Stock, at a per share price of $1.137505.
Each share of Preferred Stock will then be converted into 1,000 shares of Common Stock.

Concurrently with the execution of the Agreement, Parent completed a comprehensive restructuring of various financing arrangements. As part
of the restructuring, another newly created subsidiary of CVC, Pac-West Funding Company, purchased Parent's senior secured credit facility, with an
outstanding balance of approximately $8.8 million, from Parent's senior lender, Comerica Bank. This credit facility was amended and restated to provide,
among other things, an increase in the maximum loan commitment to Parent to $24 million. In addition, Parent will now have access to cash in the amount
of $11.3 million previously held by Comerica Bank under the terms of a compensating balance arrangement. Parent has also has reached agreement with a
lender to restructure approximately $5.7 million of its obligations to the lender and an agreement with a key supplier to restructure approximately
$2.8 million of its obligations to the supplier. The Petitioners assert that this financial restructuring is critical to the continued financial viability of Parent.

The Petitioners also assert that the transaction will serve the public interest. The transaction is necessary to provide critical financial resources to
Parent that will allow it to fund operations and to continue to provide high quality services to customers. Further, the Petitioners assert that Parent's current
management team will remain in place and Pac-West will not change its name, operating authority, or its terms and conditions and rates, as a result of the
proposed transaction.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the joint petition and representations of the Petitioners and having been advised by its Staff,
is of the opinion and finds that the transaction described herein will neither impair nor jeopardize the provision of adequate telecommunications services to
the public at just and reasonable rates. The joint petition should, therefore, be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

1) Pursuant to 88 56-88.1 and 56-90 of the Code of Virginia, approval is hereby granted for the proposed transfer of indirect control of
Pac-West from its owner Parent to PWAC and CVC as ultimate parent, as described herein.

2) The Petitioners shall file a report of action taken pursuant to the approval granted herein within thirty (30) days of consummation of the
transaction, subject to administrative extension by the Commission's Director of Public Utility Accounting. Such report shall include the
date that the transfer of indirect control took place.

3) There appearing nothing further to be done in this matter. it is hereby dismissed.

! Series B-1 Preferred Stock was issued by Parent on November 15, 2006, and the Series B-2 Stock will be issued following receipt of approval of existing
shareholders of Parent to increase the number of authorized shares of Common Stock to permit the conversion of all Series B- | and Series B-2 Stock into
Common Stock of Parent. Thus, as a practical matter, the Agreement cannot be executed without approval of Parent's existing shareholders.

CASE NO. PUC-2007-00001
MARCH 21, 2007

PETITION OF
AT&T COMMUNICATIONS OF VIRGINIA, LLC

For a waiver of the price ceilings for residential local exchange service of its Call Plan Unlimited Plus

ORDER GRANTING WAIVER

On January 3, 2007, AT&T Communications of Virginia, LLC ("AT&T" or the "Company"), filed a petition with the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission") for a waiver of the price ceilings applicable to its residential local exchange service known as AT&T's Call Plan Unlimited
Plus, in order for AT&T to increase prices for the service effective March 1, 2007.> All affected customers reside in areas of Virginia where Verizon
Virginia Inc. and Verizon South Inc. (collectively, “Verizon") are the incumbent local exchange carriers (“ILEC").

Specifically, AT&T requests a waiver of 20 VAC 5-417-50 D of the Rules Governing the Certification and Regulation of Competitive Local
Exchange Carriers, 20 VAC 5-417-10 et seq. ("CLEC Rules"), which provides that prices for local exchange telecommunications services shall not exceed
the highest prices of the comparable tariffed services provided by the ILEC in the same local serving areas. AT&T requests a waiver pursuant to
20 VAC 5-417-50 E of the CLEC Rules, which provides that the Commission may permit alternative pricing structures and rates unless there is a showing
the public interest will be harmed. AT&T's petition represents that the most directly comparable Verizon local exchange service is priced at $15.87 per
month.

L AT&T's petition states that it was providing 30 days' notice to its Call Plan Unlimited Plus customers via bill message. Nonetheless, AT&T did not
implement the proposed rate increase for Call Plan Unlimited Plus on March 1, 2007. Instead, AT&T deferred the effective date pending the outcome of this
proceeding.
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AT&T states that it faces a disparity between its costs and the prices the Company can charge under the price ceilings because of a series of court
and Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") decisions. A March 2004, ruling vacated the FCC rule requiring unbundled network element platform
availability. As a result, in September 2005, AT&T entered into a commercial agreement with Verizon that substantially increased AT&T's costs for
offering its Call Plan Unlimited Plus service.

In support of its request, AT&T also asserts that a waiver of the price ceilings will not harm the public interest. The Company's petition states
that affected customers have numerous choices for obtaining local exchange services, including not only Verizon, but also competitive local exchange
carriers ("CLECs"), wireless carriers, and Voice over Internet Protocol providers.

On January 23, 2007, the Commission entered its Order for Notice and Inviting Comments and Requests for Hearing ("Notice Order"). Pursuant
to the Notice Order, AT&T published newspaper advertisements of its proposal, advising that interested persons could file comments, requests for hearing,
or both on or before February 14, 2007. That Order also directed the Commission Staff ("Staff") to file comments upon the issues associated with the
Petition no later than February 26, 2007.

On February 26, 2007, the Staff filed its Comments. The Staff expressed concern over the limited availability of standalone flat rate local
exchange services (i.e. not part of a bundle) from other CLECs. The Staff does not believe that the public interest would be harmed by granting AT&T's
price ceiling request, subject to two conditions. The waiver should apply only to Call Plan Unlimited Plus service and $16.82 per month should be
established as a new price ceiling for the service. In addition, the Staff Comments noted that only a single comment opposing the increase was received.

NOW, THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the Staff Comments and the one objection, finds that AT&T's price ceiling waiver request
will not harm the public interest and should be granted subject to the conditions stated below.

(1) AT&T's price ceiling waiver request for its residential local exchange service, Call Plan Unlimited Plus, is granted subject to the conditions
that (i) the waiver applies only to AT&T's Call Plan Unlimited Plus service and (ii) the new price ceiling applicable to AT&T's Call Plan Unlimited Plus
service shall be $16.82 per month.

(2) There being nothing further to come before the Commission, this matter is dismissed and the record developed herein shall be placed in the
file for ended causes.

CASE NO. PUC-2007-00004
JUNE 18, 2007

APPLICATION OF
METRO FIBER NETWORKS, INC.

For certificates of public convenience and necessity to provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services
FINAL ORDER

On February 2, 2007, Metro Fiber Networks, Inc. ("Metro Fiber" or the "Company"), completed an application for certificates of public
convenience and necessity with the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) to provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications
services throughout the Commonwealth of Virginia. The Company also requested authority to price its interexchange telecommunications services on a
competitive basis pursuant to § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia.

By Order for Notice and Comment dated March 21, 2007, the Commission directed the Company to provide notice to the public of its application
and directed the Commission Staff to conduct an investigation and file a Staff Report. On April 10, 2007 Metro Fiber filed a Motion for Extension of Time,
requesting an extension to April 19, 2007 for its publication deadline. The Commission granted that Motion by Order dated April 20, 2007. On May 1,
2007, the Company filed proof of publication, and on March 29, 2007, the Company filed proof of service as required by the March 21, 2007 Order.

On May 29, 2007, the Staff filed its Report finding that Metro Fiber's application was in compliance with the Rules Governing the Certification
and Regulation of Competitive Local Exchange Carriers, 20 VAC 5-417-10 et seq., and the Rules Governing the Certification of Interexchange Carriers,
20 VAC 5-411-10 et seq. Based upon its review of Metro Fiber's application, the Staff determined it would be appropriate to grant the Company certificates
to provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services subject to the condition that Metro Fiber should notify the Division of Economics
and Finance no less than 30 days prior to the cancellation or lapse of its bond and should provide a replacement bond at that time. This requirement should
be maintained until such time as the Commission determines it is no longer necessary.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the application and the Staff Report, finds that the Company should be granted certificates to
provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services. Having considered § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia, the Commission further
finds that the Company may price its interexchange telecommunications services competitively.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Metro Fiber is hereby granted a certificate of public convenience and necessity, No. TT-233A, to provide interexchange telecommunications
services subject to the restrictions set forth in the Commission's Rules Governing the Certification of Interexchange Carriers, § 56-265.4:4 of the Code of
Virginia, and the provisions of this Order.

(2) Metro Fiber is hereby granted a certificate of public convenience and necessity, No. T-667, to provide local exchange telecommunications
services subject to the restrictions set forth in the Rules Governing the Certification and Regulation of Competitive Local Exchange Carriers, § 56-265.4:4 of
the Code of Virginia, and the provisions of this Order.
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(3) Pursuant to § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia, the Company may price its interexchange telecommunications services competitively.
(4) The Company shall provide tariffs to the Division of Communications that conform to all applicable Commission rules and regulations.

(5) Metro Fiber shall notify the Division of Economics and Finance no less than thirty (30) days prior to the cancellation or lapse of its bond and
shall provide a replacement bond at that time. This requirement shall be maintained until such time as the Commission determines it is no longer necessary

(6) There being nothing further to come before the Commission, this case shall be dismissed and the papers filed herein placed in the file for
ended causes.

CASE NO. PUC-2007-00005
MARCH 28, 2007

APPLICATION OF
EVEREST BROADBAND NETWORKS OF VIRGINIA, INC.

For cancellation of certificates of public convenience and necessity
ORDER
By Order dated March 1, 2001, in Case No. PUC-2000-00316, the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") granted Everest Broadband
Networks of Virginia, Inc. ("Everest Broadband" or the "Company"), Certificate Nos. T-545 to provide local exchange telecommunications services and

TT-138A to provide interexchange telecommunications services in Virginia.

By letter application filed January 16, 2007, Everest Broadband requested that its Certificates T-545 and TT-138A be cancelled. The application
stated that Everest Broadband has not operated since December 31, 2004.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the matter, is of the opinion that Everest Broadband's certificates to provide local exchange and
interexchange telecommunications services should be cancelled.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) This matter shall be docketed and assigned Case No. PUC-2007-00005.

(2) Certificate No. T-545 granting authority to provide local exchange telecommunications services is hereby cancelled.
(3) Certificate No. TT-138A granting authority to provide interexchange telecommunications services is hereby cancelled.

(4) The captioned matter is hereby dismissed.

CASE NO. PUC-2007-00008
DECEMBER 14, 2007

APPLICATION OF
VERIZON VIRGINIA INC.
and
VERIZON SOUTH INC.
For a Determination that Retail Services are Competitive and Deregulating and Detariffing of the Same

ORDER ON APPLICATION

On January 17, 2007, Verizon Virginia Inc. (“Verizon Virginia") and Verizon South Inc. (*Verizon South™) (collectively, "Verizon" or
"Company") filed an application with the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") requesting "that the Commission, pursuant to 5 VAC 5-20-80(A)
and Va. Code § 56-235.5(E), declare certain retail services competitive and deregulate and detariff those services" ("Application")." Exhibit VA-1 to the
Application "lists these retail services, which are generally classified in Verizon's Alternative Regulat[ory] Plan as [Basic Local Exchange Telephone
Services (‘BLETS'), Other Local Exchange Telephone Services (‘'OLETS')], and Bundled Services. Verizon does not seek to have its switched access,
special access, E911 or Lifeline? services declared competitive."*

! Application at 1.
2 Verizon refers to this service in its tariff as the Virginia Universal Service Plan.

% Application at 1 (footnote added).
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Verizon states that the "retail telecommunications market in Virginia is robustly competitive. Intermodal technologies now offer multiple
physical connections to the customer, in turn enabling a variety of competing telecommunications platforms, including cable telephony, cable modem,
wireless, fixed wireless, traditional [competitive local exchange carrier (‘'CLEC')] broadband, traditional CLEC telephony, Verizon broadband, and
broadband over powerline, over which dozens of competitive providers vie to meet Virginians' communications needs."* The Company concludes that its
"retail services are competitive statewide," and that "competition or the potential for competition in the marketplace is or can be an effective regulator of the
price of Verizon's retail services."®

In addition, the Company asserts that “[g]iven the pervasive and effective competition Verizon faces for its retail voice services across the
Commonwealth, the Commission should not stop at reclassifying those services as competitive. It should exercise the further discretion the Code grants to
deregulate and detariff those services."® Verizon states that “[0]nce the Commission determines in this case that services are competitive under Va. Code
§ 56-235.5(F), (i.e., 'when it finds competition or the potential for competition in the market place is or can be an effective regulator of the price of those
services'), regulatory mechanisms intended to approximate market forces are no longer required."” The Company further contends that, "[i]ndeed, in a
competitive market, regulations developed under a monopoly regime can hinder a company's ability to provide adequate service at reasonable and just rates
by preventing it from responding to changes in the marketplace as rapidly as its competitors."®

On February 7, 2007, the Commission issued an Order for Notice and Hearing that, among other things: (1) established a procedural schedule for
this case; (2) permitted any person to submit written or electronic comments on the Application on or before April 20, 2007; (3) scheduled a public hearing
to commence on July 23, 2007 to receive testimony from members of the public and evidence on the Application; and (4) required the Company to provide
notice of its Application. The Commission also requested participants to address the following nine questions, noted that this case is not necessarily limited
to these questions, and provided Verizon an opportunity to supplement its Application in response to these questions:

(1) The Commission may determine that telephone services are competitive "on a statewide or a more limited
geographic basis," or "on the basis of a category of customers." What is the appropriate market(s) for the
Commission to consider in determining whether Verizon's retail services are competitive?

(2) What market test(s), if any, should be used to determine that (a) competition, or (b) the potential for
competition, in the appropriate market "is or can be an effective regulator of the price of those services?"

(3) What constitutes an effective competitor in the relevant market, such that the competitor's presence
reasonably meets the needs of consumers pursuant to § 56-235.5 F of the Code of Virginia ("Code")?

(4) In determining whether competition or the potential for competition effectively regulates the prices of
services, what "other factors," if any, should the Commission consider to be relevant in addition to "(i) the
ease of market entry," and "(ii) the presence of other providers reasonably meeting the needs of
consumers?"

(5) If and where the Commission finds telephone services to be competitive, should the Commission
deregulate, detariff, or adopt a modified form of regulation for those services pursuant to § 56-235.5 E of
the Code? What factors should the Commission consider in determining which methods are in the public
interest for such competitive services?

(6) How should the Commission monitor, pursuant to § 56-235.5 G of the Code, the competitiveness of any
telephone services it finds to be competitive?

(7) For any telephone services it finds to be competitive, what competitive safeguards should the Commission
adopt pursuant to § 56-235.5 H of the Code?

(8) Are any of the above questions not relevant to the legal and/or factual determinations that the statute
requires the Commission to make?

(9) Are there other issues that are relevant to the Commission's implementation of the applicable statutory
criteria in this proceeding?

On or before April 20, 2007, the Commission received numerous written or electronic comments from individuals and from the Board of
Supervisors of Tazewell County, Cavalier Telephone, LLC ("Cavalier'), Communications Workers of America ("CWA"), NTELOS Companies
("NTELOS"), and the Town of Bluefield, Virginia. The Commission also received numerous comments subsequent to April 20, 2007.

Verizon, the Commission's Staff ("Staff"), and the following respondents submitted pre-filed testimony in this case: Board of Supervisors of
Fairfax County ("Fairfax County"); United States Department of Defense and all other Federal Executive Agencies ("DOD/FEA"); Cox Virginia Telcom,
Inc. ("Cox Telcom"); Cavalier; XO Virginia, LLC ("XO"); Sprint Communications Company of Virginia, Inc., Sprint Spectrum, LP, Sprint Com, Inc.,
Nextel Communications of the Mid-Atlantic, Inc., and NPCR, Inc., doing business as Nextel Partners (collectively, "Sprint Nextel"); CWA, and the Division

“1d.

% Id. at 7-8 (typeface and case modified).
®1d. at 17.

71d. at 18.

8 d.
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of Consumer Counsel, Office of the Attorney General ("Attorney General™). Verizon submitted pre-filed rebuttal testimony, and an errata thereto, on July 16
and 25, 2007, respectively.

The public evidentiary hearing was held on July 23-27 and August 6-7, 2007. Lydia R. Pulley, Esquire, Jennifer L. McClellan, Esquire,
Joseph M. Ruggiero, Esquire, Ann Marie Whittemore, Esquire, Scott Angstreich, Esquire, and David Hill, Esquire, appeared on behalf of Verizon.
Douglas C. Nelson, Esquire, and David E. Anderson, Esquire, appeared on behalf of Sprint Nextel. E. Ford Stephens, Esquire, and Cliona Mary Rohb,
Esquire, appeared on behalf of Cox Telcom. Joseph Creed Kelly, Esquire, appeared on behalf of CWA. T. Scott Thompson, Esquire, K.C. Halm, Esquire,
and Brian A. Nixon, Esquire, appeared on behalf of XO. Stephen T. Perkins, Esquire, Frances McComb, Esquire, Troy Savenko, Esquire, and Noah Bason,
Esquire, appeared on behalf of Cavalier. Peter Q. Nyce, Jr., Esquire, appeared on behalf of DOD/FEA. Dennis R. Bates, Esquire, appeared on behalf of
Fairfax County. C. Meade Browder, Jr., Esquire, Ashley Beuttel Macko, Esquire, and Kiva Bland Pierce, Esquire, appeared on behalf of the Attorney
General. Robert M. Gillespie, Esquire, and Raymond L. Doggett, Jr., Esquire, appeared on behalf of the Staff.

The following public witnesses testified at the hearing: Douglas Henigin, of Henrico County; Heyward C. Thompson, of Buchanan; Claude W.
Reeson, of Surry County and representing the Surry County Chamber of Commerce; George Hunnicutt, of Wise County; and Irene Leech, of Elliston.

The following witnesses testified for Verizon: Robert W. Woltz, Jr.; William M. Newman; Harold E. West; Jeffrey A. Eisenach, Ph.D,;
William E. Taylor, Ph.D.; Margaret Detch; and Mark S. Calnon, Ph.D. Harry Gildea testified for DOD/FEA. Bion C. Ostrander and Charles Buttiglieri
testified for CWA. Trevor R. Roycroft, Ph.D., testified for the Attorney General. James A. Appleby testified for Sprint Nextel. Martin W. Clift, Jr.,
testified for Cavalier. Stephen D. Sinclair and Susan Hafeli testified for Fairfax County. Jonathan Flack and Joseph Gillan testified for Cox Telcom.
Steven C. Bradley, Chris Harris, Kathleen A. Cummings, and Ben Johnson, Ph.D., testified for the Staff. The participants agreed to allow the pre-filed direct
testimony of Gary Case, on behalf of XO, to be admitted to the record without cross-examination.

The following participants submitted post-hearing briefs on or before September 14, 2007: Verizon, DOD/FEA; CWA; Sprint Nextel; Cavalier;
Fairfax County; Cox Telcom; XO; Attorney General; and the Staff.

Verizon “requests that the Commission declare the services listed in Exhibit 13 as competitive under Va. Code § 56-235.5(F), detariff them
pursuant to Va. Code § 56-235.5(E), deregulate them pursuant to Va. Code § 56-235.5(E) by declaring that they are no longer subject to Verizon's
Deregulation Case, and provide such other relief as appropriate."®

DOD/FEA states that "Verizon's proposals to virtually eliminate regulatory surveillance are a vital concern to DOD/FEA as a major user of
telecommunications services provided by this carrier and other carriers in Virginia," and DOD/FEA "urges the Commission to reject Verizon's proposals."*°

CWA states that the "Commission should reject Verizon's radical and unprecedented proposal for complete statewide deregulation and detariffing
of all retail services" and "should use this proceeding to adopt a methodology for competitive analysis, and reject Verizon's application."**

Sprint Nextel “urges the Commission to lower Verizon's composite intrastate switched access rates to a level equal to the composite economic
cost of providing local switching, tandem switching and common transport as a competitive safeguard."*?

Cavalier and XO assert that "the evidence in this case does not support the full, or even partial, grant of Verizon's Application" and that "[o]n key
issues, Verizon's evidence fails to satisfy the standards set forth by the Legislature, and as a result, Verizon's Application should be denied, in its entirety."*

Fairfax County "respectfully request[s] that the Application filed by Verizon dated January 17, 2007, be dismissed or denied because it contains
insufficient facts to support a finding by the Commission that competition would be an effective regulator of price pursuant to Va. Code Ann. § 56-235.5(E)
and (F) (2003) in the public interests and for failure to contain adequate safeguards to protect market competition and consumers pursuant to Va. Code Ann.
§ 56-235.5(H) (2003)."*

Cox Telcom "respectfully requests that the Commission deny Verizon's request to make its retail services competitive and for deregulation and
detariffing of the same throughout the state," and “[s]hould the Commission endeavor to proceed with retail telephone deregulation, Cox Telcom respectfully
requests that it consider the policy guidelines offered in [Cox Telcom's Post-Hearing] brief."*®

The Attorney General states that: (a) it "supports Verizon's request as it applies to Bundles in the Virginia Beach, Richmond, Roanoke, and
Washington-Arlington-Alexandria Metropolitan Statistical Areas (‘MSAS') ... subject to modest safeguards as required by statute;" and (b) “[h]Jowever,
because the evidence reveals there are not yet sufficient alternative providers available to reasonably meet the needs of consumers of BLETS (and OLETS) —
provided outside of a package or bundled offering — those services cannot be classified as competitive pursuant to the statute, and [the Attorney General]
cannot support deregulating those services at this time."

® Verizon's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 260.

¥ DOD/FEA's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 2-3 (case and typeface modified).
" CWA's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 22.

%2 Sprint Nextel's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 14.

%3 Cavalier's and XO's September 14, 2007 Joint Post-Hearing Brief at 31.

 Fairfax County's September 10, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 12.

5 Cox Telcom's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 16.

16 Attorney General's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 3-4.
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The Staff "respectfully urges the Commission to not grant Verizon's Application,” and "[i]n lieu of the blanket classification of Verizon's services
as competitive, the Staff suggests a careful examination of specific services, in cohesive local markets, where customers are able to make meaningful
telecommunications choices.""’

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record, the pleadings, and the applicable law, is of the opinion and finds as follows. The
Application is granted in part and denied in part as set forth herein. We have evaluated the evidence presented in this case according to the statutory criteria
set forth below, and we find that the pricing and service provisions approved herein satisfy such criteria.

Statutes Governing this Case

The General Assembly has established four levels of regulation over incumbent local exchange carriers ("ILECs") in Virginia. First, traditional
regulation which, while largely unused in recent years, remains a legal alternative.®* Second, the General Assembly has provided for a form of regulation
that allows for much more flexibility than traditional regulation for ILECs, through the use of alternative regulatory plans.’® Third, the General Assembly
has allowed, though not mandated, deregulation of an unspecified scope when and where this Commission finds that "competition or the potential for
competition" exists for a telephone service or services and "is or can be an effective regulator of the price” of the telephone service or services.?

Further, the General Assembly has directed this Commission, in its actions with regard to local exchange telephone service, to “promote
competitive product offerings, investments, and innovations from all providers of local exchange telephone services in all areas of the
Commonwealth. . . "%

Considering together the various statutes that govern this case, we find that the General Assembly has set forth a general policy that directs this
Commission to favor, within the parameters of those statutes, the promotion of competition for local exchange telephone services and to recognize in our
regulatory structures competition where it already exists or may soon realistically exist. In promoting competition and deregulating as competition develops,
however, we find that the General Assembly has also directed this Commission to proceed carefully and cautiously.” The General Assembly could have
repealed all forms of regulation and completely deregulated all telephone services in Virginia, yet the General Assembly has not done that.

In its Application, "Verizon respectfully requests that the Commission declare the services listed in Exhibit VA-1 as competitive under Va. Code
§ 56-235.5(F), detariff them pursuant to Va. Code § 56-235.5(E), deregulate them pursuant to Va. Code § 56-235.5(E) by declaring that they are no longer
subject to Verizon's Alternative Regulatory Plan, and provide such other relief as appropriate.”?

In this regard, Subsection E specifically provides as follows:

The Commission shall have the authority, after notice to all affected parties and an opportunity for hearing, to
determine whether any telephone service of a telephone company is subject to competition and to provide,
either by rule or case-by-case determination, for deregulation, detariffing, or modified regulation determined by
the Commission to be in the public interest for such competitive services.

Subsection F further directs the Commission as follows:

The Commission may determine telephone services of any telephone company to be competitive when it finds
competition or the potential for competition in the market place is or can be an effective regulator of the price of
those services. Such determination may be made by the Commission on a statewide or a more limited
geographic basis, such as one or more political subdivisions or one or more telephone exchange areas, or on the
basis of a category of customers, such as business or residential customers, or customers exceeding a revenue or
service quantity threshold, or some combination thereof. The Commission may also determine bundles
composed of a combination of competitive and noncompetitive services to be competitive if the noncompetitive
services are available separately pursuant to tariff or otherwise. In determining whether competition effectively
regulates the prices of services, the Commission shall consider: (i) the ease of market entry, (ii) the presence of
other providers reasonably meeting the needs of consumers, and (iii) other factors the Commission considers
relevant. . ..

7 Staff's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 16.
'8 See Va. Code § 56-235.2.

% See Va. Code § 56-235.5 B-D. Section 56-481.2 of the Code also references the Commission's authority to adopt alternative forms of regulation for the
"incumbent local exchange company" under VVa. Code § 56-235.5.

2 \a. Code § 56-235.5 E-F ("Subsection E" and "Subsection F"). A fourth level of regulation, not applicable to Verizon, is available to small investor-
owned telephone utilities. See Va. Code § 56-531 et seq.

21 Va. Code § 56-235.5:1.
%2 See, e.g., Va. Code § 56-235.5 G-H ("Subsection G" and "Subsection H").

% Application at 23-24.
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In addition, Subsection G places the following monitoring requirement on the Commission:

The Commission shall monitor the competitiveness of any telephone service previously found by it to be
competitive under any provision of subsection F above and may change that conclusion, if, after notice and an
opportunity for hearing, it finds that competition no longer effectively regulates the price of that service.

Next, Subsection H directs the Commission to adopt safeguards pursuant to the following:

Whenever the Commission adopts an alternative form of regulation pursuant to subsection B or C above, or
determines that a service is competitive pursuant to subsections E and F above, the Commission shall adopt
safeguards to protect consumers and competitive markets. At a minimum these safeguards must ensure that
there is no cross subsidization of competitive services by monopoly services.

Finally, Va. Code § 56-235.5:1 specifically mandates as follows:

The Commission, in resolving issues and cases concerning local exchange telephone service under the federal
Telecommunications Act of 1996 (P.L. 104-104), this title, or both, shall, consistent with federal and state laws,
consider it in the public interest to, as appropriate, (i) treat all providers of local exchange telephone services in
an equitable fashion and without undue discrimination and, to the greatest extent possible, apply the same rules
to all providers of local exchange telephone services; (ii) promote competitive product offerings, investments,
and innovations from all providers of local exchange telephone services in all areas of the Commonwealth; and
(iii) reduce or eliminate any requirement to price retail and wholesale products and services at levels that do not
permit providers of local exchange telephone services to recover their costs of those products and services.

Verizon's Application to Deregulate and Detariff Statewide Most Local Telephone Services

Verizon's Application asks this Commission to deregulate and detariff essentially all local residential and business telephone services throughout
its Virginia service territory.?* We note at the outset that it appears only two other states, Rhode Island and South Dakota — both much smaller and far more
homogeneous than Virginia — have deregulated local telephone service on a scale comparable to that which Verizon asks this Commission to do and it does
not appear that any state has detariffed essentially all local telephone services.?

In support of its application, Verizon asserts that the appropriate market for local telephone services in Virginia is statewide and that the statewide
telephone market is currently characterized by either competition or the potential for competition.”® For example, Verizon states that "96 percent of
households in Virginia have access to two or more communications platforms, 90 percent have access to 3 [sic] or more, and 78 percent have access to four
or more," and that "99 percent of Virginia households have access to two or more competitive providers, 92 percent have access to five or more and
73 percent have access to eight or more."?

We agree in general with Verizon that the telecommunications market in Virginia has changed significantly over the past quarter century since
the "modified final judgment"® began the restructuring of the old Bell system telephone monopoly. We find that new competitors, including cable
television companies and CLECs, and new technologies (wireless telephone, Voice over Internet Protocol (*VolIP"), WiFi, WiMax, etc.) have collectively
enabled significant competition to emerge that offers many consumers an alternative to purchasing telephone service from those ILECs that are the
descendants of the former Bell system monopoly.

Competition to an ILEC such as Verizon presently comes from a number of sources. There are four types of CLECs, many of which fall under
the jurisdiction of the Commission. First, a CLEC may resell the tariffed service offerings of Verizon. Second, a CLEC may purchase "Wholesale
Advantage" from Verizon through a commercial contract.® Both resellers and Wholesale Advantage competitors rely primarily on the facilities and services
of the ILEC in providing services to their end-user customers.

Third, a CLEC may also utilize a combination of its own facilities and facilities leased (i.e., unbundled network element loops ("UNE-L")) from
the ILEC. Cavalier is an example of such a UNE-L competitor. Finally, a CLEC, such as a cable television provider which chooses to offer telephone
services, may operate its own wireline-based network as Comcast and Cox have done in much of their respective service areas in Virginia.

In addition, competition or the potential for competition to an ILEC's local telephone services can come from alternative mediums and/or
technologies to provision telephone services that are not traditional wireline-based. Included in this category are mobile wireless telephone providers (i.e.,
cellular). Emerging technologies such as WiFi and WiMax, which allow certain providers (e.g., T-Mobile Hotspot and ClearWire) to utilize a wireless

2 See Application at 1.

% See Exhs. 52 and 53; Ostrander, Tr. at 913.

% Application at 7-8.

2 Verizon's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 94-95.

% United States v. American Telephone & Telegraph Co., 552 F. Supp. 131 (D. C. Dist. 1982).

# Wholesale Advantage is the term Verizon uses for its commercially available unbundled network element-platform ("UNE-P") type service that it is no
longer required to offer under its unbundling obligations pursuant to Section 251 of the Telecommunications Act of 1996. See, e.g., In the Matter of

Unbundled Access to Network Elements; Review of Section 251 Unbundling Obligations of Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers, W.C. Docket No. 04-313,
FCC 04-290: Rel. February 4, 2005; West, Exh. 12 at 13, 88-89; Exh. 21C.
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broadband technology to offer telephone services to some customers, also fit into this category. In addition, "over the top" VVolP providers, such as VVonage,
can provide voice services to customers over an end-user's existing broadband connection.

In beginning our analysis, we recognize that Virginia is not an island unto itself, immune from national economic and industry trends.
Nationally, the evidence indicates that wireline connections peaked at 192.4 million in December 2000 and declined to a reported 172 million by
June 2006.%° Usage of the traditional wireline network is decreasing, with ILEC interstate switched access minutes of use declining by a substantial 29%
between 2000 and 2005, and the total number of local calls carried by large ILECs reported to the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") falling
from 554 billion to 336 billion, a decline of 39%, during roughly the same time period, (i.e., 1999-2005).5! At the same time, wireless connections
nationally have increased dramatically. From June 2000 to June 2006, wireless subscriptions increased 140%, from 90.6 million to 217.4 million and now
exceed total wireline connections.®

Competition has been advancing in Virginia. Verizon has lost landline connections in significant numbers, even as the population in Virginia has
grown.® What is less clear is how many of Verizon's lost landline connections represent a one-for-one loss of a customer from Verizon to a competitor.*
Some lost lines no doubt represent losses to changing technology rather than to competitors. Many Verizon business customers who once purchased
additional landlines from Verizon dedicated to FAX usage, now use email rather than FAX for document transmittal and no longer need a dedicated FAX
line, even though they remain revenue-producing customers of Verizon. Some of Verizon's residential customers who have children have traded in the
second "children's" line for a wireless phone for the children, even as they remain revenue-producing Verizon customers for the primary landline service to
the home. Other customers have dropped their second lines that were previously dedicated primarily to dial-up internet access and purchased DSL or other
broadband (e.g., Verizon's fiber-based service, "FiOS") lines from Verizon. In both cases, these customers remain revenue-producing customers of VVerizon.

The evidence does demonstrate that the number of wireless customers in Virginia has grown substantially,®® and unquestionably some of
Verizon's wireline customers have “cut the cord"*® entirely and converted into exclusively wireless customers either of Verizon Wireless® or its
competitors. Some Verizon customers have switched to VoIP providers,®® which Verizon counts as wireline losses even though Verizon may retain these
customers and some of their revenues.*® Some customers have switched to those cable television providers now offering telephone service. Cox, for
example, has a significant market share of the local telephone market in the areas of Virginia in which it competes, including Virginia Beach/Norfolk,
Roanoke County, and Northern Virginia.”> Other Verizon landline customers undoubtedly have switched to CLECs.** Determining the exact number of
Verizon customers who have switched to competitors for local telephone service is likely to be unachievable, however, since neither wireless, VVolP, nor
broadband providers are under the primary jurisdiction of this Commission and have only a limited obligation to submit customer or line data.

Consequently, we need to analyze and review more closely each major source of statewide competition cited by Verizon.

Competition from CLECs and Traditional Interexchange Carriers

As discussed previously, CLECs compete by utilizing several methods. A number of CLECs compete by purchasing the tariffed retail services of
Verizon at a discount and then reselling those services to their own retail customers. Other CLECs purchase Wholesale Advantage and/or UNE-L service
from Verizon as a means to offer service to their customers. We find that these CLECs, which must rely on service and facilities leased from Verizon in
order to provide retail service in Virginia, should not be considered "facilities-based" providers for purposes of our discussion and findings herein.*?

% NRRI Report Assessing Wireless and Broadband Substitution in Local Telephone Markets, June 2007 ("NRRI Report"), Exh. 271 at 32.
d.

% 1d.

% See, e.g., Application at 2; West, Exh. 12C at 37; Roycroft, Tr. at 1033.

3 »Growth of wireless and broadband does not, by itself, imply that consumers are substituting them for wireline service. Nonetheless, the growth of other

platforms at a time when the wireline platform is experiencing decline in connections and usage, supports the hypothesis that some substitution is taking
place” (emphasis added). NRRI Report, Exh. 271 at 34, n.93.

% See, e.g., West, Exh. 12 at 58.

% According to a May 2007 report by the National Center for Health Statistics based on the National Health Interview Survey of over 13,000 households,
12.8% of households nationally had only wireless telephones during the second half of 2006 (citation omitted). NRRI Report, Exh. 271 at 33. Other studies
by Forrester Research and In-State/MDR report lower percentages of “cord cutters,” 8% and 9.4%, respectively. West, Exh. 12 at 63-64. Evidence in this
case, however, indicates that the Virginia percentage of complete “cord cutters" is even lower, about 6%. See Application at 2.

® Verizon Wireless, a majority of which is owned by Verizon, is one of the largest wireless providers in Virginia. See, e.g., Taylor, Tr. at 818, 2101-2102.

% If Verizon loses a customer to an "over the top" VolIP provider, that customer may continue to generate revenues for Verizon if that customer uses
Verizon's underlying DSL service for VolP.

¥See, e.g., Taylor, Tr. at 858-859.
4 See, e.g., West, Exh. 12C at 41-42.
“11d., at 91-92.

“2 Cable companies are discussed in the following section.
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In addition, national data indicates that the ability of CLECs to compete with ILECs was adversely affected by FCC action regarding the ILECs'
obligation to offer UNE-P at total element long run incremental cost (generally referred to as "TELRIC") prices to CLECs.*® Indeed, the national share of
CLEC wireline connections was actually lower in June 2006 than in June 2004 and after ten years of facing competition from CLECs, ILECs still held a
national market share of wireline connections of more than 80%. *

Generally, CLECs represent a type of local telephone service closely comparable in price, service quality and reliability to that offered by
Verizon's traditional landline network. The evidence demonstrates that certain CLECs are currently competitors to Verizon in some local geographic
markets in Virginia, but the actions in 2005 of the FCC with regard to UNE-P make it far more likely that competition from CLECs as a category of
competitor will decrease, not increase, in Virginia. Verizon is correct that we must make a "forward looking" analysis of the market that considers trends
and market dynamics, and not just look at static market shares or statistics.* Consequently, considering the evidence of trends and market dynamics and as
further analyzed below, we find that CLECs as a category of competitor do not meet the “potential for competition" standard in Subsection F in geographic
areas where they are not currently present and therefore do not represent a statewide competitor to Verizon. They are, nonetheless, a close substitute for
Verizon's landline service, and we include them as a competitor in geographic areas where they are present, as discussed further below.

As far as competition from historically traditional interexchange carriers, two of the largest and most aggressive competitors to Verizon for
telephone service five years ago, MCI and AT&T, have both been acquired by ILECs. Verizon itself purchased MCI, eliminating MCI as a competitor in
Virginia. AT&T was purchased by SBC* and the evidence demonstrates that AT&T is presently not an aggressive or active competitor in Virginia for
wireline-based residential telephone service.”” We do not find that other regional Bell Operating Companies such as today's AT&T or Qwest, or former
interexchange carriers such as MCI and the "old" AT&T, meet the "potential for competition" standard under Subsection F to be considered statewide
competitors to Verizon for mass market, residential wireline telephone service.

Competition from Cable Television Companies

Verizon cites cable companies as a significant statewide source of competition for local telephone service.”® Cable television providers that

choose to offer traditional telephone or internet-enabled telephone service offer a product that is comparable, though not identical, to Verizon's wireline
service in terms of reliability and service quality. We find that of all the intermodal platforms, stand-alone cable telephony services come the closest to
providing the functional equivalent to traditional wireline services.* Cable companies own their own wireline network and provide local telephone service
either through traditional circuit-switched technology (technically as a CLEC), or increasingly through the use of IP-based technology that is fully
connectible to the public switched telephone network ("PSTN").

We find that cable telephony is a competitive option that may reasonably meet the needs of consumers under Subsection F in terms of reliability
and service quality. Verizon is correct that telephone service from cable companies is available in many of the larger urban and suburban areas of Virginia,
e.g., Fairfax, Virginia Beach, Richmond, and Roanoke County. In many small cities, towns, and rural areas of Virginia, however, local telephone service is
not available from the cable company; indeed, in some areas of Virginia there is no cable provider at all.*® Verizon argues that even though a cable company
may not be currently offering local telephone service, the threat that a cable company could choose to offer local telephone service should Verizon raise its
rates too high should be considered as meeting the statutory standard of "potential for competition.">* We find, however, that the capital and human
resources investments necessary for a cable company to offer local telephone service are significant barriers to entry under Subsection F and are unlikely to
be made simply because Verizon raises prices for basic local telephone service.%? We further find that sparsely populated counties or towns in which no
cable company has heretofore found economic incentives sufficient to justify investing millions of dollars to build a cable television network are unlikely, to
say the least, to attract a cable company willing to invest millions of dollars in order to compete with Verizon for local telephone service, a fact
acknowledged by Verizon Witness Eisenach.® Thus, contrary to Verizon's assertion that cable companies currently present statewide competition to
Verizon for local telephone service, we find that competition from cable television companies to Verizon is non-existent in many of the more rural
geographic areas of Virginia. We find that to be considered under the statute as competitors to Verizon for local telephone service, a cable company must be
present in the local market and currently offering telephone service.

43 See NRRI Report, Exh. 271 at 48, n.141; In the Matter of Unbundled Access to Network Elements; Review of Section 251 Unbundling Obligations of
Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers, W.C. Docket No. 04-313, FCC 04-290: Rel. February 4, 2005.

“* See NRRI Report, Exh. 271 at 48.
> See Application at 5; Verizon's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 46.
6 SBC chose to rename itself AT&T after the purchase.

47 See Petition of AT&T Communications of Virginia, LLC for Approval to Exceed Price Ceilings, filed on January 3, 2007, Case No. PUC-2007-00001,
at 3-4; Cummings, Tr. at 1408-10.

8 See, e.g., Application at 11; West, Exh. 12 at 41-51.

* See, e.g., Johnson, Exh. 192P at 45. For some cable customers, we note that E-911 service may be negatively affected after a prolonged electric power
outage to the customer's home.

%0 \Jerizon states that 90% of Virginia households are passed by cable (taking Verizon's statement as true, we note that means that at least 10% of Virginia
households are not), but only 60% are passed by cable providers presently offering telephone service. See Exh. 19. In the 96 counties Verizon witness Dr.
Taylor identified as counties in which Verizon has operations, 60 of those counties do not have cable telephone services available to consumers. See, e.g.,
Roycroft, Ex. 129P at 56.

*! See Eisenach, Tr. at 515-518; Verizon's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 46-47, nn.57, 58

%2 See, e.g., Johnson, Tr. at 1573-1574.

%8 Eisenach, Tr. at 480-483, 518-519.
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Verizon states that “[t]he record contains overwhelming evidence that cable provides a competitive alternative to Verizon's services where a
provider has upgraded its network to provide digital voice or broadband services."® We agree with Verizon that where a cable company has upgraded its
network to provide telephone service, it represents a competitive alternative to Verizon. We would add that we find that to be the case whether the cable
company offers a traditional circuit-switched telephone service (which would make the cable company technically a CLEC) or uses IP-based technology to
connect to the PSTN. In our competitiveness test adopted herein, we include cable companies as facilities-based competitors to Verizon where there is a
cable provider that has upgraded its network to offer telephone service.

Verizon also asserts that:

where a cable company has deployed broadband facilities, it is a current competitor to Verizon's voice services,
even if it has not yet deployed telephony ... [T]he broadband services permit an end user to use 'over-the-top'
VolP services in lieu of a wireline phone. . . .%

We discuss below whether a cable provider should be included as a competitor to Verizon simply because it offers a broadband internet connection, even
when it does not offer telephone service of its own.

On the other hand, we disagree with the Attorney General that a cable company (or, for that matter, a CLEC or wireless provider) must be
offering a stand-alone BLETS product at roughly the same price as Verizon to be considered a competitor to Verizon.*® We find that if a cable company is
presently offering local telephone service in a geographic market area, in any price or bundled configuration, it meets the “potential for competition"
standard in Subsection F to be considered a competitor to Verizon that can effectively regulate Verizon's prices. Since that cable company has already
invested the capital and human resources necessary to offer telephone service, there are no significant barriers to entry to prevent that cable provider from
competing directly on price with Verizon for BLETS, should Verizon raise its BLETS prices.

Competition from Wireless Telephone Providers

Verizon cites wireless telephone providers as statewide competitors for its local telephone service.%” As noted above, the evidence shows that the
number of wireless customers has grown substantially in Virginia. Verizon's own evidence demonstrates, however, that while the overall number of wireless
lines has grown, very few Virginia consumers have "cut the cord" entirely and replaced landline telephone service with wireless service as their only
platform for local telephone service.®® As stated in the NRRI Report introduced by Verizon: . . . growth in wireless and broadband do not, by themselves,
provide conclusive evidence of competition with or substitutability for wireline service. . . ."*

For various reasons wireless telephone service may not be a reasonable substitute under Subsection F for landline service for many consumers;
for example, wireless service does not provide the same level of reliability as landline telephone service, particularly inside the home or office structure.®
Further, while significant technological progress has been made, wireless 911 service has yet to reach the standard of landline E-911 service, and this
represents a major public safety issue that we cannot ignore when determining whether wireless telephone service is a statewide substitute to Verizon's
landline service that "reasonably meets the needs of consumers" under the statutory standard in Subsection F.®* Because of these reliability and public safety
concerns, we find that wireless cannot be considered a statewide substitute for Verizon's wireline services at this time. %

Nevertheless, while wireless is not a perfect substitute for Verizon's landline service, we believe it would underestimate the actual amount of
competition to Verizon if we did not include wireless competition at all in determining market competitiveness. We find that wireless service is an adequate
substitute for some consumers, and this number is growing. Wireless service is not just an option for the laughing teenagers often featured in wireless
companies' television advertising. It may be an increasingly preferred option for small businesses like plumbers, carpenters, sales persons, home builders
and realtors, who have their offices in their cars, trucks or on their own persons. Moreover, a competitor does not have to be a perfect substitute to Verizon's
landline service to act as a price regulator of Verizon's local telephone service under Subsection F. As discussed in more detail below, we find that it is
appropriate to include wireless competition to Verizon in the geographic market areas in which it is available in the competitiveness test we adopt herein.

Competition from Broadband-enabled Telephone Providers

Whenever a home or business has a broadband connection, the potential exists for the consumer to purchase telephone service from a VolP
provider. That potential exists whether the consumer purchases the broadband "pipe" from Verizon itself, from the cable company, from a provider using

% Verizon's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 19 (emphasis added).
% Id. at 21 (citing Verizon Witness Eisenach at Tr. 478-83, 599).

% Attorney General's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 8-10, 13-15.
% See, e.g., Application at 1-3, 10-12; West, Exh. 12 at 51-67, 114-119.

% See, e.g., Application at 2; West, Exh. 12C at 7.

% NRRI Report, Exh. 271 at 48.

% See, e.g., Roycroft, Exh. 129P at 58-62, 66-72.

®1 1d. at 68-69.

8 In addition, we note that there are areas of Virginia in which wireless service may not be regularly available. See, e.g., Thompson, Tr. at 111 (public
witness); Roycroft, Exh. 129P at 61-62 (citation omitted).
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wireless technology such as WiMAX or WiFi, or from a provider using a Broadband over Power Line ("BPL") platform. Verizon cites VoIP as a major
source of statewide competition for their local landline telephone service.®

At the outset, we find that so-called “peer to peer" VolP services, such as Skype-to-Skype, cannot be considered as competitors to Verizon for
local telephone service because calls can only be made between Skype users. These types of "peer to peer," or "computer to computer,” calling schemes do
not include calls to the PSTN and thus cannot be considered as reasonably meeting the needs of consumers under Subsection F. So competition to Verizon
that would qualify under the statute must come from the "over the top" VVolP providers such as VVonage that use another provider's broadband "pipe" into the
home and which offer telephone service that connects to the PSTN.

As discussed above, it is difficult to determine the exact number of customers in Virginia who have switched from Verizon to VVolP providers
such as Vonage, since such VolP providers are not under the jurisdiction of this Commission. There is a lack of persuasive evidence in this record
demonstrating that VVolP providers have currently gained any significant foothold in the local telephone market in Virginia. On the contrary, what evidence
is available appears to show that the market share of "over the top" VolP providers in Virginia is so small that such providers cannot be considered as serious
statewide competitors to Verizon for local telephone service at this time.% Further, Vonage, which according to Verizon is "reputed to be the leading
broadband telephony provider [(i.e., VoIP competitor)] in the United States," ® thus likely in Virginia as well, has recently lost two patent infringement
lawsuits brought by Verizon and Sprint Nextel.®® Another significant VolIP provider in Virginia, SunRocket, Inc., has ceased providing VolIP services to its
customers.®’

Verizon cites the BPL platform as facilitating the growth of broadband-enabled competition.®® We find that providing local telephone service
over power lines is not at this time a major source of competition to Verizon in Virginia nor a realistic threat of potential competition in the foreseeable
future. According to Verizon, BPL is offered only in Manassas, Radford, and in parts of Amherst and Nelson counties.®® Further, there is no evidence
whatsoever in this record that the largest owners of power lines in Virginia, Dominion Virginia Power and Appalachian Power Company, have any plans to
use their networks to offer widespread BPL service in the near future, either as direct providers of service or as lessors of their facilities. That could
obviously change as BPL technology continues to develop and BPL could conceivably become a major source of broadband availability in the future,
because the network is already in place throughout Virginia, but we find it is not at this time nor likely in the imminent future.

Apart from the availability of broadband, even when the consumer has a broadband connection, "over the top" VVolP providers do not presently
provide nearly the same level of reliability, service quality or, most importantly, 911 service, as landline telephone service, to be considered as reasonably
meeting the needs of consumers, as the statute requires us to consider.” We believe it likely that the continuing development of VolIP technology will result
in improvements to reliability and 911 service in the future, and as those technological improvements take place, VoIP service may become more of a
reasonable substitute for landline telephone service, but present-day reliability and public safety concerns with VVolP cannot be ignored.

Nevertheless, just as we found above that totally excluding wireless competition would underestimate the amount of actual competition to
Verizon, we also find that totally excluding actual or potential competition from broadband-enabled providers would underestimate competition to Verizon
as well, and thus we find that VVoIP should be included in our competitiveness analysis, as we discuss below.

The key issue in determining whether VolP is a statewide competitor to Verizon is, of course, broadband penetration, for the simple reason that
"over the top" VolP cannot pose a threat of competition to Verizon unless the customer both has a broadband connection available and has chosen to
purchase broadband internet service. As Verizon Witness Eisenach stated:

The question is 'is voice telephone service available,' and it's not available if there's no broadband.
VolIP — over-the-top VoIP — is not available if there's no broadband, [] and if there is broadband then
over-the-top VolP is available to a hundred percent of — depending on how you want to look at it, either a
hundred percent of the households where the broadband is available or, at a minimum, a hundred percent of the
households who already subscribe to broadband. So broadband is simply a proxy — the broadband availability
is simply a proxy for looking at VolIP availability, and \VoIP is clearly a telephone service.™

We agree with Dr. Eisenach that broadband availability is an initial proxy for VVolP availability. As Dr. Eisenach also recognized, however, for a
consumer to have access to "over the top" VolIP service, a consumer not only must have broadband available, but also must have chosen to purchase a
broadband internet connection. We find that actual broadband penetration by household and by business is an important indicator of the scope of

8 See, e.g., Application at 3; West, Exh. 12 at 78-87, 120-125.

8% See Eisenach, Tr. at 1871-1873; Exh. 210C.

5 West, Exh. 12 at 83.

% See Verizon Services Corp. v. Vonage Holdings Corp., 503 F.3d 1295 (Fed. Cir. 2007), affirming in part judgment of U.S. District Court in Verizon
Services Corp. v. Vonage Holdings Corp., 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26714 (E.D.Va. April 6, 2007); Sprint Communs. Corp. LP v. Vonage Holdings Corp.,
Case No. 05-2433 (Kan. Dist. Ct. September 25, 2007).

57 See Eisenach, Tr. at 1784.

88 "[BPL] technology has the potential of being ‘a ubiquitous third pipe to the home." West, Exh. 12 at 103 (citation omitted).
% Id. at 106-107.

 See, e.g., Roycroft, Ex. 129P at 88-92; Gillan, Tr. at 1274.

™ Eisenach, Tr. at 1834 (emphasis added).
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competition to Verizon posed by VolP. Thus, we find it appropriate to include "over the top” VolP in our market competitiveness test as a competitor to
Verizon for local telephone service when it is both available and the customer has chosen to purchase broadband internet service.

Statewide Competition to Verizon's Local Telephone Service Is Not Uniform and Should Be Considered in Smaller Geographic Areas, by Product/Service
Categories, and by Types of Customers

Verizon is the largest ILEC in Virginia and faces significantly more competition today compared to that which its corporate ancestors faced a
quarter century ago. We find that while competition or the potential for competition for local telephone service has increased significantly, the degree varies
substantially by geographic area, by product and service, and by type of customer. It is not yet advanced in all geographic areas of Virginia and for all
products and services and types of customers sufficient to fulfill the statutory standards in Subsections E and F that we must follow in considering Verizon's
request for complete deregulation and detariffing of virtually all local telephone services on a statewide basis. We agree with the NRRI Report introduced
by Verizon that "a whole state is generally too large to be used to define the geographic market. . .,"" particularly in a state as large and economically
diverse as Virginia, and that "larger ILECs' service territories are also likely to exhibit too much variation in competitors to be considered as the geographic
market."” Consequently, we find that, given the evidence, the applicable statutes require that we consider Verizon's request for deregulation and detariffing
of most local telephone services by geographic markets smaller than Verizon's statewide service territory, by categories of products and services, and by
types of customers.™

Further, even if we did agree to Verizon's request to consider its entire Virginia service territory as one market, the evidence shows that many
geographic areas of Virginia lack a facilities-based competitor to Verizon, and as we found above, the barriers to entry for facilities-based wireline
competitors such as cable companies are substantial. While cable and CLEC competitors present significant competition to Verizon where they exist, we
find that neither cable nor CLEC providers meet the “potential for competition" statutory standard in geographic areas of Virginia in which they currently are
not present at all, or in the case of cable, present but not offering telephone service. Further, while we find that wireless and broadband-based competitors
such as "over the top" VolP should be considered in determining competitiveness — and we include them in our competitiveness test herein — most other
states that have deregulated local telephone service have required at least one competitor in their market competitiveness tests to be “facilities-based,"
effectively either a cable company or a CLEC that owns its own wireline network.™

We believe that to fulfill our statutory obligations given us by the General Assembly, we should deregulate with caution and with due attention to
safeguards to protect both consumers and competition, as required by Subsections G and H. Accordingly, this Order:

(i) deregulates where the facts demonstrate that the statutory standards have been met,

(if) maintains regulation where the statutory standards have not been met,

(iii) establishes an expeditious administrative process for additional deregulation in the future when and where
additional evidence of competitiveness warrants deregulation pursuant to the findings in this Order, and

(iv) establishes safeguards for competition and consumers and a process for monitoring competition in the
future, as required by statute.

BLETS, OLETS and Bundled Services Defined

Verizon identifies over 180 specific services that it requests the Commission to declare competitive. Verizon separates these services into the
following categories, which are in accordance with the categorization in Verizon's Alternative Regulatory Plan: BLETS; OLETS; and Bundled Services.”

First, Verizon lists seven BLETS for Verizon Virginia and eight BLETS for Verizon South that the Company requests be declared competitive on
a statewide basis.”” The category BLETS includes basic telephone service, sometimes referred to as "Plain Old Telephone Service," or "POTS," to continue
the parade of telephonic acronyms. For purposes of this Order, we exclude (1) pay telephone services, and (2) Extended Local Service from our
determinations herein regarding competition for BLETS. We find that pay telephone services are sufficiently distinct from other BLETS to warrant separate
analyses; in this regard, we note that Verizon may file a request with the Commission under its Alternative Regulatory Plan or pursuant to Va.
Code § 56-235.5, with supporting data specific to these services, to reclassify them as competitive. The rates for Extended Local Service are separately
governed by Va. Code § 56-484.2, and, as a result, Verizon's Alternative Regulatory Plan does not permit the Company to increase any tariffed Extended
Local Service rates outside the provisions of Va. Code § 56-484.2; likewise, we find that Extended Local Service rates shall continue to be established
pursuant to Va. Code § 56-484.2.

2 NRRI Report, Exh. 271 at 47.
d.

™ As discussed below, we find that competition to Verizon's bundled services may appropriately be considered on a statewide basis. We also find below that
the "enterprise market" is appropriately considered to be statewide.

7> See Exhs. 52, 53, 308. "Competition, for the most part, is defined as the existence of at least one facilities-based competitor and another carrier competing
with the incumbent." Exh. 53 at 2.

"6 See Exh. 13.

" Verizon Virginia's BLETS are listed as: (1) Residential Dial Tone Line, and any included local calling allowance (flat rate, message rate or measured rate);
(2) Business Dial Tone Line, and any included local calling allowance (flat rate, message rate or measured rate); (3) Centrex Exchange Access; (4) Exchange
Usage; (5) Extended Area Calling; (6) Extended Local Service (ELS); and (7) Pay Telephone Lines. Verizon South's BLETS are listed as: (1) Residential
Dial Tone Line, and any included local calling allowance (flat rate, message rate or measured rate); (2) Business Dial Tone Line, and any included local
calling allowance (flat rate, message rate or measured rate); (3) Centrex Exchange Access; (4) Residential, Business and Centrex Local Calling Plans that
include: Basic Calling Plan, Community Plus Calling Plan, and Premium Calling Plan; (5) Customer Owned Coin and Coinless — Operated Telephones —
Line Service; (6) Customer Owned Pay Telephone Coin Line Service (COPT); (7) Exchange Usage; and (8) Extended Local Service (ELS). Id.
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Next, Verizon lists over 80 services as OLETS for Verizon Virginia and over 70 services as OLETS for Verizon South that the Company requests
be declared competitive on a statewide basis. As a brief example, the OLETS listed by Verizon include services such as: Custom Calling Services (e.g., call
forwarding, caller 1.D., and call waiting); Answering Bureau Services; Billing and Collection Analysis; Do Not Disturb; Easy Number Call Routing; Fixed
Call Forwarding; Home Business Service; Operator Verification; Operator Call Completion; Remote Call Forwarding; Repeat Dialing; Selective Call
Screening; Analog Channel Services; Custom Operating Center Services; CyberDS1 Service; Digital Data Services; High Capacity Digital Service — DS1;
and Hi7gsh Capacity Digital Service — DS3. We note that there is significant, yet not complete, overlap in OLETS identified for Verizon Virginia and Verizon
South.

Finally, Verizon lists eight Bundled Services for Verizon Virginia and six Bundled Services for Verizon South that the Company requests be
declared competitive on a statewide basis.” These services generally represent a designated group of services or products offered to customers at a package
or set price, which may consist of BLETS, OLETS and/or competitive services or products.

Residential and Business Markets

We find that the mass market residential and business local telephone services and products are separate product markets in Virginia and should
be treated separately in this Order, consistent with Subsections E and F. We note that several of the states (and Canada) that have deregulated local
telephone services to varying extents have treated mass market residential and business services separately in their deregulation frameworks.®* We further
treat the so-called "enterprise" business market separately, for the reasons discussed below.

Appropriate Geographic Market Area for Residential BLETS and OLETS

Subsection F authorizes us to make a finding of competition "on a statewide or a more limited geographic basis, such as one or more political
subdivisions or one or more telephone exchange areas . .. ." Pursuant to this statute, and based on the evidence provided in this proceeding, we find that an
appropriate geographic market area ("GMA") for determining the competitiveness of residential BLETS and OLETS should be telephone exchange areas.

While the statute itself uses political subdivisions or telephone exchange areas as examples of less-than-statewide geographic units, Verizon asks
us to use "MSAs" and "non-MSAs" if we use a smaller than statewide geographic area to determine competitiveness.®> We find, however, that while an
MSA may encompass a collection of telephone exchanges or political subdivisions, an MSA is too large and economically diverse to be an appropriate
geographic market area for making a competitiveness determination under Subsections E and F. We note, for examples, that the Virginia Beach-Norfolk-
Newport News MSA includes the Surry and Windsor exchanges and the Richmond MSA includes the King and Queen and King William exchanges. Rural
exchanges such as these on the perimeters of MSAs are not similar enough in economic and demographic characteristics to the more urban and suburban
exchanges in those MSAs, such as Virginia Beach and Richmond, for us to find that those still-rural exchanges are similarly situated in terms of currently
having — or likely to have — competitive options comparable to those available, or likely to be available, to consumers in the more densely populated
jurisdictions.® Rather, we find that Verizon will not be able effectively to discriminate, in its service offerings, against customers in these rural exchanges if
the exchange itself is required to meet the competitiveness test set forth below.

The NRRI Report white paper cites the U.S. Department of Justice ("DOJ") merger guidelines for an appropriate market definition that is, in both
product and geographic space, described as the "smallest market in which a hypothetical monopolist could exercise market power."® Market power is, of
course, the ability of a seller of a product or service to impose and sustain a price above that which would obtain in a competitive market.

We find that telephone exchange areas — units specifically listed in the Code of Virginia — most closely fit the definition of an appropriate
geographic market as contained in the DOJ merger guidelines, which is a recognized definition and the one specifically cited in the NRRI Report introduced
as Verizon Exhibit 271, which also asserts that using the entire state as the market is generally inappropriate.®*

Since MSAs generally encompass on a regional basis a number of telephone exchanges, Verizon can still demonstrate that an entire MSA is
competitive by showing that the individual exchanges within that MSA satisfy the test set forth below. Our market competitiveness test, however, which is
similar to those applied in several states that have adopted procedures to deregulate local telephone service, will ensure that each local exchange area will
have at least one facilities-based competitive option to Verizon, which could not be guaranteed in every exchange if we used only MSAs as the geographic
market area.

Finally, we note that the statute does not require a finding, prior to a determination of competitiveness, that each consumer in the chosen GMA
has the same competitive alternatives. Indeed, we recognize that any finding of competitiveness in a geographic area listed by the statute may result in at
least one or more individual consumers who do not share in all the competitive alternatives available to others in that same area. We find, however, that

™ See Exh. 13.

™ Verizon Virginia's bundled services are listed in Exh. 13 as: Verizon Affiliate Bundle Discount; Verizon Local Package; Verizon Local Package Extra;
Verizon Regional Essentials; Verizon Regional Package Extra; Verizon Regional Package; Verizon Regional Value; and Unlimited Local and Toll Usage for
Business. Verizon South's bundled services are listed in Exh. 13 as: CENTRANET CustoPAK Service & Assoc. Features; Verizon Local Package; Verizon
Local Package Extra; Verizon Regional Package Extra; Verizon Regional Package; and Unlimited Local and Toll Usage for Business.

% See Exhs. 52, 53, and 308.

8 See Verizon's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 64-69. For ease of reference in this Order hereinafter, references to "MSAs" also include those
geographically-defined areas that Verizon refers to as "non-MSAs."

8 See, e.g., Johnson, Exh. 192C at 21-22; Johnson, Tr. at 1517-1518; Reeson, Tr. at 118-121 (public witness).
 NRRI Report, Exh. 271 at 21 (citation omitted).

8 1d. at 47.
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telephone exchange areas meeting the criteria below represent sufficiently small enough geographic areas for us to be satisfied that VVerizon will not be able
effectively to discriminate, in its service offerings, against consumers who do not have the same competitive alternatives as others in the exchange. That is,
we conclude that if the competitiveness test below is satisfied for a specific local telephone exchange area, then competition or the potential for competition
is or can be an effective regulator of the price for all consumers in that area.

Competitiveness Test for Residential BLETS

Subsection F states that the Commission:

may determine telephone services of any telephone company to be competitive when it finds that competition or
the potential for competition in the market place is or can be an effective regulator of the price of those services

In determining whether competition effectively regulates the prices of services, the Commission shall
consider: (i) the ease of market entry, (ii) the presence of other providers reasonably meeting the needs of
consumers, and (iii) other factors the Commission considers relevant. . .

As set forth above, we do not find that “competition or the potential for competition in the market place is or can be an effective regulator of the
price"® for residential BLETS on a statewide basis. Rather, based on the record developed in this case, we find that competition or the potential for
competition can be an effective regulator of the price for residential BLETS in a telephone exchange area if each of the following criteria is satisfied:

a. A minimum of 75% of the households in the telephone exchange area can choose residential local
telephone service from among at least two (2) competitors to Verizon;

b. A minimum of two (2) of the competitors to Verizon in part "a" must offer residential local telephone
service that may be purchased by the residential consumer without a corresponding requirement to
purchase non-telecommunications services (e.g., video or broadband internet service) from that
competitor; and

c. At least 50% of the households in the telephone exchange area can choose a facilities-based competitor
that owns its own wireline network facilities.

Examples of an acceptable facilities-based competitor in "c" above would include (1) a cable telephony provider that owns its own network, or
(2) a CLEC provider that owns its own network and is not dependent on Verizon for leasing UNE-P or UNE-L facilities to the CLEC. Wireless or “over the
top" VolP providers are not included as facilities-based providers for purposes of this Order, for the reasons further discussed below.

Examples of an acceptable competitor in "a" above could be a cable company, CLEC,® or any wireless provider not affiliated with Verizon®
which offers residential local telephone service. Since "over the top" VoIP providers are only available to customers who have access to, and have chosen to
purchase, broadband internet service, for "over the top" VolP to qualify as a competitor for local telephone service to Verizon in a telephone exchange, at
least 75% of the households in Verizon's service territory in the exchange must have chosen to purchase broadband internet service, whether via DSL, cable
modem, wireless (WiMAX or WiFi), BPL or Verizon's own fiber to the home product. "Over the top" VolP cannot be an effective competitor to Verizon
unless broadband penetration is substantial throughout the exchange, which means that broadband is not only available, but consumers have chosen to
purchase broadband internet service.

In requiring at least one facilities-based competitor to have a substantial presence in the exchange area, we apply Subsection F's directive to
"consider . . . the presence of other providers reasonably meeting the needs of consumers . ..." As discussed above, we find that for many consumers of
basic local telephone service, reliability of service and, in particular, reliable 911 service, are reasonable needs. Neither wireless nor VoIP provides the same
level of consistent reliability and, in particular, 911 service reliability, that is delivered by Verizon's wireline service or, to a lesser extent, cable providers.®
Most importantly, for purposes of acting as a price regulator of Verizon's BLETS, we find that a competitor that owns its own wireline network presents the
strongest actual or potential competition to Verizon's wireline service.

While wireless and "over the top" VolP telephone services do not provide the same level of consistent reliability and E-911 service as Verizon's
landline service so as to be a reasonable product substitute for all consumers under Subsection F, we do find that, in particular, wireless service, and to a
lesser extent, VolIP, are acceptable substitutes for enough consumers to act as price regulators of Verizon's local telephone service under Subsection F when
wireless and VolP competitors are sufficiently present in an exchange. Consequently, we include wireless providers as acceptable competitors under the
competitiveness test we adopt herein. We also include "over the top" VoIP as a competitor wherever broadband penetration, defined as households having a
broadband internet service, has reached 75% in the exchange.

As discussed above, we do not find it necessary under Subsection F that each and every competitor to Verizon offer an array of products and
services identical to Verizon or at prices identical to Verizon's stand-alone BLETS in order to act as a price regulator of Verizon's local telephone services

% Va. Code § 56-235.5(F).

% \We do not include herein resellers, which simply resell another provider's (often Verizon's) services and which do not provide sufficient competition to
Verizon to be considered a competitor under this test. Resellers do not represent an acceptable competitor in part "a."

8 We find that requiring the wireless competitor not to be affiliated with Verizon (which owns a majority share in Verizon Wireless), will result in a more
accurate indicator of actual or potential competition to Verizon's landline service. While Verizon Wireless competes with other wireless providers such as
AT&T and Sprint Nextel, Verizon Wireless can cooperate and market jointly with Verizon's other services, including landline. Just as we found that not
including wireless at all could understate the amount of competition to Verizon's landline service, we also find that including Verizon Wireless as a
competitor to Verizon for local telephone service could overstate the amount of competition in a geographic market area.

® See, e.g., Roycroft, Exh. 129P at 58-70, 88-92; Johnson, Exh. 192P at 36-40, 43-45.
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and products. Consistent with Subsection F's directive to consider “"competition or the potential for competition," we find that including cable, CLEC,
wireless and VVolP providers in the competitiveness test as acceptable competitors fulfills the statute's “potential for competition" criterion, even though none
may be presently offering an exact duplicate of Verizon's BLETS product offerings at prices identical to Verizon's. Each competitor presently offering
residential telephone service represents a potential threat to match or undercut Verizon's pricing.

Further, Subsection F requires us to consider “the ease of market entry" in determining competitiveness. Accordingly, while we do not require
that each competitor presently offer an identical array of BLETS at prices identical to Verizon's, we do require in our competitiveness test that at least two
competitors already are substantially present in the telephone exchange area offering residential telephone service. We find that the statute does not allow us
to include in our competitiveness determination the mere threat that a cable company or CLEC not already present in an exchange will decide to make the
substantial capital investment necessary to enter a market simply in response to price increases for BLETS by Verizon.

We note that the "two competitor” test, with at least one required to be facilities-based,® which we adopt herein, is well within the mainstream of
competitiveness tests used in the majority of other states (and Canada) that have deregulated their BLETS to various extents.® We also note that the "two
competitor” test we adopt herein is similar in some respects to the competitiveness test in the federal Cable Act of 1992, discussed by Verizon Witness
Eisenach® and cited in Verizon's Post Hearing Brief.

The test we adopt herein does not depend upon extensive collection of provider line counts or detailed market share data, which would be
difficult to obtain since VoIP and wireless competitors do not have a legal obligation to provide actual line counts to this Commission. Instead, this test
looks at the availability of competitive options to Virginia consumers and seeks to ensure that consumers in each exchange have at least two alternatives for
residential local telephone service other than Verizon landline before that exchange is declared competitive.

Further, we find that the competitiveness test described herein is sufficient to protect consumers in an exchange area from the exercise of market
power by Verizon for BLETS. The requirement that at least two other competitors be available to at least 75% of the households in the exchange area (with
an additional requirement that at least 50% of the households have access to a facilities-based provider) will prevent Verizon from raising its BLETS prices
without incurring a significant risk of losing customers. Consequently, in an exchange area meeting this test we find that "competition or the potential for
competition” can act as a regulator of Verizon's BLETS prices, in accordance with Subsection F, even though there may be some consumers in the exchange
area who do not have access to one or more of the competitors to Verizon in the exchange.

We could not make this finding had we accepted Verizon's proposal to consider as the appropriate market area Verizon's entire statewide service
territory or the MSAs proposed by Verizon. Statewide or even within an MSA, there would be far too many households without access to sufficient
competition to Verizon for our competitiveness test to act as an effective deterrent to Verizon's potential exercise of market power. A local exchange area,
however, is sufficiently small so that we can be reasonably confident that the competitiveness test adopted herein will act as an effective deterrent to the
exercise of market power by Verizon for BLETS.

We believe that this market test will deter the exercise of market power in exchanges declared competitive. We have a duty under Subsection G,
however, to monitor continually our determinations. For example, if evidence comes to this Commission that Verizon is charging higher prices for BLETS
to customers in an exchange who do not have access to a facilities-based competitor to Verizon than is charged to customers in that exchange who do, that
evidence would be relevant to the question of whether Verizon still retains — and is exercising — market power in that exchange.®® Under Subsection G, this
Commission retains the authority to act as it deems necessary in such a situation.

In contrast to Verizon's request for statewide deregulation, we find that the "two competitor” test we adopt herein, as applied to a telephone
exchange area, satisfies the statutory requirement for finding that “competition or the potential for competition" can be an effective regulator of price, as set
forth in Subsection F, and is more likely to meet Subsection F's injunction that consumers will have options from competitors that "reasonably" meet their
needs and that potential competitors will not face substantial barriers to entry.

We also find that this test satisfies the statutory requirement to encourage the offering of competitive products and services as set forth in Va.
Code § 56-235.5:1.

Findings of Competitiveness

We find the following exchanges, categorized below by MSA for ease of reference, meet the competitiveness test for residential BLETS outlined
herein:

® The facilities-based competitor is potentially a third competitor if it is available to at least 50% but less than 75% of the households in the exchange.

% see Exhs. 52, 53, and 308. Texas uses a "three competitor" test, but Texas has no requirement that most consumers' households in the GMA have access
to all three competitors. Canada requires two competitors to the ILEC, with availability of each to at least 75% of households in the GMA. We find that the
Canadian requirement of 75% availability is a more accurate indicator of actual or potential competition in the GMA as required by § 56-235.5(F) than the
Texas “three competitor” test, with no such availability requirement.

% See Eisenach, Tr. at 1678-82, 1735-44.

%2 \erizon's Post-Hearing Brief at 92-93 (citing the Cable Act of 1992). See also 47 U.S.C. § 543(1)(1).

% Historically, Verizon has offered basic dial tone service (and other BLETS) at the same tariffed price(s) in a given exchange. Therefore, all customers in
an exchange are able to obtain service at the same price even if all customers do not have all the same options. While we would expect that the "tariffed"

price in an exchange would likely remain uniform at least in the near term, it is possible some customers could receive lower prices under promotions, which
would not necessarily raise concern about market power.
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Richmond MSA

Ashland
Bethia

Chester
Manakin
Mechanicsville
Midlothian
Old Church
Providence Forge
Richmond
Sandston
Rockville
Varina

Roanoke MSA
. Roanoke
. Bent Mountain

Virginia Beach-Norfolk-Newport News MSA
e  Gloucester

Great Bridge

Hayes

Hickory

Hampton

Princess Anne

Newport News

Norfolk/Virginia Beach

Peninsula

Poquoson

Portsmouth

Toano

Williamsburg

Washington-Arlington-Alexandria MSA
. Alexandria-Arlington

Braddock

Engleside

Fairfax-Vienna

Falls Church-McLean

Haymarket

Herndon

Independent Hill

Lorton

Manassas

Nokesville

Occoquan

We have identified these telephone exchanges using various exhibits presented in this proceeding.* Our findings of competitiveness for these
exchanges, however, do not represent findings that other telephone exchange areas in Verizon's service territory in Virginia do not meet the competitiveness
test set forth above. Additional exchanges will be considered on a case-by-case basis under the administrative process outlined herein when and/or if
Verizon submits specific tariffs with supporting data formatted and responsive to the competitiveness test described herein for additional exchanges.

We note that the telephone exchanges listed above and found competitive represent collectively approximately 62% — a majority — of Verizon's
residential lines in Virginia, as measured by Verizon's total residential access lines.%

We further note that, while the evidence in this proceeding demonstrates that each exchange listed above currently meets our competitiveness
test, should Verizon merge with, purchase, or be purchased by, a major competitor in any of these exchanges, or if this Commission receives credible
evidence that the exchange cited above no longer meets the competitiveness test established herein, we will re-evaluate our findings of competitiveness in
the telephone exchanges potentially affected by such events, consistent with our statutory duty under Subsection G to monitor our findings of
competitiveness. Should this Commission decide that an exchange area previously declared to be competitive no longer meets our test, such services in that
area shall go back to being regulated under Verizon's Alternative Regulatory Plan.

Competitiveness Test for Business BLETS

Large businesses who comprise the so-called "enterprise market" have the purchasing power to attract numerous competitors for their telephone
business, and they typically have the legal and financial resources to protect their interests once a contract with a telecommunications provider has been

% See, e.g., Exhs. 16C, 17, 18C, 19, 20, 21C, 22C, 23C, 24C, 25, 28, 29, 30C, 31C, 32C, 33C, 34C, 35C, 36C, 37C, 38C, 39C, 40C, 41C, 42C, 43C, 44C,
45C, 94C, 95C, 96C, 170C; Harris, Exh. 188C, Attachment CH-4.

% This calculation was derived from Staff Witness Harris' direct testimony, Exh. 188C, Attachment CH-4.
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executed. We are concerned, and we believe the General Assembly is equally concerned, about the tens of thousands of small businesses who make up the
backbone of Virginia's economy, and who do not have the purchasing power or the legal or financial resources of the largest telephone customers.

Further, CLECs may use T-1 or DS-1 lines to serve small and medium-sized businesses and may provision those by purchasing wholesale special
access lines from Verizon or another provider. We found in Case No. PUC-2005-00051 (Verizon-MCI merger case) that Verizon's purchase of MCI would
eliminate the largest competitor to Verizon in Virginia for wholesale special access and would thus reduce the competitiveness of the wholesale special
access market in Virginia.® To mitigate the impact of this significant reduction in competition, we attached a condition to our approval of the Verizon
purchase of MCI.®” We also ruled that this condition would be lifted immediately upon receiving sufficient proof from Verizon that the wholesale special
access market in Virginia had become competitive.®® To date, Verizon has not attempted to prove that the wholesale special access market in Virginia is
competitive. In this proceeding, Verizon acknowledged, however, that the competitiveness of the wholesale special access market affects the retail price of
certain business services such as T-1 and DS-1 lines.*

Consistent with these concerns, we believe that caution in deregulating business BLETS and OLETS is required. We believe that the test for
competitiveness below — and the price caps during the transition period discussed infra — will give Virginia's small and medium-sized business customers the
ability to protect themselves during the transition to a more competitive telephone market place statewide.

We do not find that "competition or the potential for competition in the market place is or can be an effective regulator of the price"'® for
business BLETS on a statewide basis. Rather, based on the record developed in this case, we find that competition or the potential for competition can be an
effective regulator of the price for business BLETS in a telephone exchange area if the competitiveness test below is met. That is, we find that a similar "two
competitor" test for competitiveness as established herein for mass market residential BLETS should also apply to the mass market business BLETS offered
by Verizon, using the same GMA described above, i.e., telephone exchange area, as follows:

a. A minimum of 75% of the businesses in the telephone exchange area can choose local telephone service from among at least two (2)
competitors to Verizon;

b. A minimum of two (2) of the competitors to Verizon in part "a" must offer local telephone service that may be purchased by the business
customer without a corresponding requirement to purchase non-telecommunications services (e.g., video or broadband internet service) from
that competitor; and

c. At least 50% of the businesses in the telephone exchange area can choose a facilities-based competitor that owns its own wireline network
facilities.

The limitations on the competitors that qualify under this test are the same as the limitations found above regarding residential BLETS. For "over the top"
VolP to count as a competitor, broadband penetration, defined as businesses who have purchased a broadband internet service, must be at least 75% in the
telephone exchange area.

In addition, for purposes of this business BLETS competitiveness test, the following services are treated as separate business BLETS:
(1) Individual Line; (2) PBX Trunk; and (3) Centrex services.™™ Accordingly, the above competitiveness test must be separately applied to each of these
three business BLETS in order for that business BLETS to be declared competitive in a telephone exchange. For example, if a specific telephone exchange
satisfies the above test for Individual Line service but not for Centrex services, then only Individual Line services can be declared competitive in that
exchange.

Findings of Competitiveness

We find the following telephone exchange areas, categorized below by MSA for ease of reference, meet the competitiveness test for Individual
Line business BLETS:

Roanoke MSA
. Roanoke

Virginia Beach-Norfolk-Newport News MSA
Great Bridge

Hampton

Newport News

Norfolk/Virginia Beach
Peninsula

% See Joint Petition of Verizon Communications, Inc. and MCI, Inc. for approval of agreement and plan of merger, Case No. PUC-2005-00051, 2005 S.C.C.
Ann. Rept. 260, 268 (October 6, 2005).

% The Commission required MCI to "continue to offer to wholesale customers in Virginia its available intrastate and interstate special access, private line or
its equivalent, and high capacity loop and transport facilities, without undue discrimination, at pre-merger terms and conditions and at prices that do not
exceed pre-merger rates." 1d.

%1d.

% Verizon Witness West, answering question from Commissioner Christie, Tr. at 439.

00 \/a. Code § 56-235.5(F).

101 gych distinctions can be found in Exh. 13 and in the tariff cited therein by Verizon.
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Poquoson
Portsmouth
Princess Anne
Williamsburg

Washington-Arlington-Alexandria MSA
e Alexandria-Arlington

Braddock

Engleside

Falls Church-McLean

Fairfax-Vienna

Herndon

We have identified these telephone exchanges using various exhibits presented in this proceeding and tariffs previously filed with the
Commission.'® Our findings of competitiveness for Individual Line business BLETS in these exchanges, however, do not represent findings that other
business BLETS in those exchanges, or other telephone exchange areas in Verizon's Virginia service territory, do not meet the competitiveness test set forth
above for any of the three separate business BLETS. Additional geographic market areas will be considered on a case-by-case basis under the administrative
process outlined herein when and/or if VVerizon submits specific tariffs with supporting data formatted and responsive to the competitiveness test described
herein for additional exchanges and/or business BLETS.

We also note that the telephone exchanges listed above and found competitive for Individual Line business BLETS collectively represent
approximately 57% — a majority — of Verizon's individual business lines in Virginia, as measured by Verizon's total business access lines.'*

Administrative Process

We do not intend to require Verizon to initiate an entirely new formal proceeding for each telephone exchange area for which it intends to submit
evidence that it believes meets the competitiveness tests for mass market residential and business BLETS that we have set forth in this Order. Rather,
Verizon may submit tariffs with supporting data to the Commission's Division of Communications, which will determine administratively if such
submissions are in accordance with this Order.

In this regard, we direct the Staff to implement an administrative process by which Verizon may submit tariffs to the Division of
Communications it believes meet the competitiveness tests set forth in this Order for each exchange. The process shall include the following requirements:
(1) Verizon shall file proposed tariffs with supporting data and an effective date 45 days from the date of filing with the Division for each telephone
exchange and applicable services that it requests to be declared competitive;'® (2) the Division shall accept or reject the proposed tariff(s) within 45 days
unless both Verizon and the Division agree to extend the effective date for an additional 45 days; (3) if the Division accepts the proposed tariff(s), the
tariff(s) shall go into effect on the initial or extended effective date; (4) if the Division rejects the proposed tariff(s), the Division must notify Verizon of the
rejection and describe the reasons for such rejection within 45 days of the date of filing or extension; (5) any tariff(s) rejected by the Division are rejected
without prejudice; (6) Verizon may challenge the Division's determination by filing a petition within 30 days of the Division's determination with the
Commission pursuant to the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure, 5 VAC 5-20-10 et seq.; (7) any interested person may challenge the Division's
acceptance of a tariff pursuant to the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure; and (8) the Commission's website (and any other means deemed
appropriate by the Division) shall be used to provide information to the public of each tariff filing by Verizon and the Division's determination.*®

This administrative process will ensure that VVerizon's proposed tariffs are handled in a timely and efficient manner, and that all interested persons
have a reasonable opportunity for notice of the filing and determination, as well as an opportunity subsequently to challenge the Division's acceptance or
rejection of the tariff pursuant to the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure.

Deregulation of Residential and Business BLETS and Price Ceilings in Geographic Market Areas Deemed Competitive

In telephone exchanges determined to be characterized by competition or the potential for competition under the tests set forth above, residential
and/or business BLETS shall be deregulated as to price.

To protect residential consumers from the possibility of large rate increases for basic telephone service during the transition to a more
deregulated, competitive market, we apply the following safeguard, pursuant to Subsection H: The price of residential BLETS as defined herein shall not
increase more than one dollar ($1.00) per year, on a per-line basis, during a transition period that shall run from January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2012,
or five years. ™

02 gee, e.g., Exhs. 16C, 17, 18C, 19, 20, 21C, 22C, 23C, 24C, 25, 28, 29, 30C, 31C, 32C, 33C, 34C, 35C, 36C, 37C, 38C, 39C, 40C, 41C, 42C, 43C, 44C,
45C, 94C, 95C, 96C, 170C; Harris, Exh. 188C, Attachment CH-4.

198 This calculation was derived from Staff Witness Harris' direct testimony, Exh. 188C, Attachment CH-4. This percentage may be understated because it
does not include individual line services purchased by enterprise customers in exchanges not declared competitive.

104 For those BLETS and OLETS in exchanges determined to meet the competitiveness test pursuant to this Order, it is only necessary for Verizon to file the
applicable tariff revisions.

195 \We expect the Division to make such available as quickly as possible, recognizing that it may be necessary to develop procedures to do so.

1% \We also note that, in reference to a price cap, Verizon Witness Woltz stated as follows: "If you don't believe three years is long enough . . . you could
make it five." Tr. at 2186.
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To protect business consumers during the transition to a more deregulated, competitive market, we apply the following safeguard pursuant to
Subsection H: The price of business BLETS as defined herein shall not increase more than three dollars ($3.00) per year, on a per-line basis, during a
transition period that shall run from January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2012, or five years."’

To fulfill our statutory monitoring duties discussed below, we direct that Verizon shall continue to file tariffs for residential and business BLETS
offered in telephone exchanges determined to be competitive. Verizon shall make such tariff filings in a manner comparable to those for CLECs as set forth
in the CLEC regulations.'%

Finally, we have considered other safeguards proposed by participants in this proceeding for BLETS and for other services, and we find that such
additional safeguards are not necessary at this time "“to protect consumers and competitive markets" under Subsection H.

OLETS

As noted above, Verizon identifies over 150 OLETS that the Company requests be declared competitive on a statewide basis. As with individual
"wireline a la carte” BLETS, Verizon argues that the Commission should not treat individual "wireline a la carte” OLETS as a product market separate and
apart from bundled wireline services.'® As with BLETS, however, we find that individual OLETS represent specific “telephone services" (as that term is
used in Subsections E and F) provided to Virginia consumers, and that it is reasonable to apply the standards required in Subsections E and F to individual
OLETS. We find that there is insufficient evidence — if any — in the record on each specific OLETS for us to conclude that competition or the potential for
competition in the market place is or can be an effective regulator of the price for each individual OLETS on a stand-alone basis.*

OLETS, however, are often provided in association — direct or indirect — with BLETS. In this regard, we find that competition or the potential
for competition can be an effective regulator of price for residential and business services designated as OLETS by Verizon in a telephone exchange area for
which BLETS (residential or business) has been declared competitive — if the OLETS is offered by Verizon in association with a BLETS that is declared
competitive (i.e., can only be purchased if the customer already purchases the BLETS). Therefore, if a residential or business BLETS is declared
competitive in an exchange under the competitiveness tests above, then we find that an OLETS, offered in association with that competitive BLETS, shall
also be declared competitive and price deregulated in that same exchange.

In this regard, based on a review and analysis of Verizon's tariffs on file with the Commission, we find that the following OLETS can be offered
in association with the applicable residential and/or business BLETS:*"*

Verizon Virginia - Residential

Community Choice Plan

Custom Calling Services

Call Gate Service

Call Mover Service

Do Not Disturb Service

Fixed Call Forwarding

FX/FZ/FCO Services

ISDN-BRI

Maintenance Visit

Non-List and Non Published Numbers
Operator Call Completion Services
Operator Service — Emergency & Troubles
Operator Verification

Operator Verification with Interrupt
Optional Intercept Arrangements
Preferred Telephone Number Service
Remote Call Forwarding

Repeat Dialing (Busy Redial)

Select Forward

700/900 Blocking

Temporary Suspension of Service
White pages additional and bold listings

Y7 The average business BLETS price is approximately three times the residential BLETS price, so this increase represents a comparable increase to the
residential BLETS price increase of one dollar per year during the transition period. For example, in the Norfolk-Virginia Beach exchange, the monthly
business individual line price is $53.18, and the monthly residential individual line price is $16.37. See Verizon Virginia Inc. Local Exchange Services
Tariff, S.C.C.-Va.-No. 202, Section 2 at 7, 30c, and 31.

108 See 20 VAC 5-417-10 et seq.

109 See Verizon's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 78-80.

10 This discussion of OLETS excludes Directory Assistance Services, which are further addressed below.

"1 An individual OLETS may be associated with only a specific BLETS or in many instances more than one BLETS. This is particularly true for business
BLETS since there are several different line products (i.e., individual line, PBX trunk, and Centrex). For example, Break Rotary Hunt may be associated
with all three types of business BLETS but will be made competitive only for the specific business BLETS that is made competitive in a given exchange.

On the other hand, a service such as Direct Inward Dialing is associated with PBX Trunks, therefore would only be considered competitive in an exchange
where PBX trunks are made competitive.
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Verizon Virginia — Business

Break Rotary Hunt

Call Gate Service

Call Mover Service

Call Screening

Centrex Extend

Community Choice Calling Plan
Custom Calling Services

Custom Redirect Service

Direct Inward Dialing

Fixed Call Forwarding

Four wire Service Terminating Arrangements
FX/IFZIFCO

Home Business Service

Hunting Arrangement

Identified Outward Dialing

Line Side Answer Supervision

Local Conference Service
Maintenance Visit

Make Busy Arrangements

Messaging Services Interface and Premier Messaging Services Interface
Non-List and Non Pub Numbers
Number to Number Referral Service
Operator Call Completion Services
Operator Service — Emergency and Trouble
Operator Verification

Operator Verification and Interrupt
Optional Intercept Arrangements

PBX Night, Sunday, Etc. Arrangement
Preferred Telephone Number Service
Remote Call Forwarding

Repeat Dialing (Busy Redial)

Select Forward

Selective Call Screening

Split Supervisor Drop

Switched 56 Kilobit Service

Switched Redirect Service

Temporary Suspension of Service
Transfer Arrangements

Unlimited Local Usage for Business
White Page Additional and Bold Listings
Work-At-Home Billing Service

Verizon South - Residential

Anonymous Call Block
Automatic Busy Redial
Automatic Call Return

Call Forwarding

Call Tracing

Call Waiting (all types)

Caller ID-Name and Number5
Caller ID — Number

Calling Number ID/Anonymous Call Rejection
Customized Number
Customized Personal Intercept
Detail Message Billing

Dial DataLink

Distinctive Ring

Do Not Disturb

Duplicate Bill Charge
FX/FCO Services

Intercept

ISDN- SL and BRI

Line Status Verification
Maintenance Visit

Metro Additive

Non-List & Non-pub Numbers
Operator Call Completion Services
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Operator Service- Emergency & troubles
Operator Verification

Optional Calling Plans

Phone Number Referral Service

Priority Call

Referral Service

Reminder Service

Selective Call Screening

Service Performance Guarantee

Three Way Calling

Toll Restriction Service

Verification with Call Interrupt

White Pages Additional Listings & Bold Type

Verizon South - Business

Anonymous Call Block

Automatic Busy Redial

Automatic Call return

Automatic Line Service

Call Forwarding

Call Block

Call Waiting

Caller ID-Name & Number

Caller ID Number

Caller ID/Anonymous Call Rejection
Custom Redirect Service

Custom Routing Service

Customized Code Restrictions
Customized Number

Customized Personal Intercept
Detail message Billing

Dial DataLink

Direct Inward-Outward Dialing Service (DIOD) (only with PBX trunks)
Direct Inward Dialing (only with trunks)
Distinctive Ring

Do Not Disturb

Duplicate Bill Charges

Enhanced Call Forwarding

FX/FCO service

ISDN- SL & BRI

Line Status Verification
Maintenance Visit

Metro Additive

Non List & Non pub numbers

Off premise extensions

Operator Call Completion Services
Operator Service- Emergency & Troubles
Operator Verification

Optional Calling Plans

Phone number Referral

Priority Call Redirect Service
Referral Service

Reminder Service

Remote Call Forwarding

Selective Call Screening

Service Performance Guarantee
Single Line Intercom

Three Way Calling

Toll Restriction Service

Verification with Call Interrupt
White Pages Additional Listings and Bold Type

We do not find that it is in the public interest to detariff OLETS at this time; rather, the tariff requirements applicable to CLECs under
20 VAC 5-417-50 shall apply to Verizon for OLETS deregulated as to price hereunder. In addition, as required above with BLETS, Verizon shall file
revised tariffs, if necessary, for residential and business OLETS applicable in the telephone exchanges determined to be competitive. Verizon shall make
such tariff filings in a manner comparable to those for CLECS set forth in the CLEC regulations.*?

112 See 20 VAC 5-417-10 et seq.
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Bundled Services

As noted above, Verizon lists eight bundled services for Verizon Virginia and six bundled services for Verizon South that the Company requests
be declared competitive.'** We find that the market for bundled services is characterized by either competition or the potential for competition throughout
Verizon's service territory in Virginia. Not only do Verizon's bundled services face competition or the potential for competition from other providers of
bundled telephone services in the various geographic market areas of Virginia found to be competitive under the tests we adopt herein, but just as
importantly, Verizon's bundled services face pricing constraints in its entire service territory from the pricing of Verizon's individual BLETS and OLETS
offerings. We find that the Attorney General's proposal to find bundles competitive only in the four largest MSAs does not account for the pricing
constraints on Verizon's bundles from its individually priced and available BLETS and OLETS. We also find that the Attorney General's proposed
advertising restrictions are not necessary since we have defined the geographic market area as smaller than an MSA.***

Subsection F reads in part:

... The Commission may also determine bundles composed of a combination of competitive and noncompetitive
services to be competitive if the noncompetitive services are available separately pursuant to tariff or
otherwise. . .

We find that competition or the potential for competition in the market place is or can be an effective regulator of the price — on a statewide basis
— for Verizon's bundled services. Accordingly, we deregulate bundled services as to price effective immediately throughout Verizon's service territory in
Virginia. We do not find, however, that it is in the public interest to detariff these services. Verizon shall continue to file tariffs for bundled services in a
manner comparable to the tariff requirements for bundled services contained in the CLEC regulations.**®

Enterprise Market Services

The enterprise market can colloquially be described as the "big business" market. Enterprise customers are those which represent a large enough
volume of business that they can negotiate their own deal with Verizon or another telephone provider, usually through a competitive bid or procurement
process. We find that (i) an appropriate GMA is statewide, and (ii) in the enterprise market, competition exists throughout Verizon's Virginia service
territory.*® Even if a large corporate customer is located or has locations in a rural area, there is no shortage of telecommunications providers willing to
compete for what may be a multimillion-dollar account.*” Enterprise customers also generally have more legal and financial resources with which to
protect their interests and enforce their contractual agreements with Verizon than do small business or residential consumers.

We find that competition or the potential for competition in the market place is or can be an effective regulator of the price — on a statewide basis
— for telephone services in the enterprise market. For purposes of this Order, we adopt Verizon's definition that "the enterprise market consists of medium-
sized and large business customers that typically procure services through a formal or informal competitive procurement or bidding process that solicits
multiple bids."**® We find that the presence of other providers reasonably meeting the needs of these medium-sized and large business customers through a
formal or informal competitive procurement or bidding process that solicits multiple bids can serve as an effective regulator of the price for these telephone
services.

We also find that it is in the public interest to allow Verizon to offer its services on a contractual basis in the enterprise market on a statewide
basis.® These contracts would not be regulated under Verizon's Alternative Regulatory Plan. As noted above, however, Subsections G and H require the
Commission to "monitor the competitiveness of any telephone service previously found by it to be competitive" and to "adopt safeguards to protect
consumers and competitive markets" that “[a]t a minimum . .. ensure that there is no cross subsidization of competitive services by monopoly services."
Accordingly, Verizon is ordered: (1) to retain records regarding services provided to customers under contract in the enterprise market; and (2) to make such
records and any agreements or contracts available to the Commission's Division of Communications upon request.

Construction Charges

The Staff contends that Verizon's construction charges are not competitive. We do not herein declare such services as competitive and likewise
do not deregulate or detariff such charges. Indeed, at the hearing and on brief, Verizon clarified that it "is not seeking to have [construction] services
declared competitive."'?

113 See Exh. 13.

14 See Attorney General's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 20-23.

115 See 20 VAC 5-417-50.

16 See, e.g., Taylor, Exh. 99C at 97-104.

17 See, e.g., Roycroft, Tr. at 1048-1050.

18 \erizon's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 73 (citing Calnon, Tr. at 2145).

° Enterprise customers, however, would not be precluded from purchasing services available pursuant to tariffs.

120 \/erizon's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 15 n.16.
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Directory Assistance

Verizon states that its "Directory Assistance Services ('DAS') enable customers to obtain local telephone numbers and listings of residential and
business customers of Verizon, independent companies and CLECs."*** Verizon asserts that "DAS should be part of the same product market as all of its
other retail services (BLETS, OLETS and Bundles)" and that "[c]Jompetition to provide local exchange service necessarily entails competition to provide
related DAS."'? Verizon also contends that "[e]ven if DAS were a separate product market, however, it should be declared competitive."'*

We find that DAS is a sufficiently distinct product to warrant treatment by the Commission as a separate "telephone service" under the provisions
of the Code set forth above. In this regard, we find that competition or the potential for competition in the market place is or can be an effective regulator of
the price — on a statewide basis — for DAS. We also find that, with the exception of the current three free call allowance, it is in the public interest to
deregulate the price of DAS on a statewide basis. Specifically, we take judicial notice of our recent proceeding involving widespread errors and omissions in
Verizon's directories, both for business and residential listings.*** While we expect Verizon to do better in the future, to protect consumers, we find that it is
reasonable to continue to require Verizon to offer the first three directory assistance calls per month at no cost to the consumer.

Price Floors and Cross-Subsidization

First, we find that the price floor restrictions set forth in Section K 2 of Verizon's Alternative Regulatory Plan shall no longer apply to the services
declared competitive pursuant to this Order. As argued by Verizon, the price floor requirement does not apply to any of Verizon's competitors.’*® In
addition, since the residential and business market test requires there to be a facilities-based carrier serving at least 50% of households or businesses in an
exchange, we believe that the price floor requirement is no longer warranted because Verizon's ability to exercise market power has been greatly diminished
and it should be allowed to respond adequately to pricing signals from other competitors. We note that the significantly lowered intrastate switched access
charges of both Verizon and the CLECs are an important component in this assessment as well.

Next, Subsection H requires the Commission to “"adopt safeguards to protect consumers and competitive markets. At a minimum these
safeguards must assure that there is no cross subsidization of competitive services by monopoly services." To be sure, and as explained by the Company,
"Verizon is not asking the Commission to totally eliminate prohibitions on cross-subsidies, as it cannot change the Code."**® Indeed, cross-subsidy
prohibitions apply to both ILECs and CLECs and shall continue to apply to Verizon. Verizon notes that the Commission's CLEC rules, at
20 VAC 5-417-60(E), state as follows:

Should the commission determine that a new entrant has a monopoly over any of its services, whether or not
those services are telephone services, it may order the new entrant to file annually with the Division of
Communications data to demonstrate that its revenues from local exchange telecommunications services cover
the long run incremental costs of such services in the aggregate.**’

Based on Verizon's position as the largest provider of telephone services in the Commonwealth, along with our removal of Verizon's current price
floor requirement for competitive services in exchanges that are determined to be competitive, we find that it is reasonable — and a minimum safeguard to
"ensure that there is no cross subsidization of competitive services by monopoly services" as required by Subsection H — to require Verizon to continue to
file annually with the Division of Communications data to demonstrate that its revenues from competitive local exchange telecommunications services in the
aggregate cover the direct incremental costs of such services, as it is currently required to do under Section K 3 of its Alternative Regulatory Plan.

Future Proceeding to Monitor the Status of Competition

Subsection G states:

The Commission shall monitor the competitiveness of any telephone service previously found by it to be
competitive under any provision of subsection F above and may change that conclusion, if, after notice and
opportunity for hearing, it finds that competition no longer effectively regulates the price of that service.

To fulfill our statutory duty under this provision, we intend to initiate a proceeding on or before March 1, 2012. This proceeding will take place
prior to the removal of the price caps on mass market residential and business BLETS in those telephone exchange areas previously found to meet the
competitiveness tests for residential and business BLETS set forth in this Order and deregulated. We agree with Verizon that the telecommunications
market is dynamic, not static. This future proceeding will give the Commission and all interested parties and the public an opportunity to review the status
of the telecommunications market in Virginia at that time, to review the economic and technological changes that will undoubtedly have taken place during

21 1d. at 146. Verizon explains that "[t]hese services include: (1) local directory assistance or '411', which enables customers to obtain assistance in
determining telephone numbers and listings of customers who are located in Verizon's service area; (2) Connect Request, which provides local directory
assistance customers with the option of having the requested telephone number automatically dialed for them; and (3) List Service, which provides telephone
numbers in written form." Id. at n.154.

2 |d. at 146-147.

12 1d, at 147.

124 see Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation Commission, Ex Parte: In the Matter of Investigating Directory Errors and Omissions of
Verizon Virginia Inc. and Verizon South Inc., Case No. PUC-2005-00007, Order Approving Offer of Settlement (February 13, 2007).

125 See Verizon's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 197.
12 1d. at 198.

27 1d. at n.235 (quoting 20 VAC 5-417-60(E)).
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the next four years, and to make any changes deemed appropriate to the findings, conclusions and directions contained in this Order or any subsequent order
on this topic, as well as any tariffs accepted under the administrative process established herein. It will provide one additional and essential layer of
protection for Virginia's telephone consumers prior to moving into a much more extensively deregulated telephone market place.

Intrastate Switched Access Charges

Ensuring reliable, easy and low-cost interconnection of calls between competing providers is an essential element of promoting competitive
offerings from all telecommunications providers, as Va. Code § 56-235.5:1 requires us to do. We acknowledge the testimony from Sprint Nextel that the
issue of Verizon's intrastate switched access charges needs to be addressed.'?® While the specific cost levels of Verizon's intrastate access charges are not
before us in this proceeding, we find that as we move towards a much more competitive and deregulated telecommunications market in Virginia, the access
charge levels of Verizon and other ILECs in Virginia should be reviewed and, where and if found appropriate, access charges should be adjusted, to promote
increased competition. Accordingly, we subsequently will initiate an appropriate regulatory proceeding to review the intrastate access charges currently
charged by Verizon Virginia and Verizon South.'?

Service Quality Rules

The Staff raised a concern in this case with regard to the continued applicability of the Commission's service quality rules and the Commission's
continued oversight of service quality under § 56-247 of the Code.™ In addition, CWA asserted that "there are service quality problems under the current
form of regulation, and so it is extremely difficult to conclude that deregulation will result in improved service quality" and that "[m]arket forces alone
cannot protect all classes of customers from poor service, and therefore the Commission should continue to regulate service quality to protect customers
from further deterioration of service quality and escalating rates."*** Verizon, however, acknowledges that the Commission "could simply clarify in its
Order in this case that [service quality] rules continue to apply to specific detariffed services until it expressly rules otherwise.’*? Because we have not
detariffed any of Verizon's services herein, the Commission's service quality rules will continue to apply to Verizon.

Furthermore, Verizon states that even if the Commission granted Verizon the relief it seeks in this proceeding, "the Commission would retain its
broad authority to review the market and any complaints over Verizon's rates or services, and take corrective action should the market fail to protect either
consumers or competitors[,]" and, "[I]ikewise, the Commission would retain authority to enforce its generic rules applicable to public service companies and
local exchange carriers."™*> Indeed, the Commission's rules on service quality will continue to apply to Verizon, and Verizon will still be subject to the
Commissior}'gs4 broad authority to enforce Verizon's basic statutory duties by taking corrective action in the event that market forces fail to provide sufficient
protections.

Verizon's Alternative Regulatory Plan

Services declared competitive pursuant to this Order are no longer regulated under Verizon's Alternative Regulatory Plan. Such services shall
remain tariffed consistent with the rules for CLECs, and so that this Commission can fulfill its statutory duties under Subsection G. In addition, services
previously classified as competitive under Verizon's Alternative Regulatory Plan are no longer subject to such plan. All future tariff filings for previously
classified competitive services shall be made in a manner consistent with the CLEC regulations, although the present tariffing status shall remain unchanged
for such services.

Provider of Last Resort

Finally, we clarify that nothing in this Order modifies Verizon's statutory and regulatory obligations as the provider of last resort in its service
territory, and we note that VVerizon has not requested otherwise.

Accordingly, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Application is granted in part and denied in part as set forth herein.
(2) Retail services of Verizon Virginia and Verizon South are declared competitive and deregulated as set forth herein.

(3) This matter is dismissed.

128 See Appleby, Exh. 133.

2% We take judicial notice of the recent proceeding initiated by Sprint Nextel to lower Embarq's intrastate access rates. See Case No. PUC-2007-00108.
Thus we do not need to, in this Order, direct a review of Embarq's access rates.

%0 See Bradley, Exh. 187P at 4.

81 CWA's September 12, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 18.

182 \ferizon's September 14, 2007 Post-Hearing Brief at 186 n.222.

% 1d. at 186 (citing Va. Code §§ 56-235.5(G) and 56-247) (footnote omitted).

13 See, e.g., Va. Code §§ 56-234 and 56-235.
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APPLICATION OF
LMK COMMUNICATIONS, LLC

For certificates of public convenience and necessity to provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services
FINAL ORDER

On January 29, 2007, LMK Communications, LLC ("LMK" or the "Company"), completed an application with the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) for certificates of public convenience and necessity to provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services
throughout the Commonwealth of Virginia. The Company also requested authority to price its interexchange telecommunications services on a competitive
basis pursuant to § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia.

By Order for Notice and Comment dated February 27, 2007, the Commission directed the Company to provide notice to the public of its
application and directed the Commission Staff to conduct an investigation and file a Staff Report. On April 9, 2007, LMK filed proof of publication and
proof of service as required by the February 27, 2007 Order. LMK requested a waiver of the bond requirement in its application since it did not plan to
provide basic local exchange services.

On May 2, 2007, the Staff filed its Report finding that LMK's application was in compliance with the Rules Governing the Certification and
Regulation of Competitive Local Exchange Carriers, 20 VAC 5-417-10 et seq., and the Rules Governing the Certification of Interexchange Carriers,
20 VAC 5-411-10 et seq. Based upon its review of LMK's application, the Staff determined it would be appropriate to grant the Company certificates to
provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services, subject to the following conditions:

(1) When LMK files a tariff for review and acceptance with the Division of Communications, a $50,000 bond should be required at that time.

(2) Once a bond is on file, LMK should notify the Division of Economics and Finance no less than thirty (30) days prior to the cancellation or
lapse of its bond and should provide a replacement bond at that time. This requirement should be maintained until such time as the Commission determines
it is no longer necessary.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the application and the Staff Report, finds that the Company should be granted certificates to
provide local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services. Having considered § 56-481.1 of the Code of Virginia, the Commission further
finds that the Company may price its interexchange telecomm